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PART |

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddmg statements within the meaning of Section&thAe Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4,lincluding statements that involve expectatiptens or intentions (such as those
relating to future business, future results of @iems or financial condition, new or planned fe@sior services, or management strategies).
You can identify these forward-looking statemegta/brds such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “ could,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking statemémiolve risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materidtym those expressed or implied in our forwardkiog statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, among others, those disaligséltem 1A: Risk Factors” of this Annual Repam Form 10-K, as well as in our
consolidated financial statements, related notes, the other information appearing elsewhere is tteéiport and our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEGIdNM®t intend, and undertake no obligation, to updey of our forward-looking
statements after the date of this report to reflttial results or future events or circumstanc&isen these risks and uncertainties, readers
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such fodwaoking statements.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

eBay Inc. was formed as a sole proprietorship jpt&aber 1995 and was incorporated in Californiay 1996. In April 1998, we
reincorporated in Delaware, and in September 188&,ompleted the initial public offering of our coman stock. Our principal executive
offices are located at 2065 Hamilton Avenue, Sae JGalifornia 95125, and our telephone numbetd8) 376-7400. When we refer to “we,”
“our,” “us” or “eBay” in this Annual Report on Fort0-K, we mean the current Delaware corporatiorageBBc.) and its California
predecessor, as well as all of its consolidatedididries. When we refer to “eBay.com,” we meandhkne marketplace located at
www.ebay.conand its localized counterparts. When we refer tayfal,” we mean the online payments platform |atatesvww.paypal.com
and its localized counterparts. When we refer toté&prise,” we mean the ecommerce and marketingdisobk provided by eBay Enterprise,
formerly GSI Commerce, which we acquired in Jun&120

We enable global commerce and payments on behalers, merchants, retailers and brands of ak sidee technologies and services
we provide are designed to enable users and maschanldwide to organize and offer their inventéoy sale and buyers to find, buy and pay
for it virtually anytime and anywhere. We enablentoerce through three reportable segments: MarlagpldPayments and Enterprise. Driven
by the ubiquity of the Internet and the prolifesatiof mobile devices, we believe that the way comns engage with each other, brands and
services is fundamentally changing, blurring tivedi between offline retail and online ecommercd,effectively creating one market for
commerce and reinforcing the connections betweemuerce and payments. We believe that this trenékpanded our addressable market.
We measure our footprint in this addressable markiety a metric that we call “Enabled Commerce W' Enabled Commerce Volume, or
ECV, is the total commerce and payment volumerinag through our platforms which we enable on Hedfabur users, merchants, retailers
and brands. We define ECV as the total commercgapmhent volume across all three segments corgisfiGMV, PayPal Merchant Servic
TPV and Merchandise Sales not earned on eBay drfpavia PayPal or Bill Me later during the perid&CV excludes volume transacted
through the Magento platform. See the definitiohdGMV,” “Merchant Services net TPV” and “Mercharsdi Sales” in our Marketplaces,
Payments and Enterprise discussions, respectivelgy.

Our primary focus is on our customers. Our compamnly successful when the users and merchantnaiele are successful. Whether
online, through the mobile channel or in the phgisigorld, we are primarily a transaction-based bess that generates revenue from the
transactions and payments that we successfulljl@nake also generate revenue through marketingcgexclassifieds and advertising. In
addition, we have created an open source platfbangrovides software developers and merchantssadoeur applications programming
interfaces, or APIs, to develop software and sohgifor commerce. Our developer community includese than 1.8 million members. As of
December 31, 2013, our Marketplaces segment had than 128 million active users and more than 5Biibmlistings globally, while our
Payments segment had 143 million active registacedunts. See the definitions of "active user"‘autive registered accounts” in our
Marketplaces and Payments discussions, respectivelgw.

For additional financial information about our refadle segments as well as the geographic areagwleeconduct business, please set
"Note 5 - Segments" to the consolidated finand&tesnents included in this Annual Report on ForrKl@dditionally, please see the
information in "Item 1A: Risk Factors" under thegptian "There are many risks associated with owerirdtional operations," which describes
risks associated with the foreign operations ofreportable segments.




Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces segment includes our core glotxainenerce platform, ebay.com; other localized sitesind the world such as
eBay.de and eBay.co.uk; related commerce platfomkjding our vertical shopping websites, suclsagHub, and our classifieds websites,
such as Marktplaats.nl and mobile.de; and our aidireg services business. We have made investnaeatsicquisitions to help consumers
access these businesses across devices and te eoatvherce for users and merchants online, on mdbitices and in the physical world. (
objective is to bring the world’s inventory to thverld’s buyers.

We had more than 128 million active users as ofddser 31, 2013. The term “active user” means, amypfdate, any user (excluding
users of Half.com, StubHub and the trading plat®ohour Korean subsidiary) who bid on, boughtigtet an item on any of our Marketpla
trading platforms, within the previous 12-monthipdr A user may have more than one account on arképlaces trading platforms and
therefore may be counted more than once when wela# the number of active users.

Our Marketplaces platforms offer the following features:

We are a leading commerce platform for users andrafants.

Our business model and pricing is designed soditialMarketplaces business is only successful whiemerchants are successful. The
majority of our Marketplaces revenue comes frorake trate on the Gross Merchandise Volume, or GMWamsactions closed on our
Marketplaces trading platforms. We define GMV astittal value of all successfully closed items leswvusers on our Marketplaces trading
platforms (excluding eBay's classifieds websiteantds4friends and Shopping.com) during the apgkcpeériod, regardless of whether the
buyer and seller actually consummated the trarmacti

Our eBay Top Rated Seller program, or eTRS, rewquadifying sellers with fee discounts and improwegrch standing for qualifying
listings if they are able to maintain excellenttoaser service ratings and meet specified critarisshipping and returns. We believe that se
who fulfill these standards help promote our gdahaintaining an online marketplace that is safé laassleree. eTRS is currently available
the U.S., the U.K., Germany and Australia.

eBay Buyer Protection (also known as eBay Guardqueteers items purchased on our websites in the, th& U.K. and Germany
through a qualifying payment method and protectstrbayers with respect to items that are not reckor are received but not as described it
the listing. Some purchases, including most vebjdee not covered. eBay Buyer Protection providegrage for the purchase price of the
item, plus original shipping costs, for a limiteerjpd of time from the original date of transactiand includes a streamlined interface to help
buyers and sellers navigate the process.

The size and scale of our Marketplaces platforraddasigned to enable our users and merchantsdrafgs our economies of scale and
capital investment, for example in sales and margehew channels such as mobile, customer actuisind customer service.

We provide a variety of access points for consuntershop virtually anytime, anywhere.

Our Marketplaces platforms are accessible throughditional online experience (e.g., an Interratreected computer), from mobile
devices (e.g., smartphones and tablets), anditait@dl extent, via screens in the physical world (ededicated terminals installed/located
within retail stores). We offer downloadable, eésyise mobile applications for the iPhone, the iPatjraid and Windows mobile devices t
allow access to eBay.com and some of our otheritesband vertical shopping experiences, includitdBub, Fashion, Motors and Half.co
In 2013, over $22 billion in mobile commerce volumas transacted across our platforms, represeatirigcrease of more than 70% comps
to 2012.

We provide a large selection of inventory globally.
We had over 550 million items listed for sale aPetember 31, 2013, which we believe makes us btieeavorld’s largest online
marketplaces. For 2013, approximately 60% of ounNGMas international (i.e., outside the U.S.), apdraximately 17% of our GMV was
cross-border.

We strive to provide value to consumers.

We believe that we have some of the lowest prigagable for a number of consumer products. Inuk®., over 50% of successfully
closed transactions included free shipping duridg3 We have developed a number of features oiMauketplaces platforms in the areas of
trust and safety (including our Feedback ForumeBafbor Program, Verified Rights Owner Program, 8Rd eBay Buyer Protection),
customer support and value-added tools and senasesell as loyalty programs (for both buyers aelers). These features are designed to
make users more comfortable trading with unknown




partners and completing transactions online oruginomobile devices, as well as rewarding our togebsiand sellers for their loyalty.

We offer consumers choice.
We offer choice to consumers across a number ofuéons:

e By listing format: Merchants and individuals camose to list their products and services thrdugdd price listings or an auction-
style format on our core Marketplaces platform.

o Our fixed price format on eBay.com allows buyansl sellers to close transactions at a pre-detexhpnice set by the
seller. Sellers are also able to signal that theyldvbe willing to close the transaction at a lowsce through the Best
Offer feature.

o Our auctionstyle format allows a seller to select a minimuricgfor opening bid

o Our classifieds websites have listings in ov80Q,cities around the world and are designed to pebple list their
products and services generally for free and thamtetat a local level. Our classifieds websitetuhe alaMaula, BilBase!
2ememain.be, LoQUo, Marktplaats.nl and mobile.deaddition, we have a naontrolling equity investment in craigsli
Inc., which operates the craigslist classifieds sitels.

» By item condition: Merchants and sellers cat) isd consumers can search for and buy, itemsatkatew, refurbished and used,
common and rare items and branded and unbrandddgisoon our core Marketplaces platform.

» By delivery format: Consumers can have itempshi to them through shipping options offered keydéller and selected by the
buyer on our core Marketplaces platform. For carti@ms in a limited number of U.S. markets, conststan have the items
couriered to them in about an hour through our eBay service. Finally, in the case of items pureuaom certain retailers,
consumers can pick up items they purchased ontitlerough mobile devices in one of the retadgshysical stores (which we re
to as in store pickup). This brings more choicelfiayers and sellers around delivery cost and caawen.

We offer a variety of specialized vertical experes.

We continue to focus on customizing our buying selling experiences to make it easier for uselistafind and buy items by offering
formats dedicated to specific products or categof@ our core eBay.com websites, we have buittiafieed experiences for certain vertical
formats, such as Daily Deals, Fashion, Motors @©eki parts and accessories) and Electronics. @ily Deals vertical offers a variety of
products in multiple categories at discounted prigéh free shipping. StubHub is a leading marlkatplfor event tickets, enabling fans to buy
and sell tickets to a large selection of sporteceat, theater and other live entertainment events.

Payments

Our Payments segment includes our core paymentsl lftayPal, which enables individuals and busingsssscurely, easily and
quickly send and receive payments online and thr@ugroad range of mobile devices in approximal&y markets worldwide and in 26
currencies as of December 31, 2013. We have a&detatnsumer credit business, Bill Me Later, whichl#es U.S. merchants to offer, and |
consumers to obtain, credit at the point of sateefmmmerce and mobile transactions through Billldter's relationship with one or more
chartered financial institutions. The majority afrd?ayments revenue comes from a take rate orethERV that we enable. In 2013, we
generated $54.4 billion in on eBay net TPV attrétle to transactions on eBay Marketplaces, whipheeented 30% of our net TPV. We
define net TPV as total dollar volume of payments, of payment reversals, successfully completemlitih our PayPal payments networks,
including Bill Me Later, during the period; excludj payments sent or received through PayPal’'s palygateway business. We define on
eBay net TPV as the total dollar volume of paymemés of payment reversals, successfully compl#tesligh our Payments networks,
including Bill Me Later, during the period for treactions on our Marketplaces platform. We definedfient Services Net TPV as the total
dollar volume of payments, net of payment reversalscessfully completed through our Payments miésyancluding Bill Me Later, during
the period, excluding PayPal's payment gatewayrassi and payments for transactions on our Marlatglplatform.

Our objective for the Payments segment is to bedbmdigital wallet of choice for consumers and chants to pay and get paid
virtually anywhere, anytime and on any Internetraated device, whether they are online or in thesiglal world. We believe that simplifying
and integrating payments can provide value to covess and drive incremental sales for our mercharthprs. The PayPal digital wallet gives
people a fast, safe and convenient way to receamq or spend their money. Our payment networkdesigned to be simple, safe and secure
and are built upon the existing global financidfastructure to create global, real-time paymehitgms. PayPal connects with financial
institutions around the world, and consumers caitally use their payment method of choice, regessllof where a seller is located. Users of
our PayPal




payments solutions can engage in cross-border gtmpphich can help merchants to increase salaswelby allowing them to sell to a global
base of consumers, and they can send paymentshi@#eer nearly everywhere in the world and in deniange of currencies.

We had 143 million active registered accounts eBaxfember 31, 2013. The term “active registered@ts” means, as of a given date,
all registered accounts that successfully sene¢ceived at least one payment or payment revensaigh our PayPal payments networks,
including Bill Me Later, within the last 12 monthad which are currently able to transact. Users n@ayg more than one account with PayPal
or Bill Me Later and therefore the number of actiggistered accounts may be greater than the nuoflerderlying users.

Our Payments platforms offer the following features

We enable payments in the online and physical werld

PayPal started as a payment solution for onlinestaetions between consumers and merchants througditonal online experience
(i.e., an Internet-connected computer). As a resfubieing simple and secure for consumers, we \eeligat PayPal can help merchants to
increase conversion of online traffic to sales.ohfine merchant can typically open a standard Plaggtaunt and begin accepting payments
through PayPal within a few minutes. Most onlinemmbile merchants are approved instantly. Procgssitine with PayPal does not require a
merchant to invest in new or specialized hardwagPal's technology platform supports growth witlagety of value-added services. This is
designed to help businesses of all sizes managecdsh flow, invoice clients and pay bills, and¢duce the need for merchants to receive ar
store sensitive customer financial information,l#img Payment Card Industry, or PCI, compliant s&etions. PayPal does not charge
merchants any setup fees and offers a standaridaevith no recurring monthly fees.

With the growth of Internet-enabled mobile devideayPal is a popular form of payment for mobile omerce. In December 2013, we
completed our acquisition of Braintree to helprsgtben our position in mobile payments and extamdcoverage to a new class of retailers
who offer their services primarily via mobile apps2013, PayPal's net TPV for transactions usiogife devices exceeded $27 billion, of
which approximately 50% was from eBay Marketpladesexpand PayPal’s availability as a payment opitiophysical stores, PayPal has
entered into a partnership with Discover in the.JaS well as similar relationships with merchasqiarers and ePOS (electronic point of sale)
providers in the United States and Europe. PayBalaifers PayPal Here, a mobile payment processihgion for small businesses in the
United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Austrdiong Kong and Japan.

Our global reach and scale provides value for consers and merchants.
With 143 million active registered accounts as etBmber 31, 2013, PayPal provides merchants wWitiga base of potential custom
As a result of being available in approximately 188&rkets and in 26 currencies as of December 3113,ZayPal also provides merchants with
global reach and reduces some of the complexityfraettbn involved in overseas and cross-bordedérd=or the year ended December 31,
2013, approximately 48% of PayPal's net TPV wasrimational, and approximately 25% was cross-bofdar.U.S. merchants are also able to
offer consumer credit to U.S. consumers at thetpafisale through our Bill Me Later service.

We offer consumers choice by providing a varietyfofiding mechanisms.
Consumers can fund their PayPal accounts in atyasfavays, including by credit card, debit cartiatronic funds transfers from their
bank account and through a PayPal balance if theurner has previously received payments througP&ay chosen to priemnd their PayPe
account. We refer to the allocation of funding sesrused by PayPal consumers as our “funding mix.”

We also provide credit products through our Bill Mager service. Currently, when a consumer fundarahase using Bill Me Later, a
chartered financial institution extends creditiie tonsumer, funds the extension of credit at tiet pf sale and advances funds to the
merchant. Bill Me Later is neither a chartered ficial institution nor is it licensed to make loansny state. Accordingly, Bill Me Later must
rely on a bank or other licensed lender to isseditproducts and extend credit to customers. Alginothe chartered financial institution
continues to own each of the customer accountsulssequently purchase and retain most of the casrsrgoeivables related to the consumer
loans made by the chartered financial institutiod are also responsible for servicing functionateal to the customer account.

Bill Me Later accounts are most commonly openedJdd. merchant websites, including ebay.com, ofteBill Me Later as a payment
method, but can also be opened by U.S. consunmensgh a qualified PayPal account or at the Bill Meer website. U.S. consumers may be
offered an opportunity to defer payments under sproenotional arrangements offered on select metchites. Interest on such purchases cat
be deferred for up to 18 months.




For information regarding risks related to our Bile Later business, see the information in “ltem RAsk Factors” under the captions
"Bill Me Later's operations depend on lending segsiprovided by unaffiliated lenders" and "Bill Mater's operations expose us to additional
risks."

We are focused on making our solutions simple farstomers and developers.

Our Payments business seeks to put the custoraenie are focused on creating easy to use prothattéeverage our technological
leadership; we are using a true “mobile first” agarh to make payments simple and intuitive. OuFRaaplatform and open APIs are designec
to allow developers to innovate with ease and terafutting edge applications to a large ecosysiEmerchants and consumers, while at the
same time maintaining the safety of our users’rfaial information. PayPal provides developers withitive, flexible and powerful tools that
are designed to leverage PayPal’s global reaclpaywhent capabilities. Some of our software devel&jis, or SDKs, are specifically focused
on the mobile app market and are designed to rern@éi®n by not requiring a redirect to PayPal.coman additional log in.

Our payments solutions offer leading fraud prevemi and protection.

PayPal enables consumers to pay merchants quicklgasily without sharing sensitive financial imf@tion, such as credit card or dt
card numbers. To make payments using PayPal, carsureed to disclose only their email address diilmphone number to merchants. The
account-based nature of PayPal's network helps bistter detect and prevent fraud when funds efidgv,through and exit the PayPal
network. PayPal also utilizes eBay Marketplacebagldransaction data to help manage risk. As dtresthe systems and processes that we
have built over many years, we believe that PaifPahe of the world’s most trusted payments brands.

PayPal has developed a number of trust and safeygms, including PayPal's Seller Protection amdtfase Protection Programs.
These programs provide additional protection téateraccount holders who pay or receive paymenthfeir transactions through PayPal on or
off ebay.com in certain key geographies. PayPalleiSProtection Program covers sellers in ceiitain geographies who follow specific
shipping and handling practices against claimsdhetnsaction was not authorized by the buyehatrthe item was not received. PayPal's
Purchase Protection Program reimburses the buylgiec to specified limitations, for qualified phases using PayPal on or off ebay.com in
certain key geographies if the buyer does not vectie item or, in limited markets, if the itensignificantly not as described. In some non-
U.S. markets, protection for buyers is limited tmaximum amount per transaction.

Enterprise

In June 2011, eBay acquired GSI Commerce, In6&G®i; which provides commerce technologies, omniokhaperations and
marketing solutions for large, nationally recogulizetailers and brands that operate in generaltmadise categories, including apparel,
sporting goods, toys & baby, health & beauty anchéoln June 2013, eBay renamed the GSI segmenttagpise.

Enterprise operates three primary lines of busin@emmerce Technologies, Omnichannel Operationdvartteting Solutions.
Enterprise provides its products and services ondimidual basis and as bundled solutions.
Each of these three primary lines of business cemehts the other, which allows for cross-sellingarfunities.

Enterprise’s Commerce Technologi&siterprises Commerce Technologies are comprised of a suitgerfaces and tools that suppo
retailer's ecommerce storefront available throughweb and mobile devices, customer service cateeg and land based stores. In addition t
storefront commerce solutions, Enterprise’s commenschange platform is a unique set of integrasgbilities, services and infrastructure
that support a retailer’s distributed order managgmmulti-channel inventory management, fulfilimaregration, payments processing, frauc
management and reporting.

» Enterprise’s storefront commerce solutions idelsecure shopping cart and checkout offeringdytical tools, site
management tools, such as catalog, content andopiam management tools, and guided product disgamagpabilities.

* Enterprise’s commerce exchange platform incluadegite of multi-channel enabling software produbat support a retailer’s
in-store pickup, ship-from-store, ship-to-store @nop ship capabilities. Enterprise’s paymentsastiructure provides a robust
online payment processing engine with capabilitietuding price, tax and shipping calculations, r@dd verification, order
review, fraud prevention, credit card authorizatisettiement and alternative payment processirgypammits payment using
PayPal as well as private label credit cards,agiftls and online gift certificates.




Enterprise’s Omnichannel Operationgnterprise’s Omnichannel Operations supportlfoi&nt and customer service functions for its
clients.

e Enterprise operates five ecommerce fulfillmesnters in the U.S., one in Canada and one in tke Within these facilities,
Enterprise utilizes warehouse management systechsfrastructure to provide customized direct-taaomer fulfillment
solutions, including order management, real-tinseostatus updates and reverse logistics servitesugh scale and
partnerships with leading freight providers, Entesg offers clients favorable shipping rates anirative freight programs,
including its ShipQuik shipping program. Under thiegram, packages are presorted by customer dig, echich helps to
shorten the amount of time packages are in transit.

< Enterprise provides customer care servicesdomgnerce via telephone, live chat and email thrabgbe call centers and a
network of customer support agents in the U.Ss pluadditional call center in the U.K. Enterpigseiistomer care platform
combines proprietary and third-party technologiesluding automatic call distribution, computerggghony integration,
interactive voice response, email, workforce mansagg, voice recording/monitoring, and customerti@hgship management
systems. The U.K. call center offers customer garaultiple languages.

Enterprise’s Marketing Solution&nterprise’s Marketing Solutions are focused orvigiag comprehensive, industry-leading solutions
designed to help clients acquire new customersjadmore website visitors into buyers, build casto loyalty and drive revenue across
various channels. Marketing Solutions offers fahsce digital agency capabilities, brand marketemgail marketing, database management,
mobile and social advertising, affiliate and seanbine marketing, online advertising display g¢ting and in-depth analytics capabilities.

While Enterprise operates on a global basis, nedrlyf its net revenues in 2013 were derived fiitsNorth American operations.
Similar to our Marketplaces and Payments segm#rganajority of our Enterprise revenue comes frotaka rate on the Merchandise Sales
that we enable through our Commerce Technologid<annichannel Operations suite of services, wighrédmaining revenue coming from
Marketing Solutions. We define Merchandise Salethasetail value of all sales transactions, inei®f freight charges and net of allowance
for returns and discounts, which flow through ountdfprise Commerce Technologies whether we red¢ardull amount of such transaction ¢
product sale or a percentage of such transactiansasvice fee.

Competition

We encounter vigorous competition in our busine§ses numerous sources. For our Marketplaces segrmenusers can find, buy, s
and pay for similar items through a variety of catipg online, mobile and offline channels. Thes#ude, but are not limited to, retailers,
distributors, liquidators, import and export comiganauctioneers, catalog and mail-order compaolassifieds, directories, search engines,
commerce participants (consumer-to-consumer, bssiteeconsumer and business-to-business), shoppangnels and networks. As our
product offerings continue to broaden into new gaties of items and new commerce formats, we expdeice additional competition from
other online, mobile and offline channels for thosev offerings. We compete on the basis of pricedpct selection and services.

For our Payments segment, our users may choosg/thpugh a variety of alternative means, inclgdiredit and debit cards,
automated clearing house and bank wires, othen@pl.yment services, offline payment methods ssdash, check or money order and u
mobile phones. Likewise, our users may elect tarfae their purchases through a broad range of stheces of financing, including credit
cards, lines of credit provided by financial instibns and store credit or layaway plans providgdnerchants.

Our Enterprise segment faces different competitoesich of its primary lines of business. Enteseseks to compete on the basis of
offering premium capabilities at attractive pricEach of Enterprise's business units competesstana-alone basis with in-house solutions
promoted and supported by internal departmentstaflers and other sellers, as well as technologlysarvice providers that supply ecomm
solutions or components of ecommerce solutions, (@gpsite and mobile platforms, customer caretmaiter services and fulfillment and
logistics) and interactive marketing services,hesdase may be. Enterprise also seeks to diffateritself by cross-selling and bundling
services to offer more attractive pricing and iméégd implementations.

For more information regarding these risks, seartftmation in “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” under thaptions “Our industries are
intensely competitive” and “We are subject to regoty activity and antitrust litigation under cortipien laws.”




To compete effectively, we may need to expend @it resources in technology and marketing. Tledfets may be expensive and
could reduce our margins and have a material agedfect on our business, financial position, ofiegaresults and cash flows and reduce the
market price of our common stock. Despite our ¢ftw preserve and expand the size, diversity mmbaction activity of our users and
customers and to enhance the user experience, waahae able to continue to manage our operatipgmses or increase or maintain our
revenue to avoid or reduce a decline in our codat#id net income or avoid a net loss.

Seasonality

We expect transaction activity patterns on our webdo mirror general consumer buying patterng. Enierprise segment is highly
seasonal. The fourth calendar quarter typicallypants for a disproportionate amount of Enterprisea annual revenue because consumers
increase their purchases and businesses increzsadiertising to consumers during the fourth tpranoliday seasofrlease see the additio
information in “Item 7: Management's Discussion &malysis of Financial Condition and Results of @i®ns” under the caption
“Seasonality.”

Technology

Our Marketplaces, Payments and Enterprise platfatitize a combination of proprietary technologéesl services as well as
technologies and services provided by others. We daveloped intuitive user interfaces, customelstand transaction processing, database
and network applications that help enable our usersliably and securely complete transactionsuamsites and help eBay Enterprise’s clients
to utilize its suite of services. Our technologfrastructure simplifies the storage and processirigrge amounts of data, eases the deployme
and operation of large-scale global products andces and automates much of the administratidargie-scale clusters of computers. Our
infrastructure has been designed around indusainydstrd architectures to reduce downtime in theteMeoutages or catastrophic occurrences.
We strive to continually improve our technologyetthance the customer experience and to incredasieeély, scalability and security. For
information regarding technology-related risks, geeinformation in “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” undéetcaptions “System failures and resulting
interruptions in the availability of our websitesdaservices could harm our business” and “Our ffaito costeffectively manage certain aspe
of our business could harm us.”

Intellectual Property

We regard the protection of our intellectual prapeincluding our trademarks (particularly thoseeong the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dresframe secrets as critical to our success. We agjgedyg protect our intellectual property rig
by relying on federal, state and common law righthe U.S. and internationally, as well as a \#gre&d administrative procedures. We also |
on contractual restrictions to protect our propnigtrights in products and services. We have edtete confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements with our employees and ctortseand nondisclosure agreements with partidswdiitom we conduct business to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona

We pursue the registration of our domain namedetraarks and service marks in the U.S. and internally. Additionally, we have file
U.S. and international patent applications covededain aspects of our proprietary technologyeétffie trademark, copyright, patent, domain
name, trade dress and trade secret protectiomyjsxpensive to maintain and may require litigatidfe must protect our intellectual property
rights and other proprietary rights in an incregsimmber of jurisdictions, a process that is expenand time consuming and may not be
successful.

We have registered our core brands as trademadkd@nain names in the U.S. and a large numberhef garisdictions and have in
place an active program to continue to secure tnades and domain names that correspond to our biandarkets of interest. If we are
unable to protect our trademarks or domain names;auld be adversely affected in any jurisdictionvhich our trademarks or domain names
are not registered or protected. We have licensélae past, and expect to license in the futungaireof our proprietary rights, such as
trademarks or copyrighted material, to others.

Third parties have from time to time claimed, atiteos will likely claim in the future, that we hairdringed their intellectual property
rights. We are typically involved in a number otkuegal proceedings at any time. Please see theriation in “Item 3: Legal Proceedings”
and in “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” under the captioi#®é listing or sale by our users of pirated or ¢etfeit items may harm our business," "We
are subject to patent litigation" and "We may bahla to protect or enforce our own intellectualgandy rights adequately.”
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Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we employed approxim&8[$00 people globally including approximately Ji@mporary employees.
Approximately 21,000 of our employees were locateithe U.S.

Available Information

Our Internet address ysww.ebay.com Our investor relations website is locatedhtéip://investor.ebayinc.comWe make available free
of charge on our investor relations website underhieading “SEC Filings” our Annual Reports on FA@AK, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-
Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendmentsasetheports as soon as reasonably practicablesaftbrmaterials are electronically filed
with (or furnished to) the SEC.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investincommunity on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide not#ttons of news or announcements regarding our diahperformance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releases,|agsl dn our investor relations website. Furthepoasite governance information, including
governance guidelines for our board of directoogrd committee charters, and code of conductsis abailable on our investor relations
website under the heading “Corporate Governance.”

The contents of our websites and webcasts areootgorated by reference into this Annual ReporForm 10-K or in any other report
or document we file with the SEC, and any refererioeour websites and webcasts are intended todogive textual references only.
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Item 1A: RISK FACTORS

Risk Factors That May Affect Results of Operatioaad Financial Condition

Our operating and financial results are subjecvarious risks and uncertainties that could adversdfect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowswa#l as the trading price of our common stock drbt securities.

Our operating and financial results have varied quarterly basis during our operating history. Gperating and financial results may
fluctuate significantly as a result of a varietyfaétors, many of which are outside our controttbes that may affect our operating and
financial results include risks described elsewltbis section and the following:

e general economic conditions, including the paifisy of a prolonged period of limited economicogrth or possible economic
decline in Europe; adverse effects of the ongomgeeeign debt crisis in Europe, including increaBedo currency exchange rate
volatility, the negative impact of the crisis amdated austerity measures on European economidlyrpatential negative spillover
effects to the rest of the world, the “contagioisk of the crisis spreading to additional courgrie Europe, the possibility that one
more countries may leave the Euro zone and redate their individual currencies, and, in more exte circumstances, the
possible dissolution of the Euro currency; the fimkty of greater austerity in the U.S. due to,@mg other factors, a potential
shutdown of the U.S. government, a potential failiar raise the “debt ceiling”, automatic seques@rether related actions (or
failure to take actions) by the U.S. Congress amtt@tive branch and, more generally, the impacingiertainty regarding the fiscal
policy of the U.S. government; disruptions to tihedit and financial markets in Europe, the U.Sd alsewhere; contractions or
limited growth in consumer spending or consumedityand adverse economic conditions that may leeiip to the Internet,
ecommerce and payments industries;

e our ability to manage the rapid shift from oelicommerce and payments to mobile and nohléinnel commerce and payme

e our ability to improve the quality of the usesperience on our websites and through mobile deViceluding our customer support
in the event of a problem) to keep pace with therowed quality of the user experience generallgreffi by competitive platforms;

e our ability to upgrade and develop our systemdyding the migration to our Enterprise businessv enterprise commerce
platform and the “replatforming" of our base Payteahnology), infrastructure and customer servagabilities to accommodate
growth and to improve the functionality and relldapiof our websites, mobile platforms and servie¢s reasonable cost while
maintaining 24/7 operations;

< the primary and secondary effects of previoasipounced and possible future changes to our gripimducts and policies,
including, among other changes, restrictions odfioin payments made to certain sellers or in cdiomewith certain transactions;
changes to our fee structure; changes to the chépkocess, including the eBay shopping cart/basketability for users to conne
their eBay and PayPal accounts more easily; newatifumality for sellers to specify shipping, paymant return policies
(collectively referred to as “business policiesthich sellers automatically began to be opted o&ginning in August 2013 and
which will become mandatory in 2014; enforcememe@iv picture quality requirements for listed itestarting in July 2013;
automatic enrollment of new sellers in an automatdy returns process, and other products andrésatiirough which we are
increasingly intermediating more aspects of tramsas between buyers and sellers using our plagprm

e our ability to retain an active user base, attrew users, and encourage existing users titdias for sale and purchase items
through our websites and mobile platforms, or ugepayment services, especially in the face of owjprg competitor platforms;

» consumer confidence in the safety and secufitsaasactions using our websites and technolagstding through mobile devices)
and the effect of any changes in our practicespatidies or of any events on such confidence;

« the actions of our competitors, including thigaduction of new stores, channels, websites, regildtforms, applications, services,
products and functionality, or changes to the pmiovis or prices of products and services impott@our success, including
interchange, Internet search and mobile operatiatems;

e our ability to effectively manage the costs of adinister our user protection progra

* the impact on PayPal or Bill Me Later of regidas enacted pursuant to new laws regulating firgumestitutions, including the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Praiadiict in the U.S., or the Dodd-Frank Act;

< our ability to comply with existing and new laasd regulations as we expand the range and gdugahagcope of our products and
services and as we grow larger, including thoses lamd regulations discussed below under the captiimere are many risks
associated with our international operations,” “#e subject to general litigation and regulatogpdies,” “Our Payments business
is subject to a number of laws and regulationduling those governing banking, cross-border armdektic money transmission,
foreign exchange and payment services, that vattyeinmarkets where we operaté,Our Payments business is subject to anti-
money laundering and counter-
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terrorist financing laws or regulations,” and “CRatyments business is subject to consumer protdeaticnand regulations”;

new laws or regulations (such as those that steay from the proposed Anti-Counterfeiting Tradeefggment (ACTA) and Trans-
Pacific Partnership Agreement (TPP), the Europeams@mer Rights Directive and the proposed revisiortee European Data
Protection Directive) and interpretations of exigtlaws or regulations, including national coutenpretations of the European
Court of Justice's decision in the L'Oréal case (#em 3: Legal Proceedings” below), that impaaeility on us for the actions of
our users or otherwise harm our business modgiscegly as we become more actively involved inaas aspects of transactions
on our platforms;

regulatory and legal actions imposing obligasiem our businesses or our users, including thmatjon related to certain cosmetic
and perfume brands (see “Item 3: Legal Proceedibhgw);

our ability to manage the costs of compliance witlsting and new laws and regulations that affectbusinesse

new laws or regulations (in particular, finad@aprivacy laws or regulations) enacted in juitsidns in which we do business that
require data (including customer information, tasten data or other information) to be stored llgaan servers in that jurisdiction
and/or prohibit such data from being transmittetsiole of that jurisdiction, which would increase operational costs or capital
expenditures and potentially impact the performaara availability of our services and/or our abitib use or process customer
data;

the volume, velocity, size, timing, monetizationdacompletion rates of transactions using our websir technolog

our ability to reduce the loss of active buyansl sellers and increase activity of the usersioMarketplaces business, especially
with respect to our top buyers and sellers, ancease activity of PayPal account holders, partibuia our merchant services
business;

our ability to develop product enhancementsgmms, and features on different platforms and featsvices at a reasonable cost
and in a timely manner, including our initiativesmake several PayPal solutions available at ttadl point of sale;

changes to our use of advertising on our websitdsr@obile platform:

the costs and results of litigation or regulatoetians that involve u

business disruptions, costs and future eventsecetatthe unsolicited non-binding proposal andadmenominations made by Icahn
Enterprises L.P. and the pending proxy contest;

technical difficulties or service interruptions oiving our website:

disruptions to services provided to us or our ubgrihird parties

our ability to manage the transaction loss raunMarketplaces, Payments and Enterprise busis;

our ability to manage funding costs, credit @sid interestate risk associated with our Bill Me Later buss

our ability to successfully and cosffectively integrate and manage businesses thaogeire

the amount and timing of operating costs andtab@xpenditures relating to the maintenance aqéesion of our businesses,
operations and infrastructure;

our ability to comply with the requirements oitiéies whose services are required for our opemnatisuch as payment card network:
and banks;

the cost and availability of traditional and onlimévertising, and the success of our brand buildimdymarketing campaigi

our ability to attract new personnel in a timeldasffective manner and to retain key employ

the continued healthy operation of our technolagypdiers and other commercial counterpar

continued consumer acceptance of the Interrdebdmobile devices as a medium for commerce agchpats in the face of
increasing publicity about data privacy issuesluding breaches, fraud, spoofing, phishing, viruspgware, malware and other
dangers; and

macroeconomic and geopolitical events affecting mante generall

It is difficult for us to forecast the level or oe of our revenues or earnings accurately. In \déthe rapidly evolving nature of our
business, period-to-period comparisons of our dpeyaesults may not be meaningful, and you showoldrely upon them as an indication of
future performance. We do not have backlog, andtamtially all of our net revenues each quarteredmm transactions involving sales or
payments during that quarter. Due to the inherdfitdty in forecasting revenues, it is also diffilt to forecast income statement expenses as
percentage of net revenues. Quarterly and anncaiia statement expenses as a percentage of netiesvmay be significantly different from
historical or projected rates. Our operating rasimtone or more future quarters may fall belowekpectations of securities analysts and
investors. In that event, the trading price of cammon stock would almost certainly decline.

We invest heavily in technology, marketing and potion, customer support, protection programs anihén development of the
operating infrastructure for our operations. Sorhhig investment entails long-term contractual
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commitments. As a result, we may be unable to adjusspending rapidly enough to compensate foramexpected revenue shortfall, which
may harm our profitability.

The growth of Internet users is slowing in manyrtoies where we have a significant presence. Agouwth rates in established marlk
slow, we will increasingly need to focus on keepaxisting Marketplaces users (especially our togebsiand sellers) and PayPal account
holders (especially in our merchant services bssinactive and increasing their activity level am websites and mobile platforms in order to
continue to grow those businesses. The growthtefriet users is accelerating in some countries@gions where we do not have a significan
presence (e.g., Brazil/Latin America, Russia, Claind certain other countries in which we do nothawneaningful (or, in some cases, any)
domestic business). If we are unable to establislbosinesses and drive adoption of our servicesidh markets, our future growth would be
negatively impacted. If users in such markets axhifferent behaviors than those from our moreedeped markets, we might see fewer
interactions, lower levels of engagement, loweneosion, and/or lower values of each interactionamversion, and our businesses could be
harmed.

Mobile commerce and mobile payments represent@easingly important part of our businesses. Oaraigho have joined, and/or
primarily interact with, us through mobile devigegay exhibit different behaviors than our more tiiadial Internet ecommerce and payments
users. If this results in fewer interactions, loderels of engagement, lower conversion, and/oelovalues of each interaction or conversion,
our businesses could be harmed.

Our Payments business continues to face increasegetitive pressure, including from relatively nemmpetitors and large Internet
companies. In particular, user sophistication t@etinological advances have increased expectationsd the user experience for online and
mobile payments, including speed of response ase efuse for both merchants and consumers. Hre@nable to continue to adapt our
services in ways that improve the user experienderacrease user engagement, our growth in revendelobal active accounts may be
negatively impacted, which could harm our business.

Our Marketplaces business continues to face ineteesmpetitive pressure online and offline. Inipaftar, the competitive norm for, and
the expected level of service from, Internet econome@nd mobile commerce has significantly increaded to, among other factors, improvec
user experience, greater ease of buying goodsy l@r@o) shipping costs, faster shipping times amde favorable return policies. If we are
unable to change our services in ways that refltecthanging demands of the Internet ecommercenatile commerce marketplaces,
particularly the higher growth of sales of fixedegritems and higher expected service levels (saiméich depend on services provided by
sellers on our platforms), our business will suffer

We regularly announce changes to our Marketplaasgbss intended to drive more sales and imprdier dficiency and buyer
experiences and trust. Some of the changes thaaweannounced to date have been controversigl avithled to dissatisfaction among, our
sellers, and additional changes that we annountteeifuture may also be negatively received by sofreur sellers. This may not only impact
the supply of items listed on our websites, butlise many sellers also buy from our websites, yt atlversely impact demand as well. Given
the number of recent changes that we have madeaantithue to make to our policies and pricing, ityneke our sellers some time to fully
assess and adjust to these changes, and sellerslesayo reduce volume on our websites and maiéiforms while making such assessment
and adjustments or in response to these changasy kif these changes cause sellers to move th&imdss (in whole or in part) away from our
websites and mobile platforms or otherwise faihtprove gross merchandise volume or the numben@fessful listings, our operating results
and profitability will be harmed.

We believe that the mix of sales under our tradéicauction-style listing format and fixed-pricsting format will continue to shift
towards our fixed-price format. Accordingly, we leagliminated some of the features related to @dlitional auction-style format and expect
others will continue to become less meaningfubtal used less frequently by, our sellers, resultirgcorresponding decrease in revenues
from those features. We also expect that the @sstsciated with our seller discount programs waititéiue to increase as more sellers become
eligible for such discounts. In addition, becausgrge percentage of PayPal transactions origioatde Marketplaces platform, declines in
growth rates in major Marketplaces markets als@®exbly affect PayPal's growth. The expected fujuogvth of our PayPal, Enterprise,
StubHub and our other lower margin businesses nsaycause downward pressure on our profit margiesibise those businesses have lower
gross margins than our Marketplaces platforms.
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The sluggish economy and the sovereign debt aisikl harm our business.

Our Marketplaces, Payments and Enterprise busis@ssalependent on consumer purchases, and oupfsgeusiness is also impac
by the offline businesses of our Enterprise cliehte economic downturn resulted in reduced bugenahd and reduced selling prices, and th
slow recovery and potential impact of a shutdowthefU.S. government, a failure to raise the “aaliling”, or automatic sequesters, as we
the impact of the sovereign debt crisis and resyldusterity measures in Europe, may reduce thenehnd prices of purchases on our
Marketplaces platforms, the volume and pricesarigactions paid for using our Payment servicedtadnline and offline businesses of our
Enterprise clients, any of which would adverselgetf our business. These macroeconomic factorsi@sb have a negative and adverse
impact on companies with which we do business, whidurn could have a further adverse effect onbusiness.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curreexghange rates and interest rates.

Because we generate the majority of our revenutssdeuthe U.S. but report our financial result®)is. dollars, our financial results may
be impacted by fluctuations in foreign currencytexge rates. In connection with its multi-curreseyvice, PayPal fixes exchange rates twice
per day, and may face financial exposure if it mectly fixes the exchange rate or if exposure respare delayed. Given that PayPal also hold
some corporate and customer funds in non-U.S. rdies, its financial results are affected by tlamstation of these non-U.S. currencies into
U.S. dollars. In addition, the results of operasiafi many of our internationally focused websitessexposed to foreign currency exchange rat
fluctuations as the financial results of the apglie subsidiaries are translated from the localety into U.S. dollars upon consolidation. If
the U.S. dollar weakens against foreign currendiestranslation of these foreign currency denoteih@ransactions will result in increased
revenues, operating expenses and net income. 8imifahe U.S. dollar strengthens against foretgmrencies, our translation of foreign
currency denominated transactions will result imdo net revenues, operating expenses and net income

For the year ended December 31, 2013, foreign mayremovements relative to the U.S. dollar positnieipacted our net revenues of
$16.0 billion by more than $24 million (net of agative impact from hedging activities included imyPal's net revenue of approximately $4
million) compared to the prior year. As foreign mmcy exchange rates vary relative to the U.Sadatlet revenues and other operating result:
when translated, may differ materially from exp#éotas. In particular, to the extent the U.S. doaengthens against the Euro, British pound,
Korean won, Australian dollar, or Canadian doltar foreign revenues and profits will be reduced assult of these translation adjustments.
While from time to time we enter into transactido$iedge portions of our foreign currency tranelagxposure, it is impossible to predict or
completely eliminate the effects of this exposiilectuations in foreign currency exchange ratescesignificantly impact our financial resul
which may result in an impact on the price of dock.

In addition, we face exposure to fluctuations iteiest rates. Relatively low interest rates haveinaed to limit our investment income,
including income we earn on PayPal customer batarineaddition, we may incur additional indebtedniesthe future, including through
public or private offerings of debt securitiestlmough the credit markets. A rise in interestsat@uld increase the cost of such indebtedne
the future. Fluctuations in interest rates thaitlimar investment income and/or increase the cbittare indebtedness could adversely affect
our financial results.

Bill Me Later's operations depend on lending segsiprovided by unaffiliated lenders.

In November 2008, we acquired Bill Me Later, a campthat facilitates credit services offered byfiiliated banks. Bill Me Later is
neither a chartered financial institution nor ikdensed to make loans in any state. Accordinglly Me Later must rely on a bank or licensed
lender to issue the Bill Me Later credit produatsl @xtend credit to consumers to offer the Bill Meter service. Currently, when a consumer
makes a purchase using a Bill Me Later credit pchdu chartered financial institution extends dréalthe consumer, funds the extension of
credit at the point of sale and advances fundsaarterchant. We subsequently purchase and retahahthe consumer receivables related to
the consumer loans made by the chartered finaimstidution and, as a result of the purchase, bezst of the risk of loss in the event of loan
defaults. Although the chartered financial instdntcontinues to own each of the customer accowdagwn most of the related consumer
receivables and Bill Me Later is also responsibleskervicing functions related to the customer aoto

In September 2010, WebBank became the issuer d@ithe Later credit products. In August 2013, Cemnity Capital Bank became an
issuer of the Bill Me Later credit products, andbdBank transferred most of the customer accountsttbaned to Comenity Capital Bank. .
part of this arrangement, we sell Comenity Cajeahk a participation interest in the entire pootofsumer receivables outstanding under th
customer accounts that it originates. In additidebBank will continue to originate loans on thoseaants that it retained. Bill Me Later also
has put in place an arrangement with WebBank wlyevébbBank has agreed to resume ownership of (aue lending with respect to) all
customer accounts in
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the event of a termination or interruption in Coiliteapital Bank’s ability to lend. However, if dua termination or interruption occurs with
little or no advance notice, the origination of neansactions under the Bill Me Later program wit be possible until the new arrangement i
implemented, which could materially and adverséigc Bill Me Later’s business. Both Comenity CagpBank and WebBank are industrial
banks chartered by the State of Utah. Any termamadir interruption of WebBank's or Comenity CapBahk’s ability to lend could result in
the inability to originate any new transactions emthe Bill Me Later program, which would requirg either to reach a similar arrangement
with another chartered financial institution, whidhpossible at all, may not be available on falde terms, or to obtain our own bank charter,
which would be a time-consuming and costly proeesswould subject us to a number of additional lang regulations, compliance with
which would be burdensome.

In May 2010, a lawsuit was filed against Bill Meteg PayPal and eBay in California state courggatig that in its relationship with the
chartered financial institution, Bill Me Later istang as the true lender to customers and violatarigpus California laws, including the state's
usury law. That suit was later removed to the DiStrict Court for the Central District of Califoian In September 2011, WebBank requested
to intervene in the action and was added as a pathe action. In October 2011, the court transfitthe case to the U.S. District Court for the
District of Utah.

Following the transfer, the Utah Court allowed ptdfs the opportunity to amend the complaint atelriffs filed an amended complai
in February 2012. We and WebBank filed a motiodismiss all claims in the amended complaint in M&20612. A hearing on the motion was
held by the court in September 2012 and the mitigill before the Court. We believe that plaifstifillegations are without merit and intenc
defend ourselves vigorously. However, this arelawfis uncertain and if the lawsuit is succesdBill, Me Later may be required to change its
methods of operations, pay very substantial damageéseduce some of its charges and fees, whicldvaoiversely affect our business.

Our Payments business is subject to a number of éawl regulations, including those governing bagkirross-border and domestic
money transmission, foreign exchange and paymevites, that vary in the markets where we operate.

Our Payments business is subject to various ladsegulations in the U.S. and other countries witavperates, including those
governing banking, cross-border and domestic maragsmission, foreign exchange and payment sensces as payment processing and
settlement services. The legal and regulatory requents that apply to our Payments business vaheimarkets where we operate and have
increased over time as the geographical scope@nglexity of our business and products have exphndéile our Payments business has a
compliance program focused on compliance with apple laws and regulations and has significanttyegased the resources of that progra
the last several years, there can be no assuraace¢ will not be subject to fines or other enémnent actions in one or more jurisdictions or
be required to make changes to our business peaaticcompliance programs to comply in the futdrey new laws and regulations (or
changes to, or expansion of, the interpretatioapplication of existing laws and regulations) apgile to our Payments business could subjec
us to additional laws and regulations, additioierisure requirements and increased regulatoryisgruhich could force us to change our
business practices or limit our ability to grow duwsiness. Costs associated with fines, enforceawtiuns, changes in compliance
requirements or limits on our ability to grow owrdiness, could have an adverse effect on our fialresults and harm our Payments
business.

While PayPal currently allows its customers withdit cards to send payments from approximatelyrh@fkets, PayPal only allows
customers in 110 of those markets (including th®.)to receive payments, in some cases with sanifirestrictions on the manner in which
customers can withdraw funds. These limitations afégct PayPal's ability to grow in these markétsthe markets whose residents can use
the PayPal service, 32 (28 countries plus four élraverseas departments) are members of the Eurdjprgan, or EU. Since 2007, PayPal has
provided localized versions of its service to custos in the EU through PayPal (Europe) S.a rCiet SCA, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
PayPal that is licensed and subject to regulatsoa bank in Luxembourg by the Commission de Suareie du Secteur Financier (CSSF).
Accordingly, PayPal (Europe) is subject to sigmifitfines or other enforcement action if it viokatbe disclosure, reporting, anti-money
laundering, capitalization, funds management, c@gogovernance, information security, sanctionstber requirements imposed on
Luxembourg banks. Any fines or other enforcemetibas imposed by the Luxembourg regulator couldeasiely affect PayPal's business.
PayPal (Europe) implements its localized servinesUW countries through a “passport” notificatiomgess through the Luxembourg regulator
to regulators in other EU member states pursuaBtx®irectives, and has completed the “passportifination process in all EU member
countries other than Croatia. The regulators is@h@untries could notify PayPal (Europe) of lazaisumer protection laws that apply to its
business, in addition to Luxembourg consumer ptmtedaw, and could also seek to persuade the Limaimy regulator to order PayPall
(Europe) to conduct its activities in the local oty through a branch office. These or similar@usi by these regulators could increase the co
of, or delay, PayPal's plans for expanding itsiess in EU countries. In addition, national intetations of regulations implementing the EU
Payment Services Directive, which established a megulatory regime for payment services providerd009, may be

16




inconsistent, which could make compliance morelg@std operationally difficult to manage. The Eugap Commission has proposed
revisions to the Payments Services Directive, whimhid further make compliance more costly and atp@nally difficult to manage.

In Australia, PayPal serves its customers throumyPBl Australia Pty. Ltd., which is licensed by fhestralian Securities Investment
Commission as a financial product and by the AliatraPrudential Regulatory Authority as a purchagagment facility provider, which is a
type of authorized depository institution. Accomglin PayPal Australia is subject to significantefinor other enforcement action if it violates
the disclosure, reporting, anti-money launderiragitalization, corporate governance or other regnénts imposed on Australian depository
institutions. In China, PayPal serves its custorttexsugh PayPal Pte. Ltd.

To date, PayPal has obtained licenses to operaeramsey transmitter (or its equivalent), in 47 states, the District of Columbia,
Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. PayPalss licensed as an escrow agent in one U.S. Stiagetwo remaining U.S. states where
PayPal has not applied for a license do not cugreagjulate money transmitters. Braintree's subsydiVenmo provides its peer-to-peer
payment service as an agent of an unaffiliated mara@msmitter, PreCash, but Venmo is also licerzsed money transmitter in California, has
applied for a license in Hawaii, and may need taiobadditional state licenses. As licensed moraysmitters, PayPal and Venmo are subjec
to restrictions on its investment of customer fymdporting requirements, bonding requirements,iagplection by state regulatory agencies. |
PayPal or Venmo were found to be in violation ofr@p services laws or regulations, PayPal or Venoutdchbe subject to liability and/or
additional restrictions, forced to cease doing hess$ with residents of certain states, forced émgh its business practices, or required to
obtain additional licenses or regulatory approtadg could impose a substantial cost on PayPaleoimb6. Any change to PayPal's business
practices that makes the service less attracticegtomers or prohibits its use by residents ddréiqular jurisdiction could also decrease the
velocity of trade on eBay and websites operateBtgrprise clients that accept PayPal as a forpagiment, which would further harm our
business.

In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the Diwsaf Financial Institutions under the Californiapgaetment of Business Oversight,
notified PayPal that PayPal's practice of holdmgfunds underlying U.S. customer balances as emtay behalf of its customers, rather than
as owner of those funds, meant that PayPal coulttemt those funds as liquid assets for purpob#gediquidity rules applicable to California
money transmitter licensees. Based on changesrtd.&. PayPal user agreement effective Novemb&2 2ayPal began holding U.S.
customer balances as direct claims against Payd®laér than as an agent or custodian on behalfalf BayPal customers. As a result, effectivi
November 2012, all U.S. PayPal customer balanceishwvere previously reported as-balance sheet, have been reflected as assets in ou
consolidated balance sheet under "Funds receieaflleustomer accounts," with an associated lighilitder "Funds payable and amounts due
to customers." In addition, this change disqualifiee customer balances from pass-through FDIGamse and resulted in U.S. PayPal
customers becoming general creditors of PayPalmehect to such customer balances. This chandé alo result in decreased revenue to
PayPal as it has shifted some of the funds froerést-bearing bank deposit accounts to governneentrisies that could bear lower interest
rates.

In markets other than the U.S., the EU, Austr&lianada, Brazil, and Russia, PayPal serves itsmoastothrough PayPal Pte. Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PayPal that is base8imgapore. PayPal Pte. Ltd. is supervised in Sioigaps a holder of a stored value facility.
As PayPal Pte. Ltd. is supervised as a holdersbbi@ed value facility, and does not hold a rematalicense, PayPal Pte. Ltd. is not able to «
remittance payments (including donations to ches)tin Singapore, and can only offer paymentsHemturchase of goods and services.

In many of the markets (other than Singapore) sebyePayPal Pte. Ltd., it is not clear whether RéigFSingapore-based service is
subject only to Singaporean law or, if it is subjeclocal laws, whether such local laws would riegja payment processor like PayPal to be
licensed as a bank or financial institution or otfise. In such markets, PayPal may rely on parhipsswith local banks to process payments
and conduct foreign exchange in local currency.aloegulators, who do not have direct jurisdictoer Singapore-based PayPal Pte. Ltd.,
may use their local regulatory power to slow ot palyments to local merchants conducted througlP&&sylocal banking partner. Such
regulatory actions impacting local banking partagangements could impose substantial costs amdviemeonsiderable delay to the provision
or development of PayPal services in a given madtetould prevent PayPal from providing any seesin a given market. For example, in
January 2010, the Reserve Bank of India directedrttlian affiliate of PayPal's processing bankuspgnd withdrawals to the Indian bank
accounts of PayPal customers for both personabasithess customers for a period of time. As a teBalyPal ended personal hon-commercia
payments to and from Indian accounts and the glmfitndian sellers to spend payments they receiaad also stopped offering certain
commercial payments between Indian buyers and mrgkdlers. In November 2010, the Reserve Bankdiflissued guidelines to Indian banks
on the requirements for processing export-relatusactions for online payment gateway serviceigers such as PayPal, including a
limitation on the amount of individual transactidnsno
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more than $500 (subsequently increased to $3,00&taber 2011 and to $10,000 in June 2013). ThemedBank has also approved an
application by PayPal's processing bank in Indiectvivould permit PayPal to process domestic Indliansactions, subject to the domestic
payment intermediary directions issued by the ResBank and other conditions. The Reserve Bank agayn impose a suspension if it is not
satisfied with PayPal's and its partner bank'®astio comply with these guidelines. In the evdr@ny non-compliance, PayPal could be
subject to fines from the Reserve Bank, and PayPadspects for future business in India, bothsstmsrder and domestic, could be materially
and adversely affected. In Taiwan, changes todarekchange regulations have required PayPal tegehits processes in order to continue
offering Taiwanese merchants the ability to recgagments in non-Taiwanese currency and withdraselpayments to their Taiwanese ban}
in Taiwanese currency. As a result, PayPal haspsatsubsidiary in Taiwan to apply for Taiwanesifoeation, which would enable PayPal to
declare foreign exchange transactions on behdlhafanese merchants.

Even if PayPal is not currently required to berieed in some jurisdictions, future localizatiortamgeted marketing of PayPal's servic
expansion of the financial products offered by Rdy®those countries (whether alone or througbraroercial alliance, joint venture or an
acquisition) could subject PayPal to additionadilisure requirements, laws and regulations andasetkregulatory scrutiny. Even if PayPal
does not expand its services in the countriesrieotly serves, changes in the laws of those camstould also require us to obtain new
licenses or submit new registrations. For exantpég/Pal has applied for and received a licensedrCédmadian province of Quebec, has begur
the process of acquiring a license in Brazil angleexs that new laws or regulations may requirenbeeapplications in the near future in Turl
China and Hong Kong. There can be no assuranc®#ydtal will be able to obtain any such licensegnbf PayPal were able to obtain such
licenses, there are substantial costs and potgmtidlict changes involved in maintaining such lge=) and PayPal would be subject to fines o
other enforcement action if it violates disclosusporting, antimoney laundering, capitalization, corporate govecesor other requirements
such licenses. These factors could impose substadalilitional costs and involve considerable dédethe development or provision of PayF
products in certain countries. Delay or failuredoeive such a license or regulatory approval coedgire PayPal to change its business
practices or features in ways that would advera#fct PayPal's expansion plans or force PayPalgpend providing products and services tc
customers in one or more countries.

Although we do not originate loans under the Bik Mater service, we do purchase receivables retatéte consumer loans extended by
the bank which originates them. One or more jucisolns may conclude that the eBay company whiclehmses those receivables is a lender,
money transmitter or loan broker or is otherwiseject to licensure or regulatory approval, whicluldosubject us to liability or regulation in
such jurisdictions. As described under the captith Me Later's operations depend on lending seesgi provided by unaffiliated lenders”
above, a lawsuit pending against Bill Me Latertia tJ.S. District Court for the District of Utahedjes that, in its relationship with the former
issuer of the Bill Me Later credit products, BilleM ater was acting as the true lender to customeri®lation of various California laws,
including the state's usury law. Additionally, fealeregulators could mandate changes to the refstip between us and the issuing banks of
the Bill Me Later credit products. Any terminationinterruption of the issuing banks' lending seegito consumers could result in an
interruption of Bill Me Later services, as descd@ove under the caption “Bill Me Later's openasidepend on lending services provided by
unaffiliated lenders”.

Our Payments business is subject to anti-moneydiaimg and counter-terrorist financing laws and uégfions.

Our Payments business is also subject to variotisreomey laundering and counter-terrorist finandiangs and regulations around the
world that prohibit, among other things, its invefrent in transferring the proceeds of criminahati¢is. PayPal is focused on compliance witf
these laws and regulations and has programs desigremply with new and existing anti-money laumig and counter-terrorist financing
legal and regulatory requirements. However, angrsrifailures or delays in complying with fedesthte or foreign anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing laws and regulationaldaesult in significant criminal and civil lawdsj penalties, forfeiture of significant assets ol
other enforcement actions. Any new anti-money lauimg) and counter-terrorist financing laws and tatjons (or changes to, or expansion of,
the interpretation or application of existing lasrsd regulations) applicable to our Payments busioesld subject us to additional laws and
regulations, additional licensure requirementsianckased regulatory scrutiny, which could forcgéaishange our business practices or limit
our ability to grow our business. Costs associatitlil fines or enforcement actions, changes in amngiance requirements or limitations on
our ability to grow our business, could have aneasle effect on our financial results and harm @ynfents business.

In the U.S., PayPal is subject to regulations thquire it to report, within required timeframegspicious activities involving transactic
of $2,000 or more, and may be required to obtathkaa®ep more detailed records on the senders aipienets in certain transfers of $3,000 or
more. In addition, regulations governing prepaidess programs, which took full effect in March 20f2juire PayPal to take additional steps
to verify the identity of customers who pre-fun@ayPal balance.
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U.S. regulators have increased their scrutiny affgance with these obligations. New and existing-emoney laundering and count&rrorist
financing regulations may require PayPal to furttesise or expand its compliance program, includiregprocedures it uses to verify the
identity of its customers and to monitor internatiband domestic transactions.

Several countries in which PayPal is regulateduaing Australia, Japan, Luxembourg, and Singapleage implemented new anti-
money laundering and counter-terrorist financingdand regulations, and PayPal has had to makeekaa its compliance program in
response. In November 2009, the Australian antiegdaundering and counter-terrorist financing ragd (AUSTRAC) accepted an
enforceable undertaking from PayPal Australia pamstio which PayPal Australia agreed, among otiiags, to appoint an independent
auditor to assess PayPal Australia's anti-monaydeting compliance policies and procedures anctiaseport identifying any unremediated
deficiencies accompanied by a plan by PayPal tedgmany such deficiencies. Pursuant to the remiediatan submitted by PayPal Australia
and accepted by AUSTRAC, PayPal Australia was redub invest in significant improvements to it$ianoney laundering and counter-
terrorist financing systems, policies and operaigkUSTRAC formally notified PayPal of the compbetiof the enforceable undertaking in
early 2013. As PayPal continues to localize itgises in additional jurisdictions, it could be rémeal to meet standards similar to or more
burdensome than those in Australia. In June 20E3Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) requesteat PayPal submit a Global Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist FinancingkRhssessment Report (Risk Report). After the sabion of the Risk Report, the MAS
requested that PayPal submit a Global Anti-Moneyridering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Risk Mamagnt Proposal (Proposal). PayPal
must submit the Proposal by the end of March 20hé. MAS could require modifications to PayPal'ssérg compliance program as a
condition of approving a Proposal. The European @@sion has also announced a consultation prooesmsider revisions to the European
Anti-Money Laundering Directive. These requiremeigether with any new requirements or changexisting requirements, could impose
significant costs on PayPal, result in delays ampkd product improvements, make it more diffiéeitnew customers to join its network and
reduce the attractiveness of its products.

Our Payments business is subject to consumer giomtelaws and regulations.

Our Payments business is subject to consumer piaridaws and regulations in the U.S. and othemtides in which it operates. PayPal
is focused on compliance with these laws and réigalsiand has programs designed to comply with aegvexisting consumer protection
requirements. However, any errors, failures oryfeia complying with such consumer protection lams regulations could result in
significant criminal and civil lawsuits, penaltidsyfeiture of significant assets or other enforesactions. Any new consumer protection law:
and regulations (or changes to, or expansion efirtterpretation or application of existing lawslargulations) applicable to our Payments
business could subject us to additional laws agdlegions, additional licensure requirements amddased regulatory scrutiny, which could
force us to change our business practices or tinmitability to grow our business. Costs associatiéll fines or enforcement actions, change
our compliance requirements or limitations on duitity to grow our business, could have an advefect on our financial results and harm
our Payments business.

Although there have been no definitive interpretadito date, PayPal has taken actions as thougéritge is subject to the Electronic
Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E of the U.S. Faldeeserve Board. Under such regulations, amomer ¢hings, PayPal is required to
provide advance disclosure of changes to its serticfollow specified error resolution proceduaesl to reimburse consumers for losses fron
certain transactions not authorized by the consuReyrPal seeks to pass most of these losses ba televant merchants, but PayPal incurs
losses if the merchant does not have sufficiend$un its PayPal account. Additionally, even techhviolations of these laws can result in
penalties of up to $1,000 for each non-compliaanigaction or up to $500,000 per violation in arasslaction, and we could also be liable for
plaintiffs’ attorneys' fees. In the second quanfe2010, two putative class-action lawsuits (Dewrkkernando and Vadim Tsigel v. PayPal, Inc.
and Moises Zepeda v. PayPal, Inc.) were filed énUhS. District Court for the Northern District G&lifornia. These lawsuits contain
allegations related to violations of aspects offlectronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E wiathtions of a previous settlement
agreement related to Regulation E, and/or allegeRayPal improperly held users' funds or othenmgmoperly limited users' accounts. These
lawsuits seek damages as well as changes to PapRadtices, among other remedies. A determindhtianthere have been violations of the
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, Regulation E or vimas of other laws relating to PayPal's practm@sld expose PayPal to significant liability.
A lawsuit that has been filed by a consumer astioniin Germany also addresses PayPal’'s practicheltl users’ funds and aims at more
transparency in the terms and conditions towardsumers as to when a user can expect PayPal ta@guezount limitations. Any changes to
PayPal's practices resulting from these lawsuitddcequire PayPal to incur significant costs améxpend substantial resources, which could
delay other planned product launches or improvesnamd further harm our business.

In January 2012, the Consumer Financial Prote®&ioreau (CFPB) finalized new rules under RegulaEpmandated by the Dodd-Frank
Act, which requires PayPal, starting in late Octad@13, to provide additional disclosures, err@otation
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rights and cancellation rights to U.S. consumers wiake international remittance payments. Thesétame transfer rule requirements could
increase our costs of processing international gaysnand adversely affect our business. In JarGg, the CFPB proposed a regulation tha
would allow it to supervise all companies, incluglifayPal, that provide more than one million indional money transfers per year. Under
the proposal, CFPB examiners would be able to exaayPal for compliance with the remittance tramsile.

On August 7, 2013 and January 13, 2014, we recédgtlinvestigative Demands (CIDs) from the CFRRBjuesting that we provide
testimony, produce documents and provide informatadating primarily to the acquisition, managemaemid operation of the Bill Me Later
business, including online credit products andisesy advertising, loan origination, customer asifjioin, servicing, debt collection, and
complaints handling practices. We are cooperatiitiy the CFPB in connection with the CIDs.

Changes to payment card networks or bank feess,rotepractices could harm our Payments business.

PayPal does not directly access payment card nketwsuch as Visa and MasterCard, which enable Payiaeptance of credit cards
and debit cards (including some types of prepaids)aAs a result, PayPal must rely on banks oergtayment processors to process
transactions, and must pay fees for this servicenRime to time, payment card networks have ireedaand may increase in the future, the
interchange fees and assessments that they cluargach transaction using one of their cards. kample, MasterCard has recently annoul
a new Staged Digital Wallet Operator Annual NetwAdcess Fee which would apply to many of PayPadissactions if the buyer uses a
MasterCard to fund their payment. The fee for 2@a8 collected from PayPal in June 2013. PayPaysipat card processors have the right tc
pass any increases in interchange fees and ass#ssindo PayPal as well as increase their ownftegzrocessing. Changes in interchange
fees and assessments could increase PayPal'siogpe@dts and reduce its profit margins. In additio some jurisdictions, governments have
required Visa and MasterCard to reduce interchéeg® or have opened investigations as to whetlser & MasterCard's interchange fees
practices violate antitrust law. In the U.S., thedD-Frank Act enacted in 2010 authorizes the Fé&Raserve Board to regulate debit card
interchange rates and debit card network exclyspibvisions, and in June 2011, the Federal Redgoaed issued a final rule capping debit
card interchange fees at significantly lower rdkes Visa or MasterCard previously charged. Anyemal reduction in credit or debit card
interchange rates in the U.S. or other marketsicjgalpardize PayPal's competitive position agdiastitional credit and debit card processors,
although it would also lower PayPal's costs. Whttikeregulations adopted by the Federal ReservedBoalune 2011 do not treat PayPal as a
“payment card network,” future changes to thoseilagns or to PayPal's business could potent@lyse PayPal to be treated as a payment
card network, which could subject PayPal to add#laegulation and require PayPal to change itinbas practices, which could reduce
PayPal's revenue and adversely affect PayPal'ndsssi

PayPal is required by its processors to comply wéthment card network operating rules, and Pay&ablgreed to reimburse its
processors for any fines they are assessed by payar networks as a result of any rule violatibpdayPal or PayPal's customers. The
payment card networks set and interpret the cded.r®ayment card networks have from time to titlegead that various aspects of PayPal's
business model violate these operating rules. 8liepations have recently been made more aggrégsarel if not resolved, could result in
material fines and penalties or require changé&ayPal's business that may be costly, make idlissctive to customers or even require
PayPal to cease certain operations. The paymethetworks could adopt new operating rules or preror re-interpret existing rules that
PayPal or its processors might find difficult oeevmpossible to follow, or costly to implement. Asesult, PayPal could lose its ability to ¢
customers the option of using payment cards to thadt payments, or could lose its ability to gtuestomers the choice of currency in which
they would like their card to be charged, which Waeduce PayPal's revenues from cross-border.tthBayPal were unable to accept
payment cards, its business would be seriously dathdn addition, the velocity of trade on eBay arebsites operated by Enterprise clients
that accept PayPal as a form of payment could dserand our business would further suffer.

PayPal is also required to comply with payment ceetivorks' special operating rules for paymentisergroviders to merchants. PayPal
and its payment card processors have implementadfigpbusiness processes for merchant customenglar to comply with these rules, but
any failure to comply could result in fines, theamt of which would be within the payment card natks' discretion. PayPal also could be
subject to fines from payment card networks ifits to detect that merchants are engaging inigietvthat are illegal or that are considered
“high risk,” primarily the sale of certain types d@ifjital content. For “high risk” merchants, PayRalst either prevent such merchants from
using PayPal or register such merchants with paycsd networks and conduct additional monitoririthwespect to such merchants. PayPal
has incurred fines from its payment card processdasing to PayPal's failure to detect the usiisafervice by illegal or “high risk” merchants.
The amount of these fines has not been materiahrpuadditional fines in the future would likelg For larger amounts, could become materic
and could result in a termination of PayPal's gbith accept payment cards or changes in PayRategs for registering new customers, whicl
would significantly damage PayPal's business. PayRaw retail point-
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of-sale solution and PayPal Here product are albfest to payment card network operating ruleschimay increase the costs of those
products or otherwise negatively impact their dgpient, particularly internationally.

Similarly, consumers of the websites operated bigpnise clients typically pay for purchases bymant card or similar payment
method. Accordingly, our Enterprise business faisks similar to the risks described above for RayP

The listing or sale by our users of items thatgdiély infringe the intellectual property rightsrights owners, included pirated or
counterfeit items, may harm our business.

We have received in the past, and we anticipatsiviag in the future, communications alleging tbattain items listed or sold through
our services by our users infringe third-party aigiyts, trademarks and trade names, or other @uteiél property rights. See “Item 3: Legal
Proceedings” below. There are over 40,000 rightseyw/in our verified rights owner (VeRO) programg aach rights owner has anywhere
from one to several hundred brands. Although westsmught to work actively with the owners of irgetlual property rights to eliminate
listings offering infringing items on our websitasd mobile platforms, some rights owners have esqae the view that our efforts are
insufficient.

Allegations of infringement of intellectual propgrights have resulted in threatened and actughtipn against us from time to time by
rights owners, including litigation brought by luybrand owners such as Tiffany & Co. in the Ujex S.A. and Coty Prestige Lancaster
Group GmbH in Germany; Louis Vuitton Malletier a@dristian Dior Couture in France; and L'Oréal SAntdme Parfums et Beauté & Cie
and Laboratoire Garnier & Cie in several Europeaumtries. The plaintiffs in these cases seek, oglsp to hold eBay liable for alleged
counterfeit items listed on our websites by thiadties; for “tester” and other consumer produdiglad in a manner to prevent resale and for
unboxed and other allegedly nonconforming produrcesach case listed on our websites by third parfer the alleged misuse of trademark
copyrights in listings or otherwise on our webs#esl in connection with paid search advertiseméotsilleged violations of selective
distribution channel laws or parallel import laves fistings of authentic items; and for alleged fwmmpliance with consumer protection laws.

Plaintiffs in these and similar suits seek, amotigeioremedies, injunctive relief and damages. Siatuwdamages for copyright or
trademark violations could range up to $150,000ceeyright violation and $2,000,000 per trademadiation in the U.S., and may be even
higher in other jurisdictions. These and similatsmay also force us to modify our business peasti For example, in June 2013, the Germat
Federal Supreme Court partially confirmed a denifip the Hamburg Court of Appeal in a matter wheeehad been found liable to prevent
infringing children's chairs from appearing on #ite, and ruled that as a result of keyword adsiegi that linked to search result lists, we were
required to increase efforts to ensure that theaech results were free from infringing contentmupgtial notification of such content. This
decision may require us to change our businessipeadn Germany in a manner that increases ous evsl lowers our revenue. In addition,
rights owners have aggressively sought to redue@piplicability of limitations to intellectual pregty rights such as copyright exhaustion and
the first sale doctrine in cases such as Verndutodesk Inc. (Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals) avdley v. Kirtsaeng (U.S. Supreme Court).
Although the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in Wileykirtsaeng overturned the Second Circuit CourAppeals' ruling and established that the
first sale doctrine applies in the U.S. to produatsfully made outside the U.S., some rights owrgngose that reasoning and have expressec
support for a legislative change to the U.S. CapiwriAct. To the extent the scope or applicabilitysoch doctrines is limited or narrowed, the
supply of goods available for resale on our websited mobile platforms may be adversely affectedhé aggregate, these and similar suits
may force us to modify our business practices, Wwhiuld lower our revenue, increase our costs denoar websites and mobile platforms
less convenient to our customers or result in §anit damage awards and injunctions, which couddemally harm our business.

In addition to litigation from rights owners, we ynbe subject to regulatory, civil or criminal precéngs and penalties if governmental
authorities believe we have aided and abetteddrséte of counterfeit goods. While we have had seanky success in defending against such
litigation, more recent cases have been baseéast in part, on different legal theories than ¢hoisearlier cases, and there is no guarantee th
we will continue to be successful in defending agasuch litigation. Plaintiffs in recent casesdavgued that we are not entitled to safe
harbors under the Digital Millennium Copyright Antthe U.S. or as a hosting provider in the Europgaion under the Electronic Commerce
Directive because of the alleged active natureuofimvolvement with our sellers, and that whethenat such safe harbors are available, we
should be found liable because we supposedly haivadequately removed listings that are counteofeétre authentic but allegedly violate
trademark or copyright law or effectively suspendsdrs who have created such listings. While weatdelieve the European Court of Jus
decision in the L'Oréal case (see “Item 3: LegakBedings’below) changes the standard for hosting immunigeunhe Electronic Commer
Directive, rights owners in European jurisdictidra/e asserted that our degree of participatioherttansaction should cause us to be unat
take advantage of the hosting immunity exceptiagmalFresolution of this issue has been left tortagonal courts of member countries in the
European Union. We believe that
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the legal climate, especially in Europe, is becaymitore adverse to our positions, which may requsréo take actions which could lower our
revenues, increase our costs, or make our welasittenobile platforms less convenient to our custamehich could materially harm our
business. In certain emerging markets, the govenmhmay be less experienced in dealing with onlinemobile commerce and/or hosting
immunity protections may be more limited or notitadale at all. In addition, public perception tlzatunterfeit or pirated items are
commonplace on our websites, even if factually irext, would damage our reputation, lower the poigesellers receive for their items and
damage our business.

We are continuously seeking to improve and modifly efforts to eliminate counterfeit and piratedrigethrough ongoing business
initiatives designed to reduce bad buyer experieaogl improve customer satisfaction and by respontdi new patterns we are seeing among
counterfeiters and others committing fraud on @ers. Increased intermediation of transactions éatvbuyers and sellers, which we gene
refer to as our managed marketplace initiativesnidled to achieve those goals may result in uggheiable to rely, to the same extent that we
have in the past, on hosting immunity and otheosdary liability safe harbors when sued by usedsraghts owners over actions taken on our
site by our users. While we are taking steps togati¢ the potential impact on our safe harbor dsfenwe may be subject to more intellectual
property litigation and may lose more cases asaltref these business model changes, which walidraely affect our business and resul
operations.

Content owners and other intellectual propertytagiwners may also seek to bring legal action ag&intities that are peripherally
involved in the sale of infringing items, such ayment companies. To the extent that intellectugp@rty rights owners bring legal action
against PayPal based upon the use of PayPal's pagem@ices in a transaction involving the salenfiinging items, including on our websites
or mobile platforms, our business could be harrSederal jurisdictions have adopted new laws indlaeas, and others are considering
imposing additional restrictions.

In addition, new laws have been proposed regulagmnmerce companies with respect to intellectu@dqrty issues. For example,
ACTA and TPP are trade agreements that includenat®nal standards for enforcing intellectual gap rights, including provisions
regarding counterfeit goods and online piracy. Eheopean Commission is considering revising thellettual Property Enforcement
Directive, which could potentially increase our egpre to enforcement actions from rights ownerplémentation of these or similar laws
could require us to change our business praciicergase our compliance costs and harm our busiRégists owners have also increasingly
gone into U.S. courts and obtained injunctions irdey PayPal to cease handling transactions forathwebsites and third parties (in most
cases located outside the U.S.) and to hold thésfefisuch parties pending judicial resolutionwdtsrights owners' claims against such pal
which disrupts the relationship between PayPalsarth parties and, if such parties sell on our Mapikees platforms, could also adversely
affect our Marketplaces business.

We are subject to patent litigation.

We have repeatedly been sued for allegedly infriggither parties' patents. We are a defendanhimer of patent suits and have beer
notified of several other potential patent disput¥e expect that we will increasingly be subjecp&tent infringement claims involving vario
aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments and Enterpeigments as:

» our products and services continue to expand ipesand complexity (e.g., our mobile, local, soeiadl digital initiatives’

* we expand into new businesses, including througjuiaitions; an

» the universe of patent owners who may claim Wetcompanies that we have acquired, or our ciE®iincluding PayPal
merchants and Enterprise clients) infringe theiepts and the aggregate number of patents cortriojlesuch patent owners
correspondingly increases.

Such claims may be brought directly against us,afrmgur companies and/or against our customergyding PayPal merchants and
Enterprise clients, whom we may indemnify eithecéaese we are contractually obligated to do so erlassiness matter. We believe that an
increasing number of these claims against us dmer eéchnology companies have been, and continbe, timitiated by third parties whose s
or primary business is to assert such claims. tlitiath, we have seen significant patent disputéa/éen operating companies in some
technology industries (e.g., mobile telephony)eRatlaims, whether meritorious or not, are timestoning and costly to defend and resolve,
and could require us to make expensive changesrimethods of doing business, enter into costhaltgyor licensing agreements, or cease
conducting certain operations, which would harmlmusiness.
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Use of our services for illegal purposes could haum business.

We may be unable to prevent our users from sellimgwful or stolen goods or unlawful services, @ltisg goods or services in an
unlawful manner. As a result, we (including our éogpes and directors of our various entities) Haeen and may continue to be subject to
allegations of civil or criminal liability for unlaful activities carried out by users through ouwvgees. In a number of circumstances, third
parties, including government regulators and laferement officials, have alleged that our servigielsand abet certain violations of certain
laws, including anti-scalping laws with respecthe resale of tickets, laws regarding the saleoahterfeit items, laws restricting or prohibiting
the transferability (and by extension, the resafajigital goods (e.g., event tickets, books, masid software), the fencing of stolen goods,
selective distribution channel laws, customs ladistance selling laws and the sale of items outsfdbe U.S. that are regulated by U.S. expot
controls. For example:

* In Turkey, local prosecutors and courts are stigating our liability for allegedly illegal actis by users of our Turkish
Marketplaces business (GittiGidiyor). In accordanith local law and custom, they are considerirgjdting, and have in some
cases already indicted, one or more members didbed of directors of our local Turkish subsidiafye intend to defend
vigorously against any such actions.

* In August 2012, we were informed that U.S. tigs of footwear with religious imagery were visible our local Indian site and
we immediately removed these listings. In Septen2b@2, a criminal case was registered against Urwdia in regard to these
listings, and we are challenging the prosecutiothisf case.

 The German Federal Supreme Court has ruledihahay have a duty to take reasonable measuresverni prohibited DVDs
from being sold on our site to minors and that cetitgrs may be able to enforce this duty.

As we seek to reduce bad buying experiences anireghe customer experience on our sites, out tehateraction with buyers and
sellers may increase over time, which could in fnorease our potential exposure to allegatiorevilf or criminal liability for unlawful
activities carried out by users through our sewvice

Although we have prohibited the listing of illegald stolen goods and certain higgk items and implemented other protective meas
we may be required to spend substantial resouockée additional protective measures or discomtitertain service offerings. In addition we
may incur costs as a result of potential liabitijating to the alleged or actual sale of unlawgimbds or the unlawful sale of goods. Certain
manufacturers and large retailers have sought n&vfdderal and state legislation regarding stglewds that could limit our ability to allow
sellers to use our sites without confirming therseuwf, and their legal rights to sell, the undiedygoods. In addition, from time to time we
have received significant media attention relatm¢he listing or sale of illegal goods and stademds using our services. This negative
publicity could damage our reputation, diminish #atéue of our brand names and make users reluitarste our products and services.

PayPal's payment system is also susceptible toiiaity illegal or improper uses, including illegahline gambling, fraudulent sales of
goods or services, illicit sales of prescriptiondigations or controlled substances, piracy of safeymovies, music and other copyrighted or
trademarked goods, money laundering, terrorisnfiivag, bank fraud, child pornography traffickingobibited sales of alcoholic beverages or
tobacco products, online securities fraud and eragpng, promoting, facilitating or instructing otedo engage in illegal activities. There has
been an increased focus by rights owners and Wv&rgment officials on the role that payments systelay in the sale of, and payment for,
pirated digital goods on the Internet, primarilyaihgh file sharing services. Recent changes inhlave increased the penalties for
intermediaries providing payment services for drriiegal activities and additional payments-rethproposals are under active consideration
by government policymakers. Despite measures Pdd2alaken to detect and lessen the risk of thid & conduct, illegal activities could still
be funded using PayPal.

Any resulting claims could damage our reputatiod any resulting liabilities, loss of transactiodwme or increased costs could harm
our business and our financial results.
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If our Enterprise business is unable to migrateta@iarexisting clients to its new suite of Commeéreehnologies in a timely and cost-
effective manner, it would be substantially harmed.

Our Enterprise business is in the process of migyatertain existing clients to its new suite ofnf@oerce Technologies. This project is
time consuming, could involve additional costs analves significant technical risk. Previously pfeed migrations of certain clients to the
new suite of Commerce Technologies have been dilaye 2014 and beyond. If client migrations to tteav suite of Commerce Technologies
continue to be delayed, the functionality of thevrseiite of Commerce Technologies is not accepteelisting Enterprise clients or prospec
clients targeted by our Enterprise business, thesugte of Commerce Technologies contains an umdabk amount of design flaws or does
not perform or operate as expected, or our Entghrusiness fails to meet client commitments andcgs level agreements, our Enterprise
business could continue to be subject to substgeizlties under its agreements with its clieimtsliding significant financial penalties and
termination rights for its affected clients), iedationships with its clients and their respectiusinesses could continue to be substantially
harmed, and additional Enterprise clients may seé&rminate their contracts with our Enterprissibass early based on actual or proposed
breach. In addition, our Enterprise business' néte ®f Commerce Technologies provides for subgthyimore client control over certain
platform functionality, such as promotions and nedirig, operations and performance analytics. IfiEnterprise business is unable to help
clients understand, assess and address theirahfgeparedness needs for the new suite of Comni@aenologies, this could result in delays
in deployment, client dissatisfaction due to laélp@paredness, degraded site performance, anticadisupport costs attributable to client-
based issues. We believe that our Enterprise &siability to secure new clients and retain curcéiants will be negatively impacted if it is
unable to continue to roll out the new suite of @oence Technologies in live client implementatiohsy of these events or circumstances
could materially and adversely affect our Entemtisisiness. Even if accomplished successfully mingsation project may cost more than
expected or take longer than planned, which coaldhtour Enterprise business.

We are subject to risks associated with informati@seminated through our service.

The laws relating to the liability of online serg&ccompanies for information carried on or disseeid through their services remain
unsettled in many jurisdictions. Claims could bedmagainst online services companies under bothdndforeign law for defamation, libel,
invasion of privacy, negligence, copyright or traek infringement, or other theories based on #tane and content of the materials
disseminated through their services. Several grilaatsuits seeking to impose liability under a nemdf these theories have been brought
against us, as well as other online service congain addition, domestic and foreign legislatias been proposed that would prohibit, or
impose liability for, the transmission over thedmtet of certain types of information. Our Marketi#s service features a Feedback Forum,
which includes information from users regardingesthsers. Although all such feedback is generayagsbrs and not by us, claims of
defamation or other injury have been made in ttst gad could be made in the future against usdoremoving content posted in the
Feedback Forum.

Furthermore, several court decisions arguably imaveowed the scope of the immunity provided tormkervice providers like us in the
U.S. under the Communications Decency Act. For gtanthe Ninth Circuit has held that certain immymirovisions under the
Communications Decency Act might not apply to thieeet that a website owner materially contributethe development of unlawful content
on its website. As our websites add or change eesychallenges to the applicability of these imitiegcan be expected to continue. In
addition, the Paris Court of Appeal has ruled i lthouis Vuitton Malletier and Christian Dior Coutucases that applicable laws protecting
passive Internet “hosts” from liability are inapgalble to eBay given that eBay actively promoteslinigl on its sellers' listings and receives a
commission on successful transactions, and isfibrera broker. The European Court of Justice deeisi the L'Oréal case (see “Item 3: Legal
Proceedings” below) gave broad discretion to nafieourts in Europe to determine if Internet hagimmunity applies to eBay. Accordingly,
our potential liability to third parties for theearsprovided content on our sites, particularlyurigdictions outside the U.S. where laws
governing Internet transactions are unsettled, imergase. If we become liable for information pd®d by our users and carried on our servic
in any jurisdiction in which we operate, we coukldirectly harmed and we may be forced to implememt measures to reduce our exposure
to this liability, including expending substantiesources or discontinuing certain service offesjnghich would negatively affect our financial
results. The increased attention focused uponlitiaBsues as a result of these lawsuits and latie proposals could require us to incur
additional costs and harm our reputation and osinass.
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Government inquiries may lead to charges or peesilti

A large number of transactions occur on our websited mobile platforms on a daily basis. Governmeguailators have received a
significant number of consumer complaints aboutMarketplaces, Payments and Enterprise businestés, while small as a percentage of
our total transactions, are large in aggregate rusiti\s a result, from time to time we have beentacied by various U.S. and foreign
governmental regulatory agencies that have questibout our operations and the steps we take teqgtrour users from fraud. PayPal has
received inquiries regarding its restriction ansctbsure practices from the Federal Trade Commisaial regarding these and other business
practices from the attorneys general of a numbstaiés. In September 2006, PayPal entered irgtilaraent agreement with the attorneys
general of a number of states under which it agtegxhy $1.7 million to the attorneys general, siroand streamline its user agreement,
increase educational messaging to users aboutgitioices and communicate more information reggrgrotection programs to users.

From time to time, we face inquiries from governtegulators in various jurisdictions related téi@us that we have taken that are
designed to improve the security of transactiortsthe quality of the user experience on our webgitel we may face similar inquiries from
other government regulators in the future. For g¥anin 2008, the Australian Competition and Consu@ommission and the Reserve Bank
of Australia reviewed our policies requiring setléo offer PayPal as a payment alternative on massactions on our localized Australian
website and precluding sellers from imposing alsamge or any other fee for accepting PayPal orrgihgment methods. From time to time,
other regulators have requested information comogrRayPal's limitations of customer accounts. Birlyi, from time to time Bill Me Later h¢
received customer complaints that could resulbirestigations into Bill Me Later's business pragsiby state or federal regulators. As a result
of the U.S. credit crisis, new laws and regulatibage been, and are expected to be, adopted atehimpted that impose additional
obligations and restrictions on the provision afdit. On August 7, 2013 and January 13, 2014, weived Civil Investigative Demands (CII
from the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (OFfeBuesting that we provide testimony, produceudwents and provide information
relating primarily to the acquisition, managememgl operation of the Bill Me Later business, inahgdonline credit products and services,
advertising, loan origination, customer acquisitiservicing, debt collection, and complaints hamglipractices. We are cooperating with the
CFPB in connection with the CIDs. We are likely¢geive additional inquiries from regulatory agesan the future, including under new or
existing credit laws or regulations, relating ta business, products and services. We have resgdads! inquiries from regulatory agencies
by describing our current and planned antifraudré&df customer support procedures, operating puzesdand disclosures of the relevant
business. If one or more of these agencies isatisffied with our response to current or futureviinigs, we could be subject to enforcement
actions, fines or other penalties, or forced tongegeour operating practices in ways that could haumbusiness. One or more of these agencie
also might take action against other companies siittilar businesses which could force us to changeoperating practices in ways that coulc
harm our business.

We are subject to general litigation and regulatdigputes.

From time to time, we are involved in other disgube regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of business. These disputes
and inquiries include lawsuits by our users (indlbglly or as class actions) alleging, among othigigs, improper credit and/or collection
activities; improper disclosure of our prices, sute policies; that our prices, rules, policiesastomer/user agreements violate applicable law
that we have not acted in conformity with such gsicules, policies or agreements; or violationgrofacy laws and policies, including
violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection A¢tU.S.C. section 227 et seq. (TCPA), as disclssmore detail under the captions
“Changes in regulations, regulatory scrutiny, agrusoncerns regarding privacy and protection of daga could adversely affect our business,
and “Our Payments business is subject to consumgzgtion laws and regulations”. The number andifitance of these disputes and
inquiries continue to increase as our company hasrglarger, our businesses have expanded in 4eope our mobile, local, social and dig
initiatives and our continuing geographical expanyiand our products and services have increaseshiplexity. We have in the past been
forced to litigate such claims. We may also becomoge vulnerable to third-party claims as laws saglthe Digital Millennium Copyright Act,
the Lanham Act and the Communications Decency Aetraerpreted by the courts as our products andcss to users continue to expand
as we expand geographically into jurisdictions vehtéie underlying laws with respect to the potedigdlility of online intermediaries such as
ourselves are either unclear or less favorabldiszsissed in more detail under the caption “Neweatisting regulations could harm our
business”. As an increasing portion of our busirsbsis to mobile, we may be subject to additidaals and regulations, which may have
significant penalties. In addition, we are alsojsabto federal, state, local and foreign laws efigral applicability, including laws regulating
working conditions.

Similar to several other technology companiesUtte Department of Justice (DOJ) and the Stateatif@nia allege that we violated
U.S. and California antitrust law by agreeing motecruit employees from other technology companide
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filed a motion to dismiss the cases asserted agasnasnd, in September 2013, the U.S. District Cfmurthe Northern District of California
granted the motion to dismiss regarding the Califbasserted case but denied the motion to dismissding the DOJ asserted case. The
State of California has filed an amended complaihich we have moved to dismiss. These cases arently stayed. We believe these
allegations are without merit and intend to defendselves vigorously. These claims and any atl@@ms or regulatory actions against us,
whether meritorious or not, could be time consumiegult in costly litigation, damage awards (imthg statutory damages for certain causes
of action in certain jurisdictions), injunctive iefl, or increased costs of doing business throulyleime judgment or settlement, require us to
change our business practices in expensive waysiressignificant amounts of management time, téauthe diversion of significant
operational resources, or otherwise harm our basine

Changes to our programs to protect buyers and igetieuld increase our costs and loss rate.

Our eBay and PayPal buyer protection programs septehe means by which we compensate users wisvédhat they have been
defrauded, have not received the item that theghmsed, or have received an item different thart wha described. However, users who pay
through PayPal may have reimbursement rights figeir payment card company or bank, which in turih séiek recovery from PayPal. eBay
also periodically receives complaints from buyersaathe quality of the goods purchased. We exjpecbntinue to receive communications
from users requesting reimbursement or threatemirggmmencing legal action against us if no reimsbarent is made. Our liability for these
sort of claims is slowly beginning to be clarifiedsome jurisdictions and may be higher in some-dda. jurisdictions than it is in the U.S.
Litigation involving liability for third-party actins could be costly and time consuming for us, rtliveinagement attention, result in increased
costs of doing business, lead to adverse judgmentgherwise harm our business. In addition, ag@asers will likely complain to regulatory
agencies that could take action against us, inetugihposing fines or seeking injunctions.

Over the last several years, we have enhanceduter nd seller protections offered by PayPal mage eBay marketplaces, and in
certain countries for transactions outside of eBayketplaces. In October 2013, PayPal launchedgpanded its seller protection to eligible
merchants in the Asia Pacific region. These chatmm@sayPal's buyer and seller protection programdceesult in future changes and
fluctuations in our Payments transaction loss fabe the year ended December 31, 2013, our Payrrantaction losses (including both direc
losses and buyer protection payouts) totaled $36@m representing 0.21% of our net total paymesiume, respectively. Beginning in 2009,
we have also changed the dispute resolution prdoessnsactions for buyers in the U.S., U.K. @&fmany (on eBay.com, eBay.co.uk and
eBay.de, respectively), as described in more dakail’e under the caption “Changes to our dispselugon process could increase our costs
and loss rate,” which could result in an increaseur combined eBay and PayPal transaction losses.

Beginning in 2009, we have transitioned buyerh&.S., U.K. and Germany to a dispute resolutiaegss, or resolutions, provided by
eBay customer support, which now serves as theapyimntry point for buyers in these countries éytfare unable to resolve their disputes
eBay sellers. Among other things, the resoluticle@ss provides that eBay will generally reimbubeebuyer for the full amount of an item's
purchase price (including original shipping costs§ases where the item was not received or the titey received was different from that
described in the listing and the seller does noviple adequate resolution to the buyer. eBay tftempts to recoup amounts paid to the buyer
from the seller's PayPal accounts or through atbkection methods. We have recently simplified pinecess for filing a resolutions case,
which has resulted in a significant increase inrthmber of cases being opened. Our costs assogidtecesolutions have increased as a resul
of these changes to our resolutions policies andgss, in part because eBay may not have the saeleof rights of recoupment against sel
as PayPal, resulting in higher costs to operat@tbgram. These changes, together with any additicdmnges that we may make to our
resolutions process in the future, may be negatinesieived by, and lead to dissatisfaction on i @f, some of our sellers, and may also
result in an increase in buyer fraud and associaéedaction losses. Increased costs, loss rategbdities resulting from eBay and/or PayPal’s
current buyer and seller protection programs, angles to such buyer and seller protection programsd have an adverse effect on our
business and financial results.

Failure to deal effectively with fraud, bad trantaas and negative customer experiences would asgr®ur loss rate and harm our
business.

PayPal's highly automated and liquid payment sermiakes PayPal an attractive target for fraudohfiguring its service, PayPal
continually strives to maintain the right balanéeppropriate measures to promote both conveniandesecurity for customers. Identity
thieves and those committing fraud using stolermpant card or bank account numbers can potentithl farge amounts of money from
businesses such as PayPal. We believe that sefd¢tal/Pal's current and former competitors in tbeteonic payments business have gone
of business or significantly restricted their besises largely due to losses from this type of frélditile PayPal uses advanced anti-fraud
technologies, we expect that technically
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knowledgeable criminals will continue to attempti@wumvent PayPal's arfiaud systems using increasingly sophisticated ousthFrom tim
to time, such fraudsters may discover and explditerabilities that may not immediately be idewetifiand remediated, which may in turn re
in one-time increases in fraud and associateddrdion losses, which may be substantial. In additi@cause users frequently use the same
passwords for different sites, a data breach bird party site can result in a spike in eBay an&ayPal transaction losses. PayPal's service
could also be subject to employee fraud or otherimal security breaches, and PayPal may be retjdgreeimburse customers for any funds
stolen as a result of such breaches. Merchantsl edsth request reimbursement, or stop using PaifRlady are affected by buyer fraud or
other types of fraud. Additional fraud risks asabedl with PayPal's point of sale solutions are rilesd below under the captioRayPal's reta
point of sale solutions expose us to additiondistis

PayPal incurs substantial losses due to claims boyers that merchants have not performed or ket tjoods or services do not match
the merchant's description, whether those clainse #ftom merchant fraud or from an unintentionélfe to perform by the merchant. PayPal
seeks to recover such losses from the merchanimaymnot be able to recover in full if the merchianinwilling or unable to pay. PayPal also
incurs losses from claims that the customer didanthorize the purchase, from buyer fraud, fromrgous transmissions and from customers
who have closed bank accounts or have insuffidiemds in them to satisfy payments. In additiodo#ses incurred by PayPal related to
payment card transactions become excessive, thag potentially result in PayPal losing the rightaccept payment cards for payment, whicl
would materially and adversely affect PayPal'siess both on and off eBay. In the event that PawBalunable to accept payment cards, the
velocity of trade on eBay and off eBay (i.e., othvebsites that accept PayPal as a form of payneentyl also decrease, in which case our
business would further suffer. The Bill Me Latensgee is similarly subject to the risk of frauduteactivity associated with merchants, users of
the Bill Me Later service and third parties hanglits user information. Our Payments business ddeentmeasures to detect and reduce the ri:
of fraud, but these measures need to be continumafiyoved and may not be effective against newamdinually evolving forms of fraud or in
connection with new product offerings. If these sweas do not succeed, our business will suffer.

eBay faces similar risks with respect to frauduketivities on its websites. eBay periodically iges complaints from users who may
have received the goods that they had purchasetnhe cases, individuals have been arrested amittzhfor fraudulent activities using our
websites. eBay also receives complaints from selldro have not received payment for the goodsalmatyer had contracted to purchase. Nor
payment may occur because of miscommunication,useca buyer has changed his or her mind and denatdd honor the contract to
purchase the item, or because the buyer bid oitettremaliciously to harm either the seller or eBlaysome European and Asian jurisdictions,
buyers may also have the right to withdraw fronale snade by a professional seller within a spetifime period. While eBay can, in some
cases, suspend the accounts of users who failftibtheir payment or delivery obligations to othesers, eBay does not have the ability to
require users to make payment or deliver goodstt@rwise make users whole other than throughuyebprotection program.

Negative publicity and user sentiment generatesl r@sult of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by sieéour Marketplaces, Payments and
Enterprise services could reduce our ability toaattnew users or retain our current users, damageeputation and diminish the value of our
brand names. We believe that negative user exmpasegre one of the primary reasons users stop O8inggrvices.

In addition, in the event of the bankruptcy or othesiness interruption of a merchant that seltsdgar services in advance of the date o
their delivery or use (e.g., airline, cruise or cern tickets, custom-made goods and subscripti@Bgy and/or PayPal could be liable to the
buyers of such goods or services, either throwghtter protection program or through chargebaoksayment cards used by customers to
fund their payment through PayPal. While we havaldished reserves based on assumptions and estithat we believe are reasonable to
cover such eventualities, these reserves may béitisnt.

From time to time, we have considered more actieehmanisms designed to combat bad buyer experiamcksicrease buyer
satisfaction, including evaluating sellers on thsib of their transaction history and restrictingaspending their activity as a result. For
example, in the U.S., the U.K. and Canada, we ragyest that PayPal hold seller funds in certaitames (e.g., for sellers with a limited
selling history or belovstandard performance ratings), which is intendduketp improve seller performance and increase bsgtsfaction. W
may expand the scope of such programs in the fatadentroduce other programs with similar aimghiese and other countries. Our increase
usage of these or other mechanisms to attemptgmire buyer satisfaction could result in dissatiséa on the part of sellers, loss of share to
competing marketplaces, reduced selection of irorgrdn our sites, increased loss rates and otherrsel effects.
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Any factors that reduce cross-border trade couldhhaur business.

Cross-border trade has become an increasingly tapiosource of both revenue and profits for us s€4morder transactions using our
websites and mobile platforms generally providenbigevenues and gross margins than similar tréineadhat take place within a single
country or market. We generally earn higher tratisadees for cross-border transactions involvigy®al, and our Marketplaces business
continues to represent a relatively straightforwaeay for buyers and sellers to engage in crossdvdrdde compared with other alternatives.
Cross-border trade also represents our primarin(®me cases, only) presence in certain marketioh Internet and mobile device use is
accelerating and we have a limited (or no) domédtcdketplaces business, such as Brazil/Latin An@i@hina, Russia and various other
countries.

The interpretation and application of specific oaél or regional laws, such as those related &l@dtual property rights of authentic
products, selective distribution networks, andesslin other countries listing items on the Intéraed the potential interpretation and
application of laws of multiple jurisdictions (e.the jurisdiction of the buyer, the seller, andhe location of the item being sold) are
extremely complicated in the context of cross-botdede. Some of these issues are involved in ¥Beéal and Louis Vuitton Malletier cases
(see “Item 3: Legal Proceedings” below). The intetation and/or application of such laws could isgoestrictions on, or increase the costs
of, purchasing, selling, shipping or returning ge@adross national borders.

In addition, our cross-border trade is also suliigcand may be impacted by, currency exchangditateiations. To the extent the U.S.
dollar strengthens against the Euro, the Britishinolp the Australian dollar or other currenciesssrborder trade related to purchases of dollat
denominated goods (or goods from those Asia-Paaifimtries whose currencies tend to follow theatdlby non-U.S. purchasers will likely
decrease, and that decrease will likely not beedfly a corresponding increase in cross-bordee tiragblving purchases by U.S. buyers of
goods denominated in other currencies. Even ifsshasder trade is not reduced, if more sellers adeept PayPal begin to offer their goods ol
services in multiple currencies, and to arrangeniitindrawal of balances to local bank accounts udtiple countries, this could reduce PayP
revenues from foreign exchange fees.

In addition to the risks above, any other factbes increase the costs of purchasing, selling psidpor returning goods across national
borders or restrict, delay or make cross-bordeietraore difficult or impractical, including flucttians in currency exchange rates, currency
restrictions, increases in postal or delivery sagvates, postal or delivery service terminatiaiisuptions or interruptions, changes in the
business practices of the card networks or padiitig banks concerning dynamic currency conversioport or export control laws, the
application of (or increases in) tariffs, dutiesotiher taxes on imports or exports, customs enfoece, including delays at the border
attributable to customs inspections, enforcemeimtefnational intellectual property rights by rigtholders or court rulings, or that otherwise
result in a net reduction in cross-border tradewnwebsites and mobile platforms would lower cuanues and profits and adversely affect
our business. As part of our ongoing efforts toelrnore transactions and improve seller efficieswagt buyer experience and trust, we are
evaluating opportunities to become more activelpived in different aspects of cross-border tratisas, which could potentially expose us to
additional liability based upon the nature of awdlvement in aspects of such transactions antdéoattions of our users in one or more
countries.

Our business is subject to online security risksluding security breaches.

Our businesses involve the storage and transmisg$iogers' proprietary information. In additiorsignificant number of our users
authorize us to bill their payment card accountsddiy for all transaction and other fees charggdd For example, PayPal's users routinely
provide payment card and other financial informatiand Enterprise customers routinely provide payroard information and other
personally identifiable information which we maiint¢o facilitate the ease of future transaction i&ly on encryption and authentication
technology licensed from third parties to provilde security and authentication to effectively sedtansmission of confidential information,
including customer payment card numbers, howeweh sechnology may not be sufficient to protecttda@smission of our confidential
information. In addition, advances in computer ¢algées, new discoveries in the field of cryptoghey or other developments may result in the
technology used by us to protect transaction deitagbbreached or compromised.

An increasing number of websites, including thosaed by several other large Internet and offlinmpanies, have disclosed breaches
of their security, some of which have involved sisfibated and highly targeted attacks on portidrtheir websites or infrastructure. Because
the techniques used to obtain unauthorized acdissdle or degrade service, or sabotage systerasgetfrequently and often are not
recognized until launched against a target, we bgaynable to anticipate these techniques or toemeht adequate preventative measures.
Data security breaches may also result from nonrtieal means, for example, actions by a subornqui@me. Our servers are also vulnerable
to computer viruses, physical or electronic

28




break-ins and similar disruptions, and we have ggpeed “denial-of-service” type attacks on ourtegsthat have, in certain instances, made
all or portions of our websites unavailable foripds of time. For example, in December 2010, PayRal subject to a series of distributed
“denial of service” attacks following PayPal's dseon to indefinitely restrict the account used bikMeaks due to an alleged violation of
PayPal's Acceptable Use Policy. A party that ig ablcircumvent our security measures could miggpjate our or our users' proprietary
information, cause interruption in our operatiotemage our computers or those of our users, orwiteedamage our reputation. In addition,
our users, as well as those of other prominentietecompanies, have been and will continue tabgeted by parties using fraudulent “spoof”
and “phishing” emails to misappropriate user namasswords, payment card numbers, or other pergdbaination or to introduce viruses or
other malware through “trojan horse” programs tousers' computers. These emails appear to bénadyt emails sent by eBay, PayPal,
StubHub, one of our other businesses, a user obboer businesses, or an Enterprise client, btctirecipients to fake websites operated by
the sender of the email or request that the reaiigiend a password or other confidential inforrmattrough email or download malware.
Despite our efforts to mitigate “spoof’ and “phishf emails through product improvements and usacetion, “spoof’ and “phishing”
activities remain a serious problem.

If an actual or perceived breach of our securityuos, public perception of the effectiveness of gegurity measures could be harmed
resulting in damage to our reputation and we ctagd users. Also any compromise of our securitydcoesult in a violation of applicable
privacy and other laws, and expose us to signifitegal and financial exposure . Enterprise cliet$® face similar risks of security breaches,
and to the extent that such clients are harmedesudt of a security breach, our Enterprise bissiveould also be adversely affected. In
addition, under payment card rules and our corgnaith our card processors, if there is a breaghagfment card information that we store, or
that is stored by PayPal's direct payment cardgasing customers, we could be liable to the paywenek issuing banks for their cost of isst
new cards and related expenses If we were unallecept payment cards, our businesses would hmussridamaged. Further, we may nee
expend significant resources to protect againsirigdreaches or to address problems caused laghes. These issues are likely to become
more difficult and costly as we expand the numbgriaces where we operate. Financial services atgd in various jurisdictions, including
the U.S. and the EU, have implemented or are cerisigl proposals to impose new authentication reguémts on banks and payment
processors intended to reduce online fraud (emMp-factor authentication to verify a user's idgntitvhich could impose significant costs on
PayPal, require PayPal to change its businessigeacimake it more difficult for new customersamjits network and reduce the ease of u:
its products, which could harm PayPal's business.ii@®@urance policies carry low coverage limitsjeihmay not be adequate to reimburse us
for losses caused by security breaches.

Changes in regulations, regulatory scrutiny, orusencerns regarding privacy and protection of udata could adversely affect our
business.

We are subject to laws relating to the collectiose, retention, security and transfer of persondé#ytifiable information about our users
around the world. Much of the personal informatioat we collect, especially financial informatias regulated by multiple laws. The
interpretation and application of user data pradediaws are in a state of flux, and may be intetgd and applied inconsistently from country
to country. In many cases, these laws apply nat mnthird-party transactions, but also to trarsfafrinformation between or among ourselves
our subsidiaries and other parties with which weeheommercial relations. In particular, the coliectand use of personal information by
companies has come under increased regulatonjrscritrther, these laws continue to develop inswag cannot predict and which may
adversely impact our business.

Regulatory scrutiny of privacy and user data prideds increasing on a global basis. We are stiltgea number of local privacy laws
and regulations in the countries in which we operizicluding the following, and any many of thogggdictions are proactively evaluating
changes to those laws and regulations:

e as an entity licensed and subject to regula®a bank in Luxembourg, PayPal (Europe) S.a €CietSCA is subject to banking
secrecy laws;

» the European Union has proposed a General Dataddion Regulation that would supersede the Erapata Protection
Directive. Changes could increase penalties argbfiar failing to comply with the new regulationdaihis unclear how it
consistently the new regulation may be enforce@r@lis significant international pressure againstl.S. and the National Secul
Agency (NSA) regarding the collection of data bg tMSA from U.S. companies. Further restrictionsegulation in the European
Union could result as a direct reaction to thesnes;

* new laws or regulations, in particular, finah@aprivacy laws or regulations, enacted in juigsidns in which we do business that
require data (including customer information, tiestgn data or other information) to be stored llgaan servers in that jurisdiction
and/or prohibit such data from being transmittetsiole of that jurisdiction,
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which would increase our operational costs or eapitpenditures and potentially impact the perfarogaor availability of our
services and/or our ability to use or process ecnstalata;

- the European Union has also proposed new datatlzat give customers additional rights and prexadditional restrictions and
harsher penalties on companies for illegal colbectind misuse of personal information, includingtnietions on the use of Internet
tracking tools called “cookies.” While the Europdadnion directive on cookies has taken effect, tlemner in which member states
adopt implementing legislation, and whether theopean Union deems that legislation sufficient, tards to evolve. To the extent
implementing legislation by member states is mesgrictive, it could negatively impact the manmewihich we use cookies for
many of our services, ranging from advertisingrit-raud, and require us to incur additional costst@mnge our business practic

e California continues to pass privacy regulatiaféch may be subsequently copied and passed ar sethtes. As many of these laws
have yet to be implemented, it is unclear how thass may impact consumer perception of privackiaw they may impact our
businesses;

e inthe U.S,, the Federal Trade Commission, d€ Fand the White House have both proposed U.Sagyiframeworks, and in 2012,
legislation was introduced in the U.S. Senate whiohld have required organizations that sufferembh of security related to
personal information to notify owners of the breattinformation and, in some instances, notify thddfal Bureau of Investigation
or U.S. Secret Service; similar legislation mayirieoduced and enacted in the future;

< other countries in which we operate have regeadbpted and implemented privacy and data praote¢dws and regulations for the
first time, or are in the process of doing so. Guirent data protection policies and practices maybe consistent with new laws
and regulations or evolving interpretations andiappons. It is unclear how the application ofstkig privacy laws and regulations
will impact mobile services and technologies, which evolving rapidly. Complying with these varyingtional requirements could
cause us to incur substantial costs or require eh@nge our business practices in a manner adweosg business;

« the legislative and regulatory environment aduarobile data collection continues to evolve. Ligars and regulators in various
jurisdictions are increasingly focusing on the captand use of locati-based information relating to users of mobile desi Any
legislation or regulations restricting or limitiige collection or use of mobile data (including thige of information that may be
collected from mobile devices and/or how such imfation may be collected and used) could, if enagazhibit the use of certain
technologies, including those that track individualtivities on the Internet or geolocation vigbil@devices, and/or restrict or lin
our ability to collect and use page viewing datd parsonal information, which may reduce demanaftorservices or require
changes to our current business models, such asteitvg, which could harm our business. Any faluor perceived failure, by us
to comply with new mobile regulatory requirementsmlers or other federal, state or internatiomalgzy or consumer protection-
related laws and regulations pertaining to mobétadollection or mobile devices could result ingaedings or actions against us
by governmental entities or others (e.g., clas®agtrivacy litigation), subject us to significgmnalties and negative publicity,
require us to change our business practices, isere@ar costs and adversely affect our business.

In addition, even technical violations of certanivpcy-related laws can result in significant péiesl, including statutory damages. The
Federal Communications Commission amended its atiguk effective July 2012 under the TCPA, anddrashulgated additional
amendments, effective October 2013, which couldeiase our exposure to liability for certain typésetephonic communication with
customers, including but not limited to text messatp mobile phones. Under the TCPA, plaintiffs reagk actual monetary loss or statutory
damages of $500 per violation, whichever is greated courts may treble the damage award for witifiknowing violations. Two putative
class-action lawsuits have been filed containitggaltions that our businesses violated the TCPAeRs v. PayPal (filed in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of California in Bielary 2012) contains allegations that commeraskaisements for PayPal products and
services were sent via text message to mobile ghwithout prior consent. In May 2013, the Courtrgeal PayPal's motion for summary
judgment challenging the viability of plaintiffadividual claim on grounds that plaintiff consentedeceive the text message and ent
judgment in favor of PayPal. Plaintiff has filed @mpeal of this judgment. Murray v. Bill Me Latdit€d in the U.S. District Court for th
Northern District of lllinois in June 2012) contaiallegations that Bill Me Later made calls featgrartificial or prerecorded voices withc
prior consent. These lawsuits, and other privatesidts not currently alleged as class actions, saekages (including statutory damages) and
injunctive relief, among other remedies. Given¢hermous number of communications we send to ansua determination that there have
been violations of laws relating to PayPal's ot B¢ Later's practices (or those of any of our ottmmpanies) under the TCPA or other
communications-based statutes could expose ugrdisant damage awards that could, individuallyrothe aggregate, materially harm our
business.

Also, we have, and post on our websites, our owrapy policies and practices, concerning the ctibec use and disclosure of user d.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to complith our posted privacy policies or with any regalg requirements or orders or other fede
state or international privacy or consumer protectielated laws and
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regulations (or, in the case of our Enterprise hess, any such failure or perceived failure orptine of our Enterprise business or its clients)
could result in proceedings or actions againstyugdvernmental entities or others (e.g., clas®agirivacy litigation), subject us to significant
penalties and negative publicity, require us tongeaour business practices, increase our costaguaisely affect our business. The FTC and
state regulatory agencies have become more agggdssenforcing privacy and data protection lawd segulations. For example, in 2012, the
FTC entered into a number of consent decrees witlmzber of major online companies, including Facéband Google, to settle allegations
unfair or deceptive privacy practices. The FTCssemt decrees with Facebook and Google require@ablase companies to implement a
comprehensive privacy program and undergo reguldependent privacy audits for 20 years, amongratiiguirements. In December 2012,
California's attorney general filed a lawsuit agaiDelta Air Lines for failing to include a priva@plicy in its mobile applications.

Certain of our products, including some of Entexp'd marketing solutions, utilize “behavioral mairkg’ (generally, the tracking of a
user's online activities) to deliver relevant coniti® Internet users. The FTC has released a Bggfort with principles to address consumer
privacy issues that may arise from behavioral margeand to encourage industry self-regulationMirch 2012, the FTC issued a final report
titted “Protecting Consumer Privacy in an Era opRlaChange: Recommendations for Businesses andyRakers,” which details the FTC's
perspective on best practices for companies tHetot@nd use consumer data to protect the prigdcpnsumers. Should the FTC pursue
enforcement actions related to these businessiggactve may be required to modify our businesstjrs to conform and incur substantial
costs, which could harm our business.

Data collection, privacy and security have becongesubject of increasing public concern. If Intérered mobile users were to reduce
their use of our websites, mobile platforms, prdgdand services as a result, our business coutdimeed. As noted above, we are also subjec
to the possibility of security breaches, which tlsetmes may result in a violation of these laws.

Bill Me Later's operations expose us to additionsks.

Risks associated with our reliance on unaffilidesttlers in providing the Bill Me Later service aliscussed in more detail under the
caption “Bill Me Later's operations depend on lemservices provided by unaffiliated lenders” above

The Bill Me Later service relies on third-party roleant processors and payment gateways to proegssattions. For the year ended
December 31, 2013 approximately 59% of all trarisactolume by dollar amount through the Bill Me easervice was settled through the
facilities of a single vendor. Any disruption teete third party payment processing and gatewaycssrwould adversely affect the Bill Me
Later service.

The Bill Me Later service is offered to a wide raraf consumers, and the financial success of thfkss depends on the ability of the
issuing banks of the Bill Me Later credit produttisnanage credit risk related to those products.[€hders extend credit using Bill Me Later's
proprietary segmentation and credit scoring alporg and other analytical techniques designed ttyam#he credit risk of specific customers
based on their past purchasing and payment hiatowyell as their credit scores. Based on thesemeaince criteria, a lender may extend or
increase lines of credit to consumers at the prfisale. These algorithms and techniques may rafrately predict the creditworthiness of a
consumer due to inaccurate assumptions aboutiayartconsumer or the economic environment, amathgr factors. The accuracy of the
predictions and the ability of the lenders and Bi# Later to manage credit risk related to the Bl Later service may also be affected by
legal or regulatory changes (e.g., bankruptcy lamg minimum payment regulations), competitorsomstj changes in consumer behavior and
other factors. A lender may incorrectly interpiet tlata produced by these algorithms in settingr@dit policies, which may impact the
financial performance of the Bill Me Later servite.addition, economic and financial conditionghe U.S. may affect consumer confidence
levels and reduce consumers' ability or willingniessse credit, including the credit extended lgraler to consumers who use the Bill Me
Later service, which could impair the growth andfipability of this business.

Over the past several years, the volume of cre¢iineled by the financial institutions issuing th#é Ble Later credit products has
increased as we have continued to enable quabfigdrs with a PayPal account to use Bill Me Lateagayment funding option for
transactions on eBay.com and on certain merchalnsives that accept PayPal. We purchase the redesvabiating to these consumer loans
extended by the issuing banks, and therefore beaiigk of loss in the event of loan defaults. Ldtker businesses with significant exposure t
losses from consumer credit, the Bill Me Later g@rfaces the risk that account holders will ddfanltheir payment obligations with respect
to the consumer loans, making the receivables lettille and creating the risk of potential chaogfs- The rate at which receivables were
charged off as uncollectible, or the net chargeati, was approximately 5.67% for the year endeceimber 31, 2013. The nonpayment rate
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among Bill Me Later users may increase due to, anather things, changes to underwriting standaydBilb Me Later and the financial
institutions issuing the Bill Me Later credit prams, worsening economic conditions, such as a semesr greater austerity in the U.S., and
high unemployment rates. Consumers who miss paywentheir obligations often fail to repay themd @onsumers who file for protection
under the bankruptcy laws generally do not repair ttredit.

PayPal has also begun a pilot program, working WithBank, for WebBank to offer working capital firtang to selected sellers in the
U.S., and for PayPal to purchase the related rabksg. This program is still in the pilot phasewkwer, if expanded, it would present risks
similar to those discussed above associated watlBithMe Later service.

We purchase receivables related to Bill Me Lateoaats through borrowings and domestic and inteynak cash resources. If we are
unable to fund our purchase of receivables relt¢le Bill Me Later business adequately or in st@ffective manner, the growth and
profitability of this business would be significhnand adversely affected.

Additionally, in providing the Bill Me Later servicand other similar programs in the future, we fatber risks similar to those faced by
PayPal described elsewhere in these Risk Factmisiding under the captions “Government inquiries/riead to charges or penalties,” “Our
Payments business is subject to a number of ladisegyulations, including those governing bankingney transmission, and payment serv
that vary in the markets where we operate,” andr‘Payments business is subject to consumer proteletivs and regulations.”

Our revenue from advertising is subject to factmegond our control.

We derive significant revenue from advertising om websites and applications. Revenues from omlthesrtising are sensitive to events
and trends that affect advertising expendituresh s1$ general changes in the economy and changeasamer spending, the effectiveness of
online advertising versus offline advertising meala the value our websites provide to advertisdadive to other websites. The economic
downturn adversely impacted our advertising revetuaddition, major search engine operators (&gagle) have the ability to change from
time to time, at their sole discretion, the ruled aearch algorithms governing the pricing, avditgtand placement of online advertising, and
do so periodically. For example, changes by Gosiglee October 2012 have significantly reduced theunt of traffic our Marketplaces
business receives from free search on Google. Artgdr changes in these rules or search algoritouksl materially reduce the value that we
derive from online advertising on our websitesh@itdirectly or indirectly. For example, retail@ay a fee to us for online shoppers directed tc
their websites by the eBay Commerce Network, whimhsists of the Shopping.com websites and theiriloligion network. Rule changes me
by search engines beginning in 2008 disrupteditregfour Shopping.com websites, which in turn adely affected click-through traffic to
retailers from our Shopping.com websites and aatedifee revenue. In addition, legislators andleggts in various jurisdictions, including
the U.S. and the European Union, are reviewingheteadvertising models and the use of user-relddtal, including location-based
information relating to users of mobile deviceg] ane considering proposals that could restridtberwise impact these business models anc
practices. If we experience a reduction in our #iliag revenues due to economic, competitive, laguy, technological or other factors, the
renegotiation of our contracts with major adventiscompanies on unfavorable terms, or a reductiaur ability to effectively place
advertisements on our websites, or are otherwiablarto provide value to our advertisers, our kessrand financial results would suffer.

Our growth will depend on our ability to developrdwands, and these efforts may be costly.

We believe that continuing to strengthen our bramitide critical to achieving widespread accep&o€ our services, and will require a
continued focus on active marketing efforts acedbsef our brands. We will need to continue to gpeabstantial amounts of money on, and
devote substantial resources to, advertising, niakeand other efforts to create and maintain thlagalty among users. Since 2005, we have
significantly increased the number of brands wesapporting, adding our classified websites (inzlgden Bla Avis, BilBasen, eBay
Classifieds (including eBay Anuncios, eBay Kleinaigen and eBay Annunci), GittiGidiyor, Gumtree,ifiL.oQUo, Marktplaats.nl,
mobile.de, alaMaula and 2dehands.be), StubHubMgilLater, Gmarket, Milo, WHERE, RedLaser, Entesprand eBay Now, among others.
Each of these brands requires its own resourceiganing the costs of our branding efforts. Bramanotion activities may not yield increased
revenues, and even if they do, any increased regmay not offset the expenses incurred in buildungbrands. Also, major search engine
operators that we use to advertise our brands fneggently changing rules that govern the pricenilability and placement of online
advertisements (e.g., paid search, keywords), hadges to these rules could require us to increasspending on online advertisements and
adversely affect our ability to use online advéntisto promote our brands in a cost-effective manifieve fail to promote and maintain our
brands, or if we incur substantial expenses inruccessful attempt to promote and maintain ourds;aour business and financial results
would suffer.
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New and existing regulations could harm our busines

We are subject to the same foreign and domestis &émiother companies conducting business on aribeoffiternet. It is not always cle¢
how existing laws governing issues such as propentyership, copyrights, trademarks and other iatélial property issues, parallel imports
and distribution controls, consumer protectionataon, libel and defamation, obscenity and perspnighcy apply to our businesses. Many of
these laws were adopted prior to the advent ofrtteznet, mobile and related technologies and, r@sat, do not contemplate or address the
unique issues of the Internet and related techimdodhose laws that do reference the Internet) asdhe U.S. Digital Millennium Copyright
Act, the U.S. “CAN-SPAM” Act and the European Un®Distance Selling Directive (which will be supedied by the new Consumer Rights
Directive, which the member states are in the peoé implementing) and Electronic Commerce Dixextre being interpreted by the courts,
but their applicability and scope remain uncertéis our activities, the types of goods and serviistsd on our websites and mobile platforms
the products and services we offer (including tigfoacquisitions such as Bill Me Later and StubHarij our geographical scope continue to
expand, regulatory agencies or courts may claifmodd that we or our users are subject to additioagliirements (including licensure) or
prohibited from conducting our business in theirsdiction, either generally or with respect totaér actions (e.g., the sale of real estate, evel
tickets, cultural goods, boats and automobileshempplication of distance selling laws). Recémricial and political events may increase the
level of regulatory scrutiny on large companiegé@meral, and financial services companies in pdaicand regulatory agencies may view
matters or interpret laws and regulations diffdsetitan they have in the past and in a manner aéuverour businesses.

Our success and increased visibility has driveneseristing businesses that perceive our businegelsio be a threat to their busine:
to raise concerns about our business models toypotikers and regulators. These businesses andrti@grassociation groups employ
significant resources in their efforts to shapelégal and regulatory regimes in countries wherehaxe significant operations. They may
employ these resources in an effort to changeety@ nd regulatory regimes in ways intended tagedhe effectiveness of our businesses
the ability of users to use our products and sesvitn particular, these established businessesta#ged concerns relating to pricing, parallel
imports, professional seller obligations, selectistribution networks, stolen goods, copyrightademarks and other intellectual property
rights and the liability of the provider of an Imtet marketplace for the conduct of its users eelad those and other issues. Any changes to ti
legal or regulatory regimes in a manner that wanddease our liability for third-party listings ddunegatively impact our business.

Over the last few years, some large retailers heinl trade associations have sought legislatiannamber of states and the U.S.
Congress that would make eBay liable for the shktalen property or would ban certain categoriegamds from sale on our platform,
including gift cards and health and beauty produdisile no such legislation has passed to dateptbponents continue to seek passage of
such legislation, and if any of these laws are &stbfhey could harm our business.

Numerous states and foreign jurisdictions, inclgdime State of California, where our headquarterdacated, have regulations regarc
“auctions” and the handling of property by “secoadti dealers” or “pawnbrokersSeveral states and some foreign jurisdictions lagesnpte
to impose such regulations upon us or our usetspdrers may attempt to do so in the future. Atted@nforcement of these laws against
some of our users appears to be increasing. IrcErave were sued by Conseil des Ventes, the Framnation regulatory authority, which has
alleged that sales on our French website consiltagml auctions that cannot be performed withitaitonsent. We won this lawsuit. A lawsuit
alleging similar claims has been brought againdiyusvo associations of French antique dealersjgndw pending on appeal after we won in
the first instance. We intend to vigorously defagainst these lawsuits. However, these and otigeta®ry and licensure claims and
enforcement actions could result in costly litigatand, if unsuccessful, we could be required tmgk the way we or our users do business ir
ways that increase costs or reduce revenues (&mgbe, by forcing us to prohibit listings of certéiems or restrict certain listing formats in
some locations). We could also be subject to foresther penalties, and any of these outcomes dwarith our business.

A number of the lawsuits against us relating tderaark issues seek to have our websites subjecfayorable local laws. For example,
“trademark exhaustion” principles provide trademawkners with certain rights to control the saledfranded authentic product until it has
been placed on the market by the trademark holdeitb the holder's consent. The application cadmark exhaustion” principles is largely
unsettled in the context of the Internet, andatiemark owners are able to force us to prohiliihfis of certain items in one or more locations,
our business could be harmed.

As we expand and localize our international adégitwe may become obligated to comply with theslafithe countries or markets in
which we operate. In addition, because our senacesccessible worldwide and we facilitate safegods and provide services to users
worldwide, one or more jurisdictions may claim thag or our users are required to comply with theirs based on the location of our servers
or one or more of our users, or the location ofgtaluct or service being sold or
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provided in an ecommerce transaction. For exanple Louis Vuitton Malletier litigation, we wefeund liable in France, under French law,
for transactions on some of our websites worldvifide did not involve French buyers or sellers ($&en 3: Legal Proceedings” below). Laws
regulating Internet and ecommerce companies outdittee U.S. are generally less favorable thanghidhe U.S., giving greater rights to
consumers, content owners, competitors, users ted third parties. Compliance may be more costlynay require us to change our busines:
practices or restrict our service offerings, aralithposition of any regulations on us or our ugeay harm our business. In addition, we ma
subject to multiple overlapping legal or regulatoegimes that impose conflicting requirements ofeus., in cross-border trade). Our alleged
failure to comply with foreign laws could subjed to penalties ranging from criminal prosecutiositmificant fines to bans on our services
addition to the significant costs we may incur @fehding against such actions.

Following the global financial crisis, U.S. fedelalvmakers enacted the Dodd-Frank Act overhaulwegféderal government's oversight
of consumer financial products and systemic ristheU.S. financial system. Although the full effef the new legislation will be dependent
on regulations to be adopted by a number of diffeagencies (including the Consumer Financial Rtae Bureau), we expect the general
effect of the financial reform law will be to regeiiPayPal and Bill Me Later to make additional disares to their users and to impose new
restrictions on certain of their activities. Femeple, in January 2012, the Consumer FinancigeBtion Bureau finalized new regulations,
required by the Dodd-Frank Act that required Pay8talting in late October 2013, to provide additiibdisclosures, error resolution rights and
cancellation rights to U.S. consumers who makemnat#onal remittance payments, which could increagecosts of processing international
payments. The Consumer Financial Protection Buheaualso launched a complaints portal on its welisét allows customers to file
complaints against PayPal and other money trassfeice providers, and publishes information orhst@mplaints. These and other new
obligations will impose new compliance requiremeansd obligations on us that could increase ourscosay result in increased litigation and
the need to make expensive product changes anaineswise adversely impact our business.

In addition, we also expect that the continued anmntation of the Dodd-Frank Act will adversely Bopsome significant traditional
revenue streams for banks. For example, in Jung,20& Federal Reserve Board issued a final ryping debit card interchange fees. As a
result of this and other regulations implementimg financial reform law, banks may need to revisdrtbusiness models to remain profitable,
which may lead them to charge more for serviceckwhiere previously provided for free or at lowestc@ny resulting increases in service
fees required for PayPal to process transactiags gervice fees for automated clearing houses#@ions) would increase our costs and couls
adversely affect our business.

Our business and users may be subject to saleanthother taxes.

The application of indirect taxes (such as salesum® tax, value-added tax (VAT), goods and sesviag, business tax and gross receipt
tax) to ecommerce businesses such as eBay and tsens is a complex and evolving issue. Many effttndamental statutes and regulations
that impose these taxes were established beforditygtion and growth of the Internet and ecommercmany cases, it is not clear how
existing statutes apply to the Internet or ecommdrtaddition, governments are increasingly logKkior ways to increase revenues, which ha:
resulted in discussions about tax reform and d#wgslative action to increase tax revenues, inalgidhrough indirect taxes.

Some jurisdictions have implemented or may implenams specifically addressing the Internet or s@sgect of ecommerce. For
example, the State of New York has passed legisidkiat requires any out-state seller of tangible personal property to cbléend remit Nev
York use tax if the seller engages affiliates abosain financial thresholds in New York to perfocertain business promotion activities. In
March 2013, the New York Court of Appeals (New Y@&tate's highest court) upheld this legislatioAimazon.com, LLC and Overstock.com,
Inc. v. New York State Department of Taxation afhRce. In August 2013, Amazon.com, LLC and Oveilstmom, Inc. filed writs of
certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court. In Decen2@t3, the Supreme Court denied these writs, sdléve York law remains in effect. In
September 2012, California enacted a new law wisisimilar to the law passed in New York, but poms exclusions for certain forms of
Internet marketing and is limited to retailers whaeed prescribed sales volume thresholds. Howian; sellers who are not already
required to collect California sales or use taxdwel that their use of our websites requires thegotlect California use tax, they may elect to
limit their use of our websites rather than colliet tax, which would harm our business. Sevetamstates have also enacted similar laws
related to affiliates, and a number of other statesconsidering similar legislation. In addititime Pennsylvania Department of Revenue has
ruled that an out-of-state retailer using Pennsybrhased affiliates could have nexus in Pennsylvan@®euexisting statutes. Most of these
laws and positions are being challenged and in 22, a Cook County Circuit Court judge ruled ttiet lllinois Internet Affiliate Nexus La
was unconstitutional. The State of lllinois filedliaect appeal to the lllinois Supreme Court. Irtéber 2013, the Illinois Supreme Court upk
the trial court decision. The adoption of suchdégion by states where eBay has significant ofmrsithat perform certain business promotior
activities could result in a use tax collectionp@ssibility for certain of our sellers. This coltemn responsibility
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and the additional costs associated with complextas collection, remittance and audit requiremerdsld make selling on our websites and
mobile platforms less attractive for small businegailers, and would harm our business.

The State of Colorado has enacted legislationt#tkats a different approach by imposing a set otas@otice and reporting requireme
(but not the actual tax collection responsibility) certain retailers with no physical presenceadto@do. The law is designed to aid Colorado
in collecting use tax from Colorado residents whechase taxable items from out-of-state retail€h& regulation promulgated by the
Colorado Department of Revenue excludes from thegserting obligations businesses that sell $100¢d¥06ss into the state in a calendary
thus limiting the impact on our sellers. The lave haen challenged in Federal Court by a numbeubbbstate retailers and a Federal District
Court has issued an injunction blocking enforcenoéiihe regulations pending a resolution of theecés March 2012, a federal judge struck
down the Colorado law as unconstitutional, findihgt it discriminated against interstate comme@idahoma has enacted a similar law but
has not taken any published enforcement actiomte. #Vhile the application of these new state lmasur Marketplaces business has limited
direct impact, the proliferation of such state $afion to expand sales and use tax collectiomt@riet sales, could adversely affect some of
our sellers and indirectly harm our business.

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Rtbjean ongoing, multi-year effort by U.S. statel émcal governments to require
collection and remittance of remote sales tax lyofistate sellers - U.S. Senate and U.S. Houssiores of the Marketplace Fairness Act (S.
336 and H.R. 684) were introduced in the 113th Cesgyin 2013. The U.S. Senate passed S. 336 or6 M1 3 with bipartisan support and
H.R. 684 has been referred to the House Judiciaryr@ittee for review. If enacted into law, these suras would allow states that meet ce
simplification and other standards to require dustate sellers to collect and remit sales taxegawts purchased by in-state residents. It is
expected that some sellers, meeting an as yetinedesmall seller exception, would be excluded ftbmrequirements of the Act. The
adoption of remote sales tax collection legislativat lacks a robust small business exemption wisddlt in the imposition of sales taxes and
additional costs associated with complex salesddiection, remittance and audit compliance requiats on many of our sellers. This would
make selling online less attractive for small detzi, and would likely harm our business.

From time to time, some taxing authorities havefieok us that they believe we owe them certain sake May 2008, the City of Chicago
notified both eBay and StubHub that they are lidbtea city amusement tax on tickets to eventshict&go, irrespective of the location of the
buyer or seller, and filed suit to enforce collentbf taxes it claims are due. In a series of gdirssued in 2009, the court ruled that StubHub i
not required to collect and remit the city amuseintax, entered a final order dismissing the casgrsg StubHub, and dismissed the case
against eBay. The City of Chicago appealed bottarsto the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, whiobsequently certified the state law
arguments to the lllinois State Supreme Court. ¢toBer 2011, the lllinois Supreme Court ruled gtate municipalities may not require
electronic intermediaries such as StubHub to coded remit amusement taxes on resold tickets. déeision is now final. The application of
similar existing or future laws, including the ingdtbon of similar taxes by taxing authorities, abaldversely affect our business.

Several proposals have been made at the U.S astdtiecal levels that would impose additional taceshe sale of goods and services
over the Internet. These proposals, if adopteddcsubstantially impair the growth of ecommerce andbrands, and could diminish our
opportunity to derive financial benefit from outtiatties. The U.S. federal government's moratoriumnstate and local taxation of Internet
access or multiple or discriminatory taxes on ecemu® has been extended through November 2014 midristorium does not prohibit feder
state, or local authorities from collecting taxa@sonr income or from collecting certain taxes thate in effect prior to the enactment of the
moratorium and/or one of its extensions.

Similar issues exist outside of the U.S., whereajhyglication of VAT or other indirect taxes on eguarce providers such as eBay is
uncertain and evolving. While we attempt to conmiplyhose jurisdictions where it is clear that aisague, certain of our subsidiaries have,
from time to time, received claims relating to &pplicability of indirect taxes to our fees. In{2012, we received Notices of Reassessn
for tax years 2001-2005 from the Canadian Revergengy (CRA) which assert goods and service tax (@8&d harmonized sales tax (HST)
on our fees charged to Canadian users. These ssassats of GST/HST were the result of an audiBafyelnternational AG and are based on
the CRA's assertion that we were “doing busines€anada for GST/HST purposes. We disagreed witheissessments and filed a Notice c
Appeal with the Tax Court of Canada in July 2018e TRA asked us to settle this matter with no @ ahd in June 2013 we received
reassessments showing that no tax was due. Shathdaxes become applicable, our business coufibreed. We collect and remit indirect
taxes in certain jurisdictions. However, tax auiti@s may raise questions about our obligationditect and remit such taxes, as well as the
proper calculation of such taxes. For exampleKihiean tax authority asserted that certain coupmasincentives available on our sites shoul
not be deducted when computing taxes on our feescvallenged these assessments and in June 20 I®atilonal Tax Tribunal issued a final
ruling in our favor with respect to item incentiviesm June 2006 onward. The assessments on iteentines up to May 2006 and coupons up
to June 2010 are being reviewed by the Korea Supreaurt following two lower courts' rulings in ofavor in January and November 2013,
respectively.
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Should any new taxes become applicable to ourdedgshe taxes we pay are found to be deficient,lmusiness could be harmed.

We do not collect taxes on the goods or servickklsousers of our services. One or more statéiseofederal government or foreign
countries may seek to impose a tax collection, ntéppor record-keeping obligation on companieg g#rayage in or facilitate ecommerce. Suct
an obligation could be imposed by legislation iiketh to improve tax compliance (and legislationuchseffect has been contemplated by
several states and a number of foreign jurisdishian if an eBay company was ever deemed to biegad agent of the users of our services b
a jurisdiction in which eBay operates. In July 200& Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008(F8221) was signed into law. This |
contains provisions that require companies thatigeopayments over electronic means to users mwrrépthe Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
information on payments received by certain custsniBhe legislation, effective for payments recdiedter December 31, 2010, requires
PayPal and other electronic payments processoveeldas StubHub and similar companies, to repothé IRS on customers subject to U.S.
income tax who receive more than $20,000 in payshandl more than 200 payments in a calendar year r@duires us to request tax ID
numbers from certain payees, track payments byxaxumber and, under certain conditions, withhojabation of payments and forward such
withholding to the IRS. We have had to modify ooftware to meet these requirements and expectdaerkoperational costs and changes to
our user experience in connection with complyinthwiese reporting obligations. The IRS regulatialse require us to collect a certification
of non-U.S. taxpayer status from certain intermalanerchants. The Foreign Account Tax Compliance vhich took effect at the start of
2013, is likely to require an increase in the nunddenon-U.S. customers from whom we must obtasinglar certification, and to increase the
compliance burdens on us. These requirements nagake seller activity on our sites and harm osmass. Any failure by us to meet these
new requirements could result in substantial magegianalties and other sanctions and could harnbosiness.

One or more other jurisdictions may also seek fpose tax collection or reporting obligations basedhe location of the product or
service being sold or provided in an ecommercestetion, regardless of where the respective usel®eated. Imposition of a discriminatory
record keeping or tax collecting requirement calédrease seller activity on our sites and wouldnhaur business. Foreign authorities may
also require eBay to help ensure compliance bysars with local laws regulating professional ssllencluding tax requirements. In addition,
we have periodically received requests from takauities in many jurisdictions for information reding the transactions of large classes of
sellers on our sites, and in some cases we havelégally obligated to provide this data. The inipos of any requirements on us to disclose
transaction records for all or a class of sellersk or other regulatory authorities or to fil& farms on behalf of any sellers, especially
requirements that are imposed on us but not omaliee means of ecommerce, and any use of thesed®to investigate, collect taxes from,
or prosecute sellers, could decrease seller activitour sites and harm our business.

We pay input VAT on applicable taxable purchasekbiwithe various countries in which we operatemiost cases, we are entitled to
reclaim this input VAT from the various countriégtowever, because of our unique business modegppkcation of the laws and rules that
allow such reclamation is sometimes uncertain. écessful assertion by one or more countries thaneaot entitled to reclaim VAT could
harm our business.

We continue to work with the relevant tax authestand legislators to clarify eBay's obligationdemnew and emerging laws and
regulations. Passage of new legislation and the@sitipn of additional tax or tax-related reportimggjuirements could harm our users and our
business. There has been an increased interesttiayncgoverning and regulatory bodies as welhadriternational press, especially in Europe
in the tax affairs of multinational and ecommeroenpanies. While this increased scrutiny has natlted in any changes in the way taxes are
imposed, it could lead to changes in laws or @itinvestigations of our operations and structarthe future. This could lead to additional tax
costs and harm our business.

PayPal's retail point of sale solutions exposeaiadditional risks.

PayPal has announced several retail point of sdlgiens to accept payment, such as the PayPal dariees, which enables merchant
use a card reader attached to a mobile deviceswaio cards and checks using the mobile devicdde@aed camera, and the Beacon device,
which enables merchants to process transactions eawily for consumers who enable the capabilittheir mobile phone. PayPal has also
launched in-store pilot programs for other new poirsale technologies, which have been rolledt@wertain retailers in the U.S. As PayPal
continues to expand into point of sale transacti®ayPal will face additional risks, including:

» expectations from offline retailers regarding teliability and availability of its systems arehdces and correspondingly lower
amounts of downtime, which PayPal may not be abledet;

36




« PayPal's retail point of sale solutions may beetag by fraudsters and given that our fraud moaleldess developed in this a1
we may experience increases in fraud and assodiateshction losses as we adjust to fraudulentipctt the point of sale:

« the manufacturing and sale of hardware prodgcts, the PayPal Here devices and the Beacona)exxposes us to potential
product liability claims for which we could havebstantial liability, and could require product résar other actions;

» PayPal's point of sale solutions also may suhjst¢o increased exposure to other laws and régo$a(e.g., export control
regulations related to the shipment of the PayRakHeader across national borders);

» PayPal's continued expansion into point of salesactions is dependent, in part, upon cooperatith third parties, including
the processing companies and banks that link PagRaé payment card and bank clearing networksdoess transactions. If
we are unable to maintain these relationships tarémto new agreements for necessary servicesagpsable terms, our ability
to expand our presence at the point of sale coilddomed;

» significant competition at the retail point @ls, and there can be no assurance that merchalnasl@pt, or consumers will use,
PayPal's retail point of sale solutions; and

» lower profit margins than PayPal's other paymehttsms

Unless we are able to successfully manage thdse igluding driving adoption of, and significardlume through, our retail point of
sale solutions over time, our business may suffer.

Changes in PayPal's funding mix could adverselgcafPayPal's results.

PayPal pays significant transaction fees when ouste fund payment transactions using credit cdodsr fees when customers fund
payments with debit cards, nominal fees when custsrfund payment transactions by electronic trarsfféunds from bank accounts, and no
fees when customers fund payment transactions &mexisting PayPal account balance or through thé&B Later service, or use buyer
credit issued by GE Money Bank. Customers fundyaiitant portion of PayPal's payment volume usirggdit and debit cards, and PayPal's
financial success is highly sensitive to changdblérate at which its customers fund paymentsgusiadit and debit cards. Customers may
prefer funding payment transactions using credil€ar debit cards rather than bank account tremébe a number of reasons, including the
ability to dispute and reverse charges directhhwliteir payment card provider if merchandise isdeivered or is not as described, the ability
to earn frequent flier miles, cash rebates, orrati@entives offered by payment card issuers, Hikityato defer payment, or a reluctance to
provide bank account information to PayPal. In &ddj some of PayPal's offerings, including thdigbior buyers to make a limited numbet
"guest" payments without opening a PayPal accdiave a higher rate of payment card funding tharPBEs basic product offering. Further,
some of PayPal's plans to lower its funding castduding both the Bill Me Later credit productsdaservice and the ability for buyers to defer
payment for a short period of time on some tramsast may increase the risk to PayPal of nonpayrgtuyers. If we experience an increase
in fees associated with our funding mix or in I@sassociated with nonpayment by buyers, our busiaied financial results could suffer.

PayPal's failure to manage customer funds propeolyld harm its business.

PayPal's ability to manage and account accuratelgdstomer funds requires a high level of intenwadtrols. In some of the markets that
PayPal serves and currencies that PayPal offeyf,dPhas a limited operating history and limitegp@kence in managing these internal
controls. As PayPal's business continues to grtowyst continue to strengthen its internal contemlsordingly. PayPal's success requires
significant public confidence in its ability to hdle large and growing transaction volumes and arnsoofncustomer funds. Any failure to
maintain necessary controls or to manage custommeisfaccurately could severely diminish customeraifayPal's products and/or result in
penalties and fines, which could have an adverfeetafn our business and financial results.

Systems failures and resulting interruptions indhlailability of our websites, applications, prodsior services could harm our business

We have experienced system failures from timenb@ tiand any interruption in the availability of auebsites, applications, products or
services will reduce our current revenues and {sofould harm our future revenues and profits@ndd subject us to regulatory scrutiny. Our
eBay.com website has been interrupted for periddp do 22 hours. In August 2013, technical issaféscted several of our websites resulting
in intermittent outages over a period of just osigrhours, and in April 2012, technical systemsiéssresulted in eBay.com users being unable
to checkout on our sites for a period of severalrfoOur PayPal website has suffered intermitteatailability for periods as long as five d¢
including unavailability for approximately threeurs affecting payments primarily on our ebay.caité in May 2011. Other of our websites

(e.g.,
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StubHub, Milo and others), as well as websitesraEEprise clients and hosted services offered yEmterprise business, have experienced
intermittent unavailability from time to time. Anynscheduled interruption in our services resul@iimmediate, and possibly substantial, los
of revenues, as well as potential service creditstlter payments by our Enterprise business tigats. Frequent or persistent interruptions ir
our services could cause current or potential usebglieve that our systems are unreliable, leatliem to switch to our competitors or to
avoid our sites, and could permanently harm ouwntaon and brands. Reliability is particularlytimal for PayPal, which faces increased
expectations on the part of users and merchangdigg the full-time availability of PayPal's seres as it seeks to expand its Merchant
Services business and gain acceptance of its petiait of sale solutions. Because PayPal is a adgdifinancial institution, frequent or
persistent site interruptions could lead to sigaifit fines and penalties, or mandatory and coktyges to PayPal's business practices, and
ultimately could cause PayPal to lose existingnges it needs to operate or prevent it from obtgiadditional licenses that it needs to expanc
Finally, because many of our customers may us@mmgucts for critical transactions, any systemufais could result in damage to our
customers and their businesses. These customddssamk significant compensation from us for thesises. Even if unsuccessful, this type of
claim likely would be time-consuming and costly e to address.

Although our systems have been designed aroundirndstandard architectures to reduce downtiméeénetvent of outages or
catastrophic occurrences, they remain vulnerabtitoage or interruption from earthquakes, hurrisafieods, fires, power loss,
telecommunication failures, terrorist attacks, eydtacks, computer viruses, computer denial-ofiserattacks, human error, hardware or
software defects or malfunctions (including defemtsnalfunctions of components of our systems dinatsupplied by third-party service
providers), and similar events or disruptions. Safeur systems, including our Shopping.com websited the systems related to the Bill Me
Later business, are not fully redundant, and osaster recovery planning is not sufficient forealentualities. Our systems are also subject to
break-ins, sabotage, and intentional acts of vasrdaDespite any precautions we may take, the oenoe of a natural disaster, a decision by
any of our third-party hosting providers to closiility we use without adequate notice for finehor other reasons, or other unanticipated
problems at our hosting facilities could causeaysinterruptions and delays, and result in lossritital data and lengthy interruptions in our
services. We do not carry business interruptionrausce sufficient to compensate us for lossesntiagt result from interruptions in our service
as a result of system failures.

If we are unable to cost-effectively upgrade angbex our websites, services and platforms, ourrtass would suffer.

We must constantly add new hardware, update saftesad add new engineering personnel to accommduaiacreased use of our
websites and platforms, and the new products aatdifes we regularly introduce. As our PayPal bissim®ntinues to grow and expand both ir
terms of geographies and product offerings (eayPRl's retail point of sale solutions), we areusmd on updating our PayPal platform to
provide increased scale, improved performance dddianal built-in functionality addressing reguag compliance matters (e.g., anti-money
laundering and terrorist financing). This upgradecess is expensive and timensuming, and the increased complexity of our websnd th
need to support multiple platforms as our portfaidrands grows increases the cost of additionhdercements. Failure to upgrade our
technology, features, transaction processing systeeturity infrastructure, or network infrastruetin a timely and cost-effective manner to
accommodate increased traffic or transaction volomehanges to our site functionality could regulhidverse consequences, including
unanticipated system disruptions, slower respansest degradation in levels of customer supponpaiined quality of users' experiences of oul
services, impaired quality of services for thirdtpapplication developers using our externallyemsible application programming interfaces
and delays in reporting accurate financial infoioratand could result in customer dissatisfactind the loss of existing users on our websites
We may be unable to effectively upgrade and exmamaystems in a timely manner or smoothly integgeaty newly developed or purchased
technologies or businesses with our existing systemd any failure to do so could result in proldem our websites. Further, steps to incrt
the reliability and redundancy of our systems aygeasive, could reduce our margins and may noubeessful in reducing the frequency or
duration of unscheduled downtime

Risks associated with our ongoing efforts to migtisting Enterprise clients to the new platfoma discussed in more detail under the

caption “If our Enterprise business is unable tgnatie certain existing clients to its new suité&Cofmmerce Technologies in a timely and cost-
effective manner, it would be substantially harmabbve.

38




There are many risks associated with our intermeicmperations.

Our international expansion has been rapid andnt@mational business, especially in GermanyUti€ and Korea, has also become
critical to our revenues and profits. Net revenogiside the U.S. accounted for approximately 5286uo net revenues in the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Expansion into international markets, such as atnyeénto Turkey in May 2011, upon the completidroar acquisition of additional
shares in GittiGidiyor, and Marketplaces' and PégRatry into emerging markets, is an increasow$ of our business. Geographical
expansion requires significant management atterinwhresources and requires us to localize ouicgsrto conform to local cultures, laws,
regulations, standards, policies and practices.cbm@mercial, financial, Internet, and transportafiafrastructure in developing countries may
make it more difficult for us to replicate our busss models. Some of these developing countrieshanag legal regimes in which the
application of laws and regulations in the onlimermbile context is subject to greater uncertaiag/yell as a higher incidence of corruption
and fraudulent or unethical business practices) toaintries in which we are historically accustortedperating. In many countries, we
compete with local companies that understand tbal Imarket better than we do, and we may not befrefn first-to-market advantages. We
may not be successful in expanding into particingarnational markets or in generating revenueshfforeign operations. For example, in 2!
we withdrew our eBay marketplace offering from fag@anese market. In 2007, we contributed our bssimeChina to a joint venture with a
local Chinese company; we terminated this jointtwemin 2012. Even if we are successful in develgpiew markets, we often expect the ¢
of operating new sites to exceed our net revermoes those sites for at least 12 months in most t@mm

As we continue to expand our businesses interratigrincluding through acquisitions and joint verds, we are increasingly subject to
risks of doing business internationally, includihg following:

e strong local competitor

* legal and regulatory requirements, includingutation of Internet and mobile services, auctiomggrprofessional selling, distance
selling, privacy and data protection, banking arahay transmitting, that may limit or prevent théeoihg of our services in some
jurisdictions, prevent enforceable agreements berveellers and buyers, prohibit the listing of aiercategories of goods, requ
product or service changes, require special licensubject us to criminal sanctions and/or varianes, penalties or audits, or lir
the transfer of information between us and outiafés;

e customs and duties, including the possibilityombersome shipping and delivery logistics, sigaift delays at the border due to
customs inspections, maximum limits on the numlb@rass-border imports by consumers, and the pitisgithat our services may
be viewed as facilitating customs fraud by govermntaleauthorities;

e greater liability or legal uncertainty regardiogr liability for the listings and other contembpided by our users, including
uncertainty as a result of unique local laws, dotiflg court decisions and lack of clear precederapplicable law;

« risks associated with cross-border transactimefyding those described under the risk factqtioa “Any factors that reduce cross-
border trade could harm our business,” above;

< potentially higher incidence of fraud and corruptand higher credit and transaction loss r

< cultural ambivalence towards, or naoeeptance of, trading or payments over the Intemnthrough mobile device

« laws and business practices that favor local coiopgtor prohibit or limit foreign ownership of ¢ain businesse

« difficulties in integrating with local paymentqviders, including banks, credit and debit cartivoeks and electronic fund transfer
systems;

» differing levels of retail distribution, shippingd Internet and mobile infrastructur

- different employee/employer relationships and ldbass, and the existence of workers' councils abadi unions

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign opéoas;

» challenges associated with joint venture refesiops and minority investments, including depedamn joint venture partners,
controlling shareholders or management who may baseess interests, strategies or goals thahaomsistent with ours;

« difficulties in implementing and maintaining adetpuaternal control:

< longer payment cycles, different accounting prastiand greater problems in collecting accountsvalke

- potentially adverse tax consequences, includingl tacxation of our fees or of transactions on oabsites

< higher Internet service provider or mobile netwopgerator cost

- differing intellectual property law

« different and more stringent consumer protecti@tagbrotection, privacy and other la
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» seasonal reductions in business acti

e expenses associated with localizing our produatssanvices, including offering customers the apiiit transact business in the Ic
currency and adapting our products and servicexctd preferences (e.g., payment methods) with vinie may have limited or no
experience;

« foreign exchange rate fluctuatio

e our ability to repatriate funds from abroad withadizerse tax consequent

» the possibility that foreign governments may imposeency controls or other restrictions on theatgption of funds

« changes in the business practices of the card niedvoo participating banks (e.g., dynamic curreoaagversion)

» volatility in a specific country's or region'sljtical, economic or military conditions (e.g., 8outh Korea relating to North Korea);
and

« challenges associated with maintaining relatiorshijth local law enforcement and related agen

These factors may cause our international cost®iofy business to exceed our comparable domestis.cds we expand our
international operations and have additional pogiof our international revenues denominated iaifpr currencies, we also could become
subject to increased difficulties in collecting aants receivable and repatriating money withouesask tax consequences, as well as increase
risks relating to foreign currency exchange ratetfiations. The impact of currency exchange ratetdhtions on our business is discussed
above in more detail under the caption “We are sggdo fluctuations in foreign currency exchandesand interest rates”.

Compliance with complex foreign and U.S. laws aggltations that apply to our international operaiocreases our cost of doing
business. These numerous and sometimes conflietimgand regulations include internal control arstldsure rules, data privacy and filter
requirements, anti-corruption laws, such as theigarCorrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Acthet local laws prohibiting corrupt
payments to governmental officials, and antitrust aompetition regulations, among others. Violatiohthese laws and regulations could
result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctiogaiast us and/or, our directors, officers or empks; prohibitions on the conduct of our
business and on our ability to offer our products services in one or more countries, and could mlaterially affect our brands, our
international expansion efforts, our ability toratt and retain employees, our business, and arabpg results. Although we have
implemented policies and procedures designed tarertompliance with these laws and regulationsgtban be no assurance that our
employees, contractors, or agents will not viotate policies.

In addition, we conduct certain functions, incluglproduct development, customer support and otberadions, in regions outside the
U.S., particularly in India and China. We are sabje both U.S. and local laws and regulationsiapple to our offshore activities, and any
factors which reduce the anticipated benefits aatet with providing these functions outside of th&., including cost efficiencies and
productivity improvements, could adversely affegt business.

We maintain a portion of our research and developifaeilities and personnel in Israel, and haveuaegl other Israeli companies.
Political, economic and military conditions in Istaffect those operations. Increased hostilitieworism within Israel or armed hostilities
between Israel and neighboring countries or othéties could make it more difficult for us to canie our operations in Israel, which could
increase our costs. In addition, many of our emgxdsyin Israel could be required to serve in th&amy for extended periods of time under
emergency circumstances. Our Israeli operationkldmidisrupted by the absence of employees duglitary service, which could adversely
affect our business.

Acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic invesitaeould result in operating difficulties, dilutipand other harmful consequences.

We have acquired a significant number of businesbearying size and scope, technologies, senacesproducts. In December 2013,
acquired Braintree, which provides an online andbilegpayments platform. We expect to continue taleate and consider a wide array of
potential strategic transactions as part of ourall/business strategy, including business comhinat acquisitions and dispositions of
businesses, technologies, services, products &ed atsets, as well as strategic investments amdv/gntures. At any given time we may be
engaged in discussions or negotiations with redpeamhe or more of these types of transactions. @&rpese transactions could be material to
our financial condition and results of operations.

These transactions involve significant challengebrisks. Some of the areas where we may face oistiffficulties include:

< the need to integrate the operations, systemauflimgy accounting, management, information, humaouee an
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other administrative systems), technologies, prtedand personnel of each acquired company, whiah isherently risky and
potentially lengthy and costly process;

the inefficiencies and lack of control that mayuledf such integration is delayed or not implenehtand unforeseen difficulties ¢
expenditures that may arise as a result;

the potential loss of key customers, merchamsdors and other key business partners (e.g., @aypnocessors) of the companies
we acquire following and continuing after announeeatrof our acquisition plans;

diversion of management time, as well as a siifbcus from operating the businesses to isselesed to integration and
administration, particularly given the number, ssrel varying scope of our recent acquisitions;

declining employee morale and retention isseeslting from changes in, or acceleration of, congpéion, or changes in
management, reporting relationships, future praspec the direction of the acquired business;

the need to implement controls, procedures anaipslappropriate for a larger public company atgamnes that prior to acquisiti
may have lacked such controls, procedures andigsiic

risks associated with our expansion into newrimtional markets and doing business internatipriatluding those described
above under the risk factor caption “There are nté@ks associated with our international operatipns

difficulties in entering new markets where weédao or limited direct prior experience or wheoenpetitors may have stronger
market positions;

in the case of acquisitions involving foreigmumanies or operations, the need to integrate dpasaacross different cultures and
languages and to address the particular reguladgopnomic, currency, and political risks associat@t specific countries or
regions;

in some cases, the need to transition operatigmess and customers of our existing businessé®@cquired business, as the case
may be, onto different platforms;

liability for activities of the acquired compabwgfore the acquisition, including intellectual pesty and other litigation claims or
disputes, violations of laws, rules and regulatj@msnmercial disputes, tax liabilities and otheokn and unknown liabilities;

the potential loss of key employees following tlegusition

the acquisition of new customer and employesqual information, which in and of itself may reguiegulatory approval and or
additional controls, policies and procedures arjesit us to additional exposure; and

for investments in which an investee's resuligp@rations and financial condition are incorpedainto our financial statements and
operating metrics, either in full or in part, thepgndence on the investee's accounting, finarepalrting, operating metrics and
similar systems, controls and processes.

It may take us longer than expected to fully reatize anticipated benefits, such as increased vevand volume, and enhanced
efficiencies, of any or all of our acquisitionsdaihose benefits and/or enhanced efficiencies ntagately be smaller than anticipated or may
not be realized at all, which could adversely affaa business and operating results. Future aitignis may also require us to issue additional
equity securities, spend our cash, or incur defd {(acreased interest expense), liabilities andréimation expenses related to intangible asset:
or write-offs of goodwill, which could adverselyfe€t our financial results, results of operationd dilute the economic and voting rights of
our stockholders.

In addition, we have made certain investmentsuifioly through joint ventures, in which we have aonity equity interest and lack
management and operational control. The controjbimg venture partner in a joint venture investieray have business interests, strategi
goals that are inconsistent with ours, and busidessions or other actions or omissions of therofimg joint venture partner or the joint
venture company may result in harm to our reputatioadversely affect the value of our investmarthie joint venture. In addition, our
strategic investments may expose us to additiasied rFor example, we have a minority interesnieishop Communications AG, an entity
governed by German law, which could subject ugataility for certain disadvantages to Intershopd were deemed to be in control of
Intershop under German law. We have also beenlspedhigslist, which has alleged that we impropenigused confidential information from
craigslist that we received as a minority investdre complaint alleges breach of contract, breddiociary duty, fraud, unfair competition
and false advertising and seeks compensatory amtveudamages, rescission and other relief. Angurnstances, which may be out of our
control, that adversely affect the value of oureistvnents, or cost resulting from regulatory actiofawsuits in connection with our
investments, could harm our business or negatimghact our financial results.
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Our Enterprise business exposes us to additios#bri

Our Enterprise business (which consists of GSI Cerom Inc. (GSI Commerce), which we acquired ireJ2@11), faces certain risks ¢
challenges not shared by our other businessesiding those described under the risk factor captitirour Enterprise business is unable to
migrate certain existing clients to its new suit€€ommerce Technologies in a timely and cost-eiffeatnanner, it would be substantially
harmed” and “Changes in regulations, regulatorytsty, or user concerns regarding privacy and ptaia of user data could adversely affect
our business.”

Competition for Enterprise's existing and potentlants is intense, and our Enterprise businessmoabe able to add new clients or k
existing clients on favorable terms, or at all. Egample, a change in the management of an Ergerplient could adversely affect our
relationship with that client. In addition, manyBfterprise's client contracts contain servicelleeenmitments. If our Enterprise business is
unable to meet these commitments, its relationshifhsits clients could be damaged, and clienttsgb terminate their contracts with our
Enterprise business and/or financial penalty piomis payable by our Enterprise business may bgdreyl. If any existing Enterprise clients
particular, the large merchants and brands thaEaterprise business serves) were to exit the basiwe provide services to, be acquired,
declare bankruptcy, suffer other financial diffitbes, fail to pay amounts owed to our Enterprissitoess and/or terminate or modify their
relationships with our Enterprise business in afawwrable manner, our Enterprise business coulailversely affected.

A portion of Enterprise's net transaction reversugdrived from the value of ecommerce transactioaisflow through its suite of
Commerce Technologies. Accordingly, growth in Eptise’s net transaction revenue depends upon titgnaed growth of the online
businesses of its clients. Our Enterprise busimessbe substantially impacted by any adverse cangiin the offline businesses of an
Enterprise client that negatively impact that dfi®ionline businesses. Any impairment of the offlousiness of Enterprise clients, whether due
to financial difficulties, impairment of client bmds, reduction in marketing efforts, reductiontie humber of client retail stores or otherwise,
could negatively affect consumer traffic and saéitesugh Enterprise clients' websites, which wowelsult in lower revenues generated by our
Enterprise business. Our Enterprise business el&s on its clients' ability to accurately foretcpoduct demand and select and buy the
inventory for their corresponding online businesshwer such arrangements, the client establisteakipt prices and pays our Enterprise
business fees based either on a fixed or variadigeptage of revenues, or on the activity performeda result, if Enterprise clients fail to
accurately forecast product demand or optimize antain access to inventory, the client's ecommbusiness (and, in turn, our Enterprise
fees) could be adversely affected.

Our Enterprise business holds some inventory oalbehits clients. If our Enterprise business imable to effectively manage and handle
this inventory, this may result in unexpected cdsét could adversely affect our Enterprise busin@sy theft of such inventory, or damage or
interruption to such inventory, including as a fesfiearthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fire, poless, labor disputes, terrorist attacks and
similar events and disruptions, could result irséssrelated to such inventory and disruptionseditisinesses of Enterprise clients, which ¢
in turn adversely affect our Enterprise business.

Our Enterprise business processes personal inflanmer behalf of its clients. The personal inforimatof customers of certain websites
operated by Enterprise clients may be regulateé@utit Gramm-LeacBliley Act, the Health Insurance Portability andodeintability Act, the
Children's Online Privacy Protection Act, or otipeivacy laws and regulations. In some cases, Ensefp use or disclosure of that information
may be restricted by contractual terms, laws agdlegions, and any misuse or unpermitted disclosfiteat information could negatively
impact our Enterprise business and its clients.

Our Enterprise business utilizes email marketindrive consumer traffic to the websites operateddme of its clients. Email could
become a less effective means of communicating avithmarketing to consumers for a variety of reasmtluding: problems with technolo
that make Enterprise's email communications mdfidlit to deliver and for consumers to read (etlye inability of smart phones or similar
communication devices to adequately display emadliisumers may disregard marketing emails dueettatige volume of such emails they
receive; the inability of filters to effectively sen for unwanted emails, resulting in increasedl$eof junk mail, or “SPAM,” which may
overwhelm consumer's email accounts; increasedfusecial networking sites, which may result in gesed use of email as a primary means
of communication; continued security concerns reigar Internet usage in general from viruses, woomsmilar problems; and increased
governmental regulation or restrictive policies pteol by Internet service providers that make itendifficult or costly to utilize email for
marketing communications. If any of our Enterpesgities were to end up on SPAM lists or lists wifitees that have been involved in sending
unwanted, unsolicited emails, their ability to amttcustomers through email could be significarghbtricted. If any of the foregoing were to
occur, the demand for Enterprise email marketidgtems could decrease and our Enterprise busitmds be harmed. Our Enterprise busii
also utilizes mobile messaging as a means of coruatimmg with consumers, which carries risks simitathose described above for email
marketing.
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Our Enterprise business has relationships withckeamgines, comparison shopping sites, affiliatekatars, online advertising networks
and other websites to provide content, advertibangners and other links to its clients' ecommeustnesses, and our Enterprise business |
on these relationships as significant sourcesaffidrto its clients' ecommerce businesses. If veeumable to maintain these relationships or
enter into new relationships on acceptable termsability to attract new customers could be harmed

Immediately following our acquisition of GSI Comrmer we sold 100% of GSI Commerce's sports mercharidisiness and 70% of its
RuelLala and ShopRunner businesses (which we efmllectively as the divested entities), to Kyoéti C, which we refer to as Kynetic.
Kynetic is primarily owned by GSI Commerce's forn@rairman, President and Chief Executive Officercticof the divested entities was a
direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of GSbi@merce. As part of the Kynetic divestiture, wenled Kynetic and the divested entities
$467 million, secured by certain assets of thesiag entities. In connection with (and as a resfylithe divestiture to Kynetic, our Enterprise
business maintained certain commercial and finhnelationships with the divested entities whiclpese it to certain risks of the businesses o
Kynetic and the divested entities. In SeptembeB2@iis note receivable was repaid and our investsna RueLala and ShopRunner were
sold.

Finally, our Enterprise business is also partyedain acquisition agreements relating to entpigschased by GSI Commerce prior to our
acquisition of GSI Commerce, and which relate tsitesses owned by the divested entities. KyneSalgaeed to indemnify our Enterprise
business for certain liabilities incurred by GSInloerce under these acquisition agreements. If gafgitities were realized and Kynetic was
not able or willing to meet its indemnification @dtions, our Enterprise business would be liabtetiem and its business could be harmed.

Our tickets business is subject to regulatory, cetitipe, and other risks that could harm this besis.

Our tickets business, which includes our StubHudirimss, is subject to numerous risks. Many jurtgatis have anti-scalping laws and
regulations covering the resale of event ticketen& jurisdictions prohibit the resale of event diskat prices above the face value of the ticke
or at all, or highly regulate the resale of ticketsd new laws and regulations or changes to agitiws and regulations imposing these or ¢
restrictions may be adopted that could limit oiilathour ability to operate, or our users' abilitycontinue to use, our tickets business.

Regulatory agencies or courts may claim or hold wWeaare responsible for ensuring that our usemspty with these laws and regulatic
or that we or our users are either subject to finem or prohibited from reselling event ticketdhiair jurisdictions. In October 2007, two
plaintiffs filed a purported class action lawsuitNiorth Carolina Superior Court alleging that Stubt$old (and facilitated and participated in
the sale) of concert tickets to plaintiffs with tkeowledge that the tickets were resold in violatid North Carolina's maximum ticket resale
price law (which has been subsequently amendedlelmuary 2011, the trial court granted plaintiffeition for summary judgment, conclud
that immunity under the Communications Decencydidtnot apply. The trial court further held thauSiHub violated the North Carolina
unfair and deceptive trade practices statute @erthined to the two named plaintiffs, and ceddifiis decision for immediate appeal to the N
Carolina Court of Appeals. In February 2012, thetN&arolina Court of Appeals overturned the loaeurt's decision, and the Court of
Appeals' decision is now final. Similar actions arpected in other states. Laws and regulationsmivg the resale of event tickets outside
U.S. (for example, in Europe) may be more restrigtand carry harsher penalties and fines, thaegponding U.S. laws and regulations. In
2012, France passed a law prohibiting the habieszle of event tickets without permission fromekrent organizer. In 2013, Belgium passed
a similar law prohibiting habitual sale and sulijegtoccasional resale to a price cap. Restrictomtcket resale are also under consideratic
the Dutch Parliament and various state governmierAsistralia. In addition, the unauthorized resafiéootball (soccer) tickets is illegal in the
U.K., where a StubHub site was launched in 2011il&VWhe have secured a number of commercial patiEzsn the UK in order to enable ¢
customers to buy and sell football (soccer) tickiétwe are unable to maintain these partnershipgeselop new partnerships on acceptable
terms, our tickets business would suffer.

Some event organizers and professional sports thamesexpressed concern about the resale of Wit &ckets on our sites. Lawuits
alleging a variety of causes of actions have inpdt, and may in the future, be filed against Btband eBay by venue owners, competitors,
ticket buyers and unsuccessful ticket buyers. $abuits could result in damage awards, could requs to change our business practices in
ways that may be harmful to our business, or cothdrwise negatively affect our tickets business.

Our tickets business is subject to seasonal flticsand the general economic and business conslithat impact the sporting events
and live entertainment industries. The economicritam resulted in a decrease in ticket prices saldur sites and negatively impacted
revenue and profits. In addition, a work stoppateke or lockout by a professional sports leagaeéxample, the National Hockey League
lockout that ended in January 2013) that resulteéncancellation of all or a
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portion of the games in a league's season would bar tickets business. In addition, a portionhaf tickets inventory sold by sellers on the
StubHub website is processed by StubHub in diptah. Systems failures, security breaches, thefttber disruptions that result in the loss of
such sellers' tickets inventory could materiallyrhaur tickets business.

Our tickets business also faces significant cortipatfrom a number of sources, including ticketsggvice companies (such as Live
Nation Entertainment/Ticketmaster, Com-Spectacor and Tickets.com), event organizers (aagirofessional sports teams and leagues),
ticket brokers and online and offline ticket resed| such as TicketsNow (which is owned by Liveiddi@Entertainment) and RazorGator. In
addition, some ticketing service companies and tewgganizers have begun to issue event ticketsitfiroarious forms of electronic ticketing
systems that are designed to restrict or proHikitfitee transferability (and by extension, the fiesale) of such event tickets either to favorr
own resale affiliates or to discourage resale. [&iyi some professional sports teams have begimrtmduce measures that may have the
effect of discouraging season ticket holders fristing their tickets for sale through third partgforms (such as the StubHub website) that
compete with the teams' own or preferred seconiiegting services. Such measures include making B&sions of tickets available only 1
a limited period of time, and imposing fees on eeagket holders to obtain PDF versions of thiekets. PDF versions of tickets are one of
most popular formats for ticket listings on thelStub website. As a result, to the extent that suelhsures result in our customers' inability or
unwillingness to list tickets for sale on the StuiiHvebsite, our tickets business would be harmed.

Ticketing service companies have also begun tana&et-based pricing strategies or dynamic pritingharge much higher prices than
they historically have for premium tickets. Besidbarging higher prices, these ticketing servicapanies have also imposed additional
restrictions on transferability for these typedidkets, such as requiring customers to pick ugettekets at will-call with the purchasing credit
card. To the extent that event tickets issuedigrttanner cannot be resold on our websites, dre@xtent that we are otherwise unable to
effectively compete with these competitors, oukéis business would be harmed.

Pursuant to commercial arrangements with certaitsgfartners, StubHub provides some of its seligtls the ability to conduct
integrated resale transactions, which consumersprefgr due to, among other factors, quicker dejiand lower fraud concerns. These
integrations are largely deal-dependent, and tags@mgements may not be renewed on favorable tematd,all.

Our StubHub business receives funds directly froyebs for tickets purchased from sellers, and syesatly pays the sellers upon
shipment of the tickets. Intermediation of trangatt between buyers and sellers could potentialiyject StubHub to licensure requirements,
laws and regulatory oversight in certain jurisdios, which may harm our ticket business.

We depend on key personnel.

Our future performance depends substantially orcéimtinued services of our senior management amet &y personnel, including key
engineering and product development personnelpandbility to attract, retain and motivate keygmmel. Competition for key personnel is
intense, especially in the Silicon Valley where oarporate headquarters are located, and we maydige to successfully attract, integrate, ol
retain sufficiently qualified key personnel. In nixad employment decisions, particularly in the Inttrand high-technology industries, job
candidates often consider the value of the equityrds they would receive in connection with theinpdoyment. Fluctuations in our stock pr
may make it more difficult to attract, retain andtimate employees. In addition, we do not have {targn employment agreements with any of
our key personnel and do not maintain any “key @ettife insurance policies. Further, some memigdrsur senior management team have
fully vested the vast majority of their in-the-mgreqguity incentives. The loss of the services gf ahour senior management or other key
personnel, or our inability to attract key persdnoeuld harm our business.
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Problems with or price increases by third partigsonprovide services to us or to our users coulchihaur business.

A number of parties provide services to us or tousers that benefit us. Such services includers&bls that automate and manage
listings, merchant tools that manage listings amerface with inventory management software, storg§ that help our users list items, cacl
services that make our sites load faster and gigpgmioviders that deliver goods sold on our platfoamong others. In some cases we have
contractual agreements with these companies thatus a direct financial interest in their success|e in other cases we have none. PayPal |
dependent on the processing companies and bartdsthRayPal to the payment card and bank cleamitgvorks to process transactions. As
described under the risk factor caption entitletid@ges to payment card networks or bank fees,, rolggactices could harm our Payments
business,” PayPal is subject to, among other thingseases in interchange fees and assessmenpmattment card networks such as Visa and
MasterCard charge for each transaction using omieedrf cards (which PayPal's payment card procedsare the right to pass on to PayPal), a
well as changes in payment card network operatitesy including special operating rules for Inténp@yment services (with which PayPal is
required by its payment card processors to com@lyilarly, Bill Me Later relies on unaffiliatedhelers in providing the Bill Me Later service
and also relies heavily on third parties to opeitatservices, including merchant processors agdhpat gateways to process transactions. In
addition, our Enterprise business utilizes unaffdd payment processing companies to process ttaorsaon the websites operated by
Enterprise clients, third parties to provide ungied components of its ecommerce platform, thirdypaarriers to ship packages to customers
of Enterprise clients and third parties in its @tiens business to perform services during pea&rordilume periods. Financial or regulatory
issues, labor issues (e.g., strikes, lockouts akwtmppages) or other problems that prevent thes®ganies from providing services to us or
our users could reduce the number of listings arsias, make it more difficult for users to contpl&ansactions on our websites and mobile
platforms, or adversely affect Enterprise's abiiityimely fulfill and ship products sold on the lvgites operated by its clients, which would
harm our business.

Price increases by, or service terminations, digvap or interruptions at, companies that provielviges to our users and clients (such a
postal and delivery services, as well as our glshgiping platform intended to facilitate crossdmrtransactions between buyers and sellers)
could also reduce the number of listings on oursiteb or make it more difficult for our sellersdomplete transactions or for us to timely
fulfill and ship products sold on the websites @ped by Enterprise clients, thereby harming oumass. Some third parties who provide
services to us may have or gain market power arableeto increase their prices to us without coitipetconstraint. In addition, the U.S.
Postal Service, which is facing ongoing fiscal tdrades, has instituted postal rate increases amaaced that it is considering closing
thousands of local post offices and ending Satundal delivery. While we continue to work with glalcarriers to offer our sellers a variety
shipping options and to enhance our shipping egpes, postal rate increases may reduce the coimpeéts of certain sellers' offerings, and
postal service changes could require certain seiteutilize alternatives which could be more exgpem or inconvenient, which could in turn
decrease the velocity of trade on our site, thehalyyning our business. For example, we believeréwEnt increases in international postal
rates by the U.S. Postal Service may have reduossigorder trade by U.S. sellers. Any security breach@mpany providing services to
users could also adversely affect our customersana our business. We have outsourced certairifunscto third-party providers, including
some customer support and product developmentifunsstwhich are critical to our operations. If aarvice providers do not perform
satisfactorily, our operations could be disruptelich could result in user dissatisfaction and asely affect our velocity of trade, business,
reputation and operating results.

Although we generally have been able to renew terekthe terms of contractual arrangements witlf, ecessary replace, third parties
who provide services to us on acceptable termse tten be no assurance that we will continue talibe to do so in the future. If any third
parties were to stop providing services to us aeptable terms, including as a result of bankruptog to poor economic conditions, we may
be unable to procure alternatives from other thadies in a timely and efficient manner and oreatable terms, or at all. In addition, there
be no assurance that third parties who providecEsdirectly to our users will continue to do spazceptable terms, or at all.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about oustomer support or anti-fraud measures could dishi use of our services.

Customer complaints or negative publicity aboutcustomer support could severely diminish conswnafidence in and use of our
services. Measures that we sometimes take to camskatof fraud and breaches of privacy and sechate the potential to damage relations
with our customers or decrease activity on our \webdy making our websites more difficult to useastricting the activities of certain users.
These measures heighten the need for prompt andsdecustomer support to resolve irregularities disputes. Effective customer support
requires significant personnel expense, and ifmanaged properly, this expense could significantlyact our profitability. Failure to manage
or train our own or outsourced customer suppontasgtatives properly could compromise our abitthandle customer complaints
effectively. Negative publicity
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about, or negative experiences with, customer stfpoany of our businesses could cause our réipatéo suffer or affect consumer
confidence in our brands individually or as a wh@ecause PayPal is providing a financial serviteg @perating in a more regulated
environment, PayPal must provide both telephoneeamail customer support and resolve certain custaomacts within shorter time frames.
As part of PayPal's program to reduce fraud loasesprevent money laundering and terrorist finagiciteyPal may temporarily restrict the
ability of customers to withdraw their funds if gefunds or the customer's account activity aretified by PayPal's risk models as suspicious
PayPal has in the past received negative publigity respect to its customer support and accoustticions, and has been the subject of
purported class action lawsuits and state attogeeneral inquiries alleging, among other thingdufaito resolve account restrictions promptly.
In the second quarter of 2010, two putative clag®a lawsuits (Devinda Fernando and Vadim TsigdPayPal, Inc.; and Moises Zepeda v.
PayPal, Inc.) were filed in the U.S. District Cofat the Northern District of California. These Iswits contain allegations that PayPal
improperly held users' funds or otherwise impropénhited users' accounts. These lawsuits seek damas well as changes to PayPal's
practices among other remedies. A determinationttiegie have been violations of laws relating tgHRa's practices could expose PayPal to
significant liability. Any changes to PayPal's giees resulting from these lawsuits could requiagfPal to incur significant costs and to exp
product resources, which could delay other plarpreduct launches or improvements and further harbasiness. Also, the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau has launched a comglaiortal on its website that allows customersléodomplaints against money transfer
service providers including PayPal, and publishéxrmation on such complaints. If PayPal is unablprovide quality customer support
operations in a cogffective manner, PayPal's users may have negatjveriences, PayPal may receive additional negptibécity, its ability
to attract new customers may be damaged and itl tmdome subject to additional litigation. As autesurrent and future revenues could
suffer, losses could be incurred and its operatiaggins may decrease.

Our industries are intensely competitive.

Across our businesses, the industries in whichevepete are characterized by dynamic and rapid t#ebital change, many and
different business models, and frequent disruptiincumbents by innovative entrants. We often ceta@cross a range of industries with
platform businesses such as Apple, Google, anddeake many of whom are larger than we are, havenaithnt and secure position in other
industries, and offer other goods and servicestsemers and merchants which we do not offer. Ais@@and offline commerce increasingly
converge, the pace of change, innovation and disius increasing.

Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces businesses currently and potgntiampete with a wide variety of online and oféisompanies providing goods and
services to consumers and merchants. The Intendemabile networks provide new, rapidly evolvinglantensely competitive channels for
the sale of all types of goods and services. Oukbtplaces businesses compete in two-sided makadsmust attract both buyers and sellers
to use our platforms. Consumers who purchase bgsetls and services through our Marketplaces lbgs&s have more and more alternative
and merchants have more channels to reach consuersxpect competition to continue to intensifyli@e and offline businesses
increasingly are competing with each other. Theidato entry into these channels can be low, arginesses easily can launch online sites ¢
mobile platforms and applications at nominal cgstising commercially available software or partngnith any of a number of successful
ecommerce companies.

In addition, our Marketplaces businesses face asaé competitive pressure online and offline. Inipalar, the competitive norm for,
and the expected level of service from, Internen@merce and mobile commerce has significantly iee, due to, among other factors,
improved user experience, greater ease of buyinggdower (or no) shipping costs, faster shippimges and more favorable return policies.
Also, certain platform businesses such as Applegkn and Facebook, many of whom are larger thaareehave a dominant and secure
position in other industries, and offer other goadd services to consumers and merchants whiclowetoffer. If we are unable to change
our products, offerings and services in ways thfiect the changing demands of the Internet ecormenand mobile commerce marketplaces,
particularly the higher growth of sales of fixedegritems and higher expected service levels (safméich depend on services provided by
sellers on our platforms) or compete effectivelyhwarger platform businesses, our business wifesu

Consumers who might use our site to buy goods hawvigle variety of alternatives, including the vastjority of traditional department,
warehouse, boutique, discount and general mercbaustires (as well as the online and mobile operabf these traditional retailers), online
retailers and their related mobile offerings, oaland offline classified services, and other shogpphannels such as offline and online home
shopping networks. In the U.S., these include WakiMTarget, Sears, Macy's, JC Penney, Costcocéffepot, Staples, OfficeMax, Sam's
Club, Amazon.com (which continues to expand inte geographies and lines of business), Buy.com (ovinyeRakuten), Yahoo! Shopping,
MSN, QVC and Home Shopping
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Network, among others. In addition, consumers teala@ge number of online and offline channels fedusn one or more of the categorie!
products offered on our site.

Consumers also can turn to many companies that affariety of services that provide other chanfaiuyers to find and buy items
from sellers of all sizes, including online aggregaand classifieds websites such as craigshsivfiich we own a minority equity stake),
Oodle.com and a number of international websitesatpd by Schibsted ASA. Consumers also can tushdpping-comparison sites, such as
Google Shopping and Bing Shopping. In certain matkeur fixed-price listing and traditional auctistyle listing formats increasingly are
being challenged by other formats, such as classifi

Our classifieds websites, including Den Bla AvidB&sen, eBay Classifieds (including eBay AnunciBay Kleinanzeigen and eBay
international markets. In many markets in whichtytbperate, including in the U.S., our classifiedtfurms compete against more established
online and offline classifieds platforms.

Our online shopping comparison websites (Shoppam)acompete with sites such as Google Shoppingy Bimopping, Buy.com,
Nextag.com, Pricegrabber.com, Shopzilla, Buscapé&im America (owned by Naspers) and Yahoo! Pro@garch, which offer shoppit
search engines that allow consumers to searcintémet for specified products. In addition, sellare increasingly utilizing multiple sales
channels, including the acquisition of new custamsr paying for search-related advertisements ozdrtal search engine sites such as Bing
Google, Yahoo!, Naver and Baidu. We use produattkeangines and paid search advertising to helsdsel our sites, but these services :
have the potential to divert users to other ondinepping destinations. Consumers may choose totséarproducts and services with a
horizontal search engine instead of our sites hamizontal search engines may send users to dilopping destinations instead of our sites.

Consumers and merchants who might use our sitgallitgoods also have many alternatives, includiergegal online ecommerce sites
such as Amazon, and more specialized sites, sUEbsgsOur international sites also compete faeselwith general online ecommerce sites
such as: Amazon, Rakuten.de, Quelle and Otto im@&ey; Leboncoin.fr and PriceMinister (owned by Raki) in France; Taobao Marketpl:
and Taobao Mall in China; Tradus (owned by NasperBpland; Yahod<imo in Taiwan; Lotte, Naver and 11th Street in Bokiorea; Tradin
Post, Quicksales in Australia; and Amazon and Btay.(owned by Rakuten) in the United Kingdom arfteotountries; and Alibaba and
AliExpress (owned by Alibaba) in Russia, Brazil aredtain less developed markets. Our sellers magsghto sell their goods through other
channels, such as classifieds sites. Consumermnarghants also can create and sell through theirsites, and may choose to purchase onlin
advertising instead of using our services. In scontries, there are online sites that have lazgstomer bases and greater brand recognitior
than we do, as well as competitors that may hawetter understanding of local culture and comm#raa we do. As our businesses in
developing countries grow, we increasingly may cetapwith domestic competitors that have advantagedo not possess, such as a greater
ability to operate under local regulatory authesti

The principal competitive factors for Marketpladesiude the following:

» ability to attract, retain and engage buyers aifidrse

« volume of transactions and price and selectiornoofdg
e trustin the seller and the transact

« customer service; a

e brand recognitiol

With respect to our online and mobile competitiadditional competitive factors include:

e community cohesion, interaction and s

« website or mobile platform and application easése and accessibilii
e user engageme|

e system reliability

< reliability of delivery and paymet

* level of service fees; a

e quality of search tool

We may be unable to compete successfully agaimsgrtuand future competitors. Some current andrpisiecompetitors have longer
operating histories, larger customer bases andagrbeand recognition in other business and Intesaetors than we do. Other online
ecommerce sites may be acquired by, receive inegtirom, or enter into other commercial relatiops with well-established and well-
financed companies. As a result, some of our coitepgtvith other revenue
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sources may be able to devote more resources tetiray and promotional campaigns, adopt more agyepricing policies and devote more
resources to website, mobile platforms and apptinatand systems development than we can. Somer @bmpetitors may offer or continue
to offer free shipping, favorable return policiesother transaction-related services which impribveuser experience on their sites and which
could be impractical or inefficient for our sellessmatch. Our competitors may be able to innotfedter than we can, and new technologies
may further increase the competitive pressuresipleng our competitors to offer more efficientlower-cost services. Our competitors may
be able to use the advantages of brick-and-madegesor other sorts of physical presence.

In addition, certain manufacturers may limit orsedistribution of their products through onlin@chels such as eBay. Manufacturers
may attempt to use existing or future governmegiiigion to prohibit or limit online commerce inrtan categories of goods or services.
Manufacturers may also attempt to enforce minimesale price maintenance or minimum advertised @nicEngements to prevent distribut
from selling on our websites or on the Internetegatly, or at prices that would make our websiteaative relative to other alternatives. For
example, in June 2012, Adidas Group announcedtthrénds to restrict its dealers, on a globaligasom listing and selling Adidas and
Reebok products on sites including eBay.com, atka INic. and ASICS Corp. have taken steps to sitpitastrict Internet sales of their
products on platform sites such as eBay.com. Thetaah by manufacturers of policies, or the adaptib new laws or regulations or
interpretations of existing laws or regulationsgmwernment authorities, in each case discouragimgstricting the sales of goods or services
over the Internet, could force our users to stdingecertain products on our websites. Increasmdpetition or anti-Internet distribution
policies or regulations may result in reduced ofieganargins, loss of market share and diminishedesof our brands. As we respond to
changes in the competitive environment, we maynftisne to time, make pricing, service or marketi@gisions or acquisitions that may be
controversial with and lead to dissatisfaction agieame of our sellers, which could reduce actigityour websites and harm our profitability.

Although we receive Internet traffic from severige online services and search engine providersetarrangements may not continue
on favorable terms or these companies may decigeotnote competitive services. In any event, sutdingements may not result in increasec
usage of our sites. In addition, companies thatroboser access to transactions through netwarkss; Internet browsers, mobile networks,
mobile operating systems or search engines coolsh@e our competitors, channel current or potensals to their vertically integrated
electronic commerce sites or their advertiserssstttempt to restrict access to our sites, aigehas substantial fees for inclusion. For
example, Google increasingly may steer its useits tmwn sites, adversely affecting traffic to @ites. Search engines increasingly are
becoming a starting point for online shopping, asdhe costs of operating an online store contiowkecline, online sellers may increasingly
sell goods through multiple channels, which coelduce the number and value of transactions thdlsesseonduct through our sites.

PayPal

The markets for PayPal's products and servicemtesely competitive and are subject to rapidnetbgical change, including but not
limited to: mobile payments, electronic funds tfensietworks allowing Internet access, cross-boadeess to payment networks, creation of
new payment networks, and new technologies forlergamerchants, both online and offline, to proceagments more simply. PayPal faces
competition and potential competition from existmmgine, mobile and offline payment methods, inahgd among others:

»  providers of traditional payment methods, paitidy credit and debit cards, checks, money ordadsAutomated Clearing House
transactions (these providers are primarily wetbelished banks);

» providers of “digital wallets” which offer custeers the ability to pay online or on mobile devite®ugh a variety of payment
methods, including Visa's V.me, MasterCard's M&&iss, American Express's Serve, Google Wallettemterchant Customer
Exchange (MCX) initiative supported by Walmart, getrand other major U.S. retailers;

* payment-card processors that offer their sesvioanerchants, including Chase Paymentech, Fat,Bank of America Merchant
Services, Elavon, Vantiv, WorldPay, Barclays Merdhgervices, Global Payments, Inc., Stripe andi8ad, and payment
gateways, including CyberSource and Authorize beth(owned by Visa), SimplifyCommerce by MasterCand First Data,;

* Amazon Payments, which offers merchants thetald accept credit card- and bank-funded paymé&nta Amazon's base of
online and mobile customers on the merchant's oelssite. Amazon has recently launched a new payssewice for online
merchants under the name Log in and Pay with Amazon

e providers of mobile payments, including ISIShe U.S., Buyster in France, Mpass in Germany, Wietiee U.K., Boku and
Crandy, many of which are owned by or supportedchbjyor mobile carriers; and

< providers of card readers for mobile devices @inother new Point of Sale and multi-channel tetbgies, including Square (which
has also begun to offer a marketplace servicelkersg Chase Paymentech, Bank of
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America, AT&T (in association with Vantiv), Capit@ine, Shopify, iZettle, WorldPay, Payleven, Groupg®amUp and others.
PayPal also faces competition and potential corigetirom:

e money remitters such as MoneyGram, Western Unidoh& Payments, Inc., Xoom and Euro

< bill payment services, including CheckFree, a dibsy of Fiserv

e services that provide online merchants the tgltii offer their customers the option of paying poirchases from their bank account
or paying on credit, including Western Union's WalyPDwolla, Acculynk, TeleCheck (a subsidiary ofsfiData), iDEAL in the
Netherlands, Klarna in several European countBefortuberweisung (which recently has agreed tggmarith Klarna) in German
PayLib in France and the MyBank pan-European iivea

e issuers of stored value targeted at online paymartisiding NetSpend, Green Dot, PayNearMe, UKaghQ@iwi in Russic

< other international online payment-services feks such as AliPay, the PayU group of comparmesméd by Naspers), PagSeguro
and Bcash (owned by Naspers);

« other providers of online account-based paymesutsh as Skrill, ClickandBuy (owned by Deutschéekem), Barclays Pingit in the
U.K., Kwixo in France, and Paymate and Visa PayQlicAustralia;

* payment services targeting users of social netwankisonline gaming, often through billing to thensomer's mobile phone accot
including PlaySpan (owned by Visa), Boku, Bango Bagifone;

* payment services enabling banks to offer theline banking customers the ability to send anéikecpayments through their bank
account, including PopMoney from Fiserv, which hallaboration agreement with Visa, and ClearXdeafa joint venture amot
Wells Fargo, Bank of America and JP Morgan Chase);

» online shopping services that provide specitdreflinked to a specific payment provider, suciWea's RightClig, MasterCard
MarketPlace, TrialPay and Tapjoy;

« services such as Coinbase and Bitpay that helphraets accept and manage virtual currencies suBlt@sn; anc

e cash

Some of these competitors have longer operatirigrigs, significantly greater financial, technicalarketing, customer service and other
resources, greater brand recognition, or a largse lof customers than PayPal, and may be alsddéodbverage other affiliated businesses
for competitive advantage. PayPal's competitors beagible to innovate and respond to new or emetgitinologies and changes in customel
requirements faster and more effectively than Phyitane of these competitors may also be subjdestoburdensome licensing, anti-money
laundering, counteterrorist financing and other regulatory requiretsghan PayPal, which is subject to additional f&tipons based on, amo
other factors, its licensure as a bank in Luxemfpolihey may devote greater resources to the dewenfy promotion, and sale of products
services than PayPal, and they may offer lowerepri€or example, Google previously has offeredfeanents processing on transactions in
amounts proportionate to certain advertising spendiith Google. We also expect new entrants, ssd@X, to offer competitive products
and services. In addition, some merchants prouidl services to themselves. Competing servicegdiedtablished banks and other financial
institutions may offer greater liquidity and engendreater consumer confidence in the safety afichey of their services than PayPal. In
addition, in certain countries, such as Germanyhéltands and Australia, electronic funds tranisfer leading method of payment for both
online and offline transactions. In the U.K., theyfents Council has announced that mobile payntettgeen bank accounts will be broadly
available beginning in 2014. As in the U.S., esslilgld banks and other financial institutions thahdt currently offer online payments could
quickly and easily develop such a service.

The principal competitive factors for PayPal inadutie following:

« ability to attract, retain and engage both buyars sellers with relatively low marketing exper

» ability to show that sellers will achieve incremedrgales by offering PayP

e security of transactions and the ability for buytersise PayPal without sharing their financial infation with the selle

« low fees and simplicity of fee structu

< ability to develop services across multiple comraarigannels, including mobile payments and paynwrttse physical point of sa
e trustin PayPal's dispute resolution and buyersatiér protection progran

e customer service; a

* brand recognitiol
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With respect to our online and mobile competitiadditional competitive factors include:

« website and mobile platform and application acaroang, ease-ofise and accessibilit

e system reliability

e data security

e ease and quality of integration into thpdrty mobile applications; a

e quality of developer tools such as our ApplicatRnegramming Interfaces and Software Developmers

Some of PayPal's competitors, such as Wells F&iggt, Data and American Express, also provide ggsitig services to PayPal. If Pay
were to seek to expand the financial productsitladfers, either alone or through a commerciabalte or an acquisition, these processing
relationships could be negatively affected, or ¢hesmpetitors and other processors could makeri¢ mhifficult for PayPal to deliver its
services.

Enterprise

Our Enterprise business provides our suite of Coroen€echnologies, omnichannel operations capasland marketing solutions that
enable companies to operate and integrate themmesce offering into their omnichannel busines® Trtarket for such products and services
is continuously evolving and intensely competitiMany of our prospective clients evaluate managihgr some aspects of an omnichannel
business with internal resources. As a result, fia@ompete with in-house solutions promoted amperted by internal information
technology staffs, marketing departments, merctsmgligroups, and other internal corporate constiigs as well as with external technology
and interactive marketing service providers thapsuone or more components that allow prospedtients to develop and operate their
omnichannel business in-house. This group of pergidnay include the prospective client itself aathpanies that offer: Web platforms (e.g.,
Art Technology Group (owned by Oracle), IBM, Amaz&emandware, MarketLive and Microsoft); customae¢call center services (e.g.,
West Communications, Amazon, Sykes EnterprisesCamyergys); fulfilment and logistics (e.g., PF®BY Amazon, Innotrac, DHL, and
UPS); and systems integrators and technology peosite.g., Accenture, EDS, Sapient, Infosys, OrantkIBM); email management and data
aggregation (e.g., Experian, Harte-Hanks and Epkilinline marketing and design services (digitatketing services agencies such as
Omnicom Group, WPP Group, Publicis and the Intelipubroup of Companies); and other interactive matirlg services (e.g., Google,
LinkShare (owned by Rakuten), TradeDoubler, Adahe: \dalueClick). Low barriers to entry in the inteti@e marketing industry could also
increase the number of competitors we may face.

We believe that we compete primarily on the basih® following:

- offering the choice of a complete integratedisoh or a componeriased solutiol

e promoting the client's brand and business, ratier bur owr

e providing scale and operating leverage with anrenite focus

» establishing a commitment to invest in and enhaueeglatform

« aligning our financial interests with those of alients

« offering digital marketing solutions that aréeigrated with our suite of Commerce Technologidschvwe believe provides a more
strategic, cohesive and optimized approach to grgwcommerce businesses; and

« providing services that utilize proprietary tectogy to promote stronger customer engagement designiacrease clients' return
investment.

Our Enterprise business has competitors with lopgerating histories, larger customer bases, gresa@d recognition and greater
financial, marketing and other resources. Thosepatitors may be able to secure components of thefimology and services on more
favorable terms and devote more resources to témimdevelopment and marketing than our Entergrisginess. In addition, as we expand
our business internationally, we will face incrahsempetition from global and local companies whitdly have a greater understanding of,
and focus on, the local customer. Lastly, as owectt and prospective clients seek a larger glpbedence and target new markets abroad, we
will increasingly compete with ecommerce servicesipetitors on the basis of our international sohai
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We are subject to regulatory activity and antitrlisgjation under competition laws.

We are subject to scrutiny by various governmephaigs under U.S. and foreign regulations, inclgdiompetition laws. Some
jurisdictions also provide private rights of actifmn competitors or consumers to assert claimsii-competitive conduct. Other companies
government agencies have in the past and may ifuthee allege that our actions violate the ansitrar competition laws of the U.S., individ
states, the European Commission, or other counbiestherwise constitute unfair competition. Cantual agreements with buyers, sellers, or
other companies could give rise to regulatory actioantitrust litigation. Also, our unilateral basss practices could give rise to regulatory
action or antitrust litigation. Some regulatorsitigallarly those outside of the U.S., may perceive business to have so much market power
that otherwise uncontroversial business practioetddbe deemed anticompetitive. For example, intt#, we have been sued by a plaintiff
representing a putative class of sellers who adi¢lgat we have illegally monopolized a market foliree auctions. In Korea, the national
competition authority investigated allegations twvathave engaged in illegal exclusive conduct amdiered a decision against us in October
2010. Both the main case and a related adminigtratition were resolved in our favor. The compmtitwuthorities in Germany and Australia
have conducted investigations (now completed) abua actions taken by our businesses. Such claindsnvestigations, even if without
foundation, typically are very expensive to defengplve negative publicity and substantial diversdbf management time and effort, and
could result in significant judgments against usegjuire us to change our business practices.

In several jurisdictions, we have taken actionsgiesl to improve the security of transactions deddquality of the user experience on
websites and mobile platforms. For example, begimim June 2008, we have required users in the td.Kffer PayPal as a payment
alternative on most transactions on our localizdd. Wite, and since October 2008, we have requiedidrs on eBay.com to accept one or mor
accepted payment methods (currently PayPal, coediebit cards processed through Internet merci@dunts, ProPay and Skrill (formerly
known as Moneybookers)) and no longer allow anynfoof paper payment, including checks and monegrsrdo be listed by sellers in the
U.S. for most categories of items. While thesdatiites are intended to improve and make safeusars' buying experience and/or increase
activity on our sites, certain users may be neghltiaffected by or react negatively to these changed may allege that we have (and are
abusing) market power. We have faced inquiries fgmvernment regulators in various jurisdictiongtedl to such actions, such as, in 2008,
both the Australian Competition and Consumer Coraioisand the Reserve Bank of Australia reviewedpalicies requiring sellers to offer
PayPal as a payment alternative on most transaotioour localized Australian website and preclgdiellers from imposing a surcharge or
any other fee for accepting PayPal or other paymmsthods. We may face similar inquiries from otp@vernment regulators in the future.
Negative reactions to these changes by our useyswarnment authorities could, among other thifgge us to change our operating pract
in ways that could harm our business, operatinglteand profitability.

Our business may be adversely affected by fadtatschuse our users to spend less time on our vesbsi mobile platforms and
applications, including geopolitical events, natudésasters, seasonal factors and increased usfgéher websites.

Our users may spend less time on our websites bilenalatforms and applications as a result of @etg of diversions, including:

» geopolitical events, such as war, the threat of waterrorist activity

* natural disasters, such as hurricanes or earthg|

» increased use of social networking or other rémitement websites or mobile platforms and appilices, which may decrease the
amount of time users spend on our websites or m@bdtforms and applications and

» seasonal fluctuations due to a variety of fagteuch as decreased activity on our websites ddiysthe onset of good weather
during the summer months and national holidaysiareiased activity during the holiday season.

Anything that diverts our users from their custoyriavel of usage of our websites, mobile platfoonapplications could adversely aff
our business.
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Our failure to cost-effectively manage the expamsibour headcount, facilities and infrastructurethe U.S. and internationally could
harm our business.

We have expanded significantly our headcount, ifedland infrastructure in the U.S. and internadity, and anticipate that further
expansion in certain areas and geographies wiktgeired for some of our businesses. We are atseasing our product and service offerings
across our businesses. This expansion increasesttiaexity of our businesses and places a sigifistrain on our management, operationa
and financial resources. The areas of our busihassre put under strain by our growth includefdtlewing:

e Technology PlatformsWe continue to focus on upgrading and developimgsystems and infrastructure to accommodate the
growth of our businesses and to improve the funatity and reliability of our websites and servieds reasonable cost while
maintaining uninterrupted 24/7 operations. Risk®amted with our failure to do so are describedeurthe captions “If we are
unable to cost-effectively upgrade and expand absites, services and platforms, our business wsuffér’ and ‘Systems failure
and resulting interruptions in the availabilityair websites, applications, products or servicegdcbarm our business.”

e Customer Account BillingOur revenues depend on prompt and accuratedjpliocesses. Our failure to grow our transaction-
processing capabilities to accommodate the inangasiimber of transactions that must be billed anamal our subsidiaries'
websites would harm our business and our abiliyoltect revenue.

e Customer ServiceWe continue to focus on providing better and nmeffigient customer support to our users. We intengrovide
an increased level of support (including an indrepamount of telephone support and supportinghareasing number of
languages) in a cost-effective manner. If we amhleto provide customer support in a cost-effecthanner, users of our products
and services may have negative experiences, cuaneifuture revenues could suffer, our costs merease and our operating
margins may decrease.

< Internal Infrastructure. Our current and planned personnel, systems, guves and controls may not be adequate to support o
future operations. To effectively manage the exgabgrowth of our operations and personnel, wenei#d to continue to improve
our operational and financial systems, procedunescantrols. This is a special challenge as we isgaew operations with
different and incompatible systems. Any capitakistynents that we may make will increase our cost,bahich will make it more
difficult for us to offset any future revenue sHalls by expense reductions in the short term.uraito implement these
improvements could limit our ability to manage guowth and adversely affect our operating resiéltso, we must continue to
effectively hire, train and manage new employefesul new hires perform poorly, if we are unsucégss hiring, training,
managing and integrating new employees, or if veeusisuccessful in retaining our existing employeas business may be harm

We may have exposure to greater than anticipatedidailities.

The determination of our worldwide provision focome taxes and other tax liabilities requires estiiom and significant judgment, and
there are many transactions and calculations wtheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Likany other multinational corporations, we
are subject to tax in multiple U.S. and foreign jiaxsdictions and have structured our operationgtiuce our effective tax rate. Our
determination of our tax liability is always sulij¢ée audit and review by applicable domestic arrdifm tax authorities, and we are currently
undergoing a number of investigations, audits @wikws by taxing authorities throughout the woitatjuding with respect to our tax struct
Governments are increasingly focused on ways te&se revenues, which has contributed to an inelieasudit activity and harsher stances
taken by tax authorities. Any adverse outcome gfsaarch audit or review could have a negative eff@cour business, operating results and
financial condition, and the ultimate tax outcomayndiffer from the amounts recorded in our finahstatements and may materially affect
financial results in the period or periods for whguch determination is made. While we have esfadd reserves based on assumptions and
estimates that we believe are reasonable to coebreventualities, these reserves may prove taddficient in the event that any taxing
authority is successful in asserting tax positittrag are contrary to our positions.

In light of serious ongoing fiscal challenges ie th.S. and many countries in Europe, various levkbtpvernment are also increasingly
focused on tax reform and other legislative actmimcrease tax revenue, including corporate inctares. For example, the economic
downturn reduced tax revenues for U.S. federalstaied governments, and a number of proposals tedre taxes from corporate entities have
been implemented or are being considered at valkiwats of government. Among the options have tsesange of proposals included in the
tax and budget policies recommended to the U.Sgf@ss by the U.S. Department of the Treasury toifytite federal tax rules related to the
imposition of U.S. federal corporate income tax@ascbmpanies operating in multiple U.S. and foramnjurisdictions. If such proposals are
enacted into law, this
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could increase our effective tax rate. A numbed@. states have likewise attempted to increaggocate tax revenues by taking an expansive
view of corporate presence to attempt to imposparate income taxes and other direct business taxesmpanies that have no physical
presence in their state, and taxing authoritigsri@ign jurisdictions may take similar actions. Mdu.S. states are also altering their
apportionment formulas to increase the amountxaftike income/loss attributable to their state fimertain out-of-state businesses. Companie
that operate over the Internet, such as eBay, targat of some of these efforts. If more taxinthatities are successful in applying direct te

to Internet companies that do not have a physiesgnce in the jurisdiction, this could increaseedtective tax rate.

Our developer platforms, which are open to merchamid third-party developers, subject us to adddiaisks.

In 2009, we launched the PayPal Developer Platforamable third-party developers to access a wadiety of PayPal product and
programming code specifications and to conneceliecs PayPal payment application programming iate$ (APIs). We also began providing
a software development kit (SDK) for building m@bgayments applications, and enabling third-pagetyetbpers to access certain APIs with
respect to our Marketplaces platforms. In Augudtl2@ve acquired Magento, Inc. (now X.commerce,)imthich includes an open platform for
merchants and developers. In March 2013, we anmalechanced SDKs and API tools for the PayPalgtatfwith a particular focus on
developers of mobile applications. There can bassurance that merchants or third-party develog#rdevelop and maintain applications
and services on our open platforms on a timelysbasat all, and a number of factors could causé #hird-party developers to curtail or stop
development for our platforms. In addition, ouribess is subject to many regulatory restrictions possible that merchants and third-party
developers who utilize our development platformBJsAand SDKs could violate these regulatory restris and we may be held responsible
for such violations, which could adversely affeat business.

There are risks associated with our indebtedness.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $4libn of senior unsecured indebtedness and nehitetiness outstanding under our
$2.0 billion commercial paper program, althoughfrime to time we have made substantial borrowingder our commercial paper program
and may do so in the future. We also have a $3ibrbrevolving credit facility, under which we nraain $2.0 billion of available borrowing
capacity in order to repay commercial paper bomgwiin the event we are unable to repay those Wwargs from other sources when they
come due. As of December 31, 2013, no borrowindstters of credit were outstanding under this heing credit facility and, accordingly,
$1.0 billion of borrowing capacity was available @iher purposes permitted by this credit facility.

We may incur additional indebtedness in the futimeluding under our commercial paper program awlving credit facility or throug
public or private offerings of debt securities. @uistanding indebtedness and any additional irdielgtss we incur may have significant
consequences, including, without limitation, anyhaf following:

« we will be required to use cash reserves to payptimeipal of and interest on our indebtedn

« ourindebtedness and leverage may increase ouenalditity to adverse changes in general econonddragustry conditions, as wi
as to competitive pressure;

» adverse changes in the ratings assigned to oursdebtities by credit rating agencies will likehciease our borrowing cos

e our ability to obtain additional financing fororking capital, capital expenditures, acquisitistsgare repurchases or for general
corporate and other purposes may be limited; and

< our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, ahges in our business and our industry may bedi

Our ability to make payments of principal of anteiest on our indebtedness depends upon our fp&ufermance, which will be subject
to general economic conditions, industry cycles famghcial, business and other factors affectingamnsolidated results of operations and
financial condition, many of which are beyond oantrol. If we are unable to generate sufficienthcBew from operations in the future to
service our debt, we may be required to, amongr dkivegs:

e repatriate funds to the U.S. at substantial tax;

« seek additional financing in the debt or equity kets

« refinance or restructure all or a portion of owtebtednes
» sell selected assets;

« reduce or delay planned capital or operating exipemd

Such measures might not be sufficient to enabte service our debt. In addition, any such finagciefinancing or sale of assets might
not be available on economically favorable termataall.
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We may be unable to adequately protect or enfoucentellectual property rights.

We believe the protection of our intellectual pndpeincluding our trademarks (particularly thosevering the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dresframe secrets is critical to our success. We agiyedy protect our intellectual property rigl
by relying on federal, state and common law rightihe U.S. and internationally, as well as a ugrad administrative procedures. For
example, we pursue the registration of our domaimes, trademarks and service marks in the U.Sinéehationally. Additionally, we have
filed U.S. and international patent applicationsearing certain aspects of our proprietary technpla@fe also rely on contractual restrictions to
protect our proprietary rights when offering or gudng products and services. We have entereccmfidentiality and invention assignment
agreements with our employees and contractors amiidentiality agreements with parties with whom eenduct business in order to limit
access to, and disclosure of, our proprietary amfidgential information.

However, effective intellectual property protectimay not be available in every country in which products and services are made
available, and contractual arrangements and ttez steps we have taken to protect our intelleqiuaperty may not prevent third parties from
infringing or misappropriating our technology oteleindependent development of equivalent or sopégchnologies or other intellectual
property rights by others. In addition, trademadpyright, patent, domain name, trade dress anie acret protection is very expensive to
maintain and may require litigation. We must protaar intellectual property rights and other prepatiy rights in an increasing number of
jurisdictions, a process that is expensive and tioresuming and may not be successful in everydiation. Also, we may not be able
discover or determine the extent of any unauthdrizge of our proprietary rights. And, we have |gexhin the past, and expect to license in th
future, certain of our proprietary rights, suchraslemarks or copyrighted material, to others. €higgnsees may take actions that diminish th
value of our proprietary rights or harm our repiotat Any failure to adequately protect or enforce mtellectual property rights, or significant
costs incurred in doing so, could materially hawum lousiness.

We depend on the continued growth of online andlmobmmerce to acquire new users.

The business of selling goods online and throughilametworks is dynamic and, in the case of mobhdavorks, relatively new.
Concerns about fraud, privacy and other problemg discourage additional consumers from adoptingriternet or mobile devices as modes
of commerce, or may prompt consumers to offlinencleds. In countries such as the U.S., Germany,rAlist Korea and the U.K., where our
services and online commerce generally have beaitable for some time and the level of market pexietin of our services is high, acquiring
new users for our services may be more difficutt eostly than it has been in the past. Moreover gitowth rates of Internet users are slowing
in many countries where we have a significant preseln order to expand our user base, we musihppand acquire consumers who
historically have used traditional means of comragocpurchase goods and/or may prefer Internebgnak to such traditional retail means,
such as the retailer's own website, to our offeximig addition, these consumers may prove to Isedeive than our current users due to lower
levels of willingness to use the Internet or molliéxices for commerce for reasons such as, laeka#ss to high-speed communications
equipment, congestion of traffic on the Internetefnet or mobile network outages or delays, disoup or other damage to users' compute
mobile devices. If the growth of online and molgitenmerce slows and we are unable to gain new um@rdusiness could be adversely
impacted.

Our businesses depend on continued and unimpeaedsto the Internet by our users, as well as actemobile networks. Internet
service providers and mobile network operators tm@ble to block, degrade, or charge us or our sisefditional fees for our offerings, wh
could harm our business.

Our users rely on access to the Internet or malgte/orks to use our products and services. In ncasgs, that access is provided by
companies that compete with at least some of darin§s, including incumbent telephone companiab)ecompanies, mobile
communications companies and large Internet seprioeiders. Some of these providers have statadhbg may take measures that could
degrade, disrupt, or increase the cost of customsesof our offerings by restricting or prohibgithe use of their infrastructure to support or
facilitate our offerings, or by charging increageés to us or our users to provide our offeringebN& network operators or operating system
providers could block or place onerous restrictionour ability to offer our mobile applicationstimeir mobile application stores. Internet
service providers or mobile network operators caitdmpt to charge us each time our customerswsefi@rings. Worldwide, a number of
companies have announced plans to take such acti@rs selling products designed to facilitatehsactions. The United States Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) enacted rules icebder 2010 Preserving the Open Internet Broadband Industrydfices (FCC-10-
201)) establishing baseline restrictions that woulcutete the ability of Internet access companiesiterfere with Internet traffic transported
over wired and wireless networks. The new rulessveiiallenged in court and the D.C. Circuit Courfppeals released a ruling on January
2013, affirming the FCC'’s jurisdiction over Intetraecess
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services but rejecting aspects of the FCC rulestiieacourt interpreted as applying common cargpe obligations to Internet broadband
providers. The FCC announced its intent to apfheatiecision and could pursue alternative rulentakmwell. Pending greater regulatory anc
judicial clarity, any interference with our offega or higher charges for access to our offeringmtiaer paid by us or by ocustomers, could
cause us to lose existing customers, impair ouityatn attract new customers and harm our reveangegrowth.

Our business depends on the maintenance and seofitiie Internet infrastructure.

The success of our services depends on the mantemad security of the Internet infrastructur@bRyms caused by “viruses,”
“worms,” malware and similar programs may requivesiderable resources to correct and could harrpghfermance of the Internet over a
short or long period of time. In addition, hackpose an increasing threat to the security of ordimé mobile commerce. Also, the Internet has
experienced, and is likely to continue to experggrcvariety of outages and other delays as atrelsddmage to portions of its infrastructure.
Any threats to the maintenance and security ofriternet could adversely impact our business.

We are subject to the risks of owning real property

We own real property, including land and buildimgkated to our operations. Ownership of this reapprty subjects us to a number of
additional risks, including:

» the possibility of environmental contamination dhd costs associated with fixing any environmeptablems

< disruptions to our operations resulting from possitatural disasters, interruptions in utilitieslaimilar event:

< adverse changes in the value of these propeltieso interest rate changes, changes in the corrahproperty markets, or other
factors;

« the possible need for structural improvements @eoto comply with zoning, seismic, disability lagr,other requirements; a

« the possibility of disputes with tenants, neighbgrowners, or othel

Some anti-takeover provisions may affect the pyfaaur common stock.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai10,000,000 shares of preferred stock andtermhne the preferences, rights and
privileges of those shares without any further \artaction by the stockholders. The rights of thllars of common stock may be harmed by
rights granted to the holders of any preferredistbat may be issued in the future. Some provisairaur certificate of incorporation and
bylaws could have the effect of making it moreidifft for a potential acquirer to acquire a majpof our outstanding voting stock or take
control of our board of directors. These includevsions that provide for a classified board okdtors through our annual meeting of
stockholders in 2015, prohibit stockholders frokirig action by written consent and restrict thdighof stockholders to call special meetings.
We are also subject to provisions of Delaware laat prohibit us from engaging in any business couatiion with any interested stockholder
(as defined by Delaware law) for a period of thyears from the date the person became an interststekholder, unless certain conditions are
met. This restriction could have the effect of giglg or preventing a change of control.
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ITEM 1B: UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

We own and lease various properties in the U.S.3dnather countries around the world. We use topegties for executive and
administrative offices, data centers, product dgwelent offices, fulfillment centers and customewise offices. As of December 31, 2013,
our owned and leased properties provided us wighesate square footage as follows:

United States Other Countries Total
(In millions)
Owned facilities* 3.3 — 33
Leased facilities 4.5 2.8 7.2
Total facilities 7.8 2.6 10.€

* We also own approximately 96 acres of land inti)iaf which approximately 60 acres are currentlglardevelopment and the remaining
acres remain available for future developmenteifassary, to accommodate future growth.

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Ga¢igrnia and occupy approximately 0.2 milliorusge feet. As of December 31,
2013, the total square footage generally usedabl ef our reportable segments was as follows:

Marketplaces Payments Enterprise Total

(In millions)

2.6 4.t 10.4

(¢6)

Total facilities 3.

From time to time we consider various alternatiredated to long-term facilities needs. While weide that our existing facilities are
adequate to meet our immediate needs, it may beoeressary to develop and improve land that weavease or acquire additional or
alternative space to accommodate any future growth.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbiagjs. If we believe that a loss arising from songtiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimateditaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our juelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondleff estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the folwoéthe range. Amounts accrued for legal procegifor which we believe a loss is
probable were not material for the year ended Déeer81, 2013. Except as otherwise noted, we hanelwded that reasonably possible los
arising directly from the proceedings (i.e., mongtégamages or amounts paid in judgment or settl€nieexcess of our accruals are also not
material. For those proceedings in which an unfalvler outcome is reasonably possible but not prebai® have disclosed an estimate of the
reasonably possible loss or range of losses orave boncluded that an estimate of the reasonalsisilgle loss or range of losses arising
directly from the proceeding (i.e., monetary dansageamounts paid in judgment or settlement) atenaterial. If we cannot estimate the
probable or reasonably possible loss or rangessil® arising from a legal proceeding, we haveatisd that fact.

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceediregevaluate, among other factors, the amountasfatary damages claimed, as well as
the potential impact of nomonetary remedies sought by plaintiffs (e.g., iofire relief) that may require us to change oulifess practices
a manner that could have a material adverse ingraotir business. With respect to the matters disdan this Item 3: Legal Proceedings, we
are unable to estimate the possible loss or rahtpsses that could potentially result from the laggtion of such non-monetary remedies.

Specific Matters
In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrasti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things, ¢bmplaint alleged that we violated French tort lawnegligently broadcasting listings

posted by third parties offering counterfeit itebearing plaintiffs' trademarks and by purchasingade advertising keywords. Around
September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo PasfuParfums Givenchy,
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and Guerlain Société also filed a lawsuit in thesP@ourt of Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBégrivational AG. The complaint alleged
that we had interfered with the selective distiiuinetwork the plaintiffs established in France #me European Union by allowing third
parties to post listings offering genuine perfurard cosmetics for sale on our websites. In Jun8,286@ Paris Court of Commerce ruled that
eBay and eBay International AG were liable forifgjlto prevent the sale of counterfeit items omigbsites that traded on plaintiffs' brand
names and for interfering with the plaintiffs' sgtiee distribution network. The court awarded ptéfs approximately EUR 38.6 million in
damages and issued an injunction (enforceable ibyfitees of up to EUR 100,000) prohibiting all salof perfumes and cosmetics bearing the
Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy and Kenzo brands ovenaltldwide eBay websites to the extent that theyaaaessible from France. We appealed
this decision, and in September 2010, the Parist@dl\ppeal reduced the damages award to EUR $libmand modified the injunction. W
further appealed this decision to the French Supr€ourt, and in May 2012, the French Supreme Galetl that the appeal court should not
have assumed jurisdiction upon activity that totdcp on the eBay.com site and that the injunctias o broad insofar as it did not exclude
private sales. The court also noted that the appmeat had not sufficiently dealt with assertiohattthe plaintiffs' distribution contracts were
not valid. Those matters were remanded to the Ramist of Appeal. In 2009, plaintiffs filed an amtiregarding our compliance with the
original injunction, and in November 2009, the dawarded the plaintiffs EUR 1.7 million (the eqalient of EUR 2,500 per day) and
indicated that as a large Internet company we shdala better job of enforcing the injunction. Raré Christian Dior has filed another motion
relating to our compliance with the injunction. Wave taken measures to comply with the injunctiwh lzsave appealed these rulings, noting,
among other things, the modification of the initiglinction. In light of the French Supreme Cowlinrg mentioned above, we asked the court
to stay proceedings with respect to enforcemetti®fnjunction pending the retrial of the mattensappeal, and this request has been grantec
However, these and similar suits may force us tdifp@ur business practices, which could lower mwenue, increase our costs, or make oul
websites less convenient to our customers. Any eeslhits could materially harm our business. Otitand owners have also filed suit against
us or have threatened to do so in numerous diffguneisdictions, seeking to hold us liable for, amgoother things, alleged counterfeit items
listed on our websites by third parties, “testarti @ther not for resale consumer products listedwrwebsites by third parties, alleged misuse
of trademarks in listings, alleged violations ofesgive distribution channel laws, alleged violasoof parallel import laws, alleged non-
compliance with consumer protection laws and inneation with paid search advertisements. We hagegiled in some of these suits, lost in
others, and many are in various stages of appeakdiitinue to believe that we have meritorious meds to these suits and intend to defend
ourselves vigorously.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice rulectihe case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancome ParfunBestuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBayemtational AG, other eBay companies, and severay eBllers (No. HC07C01978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-defiants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
("ECJ") questions of liability for the use of L'@lérademarks, hosting liability, and the scopa @bssible injunction against intermediaries.
On July 12, 2011 the ECJ ruled on the questiortsfieerby the U.K. High Court of Justice. It heldat (a) brand names could be used by
marketplaces as keywords for paid search advegtisithout violating a trademark owner's rightstifvere clear to consumers that the goods
reached via the key word link were not being offidog the trademark owner or its designees butéalsby third parties, (b) that marketplaces
could invoke the limitation from liability providelly Article 14 of the ecommerce directive if thag dot take such an active role with respect
to the listings in question that the limitation idnot be available, but that even where the lititawas available, the marketplace could be
liable if it had awareness (through notice or itsdnvestigation) of the illegality of the listing&) that a marketplace would be liable in a
specific jurisdiction only if the offers on the waite at issue were targeting that jurisdictionpasiion of fact, (d) that injunctions may be iss<
to a marketplace in connection with infringing thparty content, but that such injunctions muspimportionate and not block legitimate trade
and (e) that trademark rights can only be evoked kights owner as a result of a seller's commikeacidvity as opposed to private activity. The
matter was set to return to the U.K. High Courddtice for further action in light of the ECJ dpim However, we have entered into a
Cooperation and Settlement Agreement with L'Orédlthe other parties to the suit, under which afiging litigation is terminated, including
other pending cases in Europe regarding the qurestibability for third party content on our welss.

eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged @inarket and is now named eBay Korea), has natifseapproximately 20 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving paflsoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and
some transaction and refund data (but not includiegit card information or real time banking infation). Approximately 149,000 users
sued IAC over this breach in several lawsuits imgém courts and more may do so in the future (diotpafter final determination of liability).
Trial for a group of representative suits begaAugust 2009 in the Seoul Central District Court &mal for other suits began later in the Se
Central District Court. There is some precederddanea for a court to grant “consolation money” flata breaches without a specific finding of
harm from the breach. Such precedents have inv@agthents of up to approximately $200 per usedaimuary 2010, the Seoul Central
District Court ruled that IAC had met its obligat®with respect to defending the website from sitra and, accordingly, had no liability for
the breach. This January 2010 ruling was appealexpproximately 34,000 plaintiffs to the Seoul Hi@burt.
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In September 2012, the Seoul High Court annourtsetkicision upholding the Seoul Central Districu@s January 2010 decision for three
cases involving 55 plaintiffs (who did not appeathe Korea Supreme Court). During 2013, the Sklaghh Court upheld the Seoul Central
District Court's January 2010 ruling in anotherca8es involving 33,795 plaintiffs. The Seoul Highu@'s decision in 10 of these 18 cases ha:
been appealed by 33,215 plaintiffs to the Korear&up Court, and there was no appeal in the eighgr@ases. Currently, the Korea Suprem
Court is reviewing a total of 11 cases with 33,pldntiffs, including one case appealed from the@aHigh Court. In January 2013, the Se
Western District Court ruled in favor of IAC witlespect to two cases filed by 2,291 plaintiffs bjofwing the Seoul Central District Court's
January 2010 ruling, and 2,284 plaintiffs proceeideappeal the January 2013 decision of the Sea@st®¥vh District Court to the Seoul High
Court. We expect decisions in these cases in 2td.2

General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haferiged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andaxpat we will increasingly be subject to addiibpatent infringement claims involving
various aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments atetfitise (formerly known as GSI) businesses aservices continue to expand in scope
and complexity. Such claims may be brought direatjginst our companies and/or against our custofméis may be entitled to contractual
indemnification under their contracts with us), anelare subject to increased exposure to such €laga result of our recent acquisitions,
particularly in cases where we are entering intw hasinesses in connection with such acquisitiévis have in the past been forced to litigate
such claims. We may also become more vulneralilard-party claims as laws such as the Digital &fithium Copyright Act, the Lanham Act
and the Communications Decency Act are interprbyethe courts, and as we expand the scope of aimdss (both in terms of the range of
products and services that we offer and our geddgrapoperations) and become subject to laws isdictions where the underlying laws with
respect to the potential liability of online intezdiaries like ourselves are either unclear orfl@gsrable. We believe that additional lawsuits
alleging that we have violated patent, copyrightrademark laws will be filed against us. Intelledtproperty claims, whether meritorious or
not, are time consuming and costly to defend aadlve, could require expensive changes in our naistiod doing business, or could require us
to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreensemt unfavorable terms.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of business, including suits by
our users (individually or as class actions) allggiamong other things, improper disclosure ofpiges, rules or policies, that our prices, rt
policies or customer/user agreements violate agipléclaw, or that we have not acted in conformitthwsuch prices, rules, policies or
agreements. The number and significance of thegrithis and inquiries are increasing as our compasygrown larger, our businesses have
expanded in scope (both in terms of the rangeadymts and services that we offer and our geogcaphbperations) and our products and
services have increased in complexity. Any claimsegulatory actions against us, whether meritariounot, could be time consuming, result
in costly litigation, damage awards (including staty damages for certain causes of action in irejtiaisdictions), injunctive relief or
increased costs of doing business through advedsgrient or settlement, require us to change ounésss practices in expensive ways, requir
significant amounts of management time, resulbediversion of significant operational resourcestberwise harm our business.

ITEM 4: MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STORHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on The NasdagGBetect Market (formerly The Nasdaq National Meykinder the symbol
“EBAY” since September 24, 1998. The following &kskets forth the high and low closing sale pricsshare of our common stock, as
reported by The Nasdaq Global Select Market, ferftilowing periods.

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2013
First Quarter $ 57.21 $ 50.11
Second Quarter 57.7¢ 50.7¢
Third Quarter 57.3¢ 49,9¢
Fourth Quarter 55.91 48.7¢
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2012
First Quarter $ 38.0¢ $ 30.1¢
Second Quarter 43.5( 35.47
Third Quarter 50.8: 38.6(
Fourth Quarter 52.8: 46.2:

As of January 21, 2014 , there were approximatg&92 holders of record of our common stock, althowg believe that there are a
significantly larger number of beneficial ownersoofr common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never paid cash dividends on our stocldarnbt anticipate paying cash dividends in thedeeable future.

Performance Measurement Comparison

The graph below shows the cumulative total stodkdofeturn of an investment of $100 (and the restment of any dividends
thereafter) on December 31, 2008 (the last tradagfor the year ended December 31, 2008) in (i)common stock, (ii) the Nasdaq
Composite Index, (iii) the S&P 500 Index and (iwg tS&P North American Technology Internet Indexe (Successor to the GSTI Internet
Index). The S&P North American Technology Intertlmetex is a modified-capitalization weighted indepresenting the Internet industry,
including Internet software and services and Irgeratail companies. Our stock price performanaashin the graph below is not indicative
future stock price performance.
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The following graph and related information shait he deemed “soliciting material” or be deemetiedfiled” with the SEC, nor shall
such information be incorporated by reference @rtg past or future filing with the SEC, excepthe txtent that such filing specifically states

that such graph and related information are incateal by reference into such filing.
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Stock repurchase activity during the three montited December 31, 2013 was as follows:

Total Number of ~ Maximum Dollar Value
Shares Purchased as of Shares that May Yet

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly be Purchased Under
Period Ended Shares PurchasedPaid per Share Announced Programs the Programs (1)
October 31, 2013 1,800,001 $52.1: 1,800,001 $801,084,26
November 30, 2013 2,903,001 $51.6¢ 2,903,001 $651,183,99
December 31, 2013 200,00 $51.5¢ 200,00 $640,866,32
4,903,00! 4,903,001

(1) InJune 2012, our Board of Directors authatiaestock repurchase program that provides forgparchase of up to an additioi billion
of our common stock, with no expiration from theedaf authorization. The 2012 stock repurchaserarags intended to offset the impact
of dilution from our equity compensation programs.of December 31, 2013 , approximately $640 milliemained for further
repurchases of our common stock under the 201R sépurchase program. In addition, in January 20ud board of directors authorized
an additional $5 billion stock repurchase progr&uor. further details on this stock repurchase pnogiElease see "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Rases - Stock Repurchases.".




ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with the consoliddieadncial statements and notes
thereto and “Management's Discussion and Analydi$rmancial Condition and Results of Operationspagxing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statemeiriadime data and the consolidated balance sheefaldte years ended, and as of,
December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011 , 2010 and 2008aeed from our audited consolidated financiatetents.

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011@ 2010 2009®

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Income Data®

Net revenues $ 16,047 $ 14,07: $ 11,65: $ 9,15¢ $ 8,721
Gross profit 11,01: 9,85¢ 8,191 6,59 6,24¢
Income from operations 3,371 2,88¢ 2,37: 2,05¢ 1,455
Income before income taxes 3,46¢ 3,08¢ 3,91( 2,09¢ 2,87¢
Net income 2,85¢ 2,60¢ 3,22¢ 1,801 2,38¢
Net income per share:

Basic $ 22C $ 20z % 25C % 138 % 1.8t

Diluted $ 2.1t % 1.9¢ % 24 % 136 $ 1.8¢
Weighted average shares:

Basic 1,29¢ 1,292 1,29: 1,30¢ 1,29(

Diluted 1,31 1,31z 1,31z 1,327 1,30¢

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(In millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data®

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,49, $ 6,817 $ 4,691 % 5571 % 4,00(
Short-term investments 4,531 2,591 1,23¢ 1,04t 944
Long-term investments 4,971 3,044 2,45% 2,49 1,38
Working capital® 10,64« 10,47 5,927 6,54¢ 4,81¢
Total assets 41,48¢ 37,07« 27,32( 22,00« 18,40¢
Short-term debt 6 413 56E& 30C —
Long-term debt 4,117 4,10¢ 1,52¢ 1,49¢ —
Total stockholders' equity 23,64% 20,86¢ 17,93( 15,30z 13,78t

(1) Includes the impact of acquisitions as wellresimpact from dispositions. For a summary oerecignificant acquisitions and
dispositions, please see “Note 3 - Business Cortibimaiand Divestitures” to the consolidated finahstatements included in this report.

(2) The consolidated statement of income datéh®ryear ended December 31, 2011 includes a lodssested business of $256.5 milliand
a gain on the sale of our remaining 30% equityrégein Skype of approximately $1.7 billion. Seet&l3 - Business Combinations and
Divestitures" to the consolidated financial statateeéncluded in this report.

(3) The consolidated statement of income datéhryear ended December 31, 2009 includes a $34i8i@n charge related to the settlement
of a lawsuit between Skype, Joltid and entitiestimdied by Joltid’s founders and a $1.4 billion gan the sale of Skype.

(4) Working capital is calculated as the differencentsetn total current assets and total current ligdmsl
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ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddmg statements within the meaning of Section&thAe Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4,lincluding statements that involve expectatiptens or intentions (such as those
relating to future business, future results of @iems or financial condition, new or planned fe@sior services, or management strategies).
You can identify these forward-looking statememts/brds such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “ could,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking statemémiolve risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materidiym those expressed or implied in our forwardkiog statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, among others, those disaligséltem 1A: Risk Factors” of this Annual Repam Form 10-K, as well as in our
consolidated financial statements, related notes, the other information appearing elsewhere is tteéiport and our other filings with the
SEC. We do not intend, and undertake no obligatmopdate any of our forward-looking statementerahe date of this report to reflect
actual results or future events or circumstancese6 these risks and uncertainties, readers ardionad not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. You should read the followiitagnagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of
Operations in conjunction with the consolidatedafinial statements and the related notes includddisreport.

Overview

We have three reportable business segments: M#akety Payments and Enterprise. Our Marketplaggaesat includes our eBay.com
platform and its localized counterparts and oueptinline trading platforms, such as our onlinesiféeds sites and StubHub. Our Payments
segment is comprised of PayPal and Bill Me Latem BEnterprise segment was added upon the completioar acquisition of GSI
Commerce, Inc. (GSI) on June 17, 2011. The res@ikbsir Enterprise segment have been included irconsolidated results of operations fr
the acquisition date.

In 2013, net revenues increased 14% to $16.®@hittbmpared to $14.1 billion in 2012 , driven prityaby increases in net revenues
from each of our business segments. We achievegamating margin of 21% in each of 2013 and 20Q8r. diluted earnings per share
increased to $2.18 in 2013 , a $0.19 increasel@@esompared to 2012 , driven primarily by gromt2013 net revenues partially offset by a
higher effective tax rate. We generated cash flmmfoperations of approximately $5.0 billion in 20dompared to $3.8 billion in 2012 .

Our Marketplaces segment total net revenues inede®886 million , or 12% , in 2013 compared to 20TRe increase in total net
revenues was driven primarily by an increase in Gfd¥ defined below) excluding vehicles of 13% ,ahhivas due to continued growth in the
U.S. and internationally. Our Marketplaces segnogetrating margin increased 0.7 percentage poir2813 compared to 2012 due primarily
to marketing program efficiencies that were pdstiaffset by continued investments in our site @piens infrastructure and business initiati

Our Payments segment total net revenues incredsgdion , or 19% , in 2013 compared to 2014heTncrease in total net revenues
was driven primarily by an increase in net TPVdagned below) of 24% and strong growth in Bill Mater. Our Payments segment operating
margin decreased 0.4 percentage points in 2013 @@dpo 2012 , due primarily to a lower take ragiplly offset by operating efficiencies.

Our Enterprise segment total net revenues increb2@anillion , or 3% , in 2013 compared to 201heTncrease in total net revenues
was driven primarily by an increase in Merchan@sées (as defined below) of 14% in 2013 comparé&Di®. Our Enterprise segment
operating margin decreased 3.6 percentage poin29f8 compared to 2012 due primarily to a lowketeate on Merchandise Sales as well a:
continued investment in our Enterprise commerchrtelogies.

In 2012, net revenues increased 21% to $14.1 bhidimmpared to $11.7 billion in 2011, driven prirhaky increases in net revenues
from each of our business segments. We achievegerating margin of 21% in 2012 compared to 20%0h1. Our diluted earnings per share
decreased to $1.99 in 2012, a $0.47 decrease aer shmpared to 2011, driven primarily by the gesulting from the sale of our remaining
30% equity interest in Skype in 2011, offset intfiyrgrowth in 2012 net revenues and a lower effedbx rate. We generated cash flow from
operations of approximately $3.8 billion in 2012wqmared to $3.3 billion in 2011.
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We define GMV as the total value of all succesgfalbsed items between users on our Marketplaeginy platforms (excluding eBa;
classifieds websites, brands4friends and Shopping.cluring the applicable period, regardless oftimaiethe buyer and seller actually
consummated the transaction. We define net TPYefotal dollar volume of payments, net of paynremersals, successfully completed
through our Payments networks, including Bill Madraduring the period, excluding PayPal's payngateway business. We define Merchan
Services net TPV as the total dollar volume of pagts, net of payment reversals, successfully caemgblitarough our Payments networks,
including Bill Me Later, during the period, excludj PayPal's payment gateway business and paynmrtimfisactions on our Marketplaces
platform. We define on eBay net TPV as the totdlaslovolume of payments, net of payment reversaiscessfully completed through our
Payments networks, including Bill Me Later, durihg period for transactions on our Marketplacefqiam. We define Merchandise Sales as
the retail value of all sales transactions, inclesif freight charges and net of allowance formetuand discounts, which flow through our
Enterprise Commerce Technologies whether we retterdull amount of such transaction as a produet @aa percentage of such transaction
as a service fee. We define ECV as the total comenand payment volume across all three segmenssstiog of GMV, PayPal Merchant
Services TPV and Merchandise Sales not earned ay @Bpaid for via PayPal or Bill Me later durirtetperiod. ECV excludes volume
transacted through the Magento platform.

Results of Operations
Summary of Net Revenues

We generate two types of net revenues: net transaetvenues and marketing services and other tege©ur net transaction revenues
are derived principally from listing fees and finallue fees (which are fees payable on transactimsed on our Marketplaces trading
platforms), fees paid by merchants for paymentgsesinig services and ecommerce service fees. Ouetimay services revenues are derived
principally from the sale of advertisements, revesharing arrangements, classifieds fees, markséingce fees and lead referral fees. Other
revenues are derived principally from interest faes earned on the Bill Me Later portfolio of ragiles from loans, interest earned on certai
PayPal customer account balances and fees fromactudl arrangements with third parties that presdrvices to our users.
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of mtenues by type and geography for the periodsepted.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011®
(In millions, except percentage changes)

Net Revenues by Type:
Net transaction revenues

Marketplaces $ 6,798 $ 6,07¢ $ 5,431
Payments 6,09¢ 5,14¢ 4,127
Enterprise 89¢ 85C 46C
Total net transaction revenues 13,78¢ 12,07« 10,01«
Marketing services and other revenues
Marketplaces 1,48¢ 1,32( 1,211
Payments 532 42¢ 28¢
Enterprise 214 238 13C
Corporate and other 55 39 8
Total marketing services and other revenues 2,29( 2,02 1,63¢
Elimination of inter-segment net reveritie
(32 (22) —
Total net revenues $ 16,047 $ 14,07: $ 11,65:
Net Revenues by Geography:
u.s. $ 7,712 $ 6,77¢  $ 5,48¢
International 8,33t 7,29¢ 6,16¢
Total net revenues $ 16,047 $ 14,07: $ 11,65:

(1) Includes data for Enterprise since June 17, 20tELdate the acquisition of GSI was comple
(2) Represents net revenue generated between ourakelgosegment

Revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatioeafjtaphies based primarily upon the country in tiie seller, payment recipient,
customer, website that displays advertising, oeosiervice provider, as the case may be, is located

Because we generated a majority of our net reveimt&mationally in recent periods, including theays ended December 31, 2013 ,
2012 and 2011 , we are subject to the risks ofglbirsiness in foreign countries as discussed uittgen 1A: Risk Factors.” In that regard,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesaotpur results of operations. We have a foreiginamrge risk management program that is
designed to reduce our exposure to fluctuatiorisrizign currencies; however, the effectivenessisf program in mitigating the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations on our results of ig@ns varies from period to period, and in anyegiperiod, our operating results are usually
affected, sometimes significantly, by changes imemcy exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchangs edso directly affect our cross-border
revenue. We calculate the year-over-year impafireign currency movements on our business usiiny period foreign currency rates
applied to current year transactional currency amgu

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , foreigrenayr movements relative to the U.S. dollar podigivapacted net revenues by
approximately $24 million (inclusive of a $4 millimegative impact from hedging activities relatind®ayPal's net revenue) compared to the
prior year. Foreign currency movements relativtheoU.S. dollar for the year ended December 313 2@kitively impacted Marketplaces net
revenues by approximately $36 million and negayivelpacted Payments and Enterprise net revenuapfpximately $11 million and less
than $1 million, respectively, compared to the pyiear (inclusive of the impact of hedging actiedtj noted above, in the case of Payments ne
revenues).

For the year ended December 31, 2012, foreign mayrenovements relative to the U.S. dollar negayiwsipacted net revenues by
approximately $206 million (inclusive of a $44 riah positive impact from hedging activities relafito PayPal's net revenue) compared to th
prior year. Foreign currency movements relativtheoU.S. dollar for the year ended December 312 2@batively impacted Marketplaces,
Payments, and Enterprise net revenues by appraadiyrst 72 million, $33 million and $1 million, resgievely, compared to the prior year
(inclusive of the impact of hedging activities, edtabove, in the case of Payments net revenues).



64




The following table sets forth, for the periodsgmeted, certain key operating metrics that we belare significant factors affecting our
net revenues.

Percent Change Percent Change
Year Ended December 31, from from
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012

(In millions, except percentage changes)
Supplemental Operating Data:
Marketplaces Segment?

GMYV excluding vehicles® $ 76,49 $ 67,76: $ 60,33: 13% 12%
GMV vehicles only ® 6,83t 7,618 8,301 (10)% (8)%
Total GMV @ $ 83,33( $ 75,37¢  $ 68,63 11% 10%

Payments Segment:
Merchant Services net TP¥

$ 125,28: $ 97,277 $ 77,70( 2S¢ % 25 %
On eBay net TPV
$ 54,38: $ 47.66( $ 41,05¢ 14% 16 %
Net TPV @ $ 179,66: $ 14493 $ 118,75¢ 24 % 22 %
Enterprise Segment:
Merchandise Sal€d $ 418 $ 3,68: $ 2,04¢ 14 % N/A

(1) eBay's classifieds websites, brands4friends ang@®hg.com are not included in these met

(2) Total value of all successfully closed transactibesveen users on Marketplaces trading platformimguhe period regardless of whet
the buyer and seller actually consummated the actims, excluding vehicles gross merchandise volume

(3) Total value of all successfully closed vehicbnsactions between users on Marketplaces traadatfiprms during the period regardless of
whether the buyer and seller actually consummédtedransaction.

(4) Total value of all successfully closed items betwvasers on eBay Marketplaces trading platformsnduitie period, regardless of whet
the buyer and seller actually consummated the dctios.

(5) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paytm@&versals, successfully completed through ournfeags networks, including Bill Me
Later, during the period, excluding PayPal's payhugtieway business and payments for transactiomsioNarketplaces platform.

(6) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paytm@&versals, successfully completed through ournfeags networks, including Bill Me
Later, during the period for transactions on ourké#places platform.

(7) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paytm@&versals, successfully completed through ouPRagayments networks, including Bill
Me Later during the period; excludes payments sen¢ceived through PayPal's payment gateway basine

(8) Retail value of all sales transactions, inde®f freight charges and net of allowance foune$ and discounts, which flow through our
Enterprise Commerce Technologies, whether we retbardull amount of such transaction as a prodale er a percentage of such
transaction as a service fee. Includes data fogrrise since June 17, 2011, the date the acquisifiGS| was completed. Accordingly,
the percent change in Enterprise's metrics bet@6&fh and 2012 is not meaningful.
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Seasonality

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgmeted, our total net revenues and the sequentiaiarly movements of these net
revenues:

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(In millions, except percentage changes)

20119
Net revenues $ 2,54¢ $ 2,76 % 2,966 $ 3,38(
Percent change from prior quarter 2% 8% 7% 14%
2012
Net revenues $ 3,27 $ 3,39¢ $ 3,40¢ $ 3,99
Percent change from prior quarter (3)% 1% —% 17%
2013
Net revenues $ 3,74¢ $ 387 % 389 % 4,53(
Percent change from prior quarter (6)% 3% —% 16%

(1) Net revenues attributable to the Enterprise segmarenteflected beginning from June 17, 2011 (the thee acquisition of GSI wi
completed).

We expect transaction activity patterns on our Webdo mirror general consumer buying patterng. Enierprise segment is highly
seasonal. The fourth calendar quarter typicallypants for a disproportionate amount of Enterprisa annual revenue because consumers
increase their purchases and businesses increzsisadiertising to consumers during the fourth tpranoliday season. We expect these trend:
to continue.

Marketplaces Net Transaction Revenues

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increased $illion , or 12% , in 2013 compared to 2012 , sistent with the increase in GMV
excluding vehicles of 13% in 2013 compared to 20IRe increase in net transaction revenues and @x\uding vehicles was due to
continued growth in active users, mobile and th&tinaed improvements in the customer experiencadtition, seller discounts and buyer
loyalty programs had a negative impact on revemae/.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increased @Hon, or 12%, in 2012 compared to 2011, cotesiswith the increase in GMV
excluding vehicles of 12% in 2012 compared to 20tk increases in net transaction revenue and Gx\iding vehicles were due primarily
to strong growth across all regions, partially effsy the negative impact of approximately $118iarmilin foreign currency movements relat
to the U.S. dollar.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues earned attermally totaled $3.8 billion , $3.4 billion an@43 billion in 2013, 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively, representing 55% , 56% and 56% ai tdarketplaces net transaction revenues in theedve periods. The decrease in
international net transaction revenues as a pexgerdf total net transaction revenues during 2048 due primarily to stronger growth in U.S.
GMV relative to international GMV.

Payments Net Transaction Revenues

Payments net transaction revenues increased $3@mior 18% , during 2013 compared to 2012 , drimarily to net TPV growth of
24% offset by a lower take rate and the impacbodifjn currency movements and hedging. The incri@aset TPV was due primarily to
growth in consumer and merchant adoption and ugagiPal both on and off eBay, while the lower tete was due primarily to a shift to
larger merchants who pay lower rates. Our MercBamvices net TPV increased 29% during 2013 compar2812 and represented 70% of
PayPal's net TPV in 2013 , compared with 67% in2200n eBay net TPV increased 14% during 2013 coetp 2012 , and represent@lo
of PayPal's net TPV in 2013 .

66




Payments net transaction revenues increased &inbitlr 25%, during 2012 compared to 2011, due aniimto net TPV growth of 22%
and a higher take rate. The increase in net TPVduagrimarily to growth in consumer and merchaudion and use of PayPal both on and
off eBay. Our Merchant Services net TPV increassd 2luring 2012 compared to 2011, and represent&ddPayPal's net TPV in 2012
compared with 65% in 2011. On eBay net TPV incréd€® during 2012 compared to 2011, and repres@3#&dof PayPal's net TPV in
2012. The increase in the take rate was drivengriiynby foreign exchange income, gains from hedgintivities and the full year impact frc
our acquisition of Zong (acquired in August 2011).

Payments net transaction revenues earned intemadljidotaled $3.4 billion , $2.8 billion and $2bfllion in 2013, 2012 and 2011 ,
representing 56% , 55% and 53% of total Paymerttgam@saction revenues, respectively. The incregasgernational net transaction revenues
as a percentage of total Payments net transadi@mues was due primarily to higher growth in MartdtServices net TPV outside the U.S. ac
we expanded merchant coverage and consumer sheheakout.

Enterprise Net Transaction Revenues

Enterprise net transaction revenues increased $48m or 6% , in 2013 compared to 2012 , duemarily to an increase in
Merchandise Sales of 14% , partially offset byvadotake rate.

Enterprise net transaction revenues were $850amili 2012 and $460 million in 2011. Net transattievenues attributable to the
Enterprise segment for 2011 are reflected from Joh&011 (the date the acquisition of GSI was deted). Accordingly, comparisons of
Enterprise's net transaction revenues for 201214 Zre not meaningful.

Marketing Services and Other Revenues

Marketing services and other revenues increasef 8@ion , or 13% , in 2013 compared to 2012 , agpresented 14% of total net
revenues for both periods. The increase in maresamvices and other revenues was due primariydath in our Bill Me Later portfolio of
receivables from loans, as well as increased revé&om our advertising business.

Marketing services and other revenues increased 888on, or 23%, in 2012 compared to 2011, aratesented 14% of total net
revenues for both periods. The increase in maresamvices and other revenues was due primariydath in our Bill Me Later portfolio of
receivables from loans, as well as increased revé&om our advertising business.

Summary of Cost of Net Revenues

The following table summarizes changes in costedfravenues for the periods presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %

(In millions, except percentages)
Cost of net revenues:

Marketplaces $ 1,52( $ 1,27: $ 1,21(C $ 247 19% $ 63 5%
As a percentage of total Marketplaces net revenues 18.2% 17.2% 18.2%
Payments 2,67t 2,20¢ 1,86¢€ 46€ 21% 34z 18%
As a percentage of total Payments net revenues 40.&% 39.6% 42.2%
Enterprise” 821 69€ 374 12t 18% 322 N/A
As a percentage of total Enterprise net revenues 73.&% 64.2% 63.4%
Corporate and other 20 3€ 11 (18) (47% 27 N/A
Total cost of net revenues $ 503 $ 421¢ $ 3461 $ 82( 19% $ 75¢ 22%
As a percentage of net revenues 31.4% 30.(% 29.7%

(1) Cost of net revenues attributable to the Emiee segment for 2011 are reflected from Jun@QZX] (the date the acquisition of GSI was
completed). Accordingly, the percent changes ireEpmise's cost of revenues between 2011 and 2@L2oameaningful.
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Cost of net revenues consists primarily of costeeiated with payment processing, customer supgitetpperations, fulfillment and
interest expense on borrowings incurred to finadBileMe Later's portfolio of loan receivables. Sificant components of these costs include
bank transaction fees, credit card interchangeaasdssment fees, interest expense on indebtedeoas®d to finance the purchase of
consumer loan receivables related to Bill Me Laimrounts, employee compensation, contractor dasitities costs, depreciation of
equipment and amortization expense.

Marketplaces

Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $2didmior 19% , in 2013 compared to 2012 . Thedéase was due primarily to the
growth in GMV. Marketplaces cost of net revenuea aercentage of Marketplaces net revenues inatdnsé.1 percentage points during 2!
compared to 2012 due primarily to our investmersiia operations infrastructure and customer sugpograms.

Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $8®mibr 5%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The incre@as due primarily to increases in
our customer support costs and site operationsiaed with our GMV growth. Marketplaces cost of revenues as a percentage of
Marketplaces net revenues decreased during 201garexh to the prior year due primarily to improveei@mting leverage in our site operations
infrastructure, partially offset by investment mstomer support programs.

Payments

Payments cost of net revenues increased $466 miltoo 21% , in 2013 compared to 2012 due primaalthe impact of growth in net
TPV and growth in our customer support initiatiieayments cost of net revenues as a percentageyofddts net revenues increased by 0.8
percentage points during 2013 compared to 201dawrily to these same factors.

Payments cost of net revenues increased $343 mitio18%, in 2012 compared to 2011 due primadilthe impact of growth in net
TPV. Payments cost of net revenues as a perceafdm/ments net revenues decreased during 2012scethjp 2011 due primarily to a lov
transaction expense rate driven largely by the anhphcertain regulatory changes, primarily the Elaramendment of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

Enterprise

Enterprise cost of net revenues increased $12%millor 18% , during 2013 compared to 2012 dumarily to the impact of growth in
Merchandise Sales as well as amortization expemgendby the initial roll out of the new suite adrmmerce technologies. Enterprise cost o
revenues as a percentage of Enterprise net revermareased by 9.6 percentage points during 2013eoed to 2012 due primarily to these
same factors.

Enterprise cost of net revenues were $696 milliorind 2012 and $374 million in 2011. Cost of netereues attributable to the
Enterprise segment for 2011 are reflected from Iime&011 (the date the acquisition of GSI was deted). Accordingly, comparisons with
Enterprise's cost of revenues for 2012 to 201hateneaningful.

Summary of Operating Expenses, Non-Operating Itearsl Provision for Income Taxes

The following table summarizes changes in operatxgenses, hon-operating items and provision forite taxes for the periods
presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %
(In millions, except percentage changes)

Sales and marketing $ 3,060 $ 291: $ 243t $ 147 5% $ 47¢ 20%
Product development 1,76¢ 1,57: 1,23t 19t 12% 33¢ 27%
General and administrative 1,70¢ 1,567 1,36¢ 13¢ 9% 20¢c 15 %
Provision for transaction and loan losses 791 58C 517 211 36% 63 12%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 31¢ 33t 267 ()] (5)% 68 25%
Interest and other, net 9t 19¢ 1,53 (107) (52)% (1,347 (87)%
Provision for income taxes (610 (475) (681) (13%) 28 % 20¢€ (30)%
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The following table summarizes operating expenses;operating items and provision for income taa®a percentage of net revenues
for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Sales and marketing 19% 21% 21%
Product development 11% 11% 11%
General and administrative 11% 11% 12%
Provision for transaction and loan losses 5% 4% 4%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 2% 2% 2%
Interest and other, net 1% 1% 13%
Provision for income taxes 4% 3% 6%

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgeérising costs and marketing programs (both erdind offline), employee
compensation, contractor costs, facilities costbdepreciation on equipment. Online marketing espsnepresent traffic acquisition costs in
various channels such as paid search, affiliateketing and display advertising. Offline advertgimcludes brand campaigns, buyer/seller
communications and general public relations expense

Sales and marketing expense increased by $14bmijlir 5% , in 2013 compared to 2012 . The in@éasales and marketing expense
was due primarily to higher employee-related expsr{gcluding consultant costs, facility costs agdipmentrelated costs), partially offset
a decrease in professional services fees and magkmibgram efficiencies. The decrease in markgirmggram costs was due primarily to a
shift in focus from customer acquisition to custometention (for which certain associated expemsegecorded as a reduction in revenue
instead of sales and marketing expense). Salemarkkting expense as a percentage of net revereresi®% and 21% in 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.

Sales and marketing expense increased by $47&mibr 20%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The incr@asales and marketing expense
was due primarily to higher employee-related expsr{gicluding consultant costs, facility costs agdipment-related costs), marketing
program costs to drive consumer engagement anchiect from acquisitions, primarily GSI. Sales andrketing expense as a percentage of
net revenues were 21% in both 2012 and 2011.

Product Development

Product development expenses consist primarilyngfleyee compensation, contractor costs, facilitiests and depreciation on
equipment. Product development expenses are metofred capitalization of major site and otherduat development efforts, including the
development of our next generation platform araiites, migration of certain platforms, seller toatel Payments services projects. Our top
technology priorities include mobile, user expecersearch, platform and new products such as paycode and those that allow us to
continue pursuing our omnichannel strategy. Capédlinternal use and website development coste $299 million , $285 million and $212
million in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively, and primarily reflected as a cost of net revermdesn amortized in future periods.

Product development expenses increased by $196milor 12% , in 2013 compared to 2012 . The iaseewas due primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) drikgrincreased investment in platform,
search, mobile and offline, as well as an incréageofessional service fees. Product developmemerses as a net percentage of revenues
were 11% in both 2013 and 2012 .

Product development expenses increased by $33@mitir 27%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The increesedue primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) drilwgrincreased investment in platform,
search, mobile and offline and the impact from &sitjans, primarily GSI. Product development expEnas a net percentage of revenues wet
11% in both 2012 and 2011.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafremployee compensation, contractor costs|ifes costs, depreciation of
equipment, employer payroll taxes on employee shaded compensation, legal expenses, restructumsigrance premiums and professional
fees. Our legal expenses, including those relatestious ongoing legal proceedings, may fluctsatestantially from period to period.

General and administrative expenses increased i®ilBén , or 9% , in 2013 compared to 2012he increase was due primarily to hig
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) antherease in professional service fees
partially offset by a decrease in restructuringt€oSeneral and administrative expenses as a gegseof net revenues were 11% in both 2012
and 2012 .

General and administrative expenses increased i®208n, or 15%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The @aze was due primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs), thpact from acquisitions, primarily GSI,
restructuring costs and the increase in profesksmraice fees. General and administrative expeas@spercentage of net revenues were 11%
and 12% in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congistsarily of transaction loss expense associated air customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit lossesgdlaidexpense associated with our accounts receibvathnces and loan losses associated
with our loan receivables balances. We expect oawvrigion for transaction and loan loss expensduittdate depending on many factors,
including macroeconomic conditions, our custometgxtion programs and the impact of regulatory gean

Provision for transaction and loan losses increaged?11 million , or 36% , in 2013 compared to 20T his increase was attributable to
both our Marketplaces and Payments segments. R transaction and loan loss expense as a&ptxge of net revenues was 5% and 4%
in 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Marketplaces provision for transaction losses iasegl by $62 million, or 36%, in 2013 compared tb20 his increase was due
primarily to higher transaction volume. The volumerease in the transaction losses was due priyrtarén increase in the number of cases
being opened under our eBay Buyer Protection Progrsa result of our recently simplified processugers to file claims which resulted in
higher transaction losses.

Payments provision for transaction and loan lossareased by $149 million, or 38%, in 2013 compaoed012. This increase was due
primarily to higher PayPal transaction losses drilig higher transaction volume, due to the intraiduncof new products, initiatives to enhance
customers' experience, and growth in active regidtaccounts. The increase is also due to growtluirBill Me Later portfolio of receivables
from consumer loans. Modifications to our Bill Matier acceptable risk parameters did not have ari@atapact on our provision for loan
losses.

Provision for transaction and loan losses increage®63 million, or 12%, in 2012 compared to 20Ihis increase was due primarily to
higher transaction volume and growth in our Bill Mater portfolio of receivables from consumer loaRse increase was partially offset by a
reduction in our Marketplaces consumer protectimy@mm expense as a result of certain loss prexeptiograms and lower Marketplaces bac
debt expense. Provision for transaction and loas éxpense as a percentage of net revenues washBi2012 and 2011.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

From time to time we have purchased, and we expemintinue to purchase, assets and businessese Phechase transactions gener
result in the creation of acquired intangible asséth finite lives and lead to a corresponding@ase in our amortization expense in periods
subsequent to acquisition. We amortize intangibtets over the period of estimated benefit, udiagstraightine method and estimated use
lives ranging from one to eight years. Amortizatadracquired intangible assets is also impactedurysales of assets and businesses and
timing of acquired intangible assets becoming faltyortized. See “Note 4 - Goodwill and Intangiblesats” to the consolidated financial
statements included in this report.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets decrédwse$17 million , or 5% , in 2013 compared to 2012

Amortization of acquired intangible assets increasg $68 million, or 25%, in 2012 compared to 20IHe increase in amortization of
acquired intangible assets was due to the impaatadisitions, primarily GSI.
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Interest and Other, Net

Interest and other, net, primarily consists ofies¢ earned on cash, cash equivalents and invetstnasnwell as foreign exchange
transaction gains and losses, our portion of opeyaesults from investments accounted for underettuity method of accounting, investment
gain/loss on acquisitions, and interest expenggsisting of interest charges on any amounts bordoavel commitment fees on unborrowed
amounts under our credit agreement and interegnmepon our outstanding debt securities and conmh@aper, if any. Interest and other, net
excludes interest expense on borrowings incurrdohémce Bill Me Later's portfolio of loan receivab, which is included in cost of net
revenues (see "Note 18 - Interest and Other, eti¢ consolidated financial statements includethigreport for more information).

Interest and other, net, decreased $101 millid®0i3 compared to 2012 . The decrease in intereso#er, net was due primarily to a
gain on a divested business of $118 million in 28&@ an increase in interest expense as a resulirasuance of $3 billion of senior notes in
July 2012. The decrease was partially offset bgia gn the sale of our investments in RueLal a am@pRunner in September 2013.

Interest and other, net, decreased $1.3 hillid20it2 compared to 2011. The decrease in interesbtiued, net was due primarily to an
investment gain of approximately $1.7 billion asated with the sale of our remaining 30% equitgiest in Skype in 2011. The decrease in
interest and other, net was partially offset byamgn the divestiture of a business, a favorablgaict from the foreign currency activity,
favorable resolution of an indirect tax dispute &igher interest income from investments.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 18% in 2013 comparetb% in 2012 . The increase in our effective tag daring 2013 compared to 2012
was due primarily to increases in foreign earnisigigiect to U.S. tax and the repayment of the Kgnatie receivable and the sale of our
investments in RueLala and ShopRunner in 2013.

Our effective tax rate was 15% in 2012 compareti/& in 2011. The decrease in our effective taxdating 2012 compared to 2011
was due primarily to U.S. taxes on the sale ofrearaining equity interest in Skype in 2011 andfév@rable impact from the sale of Rent.cornr
in 2012.

Our relative pretax earnings and revenues attiifdeiti® the U.S. as compared to the rest of thedvody differ over time. For the year
ended December 31, 2013, our U.S. share of pratairie and net revenues was 17.1% and 48.1%, rasghectFor the year ended December
31, 2012, our U.S. share of pretax income andenetrues was 19.6% and 48.2%, respectively. Therdiite in relative pretax income and
revenues attributable to the U.S., as compareetodst of the world for both 2013 and 2012, wamarily related to our Enterprise segment,
which has lower U.S. based operating margins agldeniamortization of U.S. based intangible as$smtger stockbased compensation expel
recorded in the U.S. for U.S. based employees heael related to our corporate operations whiclpanearily U.S. based and higher average
margins earned by non-U.S. businesses.

Our provision for income taxes differs from the yision computed by applying the U.S. federal statutate of 35% due primarily to
lower tax rates associated with certain earnings four operations in certain lower-tax jurisdicsavutside the U.S. The impact on our
provision for income taxes of foreign income beiaged at different rates than the U.S. federalttey rate was a benefit of approximately
$607 million in 2013, and $617 million in 2012 a$id72 million in 2011, net of a $321 million charige U.S. taxes on the sale of Skype. We
benefit from tax rulings concluded in several diffiet jurisdictions, most significantly Switzerlargingapore and Luxembourg. These rulings
provide for significantly lower rates of taxation oertain classes of income and require variowestiolds of investment and employment in
those jurisdictions. We evaluate compliance withtax ruling agreements annually. The cash bepéftiese reduced rates totaled
approximately $540 million in 2013, $439 million2012 and $697 million in 2011. The foreign juriddins with lower tax rates that had the
most significant impact on our provision for incotages in the periods presented include Switzerl8mapore and Luxembourg. See "Note
16 - Income Taxes" to the consolidated financialeshents included in this report for more informaton our tax rate reconciliation.

Our provision for income taxes is volatile andganeral, is adversely impacted by earnings beiwgidhan anticipated in countries that
have lower tax rates and higher than anticipateimtries that have higher tax rates. Our promi$iw income taxes does not include
provisions for U.S. income taxes and foreign witldhng taxes associated with the repatriation afilasgantial portion of undistributed earnings
of certain foreign subsidiaries because we intenginvest those earnings
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indefinitely in our foreign subsidiaries. If thesarnings were distributed into the U.S. in the fafdividends to eBay companies domiciled in
the U.S. or otherwise, or if the shares of thevaai¢ foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwisegferred, we would be subject to additional
U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment fagifor tax credits) and foreign withholding taxesttker, as a result of certain of our ongoing
employment and capital investment actions and camaerits, our income in certain countries includingt&erland, Singapore and
Luxembourg, is subject to reduced tax rates. Gluréato meet these commitments could adverselathpur provision for income taxes.
Additionally, please see the information in "lterk: Risk Factors" under the caption "We may haveosxpe to greater than anticipated tax
liabilities."

From time to time, we engage in certain interconydaansactions and legal entity restructurings. ddiesider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligninof our corporate structure with our organizagicobjectives and the operational and tax
efficiency of our corporate structure, as welltas long-term cash flows and cash needs of ourrdiftdousinesses. These transactions may
impact our overall tax rate and/or result in additil cash tax payments. The impact in any periog lmessignificant. These transactions may
complex and the impact of such transactions orréuperiods may be difficult to estimate.

We are regularly under examination by tax authesitboth domestically and internationally. We bediéivat adequate amounts have beel
reserved for any adjustments that may ultimatedyltefrom these examinations, although we canmaitrasyou that this will be the case given
the inherent uncertainties in these examination® I the ongoing tax examinations, we believg itripractical to determine the amount and
timing of these adjustments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities 4,99t 3,83¢ 3,27¢
Investing activities (6,012 (3,769 (3,307
Financing activities (1,359 1,951 (83¢)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equigalen 48 10C (15)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis (2,329 2,12¢ (88€)

Operating Activities

We generated cash from operating activities of $ilion , $3.8 billion and $3.3 billion in 2012012 and 2011 , respectively. The
increase in cash provided by operating activitne8013 as compared to 2012 is due primarily to drigtet income driven by higher revenues,
increases in non-cash charges to net income reiateol provision for transaction and loan losses depreciation and amortization and lower
cash paid for income taxes.

The increase in cash provided by operating aawiih 2012 compared to 2011 was due primarily ghdyi income from operations
resulting from growth in revenues.

Cash paid for income taxes in 2013, 2012 and 2041$466 million , $789 million and $373 millionespectively.
Investing Activities
The net cash used in investing activities of $6llidh in 2013 was due primarily to net cash paid purchases of investments of $7.5
billion , purchases of property and equipment aB3iillion and the purchase of consumer loan red#as (net of collections and charge-offs)
originated through our Bill Me Later merchant netlvof $794 million , partially offset by proceeds%8.9 billion for sales of investments.
The net cash used in investing activities of $3ll®h in 2012 was due primarily to net cash paid purchases of investments of $3.1

billion, purchases of property and equipment, aB3iillion and the purchase of consumer loan redgas (net of collections) originated
through our Bill Me Later merchant network of $7#2illion, partially offset by proceeds of $1.4 billi for sales of investments.
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Financing Activities

The net cash used in financing activities of $ilibb in 2013 was due primarily to cash outflows®1.3 billion to repurchase our
common stock, $400 million for the net repaymendelit and $267 million paid for tax withholding$ated to net share settlements of
restricted stock units. These cash outflows wergglig offset by inflows of $437 million from thissuance of common stock in connection
with the exercise of stock options and our emplasteek purchase plan, and $201 million in excesdemefits from stock-based
compensation.

The net cash provided by financing activities ofd®illion in 2012 was due primarily to cash inflswf approximately $3.0 billion from
the issuance of senior notes, $483 million fromigiseance of common stock in connection with ther@ge of stock options and our employee
stock purchase plan, and $130 million in excesdemefits from stock-based compensation. Theseinfistvs were partially offset by
outflows of $898 million in cash paid to repurchase common stock, $550 million for the net repaptnaf commercial paper, and $186
million in cash paid for tax withholdings relatamrtet share settlements of restricted stock unitsused a portion of the net proceeds from th
issuance of our senior notes to repay the comniqrafer referred to above.

The positive effect of currency exchange ratesash@nd cash equivalents during 2013 was due todbkening of the U.S. dollar
against certain foreign currencies, primarily thede The positive effect of currency exchange ratesash and cash equivalents during 2012
was due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar agaiestin foreign currencies, primarily the Britigbund and the Euro. The negative effect of
currency exchange rates on cash and cash equiwalerihg 2011 was due to the strengthening of tI& dollar against certain foreign
currencies, primarily the Euro.

Stock Repurchases

In June 2012, our Board of Directors authorizetbalsrepurchase program that provides for the @mase of up to $2 billion of our
common stock, with no expiration from the date wtharization. The stock repurchase program is oheerto offset the impact of dilution from
our equity compensation programs. During 2013 repeirchased approximately $1.3 billion of our commstock under this stock repurchase
program. As of December 31, 2013 , approximate§O0d@illion remained for further repurchases of oommon stock under the 2012 stock
repurchase program.

In addition, in January 2014, our board of direst@aunthorized an additional $5 billion stock repassprogram. This new stock
repurchase program, together with $640 million remg under our prior stock repurchase programauigkd in June 2012, brings the total
repurchase authorization, as of January 2014, ®§Bion . In addition to continuing to repurceashares to offset dilution from our equity
compensation programs, we expect, subject to madatitions and other factors, to make opportunigtpurchases of our common stock to
reduce outstanding share count. Any share repseshander our stock repurchase programs may be tmadgh open market transactions,
block trades, privately negotiated transactionsl(iting accelerated share repurchase transactomgher means at times and in such amount
as management deems appropriate and may be furmiea@ir working capital or other financing alteimas. Our stock repurchase programs
may be limited or terminated at any time withoubpnotice. The timing and actual number of shaegsirchased will depend on a variety of
factors including corporate and regulatory requieats, price and other market conditions and managgsndetermination as to the appropi
use of our cash.

Shelf Registration Statement

At December 31, 2013, we had an effective shefisteation statement on file with the Securitied &xchange Commission that allows
us to issue various types of debt securities, agdixed or floating rate notes, U.S. dollar orefgn currency denominated notes, redeemable
notes, global notes, and dual currency or othezxad notes. Issuances under the shelf registrata@ament will require the filing of a
prospectus supplement identifying the amount andgef the securities to be issued. The registnatatement does not limit the amount of
debt securities that may be issued thereunderafility to issue debt securities is subject to readonditions and other factors impacting our
borrowing capacity, including our credit ratingslamompliance with the covenants in our credit agem.

We issued $3 billion of senior notes in an undettemi public offering in July 2012. These seniorasotemain outstanding and consist of
$250 million aggregate principal amount of 0.70%esalue 2015, $1 billion aggregate principal amadiit 35% notes due 2017, $1 billion
aggregate principal amount of 2.60% notes due 2022%$750 million aggregate principal amount of 4:0f@otes due 2042. In addition, we
have an additional $1.1 billion of senior notesstartding that were issued under a prior shelf negisn statement consisting of $600 million
aggregate principal amount of 1.625% notes due 20855500 million aggregate principal amount 068% notes due 2020.
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The indenture pursuant to which the notes wereessucludes customary covenants that, among dtivegg, limit our ability to incur,
assume or guarantee debt secured by liens on iggeadsets or enter into sale and lease-back ttmssiwith respect to specified properties,
and also includes customary events of default.

Commercial Paper

We have a $2 billion commercial paper program pamsto which we may issue commercial paper notés mvaturities of up to 397
days from the date of issue in an aggregate p@haimount of up to $2 billion at any time outstandiAs of December 31, 2013 , there were
no commercial paper notes outstanding. We may,edabject to market conditions, to issue commegagler notes from time to time in the
future.

Credit Agreement

In 2011, we entered into a credit agreement thatiges for an unsecured $3 billion five-year rewodvcredit facility that includes a
$300 million letter of credit sub-facility and a@Lmillion swingline sub-facility, with availableobrowings under the revolving credit facility
reduced by the amount of any letters of creditamithgline borrowings outstanding from time to tindée may also, subject to the agreeme!
the applicable lenders, increase the commitmerdsmnihe revolving credit facility by up to $1 bih. Funds borrowed under the credit
agreement may be used for general corporate pwpose

As of December 31, 2013, no borrowings or lettérsredit were outstanding under our $3 billionditeagreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2 billion commercipeparogram and we maintain $2 billion of availabdgrowing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsvn the event we are unable to repay thoseotamgs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2013hilfiin of borrowing capacity was available for ettpurposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesthetr €i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOBRYs a margin (based on our
public debt credit ratings) ranging from 0.625 patcto 1.125 percent or (ii) a formula based orailpent bank's prime rate, the federal funds
effective rate or LIBOR plus a margin (based onmulic debt credit ratings) ranging from zero gertcto 0.125 percent. The credit agreemer
will terminate and all amounts owing thereundet bl due and payable on November 22, 2016, unéggsbé commitments are terminated
earlier, either at our request or, if an eventeafadlt occurs, by the lenders (or automaticallyhie case of certain bankruptcy-related events of
default), or (b) the maturity date is extended uponrequest, subject to the agreement of the lsndée credit agreement contains customary
representations, warranties, affirmative and nggatovenants, including a financial covenant, evefdefault and indemnification provisions
in favor of the banks. The negative covenants ohelestrictions regarding the incurrence of liesudhject to certain exceptions. The financial
covenant requires us to meet a quarterly finaneglwith respect to a minimum consolidated inteceserage ratio.

We were in compliance with all covenants in ourstaniding debt instruments for the period ended BDbee 31, 2013 .
Other Indebtedness

In addition to the debt described above, as of Béez 31, 2013 , we had $17 million of borrowingsstanding under our overdraft
facilities, notes payable of $12 million and cabliégase obligations of $5 million .

Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $15.5dnilthf unused credit was available to Bill Me Later@aatholders. While this amot
represents the total unused credit available, we hat experienced, and do not anticipate, thaifalur Bill Me Later accountholders will
access their entire available credit at any givaintgn time. In addition, the individual lines ofedit that make up this unused credit are sul
to periodic review and termination by the chartdimdncial institution that is the issuer of Bill&vLater credit products based on, among othe
things, account usage and customer creditworthivgben a consumer makes a purchase using a Billd#kr credit product, the chartered
financial institution extends credit to the consunfiends the extension of credit at the point dé sand advances funds to the merchant. We
subsequently purchase the consumer receivablaeddtathe consumer loans, and as result of thahpse, bear the risk of loss in the event o
loan defaults. In addition, we subsequently sg@ihgicipation interest in the entire pool of consuoans to the chartered financial institution
that extended the consumer loans. Although theeteat financial institution continues to own eaaktomer account, Bill Me Later is
responsible for all servicing functions relatedhe customer account balances. As of December®3R, 2he total outstanding balance of this
pool of consumer loans was $2.9 billion, of whibb thartered financial institution owns a partitipinterest of $65 million, or 2.25% of the
total outstanding balance of consumer receivalildsahdate.
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We have certain fixed contractual obligations aoghmitments that include future estimated paymesttg&éneral operating purposes.
Changes in our business needs, contractual caticelfovisions, fluctuating interest rates, andestfactors may result in actual payments
differing from the estimates. We cannot providdaiety regarding the timing and amounts of thesangnts. The following table summarizes
our fixed contractual obligations and commitments:

Debt/Capital Purchase
Payments Due During the Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases Obligations Total
(In millions)

2014 $ 104 % 11C % 7% 28¢
2015 94¢ 101 13 1,06:
2016 86 7€ 4 16€
2017 1,08¢ 59 4 1,14¢
2018 73 4C 4 117
Thereafter 3,08¢ 53 — 3,13¢
$ 538 % 43¢ % 10C $ 5,92

The significant assumptions used in our deternminadf amounts presented in the above table arellas/é:

« Debt and capital lease amounts include the jmah@nd interest amounts of the respective deditiments and the present value of
capital lease payments. For additional detailgedlto our debt, please see “Note 10 — Debt” tacthesolidated financial statements
included in this report. This table does not refkty amounts payable under our $3 billion revajvinedit facility or $2 billion
commercial paper program, for which no borrowingsewutstanding as of December 31, 2013.

« Lease amounts include minimum rental paymentéieuour non-cancelable operating leases for officdities, fulfillment centers,
as well as computer and office equipment that Wzetunder lease arrangements. The amounts pexbang consistent with
contractual terms and are not expected to diffgricantly from actual results under our existiegses, unless a substantial chang
in our headcount needs requires us to expand @upad space or exit an office facility early.

e Purchase obligation amounts include minimum pase commitments for advertising, capital expeneétcomputer equipment,
software applications, engineering developmentisesy construction contracts) and other goods andces entered into in the
ordinary course of business.

As we are unable to reasonably predict the timingettlement of liabilities related to unrecognize® benefits, net, the table does not
include $369 million of such non-current liabilgiencluded in deferred and other tax liabilitiesmeled on our consolidated balance sheet as
December 31, 2013 .

Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

At December 31, 2013, we had assets classifiedsts and cash equivalents, as well as short agetésm nonequity investments, in ¢
aggregate amount of $12.8 billion , compared ta%billion at December 31, 2012 . At December 31,2, this amount included assets held
in certain of our foreign operations totaling appneately $9.7 billion . If these assets were distted to the U.S., we may be subject to
additional U.S. taxes in certain circumstances.agtezely monitor all counterparties that hold thaseets, primarily focusing on the safety of
principal and secondarily improving yield on thessets. We diversify our cash and cash equivatentsnvestments among various
counterparties in order to reduce our exposureldrany one of these counterparties fail or encautiféiculties. To date, we have not
experienced any material loss or lack of accessitdnvested cash, cash equivalents or short-tewesitments; however, we can provide no
assurances that access to our invested cash, qaishalents or short-term investments will not bgauoted by adverse conditions in the
financial markets. At any point in time we havedsnn our operating accounts and customer accobatsare deposited with third party
financial institutions.

To the extent that our Bill Me Later products beeomore widely available through improved and mam@grehensive product
integrations with eBay, PayPal and other chanagid,asve further promote Bill Me Later products, we expagstomer adoption and usage
Bill Me Later products to expand. Any resulting gtb in the portfolio of Bill Me Later loan receivis would increase our liquidity needs and
any failure to meet those liquidity needs couldedely affect the Bill Me Later business. We cutigefund the expansion of the Bill Me Later
portfolio of loan receivables with borrowings ammhtkestic and international cash resources.

75




From time to time, we engage in certain intercomyptaansactions and legal entity restructurings. ddiesider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligninof our corporate structure with our organizagicobjectives and the operational and tax
efficiency of our corporate structure, as wellfas long-term cash flows and cash needs of ourrdiftdousinesses. These transactions may
impact our overall tax rate and/or result in additil cash tax payments. The impact in any periog lmessignificant. These transactions may
complex and the impact of such transactions orréuperiods may be difficult to estimate.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalshisit-term and long-term investments, togethén wash expected to be generated
from operations, borrowings available under ouditragreement and commercial paper program, andaeess to capital markets will be
sufficient to fund our operating activities, anpiated capital expenditures, Bill Me Later portfadibloan receivables and stock repurchases fo
the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2013 , we had no off-balancetsligangements that have, or are reasonably likdiave, a current or future
material effect on our consolidated financial cdiodi, results of operations, liquidity, capital exglitures or capital resources.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangemerntsaviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow
for cash withdrawals from this financial institutibased upon our aggregate operating cash balhaktks Europe within the same financial
institution (“Aggregate Cash Deposits”). These agements also allow us to withdraw amounts excegitie Aggregate Cash Deposits up to
an agreed-upon limit. The net balance of the wihdds and the Aggregate Cash Deposits are usdtelinancial institution as a basis for
calculating our net interest expense or incomeofABecember 31, 2013 , we had a total of $3.1dwilin cash withdrawals offsetting our $3.1
billion in Aggregate Cash Deposits held within #zene financial institution under these cash poaiimgngements.

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamadmercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRaztmates, PayPal holds customer
balances either as direct claims against PayPad an agent or custodian on behalf of PayPal'simess. Customer balances held by PayPal
an agent or custodian on behalf of our customersat reflected on our consolidated balance shégle customer balances held as direct
claims against PayPal are reflected on our coresglitibalance sheet.

In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the Diuvisaf Financial Institutions under the Californiag2etment of Business Oversight,
notified PayPal that PayPal's practice of holdmgfunds underlying U.S. customer balances as emtay behalf of its customers, rather than
as owner of those funds, meant that PayPal coulttemt those funds as liquid assets for purpob#égediquidity rules applicable to California
money transmitter licensees. Based on changes td.Qu PayPal user agreement effective Novemb2012, PayPal began holding U.S.
customer balances as direct claims against Pasd¥aér than as an agent or custodian on behaifalf BayPal customers. As a result, effeq
November 1, 2012, all U.S. PayPal customer balanwdaish were previously not reflected on our coitatkd balance sheet, have b
reflected as assets in our consolidated balanc sheler “Funds receivable and customer accountty’an associated liability under “Funds
payable and amounts due to customers.” Followirggdhange, PayPal now holds all customer balarm®h {n the U.S. and internationally) as
direct claims against PayPal.

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have in@duuheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with
which we have commercial relations, including aianslard marketing, promotions and application-paiogning-interface license agreements.
Under these contracts, we generally indemnify, haldnless and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by
indemnified party in connection with claims by &dhparty with respect to our domain names, tradésjdogos and other branding element
the extent that such marks are applicable to odfopeance under the subject agreement. In cermrswe have agreed to provide
indemnification for intellectual property infringemt. Our Enterprise business has provided in méitg major ecommerce agreements an
indemnity for other types of third-party claims, iafn are indemnities mainly related to various iletetual property rights, and we have
provided similar indemnities in a limited numberagfreements for our other businesses. In our PdyRaless, we have provided an indem
to our payment processors in the event of certaid-party claims or card association fines agdinstprocessor arising out of conduct by
PayPal or PayPal customers. PayPal has also pobaitimited indemnity to merchants using its repaiint of sale payment services and to
manufacturers of its point of sale devices (etge,RayPal Here devices and the Beacon devicejlditian, Bill Me Later has provided
indemnification provisions in its agreements wlie thartered financial institutions that issuerdit products. It is not possible to determine
the maximum potential loss under these
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indemnification provisions due to our limited histaf prior indemnification claims and the uniquefs and circumstances involved in each
particular provision. To date, losses recordeduinamnsolidated statement of income in connectigh @ur indemnification provisions have
not been material, either individually or colleetiy.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estinest
General

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets and related notes requires us to make judgirestimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue and expenses, and related disclosurenthgent assets and liabilities. We have base
our estimates on historical experience and on uaraiher assumptions that are believed to be rahtonnder the circumstances, the results «
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying values of assets and liabilities thatreoereadily apparent from other sources.
Our senior management has discussed the developsetadtion and disclosure of these estimatestivitAudit Committee of our Board of
Directors. Actual results may differ from theserestes under different assumptions or conditions.

An accounting policy is considered to be critidat requires an accounting estimate to be madedas assumptions about matters that
are highly uncertain at the time the estimate idenand if different estimates that reasonablyatalve been used, or changes in the
accounting estimates that are reasonably likebctaur periodically, could materially impact the solidated financial statements. We believe
the following critical accounting policies refleitte more significant estimates and assumptions s preparation of our consolidated
financial statements. The following descriptionsfical accounting policies, judgments and esteaahould be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related ravtdsother disclosures included in this report.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congistsarily of transaction loss expense associated air customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit lossesddlaidexpense associated with our accounts receibathnces and loan losses associated
with our loan receivables balances. We expect owrigion for transaction and loan loss expensduittidate depending on many factors,
including macroeconomic conditions, our custometgxtion programs and the impact of regulatory gean

The following table illustrates the provision foamsaction and loan losses as a percentage aévegiues for 2013, 2012 and 2011 :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions, except percentages)
Net revenues $ 16,047 $ 14,07 $ 11,65:
Provision for transaction and loan losses $ 791 % 58C $ 517
Provision for transaction and loan losses as a #iebfevenues 4.% 4.1% 4.4%

Determining appropriate allowances for these lossas inherently uncertain process and is sulbjectimerous estimates and
judgments, and ultimate losses may vary from theeot estimates. We regularly update our allowarstanates as new facts become kni
and events occur that may impact the settlemerdgamvery of losses. The allowances are maintaihedevel we deem appropriate to
adequately provide for losses incurred at the lwalameet date. An aggregate 50 basis point dewifiin our provision for transaction and
loan losses as a percentage of net revenues wauédrisulted in an increase or decrease in opgriattome of approximately $80 million in
2013, resulting in an approximate $0.04 chang#liied earnings per share.

Legal Contingencies

In connection with certain pending litigation arttieér claims, we have estimated the range of predakk, net of expected recoveries,
and provided for such losses through charges teansolidated statement of income. These estinhates been based on our assessment
facts and circumstances at each balance sheeamdi@re subject to change based upon new informatid future events.

From time to time, we are involved in disputes eegllatory inquiries that arise in the ordinary is@uof business. We are currently
involved in legal proceedings, some of which asedssed in “Iltem 1A: Risk Factors,” “Item 3: Le@abceedings” and “Note 11 -
Commitments and Contingencids’the consolidated financial statements incluatetthis report. We believe that we have meritoridefense:
to the claims against us, and we intend to defemdedves vigorously. However, even if successfut,defense against certain actions will be
costly and could require significant amounts of agament's
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time and result in the diversion of significant cggénal resources. If the plaintiffs were to priéea certain claims, we might be forced to pay
significant damages and licensing fees, modifylmuginess practices or even be prohibited from cativtlyia significant part of our business.
Any such results could materially harm our busireess could result in a material adverse impacherfinancial position, results of operations
or cash flows of any or all of our business segment

Accounting for Income Taxes

Our annual tax rate is based on our income, stattaa rates and tax planning opportunities avédab us in the various jurisdictions in
which we operate. Tax laws are complex and sultjedifferent interpretations by the taxpayer argpeztive government taxing authorities.
Significant judgment is required in determining ¢ax expense and in evaluating our tax positiamdutding evaluating uncertainties. We
review our tax positions quarterly and adjust takabces as new information becomes available. @amae tax rate is significantly affected by
the tax rates that apply to our foreign earningsaddition to local country tax laws and regulasioour income tax rate depends on the extent
that our earnings are indefinitely reinvested algghe U.S. Indefinite reinvestment is determingdnianagement's judgment about and
intentions concerning our future operations. At &aber 31, 2013, $14.0 billion of earnings had kirdsfinitely reinvested outside the U.S.,
primarily in active non-U.S. business operationg #é not intend to repatriate these earnings td tli$. operations and, accordingly, we do
not provide for U.S. federal income and foreignhiiitlding tax on these earnings.

Deferred tax assets represent amounts availalbéaltece income taxes payable on taxable incometimefyears. Such assets arise
because of temporary differences between the finhreporting and tax bases of assets and liadsliths well as from net operating loss anc
credit carryforwards. We evaluate the recoverabdftthese future tax deductions and credits bgssag the adequacy of future expected
taxable income from all sources, including revecdabxable temporary differences, forecasted dpgraarnings and available tax planning
strategies. These sources of income rely heavilgstimates that are based on a number of factmisiding our historical experience and shor
range and long-range business forecasts. At Deaedih@013 , we had a valuation allowance on aeftas carryforwards based on our
assessment that it is more likely than not thatiferred tax asset will not be realized.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positioasdordance with generally accepted accountingipiies in the U.S., or GAAP,
pursuant to which we only recognize the tax beriadin an uncertain tax position if it is more ligghan not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authoribasged on the technical merits of the position. thlxebenefits recognized in the financial
statements from such positions are then measusatilmn the largest benefit that has a greater3aercent likelihood of being realized uj
ultimate settlement. We report a liability for uoognized tax benefits resulting from uncertaingazitions taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. GAAP further requires that a changgidgment related to the expected ultimate resatutibuncertain tax positions be recognized
in earnings in the quarter in which such changeiscdNe recognize interest and penalties, if aghated to unrecognized tax benefits in
income tax expense.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yeanray elapse before an uncertain
position is audited by the relevant tax authoriéied finally resolved. While it is often difficuld predict the final outcome or the timing of
resolution of any particular uncertain tax positias@ believe that our reserves for income taxdeaethe most likely outcome. We adjust these
reserves, as well as the related interest, whemppate in light of changing facts and circumses Settlement of any particular position
could require the use of cash.

The following table illustrates our effective teates for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions, except percentages)
Provision for income taxes $ 61C $ 478 % 681
As a % of income before income taxes 18% 15% 17%

Our future effective tax rates could be adversélycted by earnings being lower than anticipatedanntries where we have lower
statutory rates and higher than anticipated in t@swhere we have higher statutory rates, by gbsim the valuation of our deferred tax
assets or liabilities, or by changes or interpretatin tax laws, regulations or accounting prifesp In addition, we are subject to the
continuous examination of our income tax returnghgylnternal Revenue Service, as well as varitate sind foreign tax authorities. We
regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcamggting from these examinations to determineatiequacy of our provision for income
taxes.
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Based on our results for the year ended Decemhe&?@B , a one-percentage point change in our gi@vifor income taxes as a
percentage of income before taxes would have egbuitan increase or decrease in the provisioppfaximately $35 million , resulting in an
approximate $0.03 change in diluted earnings paresh

Revenue Recognition

We may enter into certain revenue transactionmamily related to arrangements in our Enterpriggrant and certain advertising
contracts, that are considered multiple elememtngements (arrangements with more than one delileraVe also may enter into
arrangements to purchase goods and/or servicesciediain customers. As a result, significant intetg@tion and judgment is sometimes
required to determine the appropriate accountinghfese transactions including: (1) how the arramgy@ consideration should be allocated
among potential multiple deliverables; (2) devehgpan estimate of the stand-alone selling priceagh deliverable; (3) whether revenue
should be reported gross (as eBay is acting ameaial), or net (as eBay is acting as an ageAj)ivhen we provide cash consideration to our
customers, determining whether we are receivinglantifiable benefit that is separable from thetomer's purchase of our products and/or
services and for which we can reasonably estinzterélue; and (5) whether the arrangement wouldhagacterized as revenue or
reimbursement of costs incurred. Changes in judgsneith respect to these assumptions and estinatdd impact the timing or amount of
revenue recognition.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The purchase price of an acquired company is dkddaetween intangible assets and the net tangisiets of the acquired business \
the residual of the purchase price recorded aswitio@he determination of the value of the intalgi assets acquired involves certain
judgments and estimates. These judgments can mdud are not limited to, the cash flows that sseais expected to generate in the fu
and the appropriate weighted average cost of dapita

At December 31, 2013, our goodwill totaled $9.3dml and our identifiable intangible assets, nédled $941 million . We assess the
impairment of goodwill of our reporting units antlyaor more often if events or changes in circusmnses indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impantnat the reporting unit level by first performiagjualitative assessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the faituaof the reporting unit is less than its carryiredue. If the reporting unit does not pass the
gualitative assessment, then the reporting uratis/ing value is compared to its fair value. Thi Yalues of the reporting units are estimated
using market and discounted cash flow approac@emdwill is considered impaired if the carryingwalof the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value. The discounted cash flow approach usesctegbéuture operating results. Failure to achignese expected results may cause a future
impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Wenelucted our annual impairment test of goodwilbB8ugust 31, 2013 and 2012. As are
of this test, we determined that no adjustmeniiéoctarrying value of goodwill for any reporting tewas required. See “Note Goodwill anc
Intangible Assets” to the consolidated financiatetents included in this report. As of December2®1 3, we determined that no events or
circumstances from August 31, 2013 through DecerBbeP013 indicated that a further assessment eesssary.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize stock-based compensapense based on the fair value measurement fshaitk-based payment awards
made to our employees and directors, including eygd stock options, employee stock purchases atricted stock awards, over the service
period for awards expected to vest. Stock-basegeasation expense recognized for 2013 , 2012 abdl @as $609 million , $488 million
and $458 million , respectively. See “Note 15 -cBtBased and Employee Savings Plans” to the cateteldl financial statements included in
this report.
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We calculated the fair value of each restrictedlssoward based on our stock price on the dateasftgiVe calculated the fair value of
each stock option award on the date of grant usiadlack-Scholes option pricing model. The deteation of fair value of stock option
awards on the date of grant using an option-prianoglel is affected by our stock price as well auagptions regarding a number of additional
variables described below. The use of a Black-Ssholodel requires extensive actual employee excbeibavior data and a number of
assumptions, including expected life, expectedtilibja risk-free interest rate and dividend yiells a result, future stock-based compensatior
expense may differ from our historical amounts. Weighted-average grant-date fair value of stodioop granted during 2013 , 2012 and
2011 was $15.39, $11.21 and $9.87 per share,atdgglyg, using the Black-Scholes model with thddeling weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 0.€% 0.7% 1.2%
Expected life (in years) 4.1 4.C 3.8
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 34% 38% 38%

Our computation of expected volatility for 2013012 and 2011 was based on a combination of histaaind market-based implied
volatility from traded options on our stock. Oungoutation of expected life was determined baselistorical experience of similar awards,
giving consideration to the contractual terms ef skock-based awards, vesting schedules and ekipastaf future employee behavior. The
interest rate for periods within the contractutd bf the award was based on the U.S. Treasurd gigive in effect at the time of grant. The
estimation of awards that will ultimately vest regs judgment, and to the extent actual resultgoiated estimates differ from our current
estimates, such amounts will be recorded as a @ativelladjustment in the period estimates are rdvidée consider many factors when
estimating forfeitures, including employee clasd historical experience.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See "Note 1 - The Company and Summary of Signifiéeeounting Policies” to the consolidated finahsi@mtements included in this
report, regarding the impact of certain recent antiog pronouncements on our consolidated finarstakements.

ITEM 7A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Exposure

We have significant operations internationally theg denominated in foreign currencies, primatiy Euro, British pound, Korean won
and Australian dollar, subjecting us to foreignreacy risk which may adversely impact our financésults. We transact business in various
foreign currencies and have significant internatlaevenues as well as costs. In addition, we @hauy international subsidiaries for their use
of intellectual property and technology and fortagr corporate services provided by eBay and byPBhyOur cash flow, results of operations
and certain of our intercompany balances that gpesed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations mégrdinaterially from expectations and we
may record significant gains or losses due to fpreurrency fluctuations and related hedging atixii

We have a foreign exchange exposure managemengprdbat aims to identify material foreign curremoyposures, to manage these
exposures, and to reduce the potential effectsiméncy fluctuations on our reported consolidateshcflows and results of operations through
the purchase of foreign currency exchange contr@bisse foreign currency exchange contracts areuated for as derivative instruments. For
additional details related to our derivative ingtants, please see “Note 8 - Derivative Instrumetatshe consolidated financial statements
included in this report.
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Interest Rate Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same timermeng yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we rtaimour portfolio of cash equivalents and shontrt@nd long-term investments in a variety of
asset types, which may include bank deposits fioates of deposit, money market funds, governmends, and corporate debt securities. As
of December 31, 2013 , approximately 3@%our total cash and investment portfolio was heldash and cash equivalents. As such, chan
interest rates will impact interest income. As disged below, fixed rate securities may have tlagimfarket value adversely affected due to a
rise in interest rates, and we may suffer lossggintipal if we are forced to sell securities thave declined in market value due to changes il
interest rates. Additionally, changes in interesés will impact interest expense on borrowingseurmdir revolving credit facility, which bear
interest at floating rates, and the interest ratarmy commercial paper borrowings we make and grdabt securities we issue in the future
accordingly, will impact interest expense or cdstet revenues (or both).

As of December 31, 2013 , we held no direct investisi in auction rate securities, collateralizedt @déltigations, structured investment
vehicles or mortgage-backed securities. For aduitidetails related to our investment activitideape see "Note 6 - Investments" to the
consolidated financial statements included in taort.

Investments in both fixed-rate and floating-rateiast-earning instruments carry varying degreéstefest rate risk. The fair market
value of our fixed-rate investment securities mayalversely impacted due to a rise in interessraegeneral, fixedate securities with long
maturities are subject to greater interest-ratethian those with shorter maturities. While flogtiate securities generally are subject to less
interest-rate risk than fixed-rate securities, tilogrrate securities may produce less income thgedated if interest rates decrease and may als
suffer a decline in market value if interest ratesease. Due in part to these factors, our investrimcome may fall short of expectations or
may suffer losses in principal if securities arllgbat have declined in market value due to chamgénterest rates. As of December 31, 2013
the balance of our government bond and corpordies#eurity portfolio was $8.3 billion , which reggented approximately 59% of our total
cash and investment portfolio. As of December 31,3, our government bond and corporate debt dgquoitfolio earned an average pretax
yield of approximateh1.27% , with a weighted average maturity of 21 rhentf interest rates at the end of the year wéfetasis points
higher (lower), the fair market value of our tdiskd-income investment portfolio as of December&113 could have decreased (increased)
by approximately $113 million .

Investment Risk

As of December 31, 2013, our cost and equity neetheestments totaled $269 million , which représdrapproximately 2%f our tota
cash and investment portfolio and were primarilater] to equity method investments in privatelydr@dmpanies. We review our investments
for impairment when events and circumstances ineliaalecline in fair value of such assets belowyoag value is other-than-temporary. Our
analysis includes a review of recent operatingltesund trends, recent sales/acquisitions of thargees in which we have invested and other
publicly available data. During 2013, we did natarl any material impairment on our cost or equigthod investments.

Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to equity price risk on marketapigte instruments due to market volatility. At Dadeer 31, 2013 , the total fair value
of our marketable equity instruments (primarilyateld to our equity holdings in MercadoLibre) wa83#nillion , which represented
approximately 6% of our total cash and investmemtfplio.

European Debt Exposures
We actively monitor our exposure to the Europearkets, including the impact of sovereign debt issagsociated with Greece, Irela
Portugal, Italy and Spain. As of December 31, 204/8 did not have any direct investments in theesgign debt, of these countries or in debt

securities issued by corporations or financialiinsons organized in these countries. We maingagmall number of operating bank accounts
with Spanish, Italian and Portuguese banks that halances that we do not consider material.
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ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and accompgmptes listed in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1) of thienual Report on Form 10-K are
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur&ased on the evaluation of our disclosure contant procedures (as defined in the
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the SecuHtiesange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act) requingdExchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) or
15d-15(b), our principal executive officer and guincipal financial officer have concluded thatedishe end of the period covered by this
report, our disclosure controls and procedures wHeetive.

Changes in internal controlsThere were no changes in our internal controls Gimancial reporting as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f) that occurred during our most rdlgectimpleted fiscal quarter that have materialfigetied, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingaareporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovieancial Reporting.Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Our management, including our printigeecutive officer and principal financi
officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiv@nef our internal control over financial reportio@sed on the framework internal Control -
Integrated Framework (199issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission. Based on its evaloatio
under the framework imternal Control - Integrated Framewotkour management concluded that our internal cbotrer financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2013 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears in li&ga) of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNRXCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to lbedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(3.3 .

Code of Ethics, Governance Guidelines and Committearters

We have adopted@ode of Business Conduct and Ethitat applies to all eBay employees and directors.Have also adoptedGode o
Ethics for Senior Financial Officethat applies to our senior financial officers, umtihg our principal executive officer, principahéincial
officer and principal accounting officer. Ti®de of Ethics for Senior Financial Officassincluded in ouCode of Business Conduct and
Ethicsposted on our website http://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.ctiife will post any amendments to or waivers fromGlogle of Ethic
for Senior Financial Officerat that location.

We have also adoptd&slovernance Guidelines for the Board of Directarsl a written committee charter for each of ourifud
Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporatefdavnce and Nominating Committee. Each of thesardents is available on our
website ahttp://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.cfm.

ITEM 11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfi@mbur 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihe&@(3 3 .

Annual stock option grants awarded to executivespaiced and granted to executives on the sameaddtat the same price that they are

granted to and priced for the rest of our eligéneployees and have the same four-year vesting slehed@ihese annual stock option grants are
awarded on April 1 (or if April 1 is not a tradimigy, the next trading day with vesting
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effective as of April 1). Prior to 2012, these $toption grants have been awarded on March 1 df gaar (or if March 1 was not a trading ¢
the next trading day with vesting effective as adrivh 1).

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to lbedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(3 3 .

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenf@mbur 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to tedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihe2(3 3 .

ITEM 14: PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to bedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(3.3 .
PART IV

Item 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Page
Number
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm E1
Consolidated Balance Sheet E-2
Consolidated Statement of Income E-3
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Incoe F-4
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity E5
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements E-8
2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts E-43

All other schedules have been omitted becausenthamation required to be set forth therein is aygplicable or is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.




3. Exhibits.

Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
2.01*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemd@09, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RegjstBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Springbd Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Il Cayman DS IV HoldingsaS.l.)
2.02* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@ctaber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 200¢
by and among Registrant, eBay International AG dsibiriolding,
A.S. and Springboard Group S.a.r.l. (formerly SURCRyman DS
IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.03** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 28d1ng 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
Registrant, Gibraltar Acquisition Corp. and GSI Goerce, Inc.
3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate afrjoration. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's ComrStock. S-1 333569097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee.
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Bétleen 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associgtas trustee.
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Sétute due 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020.
4.05 Forms of 0.70% Note due 2015, 1.35% Note due 2D5D% Note 8-K 00024821 7/24/201z
due 2022 and 4.00% Note due 2042.
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Genven Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June@¥] o the 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Gencen Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
4.08 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registmwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+  Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.
10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@$81Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢

Incentive Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed

10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrari%38 Equity
Incentive Plan.

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employed Siarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+  Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,rasraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+  Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planam&nded. 10-Q 00024821 7127/2007

10.09+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrard%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+ Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under RegistrafiG12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+  Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as a®én 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+ Amendment to Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Blaih, effective 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
April 2, 2012.

10.15+  Form of Director Award Agreement under RegistraR@63 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.16+  Form of Electing Director Award Agreement under Regnt's 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.17+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Registsa2003 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.18+  Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restricteac8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement.

10.19+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, mgladed and DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
restated.

10.20+  Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiweard Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.21+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (&®itformance- 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss 2003
Deferred Stock Unit Plan, Registrant's 2008 Eglritentive Award
Plan and GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentiaa P

10.22+ 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z

FAavima Af NAantviatad Cranl, L kit Avaiavd A nvAannaant HakiflaAifiAA



10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

Vesting) under Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiveard Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrari@32Equity 10-Q
Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement (with Modified Vest) under 10-Q
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde 10-Q
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
10.26+  Form of Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreerhander 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.27+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrét@338 Equity
Incentive Award Plan.
10.28+  eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201(
10.29+  Amendment to eBay Incentive Plan, effective AprikR12. 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
10.30+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/2007
10.31+ Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben John 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Donahoe and Registrant.
10.32+  Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betwebrrRSwan 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢
and Registrant.
10.33+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity IncenENen. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.34+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 t¥dacentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.35+  Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity InacenRlan, 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
effective April 2, 2012.
10.36+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement un@&i 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Commerce, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.37+  GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Team Incentive Afded as
Appendix B to GSI Commerce, Inc.'s Definitive Prd&tatement on
Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April 2808 and
incorporated herein by reference).
10.38+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Teamniie 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.39+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under GSI Commdrae 2010
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.40+ eBay Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
10.41+  Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Clplso Saridakis 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
and Registrant.
10.42+ Amended and Restated Performance Award Agreeméed da of 10-Q 00024821 4/20/201z
March 28, 2012 between the Registrant and Chrigtoharidakis.
10.43+  Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 2, 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011
2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.
10.44+ NEHFAv lAatbAav AAatAad MMavalh 79N Y9N AnA AvvAATitAA AanAlION YN 8'K OOC'24821 4/2/2012



10.45

between Registrant and David Marcus

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 201Bngyamong
Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Admatise Agent,
and the other parties thereto.
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Filed with

Incorporated by

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Reference
Form File No. Date Filed
10.46 First Amendment, dated as of March 4, 2013, taGheit 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201z
Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2011, by arahgm
Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Admatise Agent,
and the other parties thereto.
10.47+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Regisfsa2008 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.48+  Form of Director Annual Award Agreement under Ragist's 200€ 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201z
Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.49+  Form of Electing Director Quarterly Award Agreemeinider 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201z
Registrant’s 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.50+  Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Registrant’s 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
12.01 Statement regarding computation of ratio of eammitagfixed
charges. X
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offic as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#ic¢ as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offic as required by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Ofi¢ as required by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docune X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim X



++

*%

Indicates a management contract or compensatomyoplarrangeme

Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddikea separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

The annexes and schedules to the Share Purchasem@nt have been omitted from this filing pursuartem 601(b)(2) of Regulation
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe®or schedules to the Securities and Exchanger@sion upon request.

The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement andd?I&erger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. The Registrant will furnish copasany annexes or schedules to the Securities addaBge Commission upon request.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of elBay

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{g)(&sent fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of eBay Inc. and its subsidiareg December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 han@ésults of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the pezitded December 31, 2013 in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. In addition, in our opimi the financial statement schedule listed initldex appearing under item 15(a)(2) prese
fairly, in all material respects, the informaticet $orth therein when read in conjunction with th&ated consolidated financial statements. Alsc
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2013
based on criteria establishedimernal Control - Integrated Framewo(992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgditns of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's managamessponsible for these financial statementsfanahcial statement schedule, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effectdss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management's Report on l@kControl over Financial Reporting appearing uritlem 9A. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statementtefinancial statement schedule, and on the Coy'paternal control over financial
reporting based on our integrated audits. We caedusur audits in accordance with the standardseoPublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisinethat we plan and perform the audits to obta&rsonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatgrand whether effective internal control overfinial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financialestegnts included examining, on a test basis, evasuapporting the amounts and disclosures ir
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dyagement, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit ofrimaécontrol over financial reporting included dbtag an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evafy#tie design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qditsaaiso included performing such other procedasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
January 31, 2014
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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ltem 1: Financial Statement:

eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
(In millions, except par value amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,49 % 6,817
Short-term investments 4,531 2,591
Accounts receivable, net 89¢ 82z
Loans and interest receivable, net 2,78¢ 2,16(
Funds receivable and customer accounts 9,26( 8,09«
Other current assets 1,31(C 914
Total current assets 23,28: 21,39¢
Long-term investments 4,971 3,04«
Property and equipment, net 2,76( 2,491
Goodwill 9,26 8,53
Intangible assets, net 941 1,12¢
Other assets 26¢€ 47¢€
Total assets $ 41,48¢ % 37,07

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 6 $ 413
Accounts payable 30¢ 301
Funds payable and amounts due to customers 9,26( 8,09
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2,79¢ 1,91¢
Deferred revenue 15¢ 137
Income taxes payable 107 63

Total current liabilities 12,63¢ 10,92

Deferred and other tax liabilities, net 841 972
Long-term debt 4,117 4,10¢
Other liabilities 244 207
Total liabilities 17,84: 16,20¢

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 3,580 shares dméthrl,294 and 1,294 shares outstanding 2 2
Additional paid-in capital 13,03: 12,06:
Treasury stock at cost, 296 and 271 shares (9,396 (8,059
Retained earnings 18,85 15,99¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,15¢ 85¢€
Total stockholders' equity 23,64’ 20,86"

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 41,48t $ 37,07+

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Net revenues
Cost of net revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Provision for transaction and loan losses
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest and other, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic

Diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In millions, except per share amounts)
16,047 $ 14,07: $ 11,65:
5,03¢ 4,21¢€ 3,461
11,01 9,85¢ 8,191
3,06( 2,91: 2,43t
1,76¢ 1,57 1,23t
1,70 1,567 1,36¢
791 58( 517
31¢€ 33t 267
7,64( 6,96¢ 5,81¢
3,371 2,88¢ 2,37:
95 19¢ 1,53
3,46¢ 3,08¢ 3,91(C
(610) (47%) (681)
2,85¢ $ 2,60¢ $ 3,22¢
220 % 20z % 2.5C
21¢ $ 1.9¢ $ 2.4€
1,29¢ 1,292 1,29:
1,31 1,31 1,31

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.




eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)

Net income $ 2,856 $ 260¢ $ @ 3,22¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of recliasgibn adjustments:

Foreign currency translation 20¢ 337 (280)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net 234 99 57

Tax (expense) benefit on unrealized gains (losze#vestments, net (93 (6) (35

Unrealized gains (losses) on hedging activities, ne (52) (127) 58

Tax (expense) benefit on unrealized gains (losme$)edging activities, net 2 4 Q)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net tax 30C 307 (201)
Comprehensive income $ 315 § 291€ § 3,02

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.




eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In millions)
Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year $ 2 3 2 3 2
Common stock issued — — —
Common stock repurchased/forfeited — — —

Balance, end of year 2 2 2
Additional paid-in-capital:
Balance, beginning of year 12,06: 11,14¢ 10,48:
Common stock and stock-based awards issued anchedsu 17¢ 31z 13C
Stock-based compensation 572 48¢ 45¢
Stock-based awards tax impact 224 117 44
Non-controlling interests — — 32
Balance, end of year 13,03: 12,06: 11,14¢
Treasury stock at cost:
Balance, beginning of year (8,059 (7,155 (6,097
Common stock repurchased (1,349 (89¢) (1,069
Balance, end of year (9,39¢) (8,057%) (7,155
Retained earnings:
Balance, beginning of year 15,99¢ 13,38¢ 10,16(
Net income 2,85¢ 2,60¢ 3,22¢
Balance, end of year 18,85« 15,99¢ 13,38¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance, beginning of year 85¢€ 54¢ 75C
Change in unrealized gains on investments 234 99 57
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on cash flalgde (52) (127) 58
Foreign currency translation adjustment 20¢ 33t (280)
Tax benefit (provision) on above items (92) — (36)
Balance, end of year 1,15¢ 85¢€ 54¢
Total stockholders' equity $ 23,647 % 20,86 % 17,93(

Number of Shares:
Common stock:

Balance, beginning of year 1,29¢ 1,28¢ 1,29¢
Common stock issued 25 30 22
Common stock repurchased/forfeited (25) (22 (34)

Balance, end of year 1,29¢ 1,29¢ 1,28¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In millions)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 2,85¢ $ 2,60¢ $ 3,22¢

Adjustments:

Provision for transaction and loan losses 791 58( 517
Depreciation and amortization 1,40( 1,20( 94(
Stock-based compensation 60¢ 48¢ 45¢
Deferred income taxes (31) (3%) 17
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (207) (130) (80)
Gain on sale of Skype — — (1,669
Gain on sale of equity investments (75) — —
(Gain) loss on divestiture of businesses — (11¢) 257
Gain on acquisitions — — 79)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisigffects

Accounts receivable (123) (207) (292)

Other current assets (37¢) (310 1€

Other non-current assets (10¢) (9€) (1¢)

Accounts payable 7 (1€) 2¢

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3 (164) (202)

Deferred revenue 2C 28 1z

Income taxes payable and other tax liabilities 231 9 132

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,99t 3,83¢ 3,27¢
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (1,250 (1,259 (969)

Changes in principal loans receivable, net (794) (727) (587)

Purchases of investments (7,50%) (3,129 (2,290

Maturities and sales of investments 3,94¢ 1,421 1,59¢

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (869) (149) (3,229

Repayment of note receivable and sale of relataiyemvestments 48t — —

Proceeds from divested business, net of cash didpos — 144 —

Proceeds from the sale of Skype — — 2,26¢

Other (22) (73) (109)

Net cash used in investing activities (6,017) (3,769 (3,307
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 437 48: 247

Repurchases of common stock (1,349 (89¢) (1,069

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 201 13C 8C

Tax withholdings related to net share settlemehtssiricted stock awards and units (267) (18€) (147

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net — 2,97¢ —

Net (repayments) and borrowings under commercig¢pprogram — (550 25C

Repayment of debt (400) — (199

Funds receivable and customer accounts, net (1,149 (4,12¢) (1,369

Funds payable and amounts due to customers, net 1,14¢ 4,12¢ 1,36¢

Other 18 (4) —

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,359 1,951 (83¢)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatnts 48 10C (1%

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (2,329 2,12¢ (88€)



Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 6,817 4,691 5,577




Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock options assumed pursuant to acquisitio

Note receivable from divested business

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company and Summary of Significant Aaunting Policies
The Company

We are a global technology company that enablesremge through three reportable segments: Markegpldgayments and Enterprise.
Our Marketplaces segment includes our eBay.confiophatand its localized counterparts and our othine trading platforms, such as our
online classifieds sites and StubHub. Our Payrmssgsnent is comprised of PayPal and Bill Me Laten: Enterprise segment, which we
previously referred to as our GSI segment, consis®S|I Commerce, Inc. ("GSI"), which we acquiredlie second quarter of 2011. The
results of our Enterprise segment have been indlideur consolidated results of operations fromahquisition date.

We are required to comply with various regulatisrsidwide in order to operate our businesses, @agily our Payments business. We
also partner with banks and other financial intts in order to offer our Payments services dglgb&hanges in regulations, non-compliance
with regulations or loss of key bank or financi@titution partners could have a significant adeénspact on our ability to operate our
Payments business; therefore, we monitor theses atesely to mitigate potential adverse impacts.

When we refer to “we,” “our,” “us” or “eBay” in teidocument, we mean the current Delaware corpor&iBay Inc.) and its California
predecessor, as well as all of our consolidatedidigries.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acamgprinciples (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenetttae reported amounts of assets and liakslgied disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahsitatements and the reported amounts of reveameeexpenses during the reporting period. Ol
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, imgutiose related to provisions for transaction laadh losses, legal contingencies, income
taxes, revenue recognition, stock-based compemnsatmdwill and the recoverability of intangiblesats. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions thaselieve to be reasonable under the circumstaatsgal results could differ from those
estimates.

Principles of consolidation and basis of presentati

The accompanying financial statements are congetidand include the financial statements of eBay, lour wholly and majority-owned
subsidiaries and variable interest entities ("VIEWe are the primary beneficiary. All intercompapalances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. Minority interests aeeorded as a honcontrolling interest. A qualfapproach is applied to assess the
consolidation requirement for VIEs. Investmentgitities where we hold at least a 20% ownershgrést and have the ability to exercise
significant influence, but not control, over theéstee are accounted for using the equity methegadunting. For such investments, our shar
of the investees' results of operations is includddterest and other, net and our investmentrizaas included in long-term investments.
Investments in entities where we hold less thafi% Bwnership interest are generally accounted $orguthe cost method of accounting, and
our share of the investees' results of operatwitsciuded in our consolidated statement of inceonte extent dividends are received.

We have evaluated all subsequent events througthatieethe financial statements were issued.
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Revenue recognition

Our Marketplaces segment generates net transaetienues primarily from listing and final value $geaid by sellers. Listing fee
revenues are recognized ratably over the estingEadd of the listing, while revenues related twfivalue fees are recognized at the time tha
the transaction is successfully closed. An audtiansaction is considered successfully closed vettiégast one buyer has bid above the seller'
specified minimum price or reserve price, whichesgdrigher, at the end of the transaction term.

Our Payments segment earns net transaction revenoewily from processing transactions for custmn&evenues resulting from a
payment processing transaction are recognized thecansaction is completed.

Our Enterprise segment generates net transactienmues primarily from providing ecommerce techn@egorder processing,
fulfillment and customer care services to its diienThe revenues can be fixed or variable anthased on the activity performed and/or the
value of merchandise sold. Revenues are recogagéue underlying activity is performed or upoipstent of the underlying merchandise.

Our marketing services revenues, included in afilofsegments, are derived principally from the sdladvertisements, revenue sharing
arrangements, classifieds fees, marketing sereieg &nd lead referral fees. Our advertising reveatederived principally from the sale of
online advertisements. The duration of our adviadisontracts has ranged from one week to fivesjdaut is generally one week to one year.
Advertising revenues on contracts are recogniz€amgwessions” (i.e., the number of times that dueatisement appears in pages viewed by
users of our websites) are delivered, or as “cli(kich are generated each time users on our webslick through our text-based
advertisements to an advertiser's designated weglas provided to advertisers. For contracts withimum monthly or quarterly advertising
commitments where the fee and commitments are fixexighout the term, we recognize revenue ratabdy the term of the agreement. Sc
of our advertising contracts consist of multiplereents which generally include a blend of varignpriessions and clicks as well as other
marketing deliverables. Where neither vendor-speolfjective evidence nor third-party evidencealfisg price exists, we use management's
best estimate of selling price (BESP) to allocataragement consideration on a relative basis th element. BESP is generally based on the
selling prices of the various elements when theysatd to customers of a similar nature and gedyrap a stand-alone basis or estimated
stand-alone pricing when the element has not pusiydoeen sold on a stand-alone basis. These ¢etirage generally based on pricing
strategies, market factors and strategic objectiResenues related to revenue sharing arrangermentecognized based on revenue reports
received from our partners, provided that colleititytlis reasonably assured. Revenues relatedds fer listing items on our classified webs
are recognized over the estimated period of thesiflad listing. Lead referral fee revenue is gatext from lead referral fees based on the
number of times a user clicks through to a merchavebsite from our websites. Lead referral feesecognized in the period in which the
user clicks through to the merchant's website.

Our other revenues are derived principally fromtcaetual arrangements with third parties that pieervices to our users and interest
and fees earned on the Bill Me Later portfolioadn receivables. Revenues from contractual arraegemwith third parties are recognized as
the contracted services are delivered to end useesest and fees earned on the Bill Me Laterfpbot of loan receivables are computed and
recognized based on contractual interest and fes,rand are net of any required reserves and &atdwh of deferred origination costs.

To drive traffic to our websites, we provide indeas to our users in the form of coupons and bayer seller rewards. These incentives
are generally treated as reductions in revenue.

Internal use software and website development costs

Direct costs incurred to develop software for intgiuse and website development costs are capitiatind amortized over an estimated
useful life of one to five years. During the yearsled December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , we dapdatosts, primarily related to labor and
stock-based compensation, of $299 million , $28ioniand $212 million , respectively. Amortizatiaf previously capitalized amounts was
$228 million , $184 million and $166 million for 28 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. Costs relatedealesign or maintenance of internal use
software and website development are expensedaséal.
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Advertising expense

We expense the costs of producing advertisemeiite dime production occurs and expense the casbrmimunicating advertisements in
the period during which the advertising space dima¢ is used, in each case as sales and marletpanse. Internet advertising expenses are
recognized based on the terms of the individuadexgents, which are generally over the greatereofatio of the number of impressions
delivered over the total number of contracted irapi@ns, on a pay-per-click basis, or on a strdigbtbasis over the term of the contract.
Advertising expense totaled $1.0 billion , $1.1ibil and $977 million for the years ended Decen8igr2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Stock-based compensation

We have equity incentive plans under which we geapiity awards, including stock options, restricseatk units, performance-based
restricted stock units, performance share unitsramyested shares, to our directors, officers ampl@yees. We primarily issue restricted st
units. We determine compensation expense associgfedestricted stock units based on the fair gadfiour common stock on the date of
grant. We determine compensation expense assoevitedtock options based on the estimated gratet fdé value method using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. We generally recognizepmsation expense using a straight-line amortizatiethod over the respective vesting
period for awards that are ultimately expecteddstvAccordingly, stock-based compensation expfns2013 , 2012 and 2011 has been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. When estimafiamfgitures, we consider voluntary termination babes as well as trends of actual option
forfeitures. We recognize a benefit from stdised compensation in equity to the extent tha@emental tax benefit is realized by followi
the ordering provisions of the tax law. In additire account for the indirect effects of stock-ltasempensation on the research tax credit ar
the foreign tax credit through our consolidatedesteent of income.

Provision for transaction losses

We are exposed to losses due to payment card hadmayment misuse, as well as non-performancadteedit losses from sellers.
Provisions for these items represent our estimiadetoal losses based on our historical experianceactuarial techniques, as well as econ
conditions. Provision for transaction losses inekiéayPal's transaction loss expense as well ssslossulting from our customer protection
programs on and off our platforms.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniitijadpproach, which requires the recognition aes payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and ask®tthe future tax consequences of events that haen recognized in our financial statement
or tax returns. The measurement of current andhefeax assets and liabilities is based on promsbf enacted tax laws; the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipafetedessary, the measurement of deferred tax d@ssetduced by the amount of any tax ben:
that are not expected to be realized based oradaibvidence.

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benef#sulting from uncertain tax positions taken goexted to be taken in a tax return. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, relabegihtrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highlydiinvestments with original maturities of thmeenths or less when purchased and
are mainly comprised of bank deposits, certificatedeposit, money market funds and commercial pape

Allowance for doubtful accounts and authorized ciiexl

We record our allowance for doubtful accounts bagsmh our assessment of various factors. We conkigirical experience, the age
the accounts receivable balances, credit qualiuofcustomers, current economic conditions andrdtctors that may affect our customers'
ability to pay. The allowance for doubtful accouatsl authorized credits was $106 million and $88ioniat December 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.
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Loans and interest receivable, net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchasezlimer receivables arising from loans made bytagrachartered financial institutic
to individual consumers in the U.S. to purchasedgand services through our Bill Me Later mercheattvork. The terms of the consumer
relationship require us to submit monthly billshe consumer detailing loan repayment requirem@aihs.terms also allow us to charge the
consumer interest and fees in certain circumstamas to the relatively small dollar amount of widual loans and interest receivable, we do
not require collateral on these balances.

As part of the arrangement with the partner chaddéinancial institution in 2013, we sell a pagt@iion interest in the entire pool of
consumer receivables outstanding to the same fialainstitution. We apply a control-oriented, fir@al-components approach and account
the asset transfer as a sale and derecognize tti@npaf participation interest for which contrahdibeen surrendered. We do not recognize a
gains or losses on the sale of the participatitey@st as the carrying amount of the participaitimgrest sold approximates the fair value at tim
of transfer. Participating interest that is re¢girare included in loans and interest receivahbiease accounted for at amortized cost, net of an
allowance for loan losses. We maintain the semgicights for the entire pool of consumer receiealdutstanding and receive a fee
approximating fair value for servicing the assetderlying the participating interest sold.

Allowance for loans and interest receivable

The allowance for loans and interest receivableasgmts management's estimate of probable logdseent in our Bill Me Later portfoli
of loan receivables. The provision related to thiegipal is included in provision for transactiondaloan losses and the provision related to the
interest is recorded as a reduction of marketimgiees and other revenue. The allowance includebaiie losses which are considered to t
one segment and one class. Management's evalwdfwobable losses is subject to judgments and nouseestimates, including forecasted
principal balance delinquency rates ("roll rateR9ll rates are the percentage of balances thastimate will migrate from one stage of
delinquency to the next based on our historicabegpce, as well as external factors such as esihimnkruptcies and levels of
unemployment. The roll rates are applied to priacgnd interest balances for each stage of delimyydrom current to 180 days past due, in
order to estimate the loans and interest receivthbleare probable to be charged off by the ertBofdays.

We charge off loans and interest receivable imtbath in which the customer balance becomes 188 piast due. Bankrupt accounts are
charged off within 6@lays of receiving notification of customer bankayptrom the courts. Past due loans receivable ooatio accrue intere
until such time as they are charged-off.

Funds receivable and funds payable

Funds receivable and funds payable relate primtyigur Payments segment and arise due to thetdimlear transactions through
external payment networks. When customers fund #esiount using their bank account or credit cardyithdraw money to their bank acco
or through a debit card transaction, there is arilg period before the cash is received or settledally one to three business days for
U.S. transactions, and generally up to five busirdesy/s for international transactions.

Customer accounts and amounts due to customers

Customer accounts and amounts due to customets pelmarily to our Payments segment and basedffarehces in regulatory
requirements and commercial law in the jurisdiciarnere PayPal operates, PayPal holds customerdesl@ither as direct claims against
PayPal or as an agent or custodian on behalf dP@®aycustomers. Customer balances held by PagRal agent or custodian on behalf of its
customers are not reflected on our consolidateahioal sheet, while customer balances held as dianois against PayPal are reflected on our
consolidated balance sheet as a liability clagbdi® amounts due to customers. At December 31, 2042013, PayPal held all customer
balances (both in the U.S. and internationallyjlieect claims against PayPal. Further, variousdlictions where PayPal operates requires
hold eligible liquid assets, as defined by the tatuis in these jurisdictions, equal to at lea€i9%0f the aggregate amount of all customer
balances. Therefore, we use the assets underlyénguistomer balances to meet these regulatoryrezgents and separately classify the asset
as customer accounts in our consolidated balarestshWe do not commingle the assets underlyingub®amer balances with corporate fu
and separately maintain these assets in interdst@minterest bearing bank deposits, time depasiisgovernment and agency securities witt
maturity dates of less than one year.
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Investments

Short-term investments, which may include marketagjuity securities, time deposits, certificatedegiosit, government bonds and
corporate debt securities with original maturitégreater than three months but less than onewkan purchased, are classified as available
for-sale and are reported at fair value using ffreziic identification method. Unrealized gains doskes are excluded from earnings and
reported as a component of other comprehensiveriadtoss), net of related estimated tax provisimmisenefits.

Long-term investments may include marketable gavemt bonds and corporate debt securities, timedispaertificates of deposit and
cost and equity method investments. Debt secuatieslassified as available-for-sale and are tedat fair value using the specific
identification method. Unrealized gains and lossesur available-fosale investments are excluded from earnings arattegpas a compone
of other comprehensive income (loss), net of rdlasimated tax provisions or benefits.

Certain time deposits are classified as held taritgtand recorded at amortized cost. Our equittho@ investments are investments in
privately held companies. Our consolidated resafligperations include, as a component of intenedtather, net, our share of the net incon
loss of the equity method investments. Our shaiewastees' results of operations is not signifiéanany period presented. Our cost method
investments consist of investments in privateldhmimpanies and are recorded at cost. Amountsveztfiiom our cost method investees were
not material to any period presented.

We assess whether an other-than-temporary impaido&non our investments has occurred due tortein fair value or other market
conditions. With respect to our debt securitieis #ssessment takes into account the severity amradiah of the decline in value, our intent to
sell the security, whether it is more likely thaot that we will be required to sell the securitydve recovery of its amortized cost basis, and
whether we expect to recover the entire amortizes lsasis of the security (that is, whether a ¢tleds exists). We did not recognize an other-
than-temporary impairment loss on our investmem20il3 , 2012 , or 2011 .

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicdlless accumulated depreciation. Depreciation mspded using the straighte methoc
over the estimated useful lives of the assets,rgéineone to three years for computer equipmendtsoftware, up to thirty years for buildings
and building improvements, ten years for aviatignipment, the shorter of five years or the terntheflease for leasehold improvements and
three years for furniture, fixtures and vehicles.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a minimum aenamnual basis. Goodwill is tested for impairmdrtha reporting unit level by first
performing a qualitative assessment to determinetivgn it is more likely than not that the fair valof the reporting unit is less than its carn
value. If the reporting unit does not pass thditpive assessment, then the reporting unit'syagagrvalue is compared to its fair value. The
fair values of the reporting units are estimatddgisnarket and discounted cash flow approached®ill is considered impaired if the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its¥alue. The discounted cash flow approach ugpeated future operating results. Failure to
achieve these expected results may cause a fatpagriment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Wendocted our annual impairment test of
goodwill as of August 31, 2013 and 2012. As altesuhis test we determined that no adjustment to the carryirgevaf goodwill for any
reporting units was required.

Intangible assets consist of purchased custonterdisl user base, trademarks and trade namesppesig¢bchnologies and other
intangible assets, including patents and contrheigreements. Intangible assets are amortizedtbegueriod of estimated benefit using the
straight-line method and estimated useful livegiag from one to eight years. No significant residealue is estimated for intangible assets.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate long-lived assets (including intangdseets) for impairment whenever events or chainmggscumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not loeverable. An asset is considered impaired ifarsying amount exceeds the undiscounted
future net cash flow the asset is expected to géaein 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , no impairment wasdo
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Foreign currency

Most of our foreign subsidiaries use the local ency of their respective countries as their fumalaurrency. Assets and liabilities are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at thenbalaheet dates. Revenues, costs and expensematated into U.S. dollars using daily
exchange rates if the transaction is recorded iraocounting systems on a daily basis, and otherusing average exchange rates for the
period. Gains and losses resulting from the traioslaf our consolidated balance sheet are recoadealcomponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactmasecognized as interest and other, net.

Derivative instruments

We have significant international revenues as agltosts denominated in foreign currencies, subgeas to foreign currency risk. We
enter into foreign currency exchange contractsqbatify as cash flow hedges, generally with méiesiof 18 months or less, to reduce the
volatility of cash flows related primarily to forasted revenue and intercompany transactions deatadiin certain foreign currencies. All
outstanding derivatives are recognized on the loalaheet at fair value. The effective portion &f tlesignated derivative's gain or loss is
initially reported as a component of accumulatdgeptomprehensive income and is subsequently sgfitasinto the financial statement line
item in which the hedged item is recorded in thees@eriod the forecasted transaction affects egsnin

We also economically hedge our exposure to foreignency denominated monetary assets and liabilitigh foreign currency contrac
The gains and losses on the foreign exchange atsigaonomically offset transaction gains and essecertain foreign currency denomine
monetary assets and liabilities recognized in egiAccordingly, these outstanding non-designdezivatives are recognized on the balance
sheet at fair value and changes in fair value ftio@se contracts are recorded in interest and atbéin the consolidated statement of income.
Our derivatives program is not designed or operfiedpeculative purposes.

Our derivative instruments expose us to credittisthe extent that our counterparties may be wnimbimeet the terms of the agreements
We seek to mitigate this risk by limiting our coergarties to major financial institutions and byesaling the risk across several major finar
institutions. In addition, the potential risk oskwith any one counterparty resulting from thjgetyf credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. See “Note 8 - Derivative Instruments” fodiidnal information related to our derivative inghents.

Concentration of credit risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivalalasland interest receivable, funds receivable aatbmer accounts are potentially
subject to concentration of credit risk. Cash, aghivalents and customer accounts are placedfiwéhcial institutions that management
believes are of high credit quality. In additionnéls receivable are generated with financial iattins or credit card companies that
management believes are of high credit quality. &wounts receivable are derived from revenue ddroen customers located in the U.S. .
internationally. Our loans and interest receivaske derived from consumer financing activitiesdostomers located in the U.S. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , no customer accofmtedore than 10% of net loans and interest red#évdn each of the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , no customeuatsa for more than 10% of net revenues.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&ifdhGB") issued new accounting guidance clarifyihg accounting for the release
cumulative translation adjustment into net incontemwa parent either sells a part or all of its #reent in a foreign entity or no longer holds &
controlling financial interest in a subsidiary aogp of assets that is a nonprofit activity or aibass within a foreign entity. The new standard
is effective for fiscal years, and interim periaushin those fiscal years, beginning on or aftec®aber 15, 2013. We do not anticipate that
adoption will have a significant impact on our fircéal position, results of operations, or cash 8ow

In 2013, the FASB issued new accounting guidanagfging the accounting for obligations resultimgrh joint and several liability
arrangements for which the total amount under thengement is fixed at the reporting date. The a@mdard is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, begimnan or after December 15, 2013. We do not antieiiat this adoption will have a signific
impact on our financial position, results of openas, or cash flows.
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In 2013, the FASB issued a new accounting stanttatdwill require the presentation of certain ulgrtized tax benefits as reductions to
deferred tax assets rather than as liabilitieeénGonsolidated Balance Sheets when a net opetasiagarryforward, a similar tax loss, or a
credit carryforward exists. The new standard rexpuadoption on a prospective basis in the firsttquaf 2015; however, early adoption is
permitted. We do not anticipate that this adoptidhhave a significant impact on our financial gam, results of operations, or cash flows.

Note 2 — Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome for the period by the weighted averagaber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing net income forghgod by the weighted average number
of shares of common stock and potentially dilutteenmon stock outstanding during the period. Thatidi effect of outstanding options and
equity incentive awards are reflected in dilutetineome per share by application of the treastogksmethod. The calculation of diluted net
income per share excludes all anti-dilutive sharée. following table sets forth the computatiorbakic and diluted net income per share for
the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net income $ 2,85¢ $ 2,60¢ % 3,22¢
Denominator:
Weighted average shares of common stock - basic 1,29¢ 1,292 1,29:
Dilutive effect of equity incentive awards 18 21 20
Weighted average shares of common stock - diluted 1,31 1,31 1,31:
Net income per share:
Basic $ 22C % 20z $ 2.5C
Diluted $ 218 $ 1.9¢ $ 2.4¢
Common stock equivalents excluded from income patetl share because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive 4 4 17

Note 3 — Business Combinations and Divestitures
Our acquisition activity in 2013 , 2012 and 201ias as follows:
2013 Acquisition Activity

Braintree

We completed the acquisition of Braintree on Deocenil®, 2013. We acquired Braintree to accelerag®&& growth in mobile
payments. We paid total consideration of approxaiyab713 million, consisting primarily of cash. The allocation loé tpurchase considerati
for this acquisition is preliminary and remains jegbto adjustment. Based on our preliminary alliocaof the purchase consideration we
recorded approximately $155 million of acquiredhimgible assets, net liabilities of approximatel $dllion and goodwill of approximately
$590 million . We expect intangible assets to ideleustomer-related, marketing-related, and tedgydbased assets, which is consistent witt
our similar prior acquisitions. We are still evading the fair value and the useful lives over whiah expect to amortize these intangible asset
and the period over which we expect to derive enuadenefit. Braintree is included in our Paymesggment.

We have included the financial results of Brainireeur consolidated financial statements fromdh& of acquisition. Revenues and
expenses related to Braintree for the period enBiecember 31, 2013 were not material. Pro formaltesf operations have not been
presented because the effect of the acquisitiomneamaterial to our financial results.
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Other

Other acquisition activity during 2013 consistediof acquisitions, four of which are included irr diarketplaces segment and two in
our Payments segment, for aggregate purchase eoasah of approximately $164 million , consistimgmarily of cash. The allocation of the
purchase consideration resulted in net liabiliGEapproximately $16 million , purchased intangiasets of approximately $56 million and
goodwill of approximately $124 million . The alld@ans of the purchase price for these acquisitltange been prepared on a preliminary basis
and changes to those allocations may occur asi@agaliinformation becomes available. The consoéiddinancial statements include the
operating results of the acquired businesses #ieceespective dates of the acquisitions. Pro faesalts of operations have not been prest
because the effect of the acquisitions was notmiaate our financial results.

Refer to our 2011 acquisition activity below fori@nt year activity regarding the RueLala and ShopRr equity investments.
2012 Acquisition and Divestiture Activity

During 2012, we completed three acquisitions, tivavloich are included in our Marketplaces segment@me in our Payments segment,
for aggregate purchase consideration of approxign&tet9 million , consisting primarily of cash. Th#ocation of the purchase consideration
resulted in net liabilities of approximately $21llfon , purchased intangible assets of $70 milkord goodwill of $100 million . The
consolidated financial statements include the dpeyaesults of the acquired businesses sincea$ective dates of the acquisitions. Pro fc
results of operations have not been presented bedha effect of the acquisitions was not matéoialur financial results.

In May 2012, we completed the sale of Rent.conpfoceeds of approximately $145 million , resultin@ gain of approximately $118
million . The results of operations from Rent.cora aot material to any period presented.

2011 Acquisition and Divestiture Activity

During 2011, we completed thirteen acquisitions|uding the acquisitions of GSI, brands4friendgtiGidiyor and Zong. Allocation of
the purchase consideration for the business conibinsacompleted in 2011 is summarized as follows:

Net Tangible
Assets Acquired/
Purchase (Liabilities Purchased
Consideration Assumed) Intangible Assets Goodwill
(In millions)
GSI $ 2,371 $ 12¢ $ 81¢ $ 1,43(
brands4friends 19z (33 76 15C
GittiGidiyor 23t (©)] 53 191
Zong 232 (36) 77 191
Other 40z (34) 164 272
Total $ 3,43¢ $ 16 $ 1,18¢ $ 2,23¢

The purchase consideration for each acquisitionallasated to the tangible assets and identifiatibngible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated falines on the acquisition date, with the remainingllocated purchase consideration recorded
as goodwill. The fair value assigned to identifealiitangible assets acquired was determined piyrariusing valuation methods that disco
expected future cash flows to present value usstignates and assumptions determined by managePunchased identifiable intangible as
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thpaetsve useful lives. We generally do not expeaidyuill to be deductible for income tax
purposes.
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GSl
Acquisition

We completed the acquisition of GSI on June 17120&SI is a leading provider of ecommerce andattive marketing services. We
acquired GSI to utilize its comprehensive integtaaite of online commerce and interactive markgsarvices to strengthen our ability to
connect buyers and sellers worldwide. We paid $p& share, and assumed restricted stock-basedswih a fair value of approximately
$25 million , resulting in total consideration gfoximately $2.4 billion . In addition, we paid amount equal to $0.33 per share or
approximately $24 million , which was separate distinct from the per share merger consideratiorertain GSI security holders in
connection with the settlement of litigation rethte the acquisition of GSI and recorded that payrmiregeneral and administrative expenses.
GSl is reported in our Enterprise segment.

Divestiture

In conjunction with the acquisition of GSI, we imdiately divested 100 percent of GSI's licensedtspoerchandise business and 70
percent of GSI's ShopRunner and RuelLala busin¢sse=ther, the "divested businesses"). The divdstisthesses were sold to Kynetic, LLC
(formerly known as NRG Commerce, LLC), which weereto as Kynetic, led by GSI's former Chairman siient and Chief Executive
Officer, for a note receivable with a face valuesd67 million . The note receivable bore interéstraannual rate equal to 3-month LIB@Rs
1.10% , maturing in December 2018, and was sedwaxrtain assets of the divested businesses.dltheaiue of the note receivable was
determined to be $287 million based on comparalaleket interest rates and was recorded in othetsasseur consolidated balance sheet. Th
difference between the fair value of the note nesldie and the carrying value of the divested bissies resulted in a loss of approximatp 7
million . The loss was recorded in interest andenthet in our consolidated statement of income.

The carrying value of our retained stake in thegfhuner and RuelLala businesses was approximatBlynfiifon and was recorded in
long-term investments. We accounted for our retaingerest in the ShopRunner and RuelLala businessks the equity method of
accounting and recorded our proportionate sharebiihncome (loss) on a one-quarter lag as a conmparfiénterest and other, net in our
consolidated statement of income. Our exposures® lesulting from our financing arrangement wigmgtic and equity investments in
RuelLalLa and ShopRunner was limited to the carryalge of the note receivable and equity investmertpectively. We also entered into a
transitional services agreement, pursuant to wiSh provided to the divested businesses certamsitianal services for a limited period. GSI
has also entered into a transitional services ageat pursuant to which it is providing to the dited businesses certain transitional services
for a limited period, as well as certain other coencial agreements with Kynetic and its affiliates.

In September 2013, the Kynetic note receivablewpaid and our investments in RueLala and ShopRumeee sold for total cash
proceeds of approximately $485 million . This traectéon resulted in a net gain of approximately $llion , which has been recognized in
interest and other, net in our consolidated stattmieincome.

Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth the components ¢dmgible assets acquired in connection with the &8§uisition (excluding intangible
assets sold in connection with the divested buse®s

Description Fair Value Useful Life (Years)
(In millions, except years)
Trademarks $ 8 2
User base 66¢ 5
Developed technology 145 5
Total $ 81¢

We have included the financial results of GSI im consolidated financial statements from the détecquisition.
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Pro forma financial information

The unaudited pro forma financial information i ttable below summarizes the combined results obperations and those of GSI for
the periods shown as though the acquisition of &8lthe sale of the divested businesses had odaasref the beginning of fiscal year 2010.
The pro forma financial information for the perigai®sented includes the business combination atioguetfects of the acquisition, including
amortization charges from acquired intangible asséte pro forma financial information as preseneldw is for informational purposes or
is subject to a number of estimates, assumptiod®#rer uncertainties, and is not indicative ofrthgults of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition and divestiture hacktaglace at January 1, 2011. The unaudited proddimancial information is as follows (no
pro forma information is presented for 2013 or 26%$25SI is included in the consolidated resultspefrations for the full year):

Year Ended December 31, 2011

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Total revenues $ 12,03¢
Net income 3,16¢
Basic earnings per share 2.4t
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.41

brands4friends

In the first quarter of 2011, we acquired brands#fis, an online shopping club for fashion andstifée in Germany, for total cash
consideration of approximately $193 million . Thampany is included in our Marketplaces segment.d@unsolidated financial statements
include the operating results of brands4friendmftbe date of acquisition. Pro forma results ofrapiens have not been presented because th
effect of the acquisition was not material to oongolidated results of operations.

GittiGidiyor
In the second quarter of 2011, we acquired additishares of GittiGidiyor, an online marketplac& irkey. We previously held a non-

controlling interest in GittiGidiyor, and followinthe completion of the acquisition of these addgicshares, we own approximately 98%he
outstanding shares of GittiGidiyor. The followirabte summarizes the purchase consideration (imoms):

Cash paid $ 182
Fair value of non-controlling interest 31
Fair value of previously held equity interest 22

Total purchase consideration $ 23¢

This company is included in our Marketplaces sedmi&na result of obtaining control over GittiGidiy our previously held 10%teres
was remeasured to fair value, which resulted inia gf $17 million. The gain has been recognized in interest and,atkéin our consolidate
statement of income. We recorded the remainingaamtrolling interest in additional paid-in capitalour consolidated balance sheet as the
amount is not significant. Our consolidated finahstatements include the operating results of@dtyor from the date of acquisition. Pro
forma results of operations have not been presdrgeduse the effect of the acquisition was not rizdt® our consolidated results of
operations.

Zong

Zong is a provider of payment services through teotarrier billing. We completed the acquisitionZafing on August 11, 2011 , for total
cash consideration of approximately $232 millidrhe business is included in our Payments segmemtc@nhsolidated financial statements
include the operating results of Zong from the adtacquisition. Pro forma results of operationgehaot been presented because the effect o
the acquisition was not material to our consolidagsults of operations.
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Other
« Magentc

We completed our acquisition of Magento, which apes an ecommerce storefront platform, on Augus2@&1 . We previously held a
non-controlling interest in Magento of 49.9% of théstanding shares, and following the completibtihe acquisition, we own 100% of the
outstanding shares of Magento. As a result of abtgicontrol over Magento, our previously held et was remeasured to fair value, which
resulted in a gain of $56 million . The gain hasmeecognized in interest and other, net in ouscobdated statement of income. Our
consolidated financial statements include the dpayaesults of Magento from the date of acquisitiMagento is included in our Corporate
and other category. Pro forma results of operati@mve not been presented because the effect atthésition was not material to our
consolidated results of operations.

* Other
Other acquisition activity during 2011 consisteceifht acquisitions, four of which are includecur Marketplaces segment and four of
which are included in our Payments segment. Thehase consideration for these acquisitions combgikely of cash. The consolidated

financial statements include the operating reflthe acquired businesses since the respecties dathe acquisitions. Pro forma results of
operations have not been presented because tloe @ffbese acquisitions was not material to oursetidated results of operations.

Note 4 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill balances adplistments to those balances for each of our teglersegments and corporate
investments for the years ended December 31, 20d2@12 :

December 31, December 31
December 31, Goodwill Goodwill
2011 Acquired Adjustments/Allocations 2012 Acquired Adjustments/Disposals 2013
(In millions)
Reportable segments:
Marketplaces $ 451C $ 92 % 13C % 473. $ 11z $ 17 3 4,861
Payments 2,51¢ 8 4 2,51¢ 60z (D) 3,12(
Enterprise 1,29: — (54) 1,23¢ — — 1,23¢
Corporate and other 47 — — 47 — — 47
Total Goodwill $ 8,36t $ 10C $ 72 % 8531 $ 714 $ 16 $ 9,26

The adjustments to goodwill during the year endeddinber 31, 201®%ere due primarily to foreign currency translatidhe adjustmen
to goodwill during the year ended December 31, 20&& due primarily to foreign currency translateord changes in tax items. A portion of
goodwill acquired as part of the GSI acquisitiod &agento acquisition (included in Corporate andgdtwas allocated to the Marketplaces
and Payments segments, respectively, based orgggmeixpected to be realized.

We conducted our annual impairment test of goodaelbf August 31, 2013 and determined that no adgrst to the carrying value of
goodwill for any reportable units was necessaryofBecember 31, 2013, we determined that no evantircumstances from August 31,
2013 through December 31, 2013 indicated thatthéuiassessment was necessary.
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Intangible Assets

The components of identifiable intangible asse¢saarfollows:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Net Average
Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Useful Life Gross Carrying  Accumulated Carrying Useful Life
Amount Amortization Amount (Years) Amount Amortization Amount (Years)

(In millions, except years)
Intangible assets:
Customer lists and user

base $ 165 $ 1,219 % 44C 5 $ 164 % 991) % 658 5

Trademarks and trade

names 78C (677) 10z 5 743 (569) 174 5

Developed technologies 554 (407) 152 4 52E (322) 203 4

Braintree related 15¢ — 15& — N/A N/A N/A N/A

All other 278 (189) 90 4 252 (159 98 4
$ 3,41t $ 2,479 % 941 $ 3,16¢ $ (2,03 $ 1,12¢

(1) Our evaluation of Braintree related intangiasets is preliminary and remains subject to plosing adjustment as we are still evalua
the fair value and the useful lives of these assets

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $4R4dbn , $433 million and $337 million for the ges ended December 31, 2013 ,
2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Expected future intangible asset amortization a3exfember 31, 2013 is as follows (in millions):

Fiscal years":
2014 $ 32¢
2015 257
2016 13z
2017 40
2018 24
Thereafter 6

$ 78€

(1) Table excludes $155 million of expected futameortization of intangible assets related to theimree acquisition as we are still
evaluating the fair value and the useful liveshafse assets.

Note 5 — Segments

We have three reporting segments: MarketplacesnBats and Enterprise. We allocate resources t@assess the performance of each
reporting segment using information about its reneand operating income (loss). We do not evalopgeating segments using discrete asset
information. We do not allocate gains and lossesifequity investments, interest and other incoméaxes to reporting segments.

The Corporate and other category includes incoxpgereses and charges such as:

« results of operations of Magento and other initegiwhich support all of our reporting segme

e corporate management costs, such as human resdimeese and legal, not allocated to our segm
e amortization of intangible asse

e restructuring charges; a

« stockbased compensation expel
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The following tables summarize the financial periance of our reporting segments and provide a g#gation to our consolidated
operating results for the periods reflected beldatg for the year ended December 31, 2011 for aterfrise segment is since June 17, 2011,
the date we acquired GSI):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Net Revenue
Marketplaces
Net transaction revenues $ 6,798 $ 6,07¢ $ 5,431
Marketing services and other revenues 1,48¢ 1,32C 1,211
8,28¢ 7,39¢ 6,64
Payments
Net transaction revenues 6,09¢ 5,14¢ 4,12:
Marketing services and other revenues 532 42¢ 28¢
6,62¢ 5,57¢ 4,41
Enterprise
Net transaction revenues 89¢ 85C 46(
Marketing services and other revenues 214 23¢ 13C
1,117 1,08: 59C
Corporate and other
Marketing services and other revenues 55 39 8
Elimination of inter-segment net reveniie (32 (22) —
Total consolidated net revenue $ 16,047 $ 14,07 $ 11,65:
Operating income (loss)
Marketplaces $ 3,351 $ 294: % 2,631
Payments 1,58¢ 1,35¢ 97¢
Enterprise 91 12¢ 83
Corporate and other (1,659 (1,542) (1,319
Total operating income (loss) $ 3371 § 2,88t $ 2,378

(1) Represents revenue generated between our abposegments.
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The following tables summarize the allocation dof m¥enues and long-lived tangible assets basagtography:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Net revenues:
u.S. $ 7,71 % 6,77¢ $ 5,48¢
Germany 1,93( 1,67¢ 1,53¢
United Kingdom 2,18: 1,88¢ 1,572
Rest of world 4,22; 3,72¢ 3,057
Total net revenues $ 16,047 $ 14,07: $ 11,65:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In millions)
Long-lived tangible assets:
u.s. $ 2,75¢ % 2,72
International 24C 222
Total long-lived tangible assets $ 2,99t $ 2,94¢

Net revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatigaographies primarily based upon the countmyhicth the seller, payment recipient,
customer, website that displays advertising, oeosiervice provider, as the case may be, is locataty-lived assets attributed to the U.S. and
international geographies are based upon the goimtvhich the asset is located or owned. Totagtssby segment are not presented as that
information is not used to allocate resources sess performance at the segment level and is vietrred by our Chief Operating Decision
Maker.

Note 6 — Investments

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the estimated/&dire of our short-term and long-term investmefassified as available for sale, are
as follows:

December 31, 2013

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In millions)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 17 $ — 3 — 3 17
Corporate debt securities 3,52¢ 4 — 3,52¢
Government and agency securities 43 — — 43
Time deposits and other 49 — — 49
Equity instruments 12 881 — 89:
$ 3,646 $ 88t % — 3 4,531
Long-term investments:
Corporate debt securities 4,40¢ 41 5) 4,44¢
Government and agency securities 25C 1 — 251
$ 4,65¢ $ 42 $ B $ 4,69¢
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December 31, 2012

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In millions)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 15 % — ¢ — $ 15
Corporate debt securities 1,15(C 3 — 1,152
Government and agency securities 20 — — 20
Time deposits and other 76% — — 76E
Equity instruments 8 63C — 63€
$ 1,95¢ $ 63: $ — 3 2,591
Long-term investments:
Corporate debt securities 2,61¢ 54 — 2,66¢
Government and agency securities 41 1 — 42
$ 2,65¢ $ 58 % — % 2,711

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we held $6 milibtime deposits classified as held to maturityahhére recorded at amortized cost
as of both dates.

We had no material long-term or short-term investis¢hat have been in a continuous unrealizeddosgion for more than 12 months
as of December 31, 2013 . Refer to "Note 19 - Aadated Other Comprehensive Income" for amountsaesdied to earnings from unrealized
gains and losses.

Our fixed-income investment portfolio consists offmorate debt securities and government and agamyrities that have a maximum
maturity of six years. The corporate debt and gowvemt and agency securities that we invest in anerglly deemed to be low risk based on
their credit ratings from the major rating agencidse longer the duration of these securitiesntioee susceptible they are to changes in mark
interest rates and bond yields. As interest ratease, those securities purchased at a lower stigw a mark-to-market unrealized loss. The
unrealized losses are due primarily to changesdditspreads and interest rates. We expect tzeethle full value of all these investments
upon maturity or sale. As of December 31, 2012s¢hsecurities had a weighted average remainirggidnrof approximately 17 months.
Restricted cash is held primarily in money marketds and interest bearing accounts for lettersegficrelated primarily to our global
sabbatical program and various lease arrangements.

The estimated fair values of our short-term andjiterm investments classified as available for bgldate of contractual maturity at
December 31, 2013 are as follows:

December 31,

2013
(In millions)

One year or less (including restricted cash of $17) $ 3,63¢
One year through two years 1,31¢
Two years through three years 1,76¢
Three years through four years 661
Four years through five years 752
Five years through six years 17z
Six years through seven years 27
Nine years through ten years 3

$ 8,33¢

Equity and cost method investments

We have made multiple equity and cost method imvests which are reported in long-term investmentsur consolidated balance
sheet. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , ouryeqoi cost method investments totaled $269 mibiod $327 million , respectively. During
2012, we entered into a joint venture arrangemadiit avthird party resulting in an equity investmeh®130 million in exchange for our
contribution of $12 million cash and commitmenttmtribute certain assets of a business unit upteiring further regulatory approvals.
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Note 7 — Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Lialities

The following tables summarize our financial asseid liabilities measured at fair value on a reéogrbasis as of December 31, 2GR
2012:

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In millions)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,49 % 4,15¢  $ 33t
Short-term investments:

Restricted cash 17 17 —

Corporate debt securities 3,52¢ — 3,52¢

Government and agency securities 43 — 43

Time deposits 49 — 49

Equity instruments 89:< 89:< —
Total short-term investments 4,531 91C 3,621
Funds receivable and customer accounts 3,56: — 3,56:
Derivatives 44 — 44
Long-term investments:

Corporate debt securities 4,44¢F — 4,44¢

Government and agency securities 251 — 251
Total long-term investments 4,69¢ — 4,69¢
Total financial assets $ 17,32¢ % 5,06¢ $ 12,25¢
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 151  § —  § 151
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Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In millions)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,817 % 568 $ 1,132
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash 15 15 —
Corporate debt securities 1,152 — 1,152
Government and agency securities 20 — 2C
Time deposits 76E — 76%
Equity instruments 63€ 63€ —
Total short-term investments 2,591 653 1,93¢
Derivatives 55 — 58
Long-term investments:
Corporate debt securities 2,66¢ — 2,66¢
Government and agency securities 42 — 42
Total long-term investments 2,711 — 2,711
Total financial assets $ 12,17 $ 6,33¢ % 5,83¢
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 86 § —  § 86

Our financial assets and liabilities are valueshgsnarket prices on both active markets (levelnt) lass active markets (level 2). Level 1
instrument valuations are obtained from real-tiraetgs for transactions in active exchange marketlving identical assets. Level 2
instrument valuations are obtained from readilyilaiée pricing sources for comparable instrumeidisntical instruments in less active
markets, or models using market observable ingiits.majority of our derivative instruments are \ealwsing pricing models that take into
account the contract terms as well as multiple tispthere applicable, such as equity prices, intests yield curves, option volatility and
currency rates. Our derivative instruments are grilyyshort-term in nature, generally one montlone year in duration. Certain foreign
currency contracts designated as cash flow hedggshave a duration of up to 18 months. We did moehany transfers of financial
instruments between valuation levels during 201204r2.

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, higilydiinvestments with original or remaining matiestof three months or less when
purchased and are comprised primarily of bank depaaoney market funds and commercial paper. Wtbil funds receivable and
customer accounts of $9.3 billion as of Decembe2813 , $3.6 billion of which is invested in shtgtm investments.

In addition, we had cost and equity method investief approximately $269 million and $327 milliorcluded in longterm investment
on our consolidated balance sheet at December03B, &nd 2012 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we held no dinreetstments in auction rate securities, collaizedl debt obligations, structured
investment vehicles or mortgage-backed securities.

Other financial instruments, including accountsereable, loans and interest receivable, accountalpe, funds receivable, certain

customer accounts, funds payable and amounts duestomers, are carried at cost, which approxintatss fair value because of the short-
term nature of these instruments.
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Note 8 — Derivative Instruments

The notional amounts associated with our foreigmericy contracts at December 31, 2013 and 2012 $&febillion and $6.6 billion
respectively, of which $2.3 billion was designatesdcash flow hedges for both periods. Derivatimagactions are measured in terms of the
notional amount, but this amount is not recordethenbalance sheet and is not, when viewed intisolaa meaningful measure of the risk
profile of the instruments. The notional amourgéserally not exchanged, but is used only as tkistmam which the value of foreign exchange
payments under these contracts are determined

During each of the fiscal years presented, the amtsaecognized in earnings on derivative instrumeéesignated as cash flow hedges
related to the ineffective portion were not mateaad we did not exclude any component of the gbarin fair value of the derivative
instruments from the assessment of hedge effeessei\s of December 31, 2013 , we estimate thah$Bion of net derivative losses related
to our cash flow hedges included in accumulatedrotbmprehensive income will be reclassified iraonégs within the next 12 months.

Fair Value of Derivative Contracts

The fair value of our outstanding derivative ingtents as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 was asviollo

Derivative Assets Reported in Other Derivative Liabilities Reported in
Current Assets Other Current Liabilities
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthiéidges $ 15 $ 1 $ 121 % 5€
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as fgedgin
instruments 29 43 30 3C
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtemen — 11 — —
Total fair value of derivative instruments $ 4 % 55 § 151 $ 8€

Under the master netting agreements with the réigpemunterparties to our foreign exchange cotgraubject to applicable
requirements, we are allowed to net settle trarmacbf the same currency with a single net ampagtble by one party to the other.
However, we have elected to present the derivatbeets and derivative liabilities on a gross basisir balance sheet. As of December 31,
2013, the potential effect of rights of set-oféasiated with the above foreign exchange contraotdd be an offset to both assets and
liabilities by $42 million , resulting in a net deative liability of $105 million . We are not regjad to pledge, nor are we entitled to receive,
cash collateral related to these derivative traisas.

Effect of Derivative Contracts on Accumulated Oth€omprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the activity of detive contracts that qualify for hedge accountisgpf December 31, 2013 and 2012,
and the impact of designated derivative contractaaumulated other comprehensive income for thesyended December 31, 2013 and
2012 :

Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other

Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2012 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2013
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ (55 (65) (149 $ (106)

F-25




eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other

Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2011 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2012
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ 72 (54) 77 % (55

Effect of Derivative Contracts on Consolidated Statent of Income

The following table provides the location in ourdncial statements of the recognized gains or $osdated to our derivative
instruments:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts designated as casth#idges recognized in net revenues $ 4 $ 44 $ (26)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthfldges recognized in operating expenses (9 16 @)
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as hgdgtruments recognized in interest a
other, net 14 — 5)
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtemenognized in interest and other, net — 3 Q)

Total gain (loss) recognized from derivative coatsan the consolidated statement of

income 1 8 63 $ (39

Note 9 — Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipmel

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(In millions)
Property and equipment:

Computer equipment and software $ 517¢ % 4,17(
Land and buildings, including building improvements 931 807
Leasehold improvements 512 413
Furniture and fixtures 29C 22C
Construction in progress and other 20¢ 347
7,12( 5,957

Accumulated depreciation (4,360) (3,466
$ 2,76C $ 2,491

Total depreciation expense on our property andpeaent in the years ended December 31, 2013 , 261 2@11 totaled $976 million ,
$767 million and $603 million , respectively.

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilit

Total compensation and related benefits includestorued expenses and other current liabilities$6&2 million and $649 million for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respect
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Note 10 — Debt

The following tables summarizes the carrying valtieur outstanding debt as of December 31, 201328442 :

Coupon Carrying Value as of Effective Carrying Value as of Effective
Rate December 31, 2013 Interest Rate December 31, 2012 Interest Rate

(In millions, except percentages)

Long-Term Debt

Senior notes due 2015 1.6250% $ 59¢ 1.805% $ 59¢ 1.805%
Senior notes due 2015 0.70(% 25C 0.82(% 25C 0.82(%
Senior notes due 2017 1.35(% 1,00(¢ 1.45€6% 99¢ 1.45€6%
Senior notes due 2020 3.25(% 49¢ 3.38% 49¢ 3.38%
Senior notes due 2022 2.60(% 99¢ 2.678% 99¢ 2.678%%
Senior notes due 2042 4.00(% 743 4.11%% 742 4.11%
Total senior notes 4,08¢ 4,087
Other indebtedness 28 19
Total long-term debt $ 4,117 $ 4,10¢

Short-Term Debt

Senior notes due 2013 0.87%% N/A $ 40C 1.07%
Other indebtedness $ 6 13

Total short-term debt 6 413
Total Debt $ 4,12: $ 4,51¢

Senior Notes

In July 2012, we issued senior unsecured notesgmpr notes, in an aggregate principal amounB8diition , of which $250 million
will mature in July 2015, $1 billion will mature thuly 2017, $1 billion will mature in July 2022 a$@d50 million will mature in July 2042.
Interest on these senior notes is payable semidiprmmeJanuary 15 and July 15. Additionally, we bather senior notes outstanding in an
aggregate principal amount of $1.1 billion , of efn$600 million will mature in October 2015 and $5illion will mature in October 2020.
Interest on these senior notes is payable semidprmeApril 15 and October 15.

The effective interest rates for our fixed-rateisenotes include the interest payable, the amatitm of debt issuance costs and the
amortization of any original issue discount on theenior notes. Interest expense associated vetie thenior notes, including amortization of
debt issuance costs, during the years ended Dece&dhp2013 and 2012 was approximately $105 mildod $64 million , respectively. At
December 31, 2013, the estimated fair value cfdtsenior notes included in long-term debt wasaprately $3.9 billion .

The indenture pursuant to which the senior noteg wesued includes customary covenants that, arotireg things, limit our ability to
incur, assume or guarantee debt secured by liespeaxified assets or enter into sale and leasetbmtkactions with respect to specified
properties, and also includes customary eventgfaiudt.

Other Indebtedness

Our other indebtedness is comprised of overdratiiti@s, notes payable and capital lease obligetiéVe have formal overdraft faciliti
in India bearing interest on drawn balances at@pprately a 10% rate per annum. Drawn balancesxgected to be repaid in more than one
year. Notes payable is comprised primarily of arhat bears interest6.3% per annum and has a maturity date of July 2084 capital
leases have maturity dates from February 2014 peeB#oer 2014 and bear interest at rates rangimg 3% to 7% per annum. The present
value of future minimum lease payments as of Deegrfth, 2013 was $5 million with imputed interestexs than $1 million .

Commercial Paper

We have a $2 billion commercial paper program pamsto which we may issue commercial paper notés maturities of up to 397
days from the date of issue in an aggregate paheimount of up to $2 billion at any time outstargdiAs of December 31, 2013 , there were
no commercial paper notes outstanding.
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Credit Agreement

In 2011, we entered into a credit agreement thatiges for an unsecured $3 billion five-year rewdvcredit facility that includes a
$300 million letter of credit sub-facility and a@Lmillion swingline sub-facility, with availableobrowings under the revolving credit facility
reduced by the amount of any letters of creditsamithgline borrowings outstanding from time to tindée may also, subject to the agreeme!
the applicable lenders, increase the commitmerdsmnihe revolving credit facility by up to $1 bih . Funds borrowed under the credit
agreement may be used for general corporate pwgpose

As of December 31, 2013, no borrowings or lettérsredit were outstanding under our $3 billionditagreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2 billion commercipeparogram and maintain $2 billion of availablerbaing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsuvn the event we are unable to repay thoseotamgs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2013hilfiin of borrowing capacity was available for ettpurposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesthatr €i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (* LIBJ) plus a margin (based on our
public debt credit ratings) ranging from 0.625 patcto 1.125 percent or (ii) a formula based oraihpent bank's prime rate, the federal funds
effective rate or LIBOR plus a margin (based onmublic debt credit ratings) ranging from zero gertcto 0.125 percent. The credit agreemer
will terminate and all amounts owing thereundet él due and payable on November 22, 2016, untgsbé commitments are terminated
earlier, either at our request or, if an eventeafadlt occurs, by the lenders (or automaticallthie case of certain bankruptcy-related events of
default), or (b) the maturity date is extended uponrequest, subject to the agreement of the lsndée credit agreement contains customary
representations, warranties, affirmative and nggatovenants, including a financial covenant, evefdefault and indemnification provisions
in favor of the banks. The negative covenants ohelestrictions regarding the incurrence of liesudhject to certain exceptions. The financial
covenant requires us to meet a quarterly finanegtlwith respect to a minimum consolidated inteceserage ratio.

We were in compliance with all covenants in ourstaniding debt instruments for the period ended BDbee 31, 2013 .
Future Maturities

Expected future principal maturities as of Decen1er2013 are as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Years:
2014 $ 7
2015 852
2016 —
2017 1,00(
2018 —
Thereafter 2,26(

$ 4,11¢
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Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

As of December 31, 2013 , approximately $15.5dwilbf unused credit was available to Bill Me Later@actholders. While this amou
represents the total unused credit available, we hat experienced, and do not anticipate, thaifalur Bill Me Later accountholders will
access their entire available credit at any givaintgn time. In addition, the individual lines ofedit that make up this unused credit are sul
to periodic review and termination by the chartdirdncial institution that is the issuer of BilldLater credit products based on, among othe
things, account usage and customer creditworthivg#een a consumer makes a purchase using a Billd¥er credit product, the chartered
financial institution extends credit to the consunfiends the extension of credit at the point dé sad advances funds to the merchant. We
subsequently purchase the consumer receivablésdeatathe consumer loans, and as result of thathpse, bear the risk of loss in the event o
loan defaults. However, we subsequently sell agpation interest in the entire pool of consuraaris to the chartered financial institution
extended the consumer loans. Although the charféradcial institution continues to own each custoraccount, we own and bear the risk of
loss on the related consumer receivables, legsattiEipation interest held by the chartered finahiostitution, and Bill Me Later is responsi
for all servicing functions related to the custoraecount balances. As of December 31, 2013, tlhé datstanding balance of this pool of
consumer loans was $2.9 billion , of which the tdr&d financial institution owns a participationerest of $65 million , or 2.25% of the total
outstanding balance of consumer receivables atititat

Lease Arrangements

We have lease obligations under certain non-cableetsperating leases. Future minimum rental paysientdler our non-cancelable
operating leases at December 31, 2013 are as fllow

Leases

(In millions)
2014 $ 11C
2015 101
2016 7€
2017 5¢
2018 4C
Thereafter 58
Total minimum lease payments $ 43¢

Rent expense in the years ended December 31, 22 ,and 2011 totaled $152 million , $152 milleomd $131 million , respectively.
Litigation and Other Legal Matters

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbiagjs. If we believe that a loss arising from songtiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimateditijaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our joelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondleff estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the folwoéthe range. Amounts accrued for legal procegifor which we believe a loss is
probable were not material for the year ended Déeer81, 2013. Except as otherwise noted, we hanelwded that reasonably possible los
arising directly from the proceedings (i.e., mongtégamages or amounts paid in judgment or settl€nieexcess of our accruals are also not
material. For those proceedings in which an unfalvler outcome is reasonably possible but not prebai@ have disclosed an estimate of the
reasonably possible loss or range of losses orave boncluded that an estimate of the reasonalsisilgle loss or range of losses arising
directly from the proceeding (i.e., monetary dansageamounts paid in judgment or settlement) atenaterial. If we cannot estimate the
probable or reasonably possible loss or rangessil® arising from a legal proceeding, we haveatisd that fact.

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceedirgevaluate, among other factors, the amountarfatary damages claimed, as well a:
the potential impact of non-monetary remedies sbhgtplaintiffs (e.g., injunctive relief) that magquire
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us to change our business practices in a manniecdhbl have a material adverse impact on our lessinWith respect to the matters disclosec
in this Note 11, we are unable to estimate theipleskss or range of losses that could potentiaiult from the application of such non-
monetary remedies.

Specific Matters

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrésti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things, ¢bmplaint alleged that we violated French tort lawnegligently broadcasting listings
posted by third parties offering counterfeit itebearing plaintiffs' trademarks and by purchasingade advertising keywords. Around
September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo PasflParfums Givenchy, and Guerlain Société alsd il lawsuit in the Paris Court of
Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBay Internatiol Phe complaint alleged that we had interferedhhe selective distribution network
plaintiffs established in France and the Europeaiotlby allowing third parties to post listings éfing genuine perfumes and cosmetics for
sale on our websites. In June 2008, the Paris @d@bmmerce ruled that eBay and eBay Internatid@awere liable for failing to prevent tl
sale of counterfeit items on its websites thatdthdn plaintiffs' brand names and for interferirithvthe plaintiffs’ selective distribution
network. The court awarded plaintiffs approximatélyR 38.6 million in damages and issued an injumc{enforceable by daily fines of up to
EUR 100,000 ) prohibiting all sales of perfumes aagmetics bearing the Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy Kedzo brands over all worldwide eBay
websites to the extent that they are accessibfe Fance. We appealed this decision, and in Sepe010, the Paris Court of Appeal red.
the damages award to EUR 5.7 million and modiffedlibjunction. We further appealed this decisioth®French Supreme Court, and in May
2012, the French Supreme Court ruled that the djgpea should not have assumed jurisdiction updivigy that took place on the eBay.com
website and that the injunction was too broad iasas$ it did not exclude private sales. The cdsd aoted that the appeal court had not
sufficiently dealt with assertions that the pldiistidistribution contracts were not valid. Thosattars were remanded to the Paris Court of
Appeal. In 2009, plaintiffs filed an action regargiour compliance with the original injunction, andNovember 2009, the court awarded the
plaintiffs EUR 1.7 million (the equivalent of EURSDO per day) and indicated that as a large Iatarompany we should do a better job of
enforcing the injunction. Parfums Christian Diostided another motion relating to our compliandéwthe injunction. We have taken
measures to comply with the injunction and haveeafgal these rulings, noting, among other thingsntbdification of the initial injunction. In
light of the French Supreme Court ruling mentioabdve, we asked the court to stay proceedingsresibpect to enforcement of the injunction
pending the retrial of the matters on appeal, aigdrequest has been granted. However, these iauildrssuits may force us to modify our
business practices, which could lower our reveimggease our costs, or make our websites less a@mneo our customers. Any such results
could materially harm our business. Other brandeye/have also filed suit against us or have thneakt¢o do so in numerous different
jurisdictions, seeking to hold us liable for, amaniger things, alleged counterfeit items listedbon websites by third partie“tester”and othe
not for resale consumer products listed on our itebby third parties, alleged misuse of trademarltistings, alleged violations of selective
distribution channel laws, alleged violations ofglkel import laws, alleged non-compliance with samer protection laws and in connection
with paid search advertisements. We have prevailsdme of these suits, lost in others, and maayravarious stages of appeal. We continue
to believe that we have meritorious defenses tediseits and intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice ruledtie case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancome ParfunmBegtuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBaydmtational AG, other eBay companies, and severayeBllers (No. HC07C01978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-dedants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
(ECJ) questions of liability for the use of L'Oréaldemarks, hosting liability, and the scope pbasible injunction against intermediaries. In
July 2011, the ECJ ruled on the questions certliigthe U.K. High Court of Justice. It held tha} kmand names could be used by marketpl
as keywords for paid search advertising withoutating a trademark owner's rights if it were cleaconsumers that the goods reached via th
key word link were not being offered by the tradekmavner or its designees but instead by thirdipar(b) that marketplaces could invoke the
limitation from liability provided by Article 14 ofhe ecommerce directive if they did not take saictactive role with respect to the listings in
guestion that the limitation would not be availallet that even where the limitation was availatiie,marketplace could be liable if it had
awareness (through notice or its own investigatafrihe illegality of the listings, (c) that a matklace would be liable in a specific jurisdict
only if the offers on the website at issue wergdting that jurisdiction, a question of fact, (dqt injunctions may be issued to a marketplace i
connection with infringing third party content, ibat such injunctions must be proportionate artciark legitimate trade and (e) that
trademark rights can only be evoked by a rightsewas a result of a seller's commercial activitpgosed to private activity. The matter was
set to return to the U.K. High Court of Justice fimther action in light of the ECJ opinion. Howeyee have entered into a Cooperation and
Settlement Agreement with L'Oréal and the othetigmto the suit, under which all pending litigatis terminated, including other pending
cases in Europe regarding the question of liabititythird party content on our websites. We hasljmusly accrued sufficient amounts for this
settlement.
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eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged Bimarket and is now named eBay Korea), has natifseapproximatel0 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving paflsoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and
some transaction and refund data (but not includiegit card information or real time banking infation). Approximately 149,000 users
sued IAC over this breach in several lawsuits imgém courts and more may do so in the future (dintpafter final determination of liability).
Trial for a group of representative suits begaAugust 2009 in the Seoul Central District Court] &mal for other suits began later in the Se
Central District Court. There is some precededdnea for a court to grant “consolation money” flata breaches without a specific finding of
harm from the breach. Such precedents have inv@agthents of up to approximately $200 per usedaimuary 2010, the Seoul Central
District Court ruled that IAC had met its obligat®with respect to defending the website from sitra and, accordingly, had no liability for
the breach. This January 2010 ruling was appealexpproximately 34,000 plaintiffs to the Seoul Hi@burt. In September 2012, the Seoul
High Court announced its decision upholding theub&entral District Court's January 2010 decisionthree cases involving 55 plaintiffs
(who did not appeal to the Korea Supreme Courtjirigu2013, the Seoul High Court upheld the Seoultzé District Court's January 2010
ruling in another 18 cases involving 33,795 pldistiThe Seoul High Court's decision in 10 of th&8ecases has been appealed by 33,215
plaintiffs to the Korea Supreme Court, and thers na appeal in the eighty other cases. CurretiiéyKiorea Supreme Court is reviewing a
of 11 cases with 33,218 plaintiffs, including orzse appealed from the Daegu High Court. In Jan2@t3, the Seoul Western District Court
ruled in favor of IAC with respect to two casegdilby 2,291 plaintiffs by following the Seoul Cexttbistrict Court's January 2010 ruling, and
2,284plaintiffs proceeded to appeal the January 201&iubecof the Seoul Western District Court to th@@eHigh Court. We expect decisio
in these cases in late 2014.

General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we hafeniged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andaxpat we will increasingly be subject to addiibpatent infringement claims involving
various aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments atetfitise (formerly known as GSI) businesses aservices continue to expand in scope
and complexity. Such claims may be brought direatjginst our companies and/or against our custofméis may be entitled to contractual
indemnification under their contracts with us), anelare subject to increased exposure to such €laga result of our acquisitions of other
businesses or assets, particularly in cases wheeventering into new businesses in connectitmsuich acquisitions. We have in the past
been forced to litigate such claims. We may alsmbee more vulnerable to thiggarty claims as laws such as the Digital MillenniGapyright
Act, the Lanham Act and the Communications Decekatyare interpreted by the courts, and as we expiamgcope of our business (both in
terms of the range of products and services thaiffee and our geographical operations) and becsubgect to laws in jurisdictions where the
underlying laws with respect to the potential lidpiof online intermediaries like ourselves arther unclear or less favorable. We believe that
additional lawsuits alleging that we have violapadent, copyright or trademark laws will be filegbinst us. Intellectual property claims,
whether meritorious or not, are time consuming eostly to defend and resolve, could require expenshanges in our methods of doing
business, or could require us to enter into casywlty or licensing agreements on unfavorable serm

From time to time, we are involved in other dispube regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordjneourse of business. These disputes
and inquiries include suits by our users (indivitjuar as class actions) alleging, among otherghjrimproper credit and/or collection
activities; improper disclosure of our prices, sute policies; that our prices, rules, policiesastomer/user agreements violate applicable law
that we have not acted in conformity with such gsicules, policies or agreements; or violationgrofacy laws and policies. The number and
significance of these disputes and inquiries camito increase as our company has grown largehusinesses have expanded in scope (botl
in terms of the range of products and serviceswieadffer and our geographical operations) andpooducts and services have increased in
complexity. Any claims or regulatory actions agains, whether meritorious or not, could be timestoning, result in costly litigation, dama
awards (including statutory damages for certairseawf action in certain jurisdictions), injunctinadief or increased costs of doing business
through adverse judgment or settlement, requite® ghange our business practices in expensive wagsire significant amounts of
management time, result in the diversion of sigaifit operational resources or otherwise harm osinbss.

Indemnification Provisions
In the ordinary course of business, we have inddgheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with
which we have commercial relations, including aianslard marketing, promotions and application-paiogning-interface license agreements.

Under these contracts, we generally indemnify, haldnless and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by -
indemnified party in connection with claims by adh
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party with respect to our domain names, trademéokes and other branding elements to the extentsiich marks are applicable to our
performance under the subject agreement. In cectaias, we have agreed to provide indemnificatoimtellectual property infringement. C
Enterprise business has provided in many of itbnmagommerce agreements an indemnity for otheistgpéhird-party claims, which are
indemnities mainly related to various intellectpedperty rights, and we have provided similar indéras in a limited number of agreements
for our other businesses, including our Magentarass. In our PayPal business, we have provideddemnity to our payment processors in
the event of certain third-party claims or cardoagsion fines against the processor arising owonfduct by PayPal or PayPal customers.
PayPal has also provided a limited indemnity toahants using its retail point of sale payment sewiand to manufacturers of its point of sal
devices (e.g., the PayPal Here devices and theoBedevice). In addition, Bill Me Later has providedemnification provisions in its
agreements with the chartered financial institugitmat issue its credit products. It is not pogstbldetermine the maximum potential loss u
these indemnification provisions due to our limitestory of prior indemnification claims and theigure facts and circumstances involved in
each particular provision. To date, losses recondedr statement of income in connection with imaiemnification provisions have not been
significant, either individually or collectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2013 , we had no off-balancetstigangements that have, or are reasonably likdiave, a current or future
material effect on our consolidated financial cdiodi, results of operations, liquidity, capital exulitures or capital resources.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangemerntsaviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow
for cash withdrawals from this financial institutibased upon our aggregate operating cash balhakks Europe within the same financial
institution (“Aggregate Cash Deposits”). These agements also allow us to withdraw amounts excegitie Aggregate Cash Deposits up to
an agreed-upon limit. The net balance of the wihdds and the Aggregate Cash Deposits are usdtelinancial institution as a basis for
calculating our net interest expense or incomeofABecember 31, 2013 , we had a total of $3.1dwilin cash withdrawals offsetting our $3.1
billion in Aggregate Cash Deposits held within #zene financial institution under these cash poaiimgngements.

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamadmercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRaztmates, PayPal holds customer
balances either as direct claims against PayPad an agent or custodian on behalf of PayPal'simess. Customer balances held by PayPal
an agent or custodian on behalf of our customersat reflected on our consolidated balance shégle customer balances held as direct
claims against PayPal are reflected on our corestglitibalance sheet.

In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the Divistf Financial Institutions under the Californiag2etment of Business Oversight,
notified PayPal that PayPal's practice of holdmgfunds underlying U.S. customer balances as emtay behalf of its customers, rather than
as owner of those funds, meant that PayPal coulttemt those funds as liquid assets for purpob#égediquidity rules applicable to California
money transmitter licensees. Based on changes td.Qu PayPal user agreement effective Novemb2012, PayPal began holding U.S.
customer balances as direct claims against Pagd¥aér than as an agent or custodian on behaifalf BayPal customers. As a result, effeq
November 1, 2012, all U.S. PayPal customer balandaigh were previously not reported on our cortaikd balance sheet, have b
reflected as assets in our consolidated balanc sheler “Funds receivable and customer accountty’an associated liability under “Funds
payable and amounts due to customers.” Followirggdhange, PayPal now holds all customer balarm®@h {n the U.S. and internationally) as
direct claims against PayPal.

Note 12 — Related Party Transactions

We have entered into indemnification agreements adtch of our directors, executive officers andaterother officers. These
agreements require us to indemnify such individualshe fullest extent permitted by Delaware léa,certain liabilities to which they may
become subject as a result of their affiliationhwis.

All contracts with related parties are at rates t@nohs that we believe are comparable with thoaedbuld be entered into with
independent third parties. There were no matesiated party transactions in 2013 . As of Decendie013 , there were no material amounts
payable to or amounts receivable from related @surti
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Note 13 — Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

We are authorized, subject to limitations presatibg Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in @nmore series; to establish the
number of shares included within each seriesxtthi rights, preferences and privileges of theeshaf each wholly unissued series and any
related qualifications, limitations or restrictiormsd to increase or decrease the number of shhess series (but not below the number of
shares of a series then outstanding) without artiiéu vote or action by our stockholders. At Decentki, 2013 and 2012 , there were 10
million shares of $0.001 par value preferred staathorized for issuance, and no shares issuedtstanding.

Common Stock
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponagiuthorizes us to issue 3.6 billion shares ofrnomstock.

Note 14 — Stock Repurchase Program

In June 2012, our Board of Directors authorizetbalsrepurchase program that provides for the @msge of up to an additional $2
billion of our common stock, with no expiration fnathe date of authorization. The 2012 stock remselprogram is intended to offset the
impact of dilution from our equity compensation grams. The stock repurchase activity under the 28dék repurchase program during 2013
is summarized as follows:

Remaining
Shares Average Price Value of Shares Amount
Repurchased per Share® Repurchased Authorized
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Balance at January 1, 2013 — 3 51.8¢ % 17 % 1,98:
Repurchase of common stock 25 54.3: 1,34: (1,349
Balance at December 31, 2013 25 % 543C  $ 136  $ 64(

(1) Stock repurchase activity excludes broker cossions.

These repurchased shares were recorded as treshsckyand were accounted for under the cost methodepurchased shares have |
retired.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $640 milliemained for further repurchases of our commockstinder the 2012 stock
repurchase program.

In addition, in January 2014, our board of direstaunthorized an additional $5 billion stock repasd program. This new stock
repurchase program, together with $640 million nemg under our prior stock repurchase programauigkd in June 2012, brings the total
repurchase authorization to $5.6 billion as of dan2014. In addition to continuing to repurchakares to offset dilution from our equity
compensation programs, we expect, subject to madatitions and other factors, to make opportunigtpurchases of our common stock to
reduce outstanding share count. Any share repseshander our stock repurchase programs may be tmadgh open market transactions,
block trades, privately negotiated transactionsl(iting accelerated share repurchase transactomgher means at times and in such amount
as management deems appropriate and will be fuindedour working capital or other financing altetinas.

Our stock repurchase programs may be limited onitexted at any time without prior notice. The tignend actual number of shares
repurchased will depend on a variety of factorduiding corporate and regulatory requirements, piatieer market conditions and
management's determination as to the appropriatefusur cash.

Note 15 — Stock-Based and Employee Savings Plans
Equity Incentive Plans
We have equity incentive plans under which we geapiity awards, including stock options, restricteatk units, performance-based

restricted stock units, performance share unitsramyested shares, to our directors, officers anpl@yees. At December 31, 2013, 611
million shares were authorized under our equitgimive plans and 47 million shares were availabtdifture grant.
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All stock options granted under these plans gelyevabt 12.5% six months from the date of grantZ8¥one year from the date of gr:
for grants to new employees) with the remaindetingsat a rate of 2.08% per month thereafter, gertkerally expire seven to ten years from
the date of grant. The cost of stock options iemeined using the Black-Scholes option pricing maaethe date of grant.

Restricted stock units and nonvested shares angegr#o eligible employees under our equity inagnpilans. In general, restricted stock
units and nonvested shares vest in equal annuallments over a period of three to five years,safgjiect to the employees' continuing service
to us and do not have an expiration date. Theafasistricted stock units and nonvested sharest&rghined using the fair value of our
common stock on the date of grant. There were aotgrof nonvested shares in 2013 and 2012 andgesitiall prior grants of nonvested
shares was completed as of December 31, 2011.

In 2013, 2012 and 2011 , certain executives wigidke to receive performance-based restrictedlstmits. The number of restricted
stock units ultimately received depends on ourress performance against specified performancettasgt by the Compensation Committee
If the performance criteria are satisfied, the perfance-based restricted stock units are grantiéa ome-half of the grant vesting in March
following the end of the performance period andré@aining one-half vesting one year later.

In 2012, certain executives were granted performahere units with performance-based vesting condit The number of performance
share units ultimately received depends on eBaysltatal stockholder return meeting or exceedimggnhedian total stockholder return of eBay
Inc.'s 2012 peer group over annual performancegefrom 2013-2016 and cumulative performance pgeriom 20122016. The performan
share units are also subject to certain vestingefigibility requirements and the shares underlytimg performance share units issued upon
satisfaction of the vesting conditions, if any, wanbe sold until after December 31, 2017.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan for gibédi employees. Under the plan, shares of our comstock may be purchased over
an offering period with a maximum duration of tweays at 85% of the lower of the fair market valodhe first day of the applicable offering
period or on the last day of the six-month purclzexéod. Employees may purchase shares havingue waltt exceeding 10% of their eligible
compensation during an offering period. Duringykars ended 2013, 2012 , and 2011 , employeebamed approximately 4 million , 4
million and 3 million shares under this plan atrage prices of $35.51 , $26.10 and $23.55 per shespectively. At December 31, 2013 ,
approximately 31 million shares of common stockeverserved for future issuance.

Employee Savings Plan

We have a savings plan, which qualifies under retD1(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Particigaéimployees may contribute up to
50% of their eligible compensation, but not morantistatutory limits. In 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , wetdbuted one dollar for each dollar a
participant contributed, with a maximum contributiof 4% of each employee's eligible compensatiobjest to a maximum employer
contribution of $10,400 per employee for each ger@ur non-U.S. employees are covered by varidusratavings plans. Our total expenses
for these savings plans were $84 million in 20$31, million in 2012 and $50 million in 2011 .
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Deferred Stock Units

Beginning with the 2011 annual meeting of stockbkoddwe have granted deferred stock units to eankemployee director (other than
Mr. Omidyar) at the time of our annual meeting twickholders equal to the result of dividing $22@,&9 the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant. In addition, new divestvho are not employees of the company or itsididries or affiliates receive a one-time
grant of deferrred stock units equal to the resuttividing $150,000 by the fair market value of @@ammon stock on the date of grant. Each
deferred stock unit constitutes an unfunded anéaured right to receive one share of our commockgtor, with respect to deferred stock
units granted prior to August 1, 2013, the equintl@lue thereof in cash or property at our elegti@€ach deferred stock unit award granted tc
a new non-employee director upon election to tharBwests 25% one year from the date of grantadadrate of 2.08% per month thereafter.
If the services of the director are terminatedmgt@me, all rights to the unvested deferred stacks will also terminate. In addition, directors
may elect to receive, in lieu of annual retained aammittee chair fees and at the time these feesgdwotherwise be payable (i.e., on a
quarterly basis in arrears for services providadly vested deferred stock units with an initi@lve equal to the amount based on the fair
market value of common stock at the date of gfamifowing the termination of a non-employee direstgervice on the Board of Directors,
deferred stock units granted prior to August 1,28de payable in stock or cash (at our electiohjlendeferred stock units granted on or after
August 1, 2013 are payable solely in stock. As eE@mber 31, 2013 , there were approximately 30388 red stock units outstanding
included in our restricted stock unit activity belo

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder our equity incentive plans as of and ferytear ended December 31, 2013 :

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term (Years) Intrinsic Value

(In millions, except per share amounts and years)

Outstanding at January 1, 2013 24 % 27.1¢
Granted and assumed 2 $ 55.27
Exercised 11y 9 27.01
Forfeited/expired/canceled @ $ 31.9¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 14 s 29.7¢ 354 $ 34¢
Expected to vest 13 $ 29.3i 3.48 $ 34C
Options exercisable 9 % 25.6¢ 284 $ 271

The aggregate intrinsic value of options was caleudl as the difference between the exercise pfiteeainderlying awards and the
guoted price of our common stock. At December 81,32, options to purchase 12 million shares ofammmon stock were in-the-money.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of aygtigranted during the years 2013 , 2012 and 20§1$4/5.39 , $11.21 and $9.87 ,

respectively. During the years 2013, 2012 and 2Qh#& aggregate intrinsic value of options exeatisnder our equity incentive plans was
$292 million , $276 million and $129 million , remgiively, determined as of the date of option eiserc
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Restricted Stock Unit Activity

A summary of the status of restricted stock uniRSU") granted (including performance-based retgdstock units that have been
earned) under our equity incentive plans as of Bées 31, 2013 and changes during the year endeeniiezr 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Gre}nt—Date
Units (Fpﬂ ;/r?elmL::)
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 39 % 31.3¢
Awarded and assumed 14 $ 55.21
Vested s $ 27.7¢
Forfeited 4 $ 37.8:
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 34 3 42.3:
Expected to vest at December 31, 2013 30

During the years 2013, 2012 and 2011 , the agtgegainsic value of restricted stock units vestedier our equity incentive plans was
$813 million , $591 million and $466 million , resgively.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The impact on our results of operations of recayditock-based compensation expense for years éetmber 31, 2013 , 2012 and
2011 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Cost of net revenues $ 79 $ 556 § 5€
Sales and marketing 15¢ 13t 13z
Product development 187 13¢ 12:
General and administrative 184 16C 147
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 60 $ 48t $ 45¢
Capitalized in product development $ 15§ 18 % 17

As of December 31, 2013, there was approximatel9 $illion of unearned stock-based compensatiahwiil be expensed from 2014
through 2017. If there are any modifications oraadlations of the underlying unvested awards, wg brarequired to accelerate, increase or
cancel all or a portion of the remaining unearrtedisbased compensation expense. Future uneammadisised compensation will increase tc
the extent we grant additional equity awards, ckahg mix of grants between stock options andiostr stock units or assume unvested
equity awards in connection with acquisitions.

Stock Option Valuation Assumptions

We calculated the fair value of each stock optieara on the date of grant using the Black-Schopg®o pricing model. The following
weighted average assumptions were used for the yealed December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 :

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 0.€% 0.7% 1.2%
Expected life (in years) 4.1 4.C 3.8
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 34% 38% 38%
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Our computation of expected volatility is basedaorombination of historical and market-based intplielatility from traded options on
our common stock. Our computation of expectedidifieased on historical experience of similar awagdsng consideration to the contractual
terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schednl@gxpectations of future employee behavior. Titerést rate for periods within the
contractual life of the award is based on the Ur8asury yield curve in effect at the time of grant

Note 16 — Income Taxes

The components of pretax income for the years eBdmegmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
United States $ 594 $ 60 $ 1,74¢
International 2,872 2,47¢ 2,16¢
$ 3,46¢ $ 3,08 $ 3,91(

U.S. pre-tax income for the year ended Decembe2@1] includes approximately $449 million relatbognon-U.S. income
recharacterized as U.S. income due to the settleafienultiple uncertain tax positions.

The provision for income taxes is comprised offtiilowing:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Current:

Federal $ 458 % 327 % 51¢
State and local 4 63 24
Foreign 19C 12C 122
$ 641 $ 51C $ 664

Deferred:
Federal $ 18 $ 34 $ 64
State and local (22 (29 3
Foreign 27 (45) (44)
(31 (35) 17
$ 61C $ 475 $ 681

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween the actual provision for income taxesthadgrovision computed by applying
the federal statutory rate of 35% for 2013, 204@ 2011 to income before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)

Provision at statutory rate $ 1,217 $ 1,08 $ 1,36¢
Permanent differences:

Foreign income taxed at different rates (607) (617) (1,099

Gain on sale of Skype — — 321

Change in valuation allowance — 3 @

Stock-based compensation 33 ()] 32

State taxes, net of federal benefit (26) 39 21

Research and other tax credits (43 1 (8)

Divested business 21 (42) 34

Other 19 24 6

$ 61C $ 47 $ 681
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences of differences deiwthe carrying amounts of assets an
liabilities and their respective tax bases usingcead tax rates in effect for the year in whichdfferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisinof the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In millions)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss, capital loss and credits $ 31C % 23t
Accruals and allowances 341 35E
Stock-based compensation 14t 13z
Discount on note receivable — 55
Net unrealized losses 5 5
Net deferred tax assets 801 783
Valuation allowance (186) (169
$ 61 9 614

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted foreign earnings $ (24€) $ (220
Acquisition-related intangibles (29€) (357)
Depreciation and amortization (351) (302)
Available-for-sale securities (332 (237)
Other (28) (22)
(1,257%) (1,137)
$ 63 $ (529

As of December 31, 2013, our federal, foreign stadke net operating loss carryforwards for incoaxepurposes were approximately
$146 million , $147 million and $569 million , resgtively. The federal and state net operating é@sgyforwards are subject to various
limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Rex@ode and applicable state tax laws. If notagtili the federal net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2016 and Hiate net operating loss carryforwards will begimxpire in 2014. As of December 31, 2013
our federal and state tax credit carryforwardsrioome tax purposes were approximately $2 millind 44 million , respectively. If not
utilized, the federal tax credit carryforwards vii#gin to expire in 2018 and most of the statectadits carry forward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our federal abloiss carryover amounted to $403 million and $844ion , respectively, which is
subject to a full valuation allowance. The increimsthe capital loss carryover and associated valuallowance is primarily due to the tax i
on sale of the Kynetic note. If not utilized, tlegléral capital loss carryover will begin to expir2014 and fully expire in 2018.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we maintained @atiain allowance with respect to certain of ouredefd tax assets relating primarily
to U.S. capital losses and operating losses imicestates and various non-U.S. jurisdictions iebelieve are not likely to be realized.

We have not provided for U.S. federal or foreigoome taxes, including withholding taxes on $14ldmi of our non-U.S. subsidiaries'
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2013 intéad to indefinitely reinvest the $14.0 billiohour non-U.S. subsidiaries’ undistributed
earnings in our international operations. Accordling/e currently have no plans to repatriate thHosels. As such, we do not know the time or
manner in which we would repatriate those fundsdasee the time or manner of repatriation is unoentge cannot determine the impact of
local taxes, withholding taxes and foreign tax @sedssociated with the future repatriation of sealmings and therefore cannot quantify the
tax liability. In cases where we intend to repagria portion of our foreign subsidiaries’ undistited earnings, we provide U.S. and applicable
foreign taxes on such earnings and such taxesieligled in our deferred taxes or tax payable liéddl depending upon the planned timing ant
manner of such repatriation. During 2013, we predit).S. tax on approximately $450 million of ounrdd.S. earnings which we expect to
repatriate in the future.

On a regular basis, we develop cash forecastditoate our cash needs internationally and domdistid&e consider projected cash
needs for, among other things, investments in gistiag businesses, potential acquisitions andtabpansactions, including repurchases of
our common stock and debt repayments. We estirhatarhount of cash available or
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needed in the jurisdictions where these investmamtexpected, as well as our ability to generash in those jurisdictions and our access to
capital markets. This analysis enables us to cdecihether or not we will indefinitely reinvest tbrrent period’s foreign earnings. We
benefit from tax rulings concluded in several diffiet jurisdictions, most significantly Switzerlargingapore and Luxembourg. These rulings
provide for significantly lower rates of taxation oertain classes of income and require variowestiolds of investment and employment in
those jurisdictions. These rulings resulted imes@vings of $540 million and $439 million in 2048d 2012 , respectively, which increased
earnings per share (diluted) by approximately $@dd $0.33 in 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Theeseulings are currently in effect and
expire over periods ranging from 2020 to the doratf business operations in the respective juisdis. We evaluate compliance with our
ruling agreements annually.

The following table reflects changes in unrecogaitaex benefits since January 1, 2011:

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits aseobdéiginning of the period $ 34C $ 28¢ % 42¢
Increases related to prior period tax positions 104 6C 33
Decreases related to prior period tax positions (143 (24 (139
Increases related to current period tax positions 37 19 41
Settlements 4 Q) (77)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits aseoétial of the period $ 334 % 34C  § 28¢

During 2013 we increased our reserves by $104anifior various issues that related to tax exanonatisks assessed during the year. In
addition, we reduced our reserves by $143 milliagdal on audit findings and settlement of multipleartain tax positions. If the remaining
balance of unrecognized tax benefits were realizedfuture period, it would result in a tax behefi $256 million . As of December 31, 2013
our liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits wareluded in accrued expenses and other currerilitied and deferred and other tax liabilities,
net.

We recognize interest and/or penalties relatadhtertain tax positions in income tax expense0h32, we reduced our accrual for
penalties and interest resulting in a tax benéftld million . The amount of interest and penaltéecrued as of December 31, 2013 and 20172
was approximately $77 million and $117 million spectively.

We are subject to both direct and indirect taxatiothe U.S. and various states and foreign jucisalis. We are under examination by
certain tax authorities for the 2003 to 2012 taargeWe believe that adequate amounts have beewvedsfor any adjustments that may
ultimately result from these or other examinatioftse material jurisdictions where we are subjegqidtential examination by tax authorities
tax years after 2002 include, among others, the (F&leral and California), France, Germany, Itilgrea, Israel, Switzerland, Singapore and
Canada.

Although the timing of the resolution and/or claswf audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonaldggible that the balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits could significantly chairgthe next 12 months. However, given the nunalbgears remaining subject to
examination and the number of matters being exasniwe are unable to estimate the full range of iptssadjustments to the balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits.

Note 17 — Loans and Interest Receivable, Net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchasezlimer receivables arising from loans made bytagrachartered financial institutic
to individual consumers in the U.S. to purchasedgand services through our Bill Me Later merchagttvork. Although a chartered financial
institution continues to own each respective custoaccount, we own the related consumer receiaideBill Me Later is responsible for all
servicing functions related to the customer accaubtfective August 29, 2013, ownership of mosthef existing customer accounts was
transitioned to a new chartered financial institntiAs part of the arrangement with the new chaddinancial institution, we sell the chartered
financial institution a participation interest imetentire pool of consumer receivables outstandirter the customer accounf3uring 2013 an
2012 , we purchased approximately $4.1 billion $8 billion , respectively, in consumer receivablas of December 31, 2013, the total
outstanding balance of this pool of consumer rexdes is $2.9 billion , of which we sold a partatdipn interest to the new chartered financial
institution of $65 million , or 2.25% . The chawd financial institution has no recourse relatedd participation interest for failure of debtors
to pay when due. The participation interest heldhgychartered financial institution has the samarity to the interests held by us and is
subject to the same credit, prepayment, and irtess risk associated with this pool of consuneeeivables.
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Loans and interest receivable are reported at thegtanding principal balances, net of participainterest sold and pro-rata allowances
including unamortized deferred origination costd astimated collectible interest and fees. We usenaumer's FICO score, among other
measures, in evaluating the credit quality of amsumer receivables. A FICO score is a type oficeetre that lenders use to assess an
applicant's credit risk and whether to extend ¢réddividual FICO scores generally are obtainecheguarter the consumer has an outstandin
consumer receivable owned by Bill Me Later. Thegh&td average consumer FICO score related to thieopaonsumer receivables and
interest receivable balance outstanding as of Dbee®il, 2013 was 688 compared to 689 as of Dece®ih@012 . As of December 31, 2013
and 2012 , approximately 54.7% and 55.8% , resgagtiof the pool of consumer receivables and adereceivable balance was due from
consumers with FICO scores greater than ,880ich is generally considered "prime" by the agnsr credit industry. As of December 31, 2
and December 31, 2012, 9.1% and 9.4% , respectiokthe pool of consumer receivables and interexstivable balance was due from
customers with FICO scores below 599 . As of Deaam3i, 2013 and 2012 , approximately 90% , of @msamer receivables and interest
receivable portfolio was current for both periods.

The following table summarizes the activity in #ilpwance for loans and interest receivable forytbars ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 :

(In millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 59
Charge-offs (137)
Recoveries 9
Provision 17C
Balance as of January 1, 2013 101
Charge-offs (232)
Recoveries 14
Provision 263
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 14¢

Note 18 — Interest and Other, Net

The components of interest and other, net for #@yended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 &ohomgs:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Interest income $ 111 % 134 $ 111
Interest expense (100 (63 (25
Gain on sale of Skype — — 1,66¢
Gain (loss) on divestiture of businesses 75 11¢ (257)
Other 9 7 44
$ 95 ¢ 19¢ $ 1,537

In 2012 , we recognized a loss on a divestitura lofisiness and a gain on the sale of our rema8ffgequity interest in Skype.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&re&h expense on borrowings incurred to finandeMBi Later's portfolio of loan
receivables included in cost of net revenues wasnillion and $9 million , respectively.
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Note 19 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the changes in acdatad balances of other comprehensive incomentyear ended December 31,
2013:

Unrealized
Gains (Losses) Unrealized Foreign Estimated tax
on Cash Flow Gains on Currency (expense)
Hedges Investments Translation benefit Total
(In millions)

Beginning balance $ (55 $ 687 $ 44¢ 3 (225 $ 85€
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (65) 243 20¢ (92) 29t
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulabéuer
comprehensive income (29 9 — — 5)
Net current period other comprehensive income (57) 234 20¢ (92) 30C
Ending balance $ (106) $ 921 % 657 $ (31¢) $ 1,15¢

The following table provides details about reclisations out of accumulated other comprehensigenme for the year ended
December 31, 2013 :

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated Other

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Comprehensive Affected Line Item in the Statement of
Income Components Income Income
(In millions)
Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges - foreign exgdanntracts $ (4) Netrevenues

(3) Cost of net revenues

(1) Sales and marketing

(5) Product development

(1) General and administrative
(14) Total, before income taxes
— Provision for income taxes
(14) Total, net of income taxes

Unrealized gains on investments 9 Interest and other, net
9 Total, before income taxes
— Provision for income taxes
9 Total, net of income taxes

Total reclassifications for the period $ (5) Total, net of income taxes
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Supplementary Data — Quarterly Financial Data — Undited

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe eight quarters ended
December 31, 2013 . This quarterly information besn prepared on the same basis as the Consolieiatattial Statements and includes all
adjustments necessary to state fairly the inforondfor the periods presented.

Quarterly Financial Data

(Unaudited, in millions, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30V December 31

2013
Net revenues $ 3,74¢ % 3871 $ 3,892 $ 4,53(
Gross profit $ 2,59 $ 2,666 $ 2,66¢ $ 3,081
Net income $ 677 $ 64C $ 68 $ 85C
Net income per share-basic 0.5Z 0.4¢ 0.5¢ 0.6¢€
Net income per share-diluted $ 051 $ 04¢ $ 05 § 0.6t
Weighted-average shares:

Basic 1,29¢ 1,29 1,29¢ 1,29¢

Diluted 1,31¢ 1,31 1,31( 1,31(

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30@ September 30 December 31

2012
Net revenues $ 3271 % 3,39¢ % 3,40¢ % 3,99:
Gross profit $ 2,29¢ % 2,411 % 2,382 % 2,76¢
Net income $ 57C $ 69z % 597 $ 751
Net income per share-basic $ 04, $ 054 $% 0.4€ $ 0.5¢
Net income per share-diluted $ 04, $ 05z $ 04t % 0.57
Weighted-average shares:

Basic 1,28¢ 1,291 1,292 1,294

Diluted 1,30¢ 1,30¢ 1,314 1,31¢

(1) The quarterly financial information include$25 milliongain on the sale of our investments in RueLalLa%imopRunner.
(2) The quarterly financial information include$/18 million gain on the divestiture of a busine3se "Note 3 - Business Combinations an
Divestitures" to the consolidated financial statateeéncluded in this report.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The Financial Statement Schedule Il — VALUATION ANDUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of this AnnuBeport on Form 10-K.

Balance at Charges
Beginning of  Charged/Credited Charged to Utilized/Write-  Balance at End
Period to Net Income Other Account offs of Period
(In millions)
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and
Authorized Credits
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 86 $ 135 % — % (1349 $ 87
Year Ended December 31, 2012 87 177 — (17%) 89
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $ 89 % 24¢  $ — $ (232) ¢ 10€
Allowance for Transaction, Loan and
Interest Losses
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 137 ¢ 48z % — $ (42¢) $ 192
Year Ended December 31, 2012 19z 57E — (53¢) 22¢
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $ 22¢ $ 80t % — $ (726) $ 307
Tax Valuation Allowance
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 43 % 33 % — % 7 % 83
Year Ended December 31, 2012 83 16 78 8 16¢
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $ 16 $ 35 % 2 $ (16) $ 18€
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedregistrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usidered, thereunto duly authorized, in the City ahSose, State of California, on the 31th day
of January, 2014.

eBay Inc.

By: /s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose sighature appears below constitutes anmrgp@ohn Donaha
Robert H. Swan, Brian J. Doerger, and Michael Robiaon, and each or any one of them, each withdiner of substitution, his or her
attorney-in-fact, to sign any amendments to thi®re with exhibits thereto and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and conifig all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, @ $ubstitute or substitutes, may do or

cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigeed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the @tipa indicated on January 31, 2014.

Principal Executive Officer: Principal Financial Officer:
By: /s/ John J. Donahoe By: /s/ Robert H. Swan
John J. Donahoe Robert H. Swan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanciaDfficer

Principal Accounting Officer:

By: /s/ Brian J. Doerger

Brian J. Doerger
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

Additional Directors

/sl Pierre M. Omidyar By:

Pierre M. Omidyar
Founder, Chairman of the Board and Director

Is/ Marc L. Andreessen By:
Marc L. Andreessen
Director
/sl Scott D. Cook By:
Scott D. Cook
Director
/sl Kathleen C. Mitic By:
Kathleen C. Mitic
Director
/sl Richard T. Schlosberg, Il By:

Richard T. Schlosberg, IlI
Director
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/s/ Fred D. Anderson

Fred D. Anderson
Director

/s/ Edward W. Barnholt

Edward W. Barnholt
Director

/s/ William C. Ford, Jr.

William C. Ford, Jr.
Director

/s/ David M. Moffett

David M. Moffett
Director

/sl Thomas J. Tierney

Thomas J. Tierney
Director
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2.01*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemd@09d, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RedjstBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Sprioglod Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Il Cayman DS IV HoldingsaS.l.)
2.02* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@ctaber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 200¢
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IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.03** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 2a8digng 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
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3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate adfrfroration. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's ComrS8tock. S-1 33359097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee.
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Béteen 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assoaigtas trustee.
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Séide due 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020.
4.05 Forms of 0.70% Note due 2015, 1.35% Note due 2D5D% Note 8-K 00024821 7/24/201z
due 2022 and 4.00% Note due 2042.
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Gencen Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June(T] %o the 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Genven Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
4.08 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+  Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.
10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@%31Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢

Incentive Plan.
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10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrari%38 Equity
Incentive Plan.

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employed Siarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+  Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,rasraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+  Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planam&nded. 10-Q 00024821 7127/2007

10.09+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrard%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+ Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under RegistrafiG12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+  Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as a®én 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+ Amendment to Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Blaih, effective 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
April 2, 2012.

10.15+  Form of Director Award Agreement under RegistraR@63 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.16+  Form of Electing Director Award Agreement under Regnt's 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.17+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Registsa2003 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.18+  Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restricteac8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement.

10.19+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, mgladed and DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
restated.

10.20+  Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiweard Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.21+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (&®itformance- 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss 2003
Deferred Stock Unit Plan, Registrant's 2008 Eglritentive Award
Plan and GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentiaa P

10.22+ 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
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10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

Vesting) under Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiveard Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrari@32Equity
Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement (with Modified Vest) under
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreerhander
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
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10.27+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registré&t@338 Equity
Incentive Award Plan.
10.28+  eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201(
10.29+  Amendment to eBay Incentive Plan, effective ApriPR12. 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
10.30+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/200:
10.31+ Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben John 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Donahoe and Registrant.
10.32+  Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betwebrrRSwan 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢
and Registrant.
10.33+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity IncenkNen. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.34+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 t¥dacentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.35+  Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity IncenRlan, 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
effective April 2, 2012.
10.36+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement ung&i 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201:
Commerce, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.37+  GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Team Incentive Ffded as
Appendix B to GSI Commerce, Inc.'s Definitive Pré&&atement on
Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April 2808 and
incorporated herein by reference).
10.38+  Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Teamniie 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.39+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce-Based 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under GSI Commdrae 2010
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.40+ eBay Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
10.41+  Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Chplsto Saridakis 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
and Registrant.
10.42+ Amended and Restated Performance Award Agreeméed da of 10-Q 00024821 4/20/201z
March 28, 2012 between the Registrant and ChrigtoBharidakis.
10.43+  Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 2, 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011
2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.
10.44+  Offer letter dated March 29, 2012 and executed ancki 30, 2012 8-K 00024821 4/2/2012
between Registrant and David Marcus.
10.45 emdit A e t Antad an Af Ravimmmbar 99 DA Al 1 s 8-K 00C-24821 11/28/201:



Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Admatis& Agent,
and the other parties thereto.
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10.46 First Amendment, dated as of March 4, 2013, taGheit 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2011, by arahgm
Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Admatise Agent,
and the other parties thereto.
10.47+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Regisfsa2008 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.48+  Form of Director Annual Award Agreement under Regist's 200€ 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.49+  Form of Electing Director Quarterly Award Agreemeinider 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201z
Registrant’s 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.50+  Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde 10-Q 00024821 4/19/201:
Registrant’s 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
12.01 Statement regarding computation of ratio of eammitagfixed
charges. X
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offic as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Offi¢ as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offic as required by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Offi¢ as required by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim X



++

*%

Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangeme

Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddibu separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

The annexes and schedules to the Share Purchasem@nmt have been omitted from this filing pursuantem 601(b)(2) of Regulation
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe®or schedules to the Securities and Exchanger@sion upon request.

The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement andd?I¥erger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. The Registrant will furnish copadsany annexes or schedules to the Securities addaBge Commission upon request.
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eBay Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(In millions, except ratio data)

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.01

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Income Before Income Taxes, Noncontrollin
Interest and Income/Loss of Equity Method
Investees 2,884 ) 2,111 3,926 3,111 3,483
Add: Fixed Charge® 47 45 80 122 161
Earnings® 2,931 2,156 4,006 3,233 3,644
Fixed Charge® 47 45 80 122 161
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 61.7 X 47.9 X 50.1 X 26.4 X 22.6 X
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2009, Incoefer8 Income Taxes, Noncontrolling Interest andime/Loss of Equity Method
Investees includes a gain of $1.4 billion relatethe sale of our Communications reporting unit.
(2) Fixed Charges consist of interest expenseocan@stimate of an appropriate portion of rentajgesentative of the interest factor. The
estimate of interest within rental expense is estit to be one-third of rental expense.
(3) Earnings consist of income before income tareacontrolling interest and equity in income asdes of equity method investees plus

Fixed Charges.



LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013

DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

Name

ASFD, Inc., a Delaware corporation

7601 Trade Port Drive, LLC, a Kentucky limited ligly company
935 KOP Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvania limitebility company
935 HQ Associates, LLC, a Delaware limited liagiliompany
1075 First Global Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvainiétéd liability company
GSI Legacy Holdings, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporati
Baazee.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Bill Me Later, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Braintree, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Braintree Payment Solutions, LLC, a Delaware lichifebility company
EachNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio

eBay Enterprise Marketing Solutions, Inc., a Del@@rporation
eBay Foundation, a California private foundation

eBay Insurance Services, Inc., a Delaware corpmorati

eBay International Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Mobile Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Real Estate, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Software Foundation LLC, a Delaware limitedbility company
eBay Partner Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Eureka Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Global Commerce Services, Inc., a Delaware cormorat

GSI Commerce Call Center, Inc., a Florida corporati

GSI Commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation, DBAyeBaterprise, Inc.
GSI Commerce Solutions, Inc., a Pennsylvania ceattjmor

GSI Commerce South, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Equipment, Inc., a New York corporation

Half.com, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation

KOP Promotions LLC, a Virginia limited liability ecopany

Last Minute Transactions, Inc., a Delaware corponat

Magecom Ventures, a California corporation

Marketplace Insurance Inc., a Hawaii corporation

MicroPlace, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Online Direct, Inc., a Delaware corporation

PayPal Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware corporati

PayPal Charitable Giving Fund, a Delaware non-statkoration
PayPal Data Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation

PayPal Gift Card Services, Inc., a Arizona corporat

PayPal Global Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio

PayPal, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Promotions Distributor Service Corporation, a Gatifa corporation
ProStores, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Shutl, Inc., a Delaware corporation

StackMob, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

StubHub, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Truvie Security, Inc., a Delaware corporation

VendorNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Venmo Inc., a Delaware corporation

WHERE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
X.commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation, DBA Magemc.
Zvents, Inc., a California corporation

Exhibit 21.01




INTERNATIONAL SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
2dehands.nl BV Netherlands

Autoact AB Sweden

Baazee.com Private Limited Mauritius

Bil Markedet ApS Denmark

BillSafe GmbH Germany

Braintree Payment Solutions Australia Pty Ltd. Australia

Braintree Payment Solutions UK Limited

Den Bla Avis A/S

EachNet.com Limited

eBay Advertising Group GmbH

eBay Asia Pacific Regional Management Services Ltd.
eBay Australia and New Zealand Pty Limited
eBay Canada Limited

eBay Classifieds Argentina S.R.L.

eBay Classifieds Denmark ApS

eBay Czech Republic s.r.o.

eBay do Brasil Servicos de Consultoria e Markelitdn
e-Dialog UK Limited

e-Dialog Singapore Private Ltd.

eBay Europe Sarl

eBay Europe Services Ltd.

eBay France SAS

eBay GmbH

eBay e-Commerce Technology Operations (Shanghaj)L@b
eBay Engineering & Research Center (Shanghai)lGab.,
eBay India Pvt. Ltd.

eBay International Advertising GmbH

eBay International AG

eBay International Fund Co. 2 Sarl

eBay International Hong Kong Ltd.

eBay International Marketing GmbH

eBay International Treasury Center Sarl
eBay International Treasury Center 2 Sarl
eBay Israel Holding Ltd.

eBay ltalia S.r.l.

eBay Japan K.K.

eBay Korea Co., Ltd.

eBay KTA (UK) Limited

eBay Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
eBay Marketing (Thailand ) Company Limited
eBay Motors India Private Limited

eBay Malaysia Sdn Bhd

eBay Mauritius Holding Private Limited

eBay Merchant Services GmbH

eBay New Ventures K.K.

eBay Polska Sp z o.0.

eBay RU LLC

eBay Services Sarl

AD A CuniadAn AL

United Kingdom
Denmark
Cayman Islands
Germany
Korea

Australia
Canada
Argentina
Denmark
Czech Republic
Brazil

United Kingdom
Singapore
Luxembourg
Ireland

France
Germany
People’s Republic of China
People’s Republic of China
India
Switzerland
Switzerland
Luxembourg
Hong Kong
Switzerland
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Israel

Italy

Japan

Korea 99.9%
United Kingdom

People’s Republic of China

Thailand

India

Malaysia

Mauritius

Germany

Japan

Poland

Russia

Luxembourg

CunindAw



eBay Singapore Services Private Limited

eBay Software Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

eBay Spain International, S.L.
eBay Taiwan Company Ltd.

eBay Treasury Sarl

Singapore

People’s Republic of China
Spain

Taiwan

Luxembourg




Name

Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership
Incorporation If Less Than 100%

eBay Treasury International Fund Co. Sarl

eBay (UK) Limited

EU Liaison Office BVBA

Gitti Gidiyor Bilgi Teknolojileri Sanayi ve Ticareknonim Sirketi
GSI Commerce GmbH

GSI Commerce Solutions International , S.L.

GSI Commerce Japan K.K.

GSI Luxembourg S.a.r.l.

Gumtree.com Limited

Internet Performance Testing Ltd.

eBay Corporate Services GmbH

LLC NBCI “PayPal RU"

Marktplaats B.V.

mobile.international GmbH

Nihon PayPal K.K.

PayPal 4 Sarl

PayPal Argentina SRL

PayPal Asia Services Ltd.

PayPal Australia Pty Limited

PayPal Bilisim Hizmetleri Limited Sirketi
PayPal CA Limited

PayPal Deutschland GmbH

PayPal Do Brasil Servicos de e Pagamentos Ltda.
PayPal (Europe) Ltd.

PayPal (Europe) Sarl

PayPal (Europe) Sarl et Cie, SCA
PayPal Europe SE

PayPal Europe Services Ltd.

PayPal European Marketing S.A.
PayPal France SAS

PayPal Hong Kong Limited

PayPal India Private Limited

PayPal Information Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
PayPal International Limited

PayPal International Sarl

PayPal Israel Holding (2008) Ltd.
PayPal Israel Ltd.

PayPal Italia s.r.l.

PayPal Japan K.K.

PayPal Malaysia Services Sdn Bhd
PayPal Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
PayPal Nederlands B.V.

PayPal Payments Pte. Holdings S.C.S.
PayPal Payments Pte. Ltd.

PayPal Payments Private Limited

Luxembourg

United Kingdom
Canada

Belgium

Turkey 93%
Germany

Spain

Japan

Luxembourg

United Kingdom
British Virgin Islands
Germany
Ireland/Luxembourg
Italy

Norway

Russian Federation
The Netherlands
Germany

Japan 50%
Luxembourg
Argentina

Mauritius

Australia

Turkey

Canada

Germany

Brazil

United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg

Ireland

Ireland

Switzerland

France

Hong Kong

India

People’s Republic of China
Ireland/Singapore
Luxembourg

Israel

Israel

Italy

Japan

Malaysia

Mexico

The Netherlands
Luxembourg
Singapore

India



PayPal Polska Sp z o.0.
PayPal Pte. Ltd.
PayPal SE

PayPal Services Canada Limited

PayPal Settlement Services (ChongQing) Co., Ltd.

Poland
Singapore
United Kingdom
Canada

People’s Republic of China




Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
PayPal Spain S.L. Spain
PayPal Taiwan Services Limited Taiwan

PayPal (UK) Limited

PayPal 2 Sarl

PayPal 3 Sarl

Private Sale GmbH

Private Sale International GmbH
PT PayPal Marketing Services
Shanghai eBay Network Information Services Co., Ltd
Shopping.com GmbH
Shopping.com UK Ltd.

Shutl Limited

StubHub Europe Sarl

StubHub Services Sarl
Via-Online GmbH

WHERE d.o.o0.

X.Commerce Development LLC
Zendor/GSI Commerce Limited
Zong SA

Zong GmbH

United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Germany
Germany
Indonesia
People’s Republic of China 50%
Germany
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Germany
Croatia

Ukraine

United Kingdom
Switzerland

Germany



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-154449 and No. 333-
175733), Form S-4 (No. 333-97727 and No. 333-117914), and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-64179, 333-87593, 333-41944, 333-58046,
333-97729, 333-100426, 333-107832, 333-117913, 333-127971, 333-129072, 333-136118, 333-140942, 333-143880, 333-149131,
333-149132, 333-151851, 333-155314, 333-159778, 333-165438, 333-168295, 333-171154, 333-174242, 333-175416, 333-
175417, 333-176477, 333-176663, 333-178369, 333-181535, 333-181539, 333-192514, 333-193299) of eBay Inc. of our report
dated January 31, 2014 relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K .

San Jose, California
January 31, 2014



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, John J. Donahoe, hereby certify pursuant to 18.C. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Sectioro®@& Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktleryear ended December 31, 2013 fully compli¢k thie requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the SecuritieshHaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in such report faigresents, in all material respects, the finamgaldition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 31, 2014

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is noighéled as part of this report.



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

[, John J. Donahoe, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#ttate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrali$slosure controls and procedures and presentidisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitgt occurred during the registra
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repo# tias materially affected, or is reason:
likely to materially affect, the registrant's imet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 31, 2014



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#ttate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrali$slosure controls and procedures and presentidisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitgt occurred during the registra
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repo# tias materially affected, or is reason:
likely to materially affect, the registrant's imet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 31, 2014



Exhibit 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, hereby certify pursuant to 18.0. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section B dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktl@ryear ended December 31, 2013 fully compliéb thie requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in such report fpigresents, in all material respects, the finammialdition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 31, 2014

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is noighfled as part of this report.



